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D410
Documents marked ‘C’ and crossed out have been


transferred to the Warren and Venables family 


papers deposited in the Cheshire Record Office


Where a whole page is missing, all the documents


listed have been transferred to Cheshire Record Office.
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Box labelled XLV11  XLIX
D.X11


(Now Box 1)


Bundle D.X11 ‘Draycot’                              DRAYCOTT IN THE CLAY

1. 
Mortgage by way of release 


Release


22 Nov. 1740


Frances Adie of Lichfield spinster (1)


Jane Taylor of Coton, Hanbury ph. Staffs, widow
[image: image1]

Thomas Taylor of Coton, yeoman, son and heir of


Thomas Taylor dec’d                                                          (2)


Joseph Taylor of Derby, plumber and glazier, 


younger son of Thomas Taylor


Bache Thornhill of Stanton Derbys Esq (3)


In consideration of £248


(1) and (2) have released to (3)


Dovehead and Dove Setts Hiron 21 acres of land


meadow and pasture in Draycott in the Clay and 


Hanbury, Staffs; Pingle at the Mill 1½ acres and Ash


Treet 11 acres – in Draycott in the Clay.


Recoverable on the payment of £250 on 22nd May 1741

See also 
Box 1 nos. 9,10,12
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Box 1

D.X11

2.

Lease                                                          DOVERIDGE



11 February 1739/1740 



Richard Fitzherbert Esq to Robert Rowbotham, of Ley



Hill/Lay Hill in the parish of Doveridge



New erected cottage with barns etc at Ley Hill, Doveridge with a piece of land called the Croft 2 acres



Close called Brick Kiln Pitts where clay to make bricks



 ‘hath formerly been gott’                     0a  3r  00p



Piece or parcel of arable or pasture land lately



inclosed 
6A



3 parcels of land    10 acres 



another parcel of inclosed ground, formerly part 



of Palmer Moore



parcel of meadow ground lately inclosed called 



the Broad Meadow                                23 acres 



now in the tenure or occupation of Robert Rowbotham



all in Somersall Herbert and Doveridge  for 99 yrs



£32.5 rent 



No husbandry covenants
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                                                             DRAYCOTT

3.

24 September 1745 Lease for possession




Thomas Taylor of Derby soapboiler

(1)

Jane Taylor widow of Thomas Taylor father of 



T.T. dec’d



Joseph Taylor plumber and glazier

(2)

George Venables Vernon of Sudbury Esq



Consid. of 5/-



Dovehead or Dove Setts Hiron 20 acres of land



Meadow or pasture in Draycott in the Clay, 



Marchington and Hanbury 



The Pingle at the Mill 1½ acres         Draycott in the Clay



Ash Acres 11 ½ acres 



1 acre of meadow land called the New Meadow Acre



in Marchington Meadow



1 rood of meadow in Marchington Meadow
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Box 1

D.X11                                                                       

4.
Copy feoffment                                                              DRAYCOTT                                                                                                      


10 April 1676


John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert Esq.  (1)


John Morris of Waterford, tanner (2)


£80 consideration 


Close of land meadow or pasture at Draycott in the Clay Staffs,


Botham Field, 7 acres 


(part of a messuage and land purchased by John Fitzherbert of 


Stretton Allen of Stretton-le-Field, Derbys)

5.
Feoffment


2 February 1668/9


John Hopkins of Marchington Woodland Staffs (1)


George Vernon of Sudbury Esq (2)


in consideration of £3


a.  r.  p.

0.1.  00 of ground in a close called Madely’s Close, also 2 Lade ends taken out of Mill Hill in Marchington?
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6.

Release 



9 January 1749/1750 (23rd G.II)



Bache Thornhill of Stanton Esq.(1)



George Venables Vernon of Sudbury Esq (2)



Dove Head/Dove Setts Hiron   20a in Draycott in the



Clay 



The Pingle at the Mill 1½ acres          Draycott in the Clay



Ash Acres 11½ acres



Consideration £350



with lease for possession

7.

Copy articles of agreement 11 May 1697



Between Edward Daniel of Fradley, Alrewas, Staffs



and Thomas Alcocke of Draycote-in- the-Clay, 



husbandman whereas Edward Daniel has lately 



purchased a messuage cottage house or tenement 



in Draycote-in-the-Clay and two little crofts called 



Mandeyard or Mande’s Lane from John Fitzherbert



- now said Edward Daniel has leased to Thomas 



Alcocke the above property in Draycott in the Clay for 



99 years, providing Edward Daniel be allowed to 



lodge there; peppercorn rent.
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8.

25 June 1745



Jane Taylor of Coton, Hanbury, widow



Thomas Taylor yeoman                                   (1)



Joseph Taylor of Derby plumber and glazier



Bache Thornhill of Stanton Esq.   (2)



[Reciting lease and release 21/22 November 1740



between Francis Adie, the Taylors and Thornhill



Dove Head, Dove Setts Hiron, the Pingle at the 



Mill and Ash Treet – to be void on payment of £250 -



Mortgage by way of release]



Whereas Thomas Taylor has borrowed the further



sum of £100



Now agreement between (1) and (2) that the property



therein shall be a security for the payment of further



sum of £100 with interest.

9.

Bond



22 November 1740



Jane Taylor of Coton, Thomas Taylor and Joseph 



Taylor and Thomas Newton of Marchington Staffs yeoman to Bache Thornhill of Stanton in 



£500 – condition to pay £250 with interest at 4%



by 22 May 1741



Accompanies Box 1, no 1




D410 M/

DXII

Box 1
                                                           DRAYCOTT

10.

Copy Mortgage by way of release 22 Nov 1740



Francis Adie etc.

11.

Copy further security 25 June 1745

12.

Lease for possession



20 Nov. 1740. Adie to Thornhill – as before  in Box 1/1

13.

Feoffment



6 April 30 Charles II.            1681/2



John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert Esq. Richard 



Wall of Palmer Moore Doveridge Yeoman (1)



George Tunbrell of Draycott in the Clay Staffs ym. (2)



£120 consideration



Parcel of ground lately enclosed out of Draycott Upp 



Meadowe called Twinbrooke 9a  1r  00p. (part of a 



messuage and close purchased by John Fitzherbert of



Stretton Allen of Stretton le Field, Derbys).
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14.

Demise of an annuity



25 July 23 Ch II



George Vernon of Sudbury Esq.



Henry Nutting taylor and citizen of London and   



Elizabeth his wife



£200



Granted and Demised to (2) an annuity of £20 for



25 years and before Candlemas Day George Vernon to     

levy a fine between Henry Nutting & Elizabeth pfs and



George Vernon dft. a messuage tenement  Bulls Park



or Parks by the side of the Forest or Chase of 




Needwood



Needwood in Draycott in the Clay

15.

Feoffment



20 March 28 Charles II



John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert Esq. John 



Smyth of Draycott in the Clay yeoman in consideration



of £5.



Selions of land in the township of Draycott in the Clay



- at a place called Hodders Hill
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16.

Mortgage by way of 



Feoffment



28 June 29 Ch.II



John  Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert (1)



Margery Holland of Brampton Derby widow (2)



Consideration of £200



Allens Parke lately divided into 3 closes, 30 acres



by estimation



Also messuage farm or tenement lately erected upon



Allens Parke



Recoverable on the payment of £12 on 1st July 1678, 


£12 on 1st July 1679, 1st July 1680, 1st July 1681, 

1st July 1682, 1st July 1683, £212 on 1st July 1684

17.

Feoffment



10 May 1697



John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert Esq



Edward Daniel of Fradley yeoman



Consideration of £19



Messuage cottage house or tenement, 2 little crofts



1 acre in Draycott in the Clay

D410 M/
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18.

Lease



4 October 1699



George Vernon of Sudbury Esq.



Thomas Scott of Dovebridge Yeoman



In consideration of the surrender of a former lease



for the lives of Thomas Scott, Wm Cavendish, Mary



Cavendish son and daughter of Henry Cavendish of 




Dovebridge



Has leased -------- messuage or tenement called 



Bulls Parke, other farm called Hills Farm at Draycott



99 years  40/- per annum rent.

19.

Feoffment



6 April 33 Charles II



John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert Esq – Richard



Wall of Palmer Moore Dovebridge Ym.   (1)



Robert Smith of Draycott in the Clay (2) ym.



£32 consideration



Close or pingle called Paretree Croft 1½  acres in 



Draycott (part of the messuage and land purchased by



John Fitzherbert of Stretton Allen of Stretton le Field)

20.

Quitclaim by William Sutton of Draycott in the Clay to



George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., upon his payment of



£109 to William Sutton, of all interest, claim etc. in a 



capital messuage in Draycott with all app.



23 January 1667/8

D410 M/
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21.

Release



20 September 1687



John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert 



George Eaton of Etwall joiner



£291 consideration



Messuage or tenement at Draycott in the Clay, close


26 acres Allens Parke

22.
Feoffment


12 June 1717


Robert Bates of Scropton Heath Scropton


taylor


Thomas Bates of Scropton, husbandman


Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq.


£26


two parcels of meadow ground 1a 1r 00p in 


Densye Meadow in Draycott

23.
Grant or demise of an annuity


25 July 23 Charles II 1671


as before - £20 for an./fine on Bulls Park etc


Vernon to Nutting
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MARCHINGTON

24.
Release


25 September 1745


Thomas Taylor of Derby soapboiler


Anne his wife


Jane Taylor widow


James Taylor plumber and glazier of Derby


[image: image2]
George Venables Vernon


In consideration of £800 (£359.11.11 to Bache Thornhill)






   £440.8.11 to Taylors)


(for absolute purchase in fee simple)


Dove Head or Dove Setts Hiron    20A.


Pingle at the Mill 1½ acres.                                     Draycott


Ash Acres 11½ acres

1 acre of meadow ground called New Meadow Acre, in 


Marchington


1 rood of meadow in Marchington Meadow at a place 


called Moore Meadow.
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                      (STAFFS)

BOX XLVII      XLIX 








E1

25.
BUNDLE E1 ESSINGTON & HILTON, FRODLEY


(5 miles N.E Wolverhampton)


Sunday next after the Feast of St Agatha the Virgin


17 bd. III


Gift by Roger de Caukewell and Walter De Aston 


Somervill chaplain to John son of John of Swynnerton


knight seneschal of the Forest (Chase) of Cannock


and Cristiana his wife of the manor of Hilton and 2 


shillings rent with app. in Frodeley arising annually from 


Wm de Frodeley and his heirs for certain lands and 


tenements which said Wm holds of us the fee of Philip de 


Sommerill and all his lands and tenements mills meadows 


pastures pasturage rents and services in Hylton,  


Esenyngton (tissington), Walsale, Wolverhampton,


Stafford, Wuleye, Parva, Cardan?/Carderdon?, Stretton,


Pentrich, Pylatenhale, Huntingdon, Lytesfield (Lichfield?),


Briggenorth (Bridgenorth?), which they hold by gift and


feoffment of the said John son of John.


Witnesses: Philip de Sommervill, Henry de Dissebury?,


Kt, Richard Hillary clerk of Wolstenton, William le Campionn


John de Whiston, Robert de Shanisshul, Wm de Wuleye, 


John de Molhisleye? William atte Holt de Hylton, John de


Ruycroft, Robert Costey de Sharushull, Philip Flemmyng


and others. At Hilton
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26.
13 May 3 James I


Settlement prior to the marriage of Edward Vernon and


Margaret Vernon 


Sir Henry Townshend of Ormil (?) Salop Kt.


Walter Heveningham of Pipehall Staffs Esq               (1)


Erasmus Heveningham of Pipehall,  Gent.


William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, London Esq    (2)


Mary Vernon widow late wife of John Vernon of


Sudbury decd.


Edward Vernon son and heir                                              (3)


Margaret Vernon daughter and heir of Henry 



Vernon dec’d late of Hilton, Staffs



Convenant by Atkinson to levy 2 fines, at the request


of Townshend to Walter and Erasmus Heveningham,


before 12 June ensuing, on all land its hereditaments


in Essington, Hilton Staffs, all mess, lands, tenements


in Hillsomersall and Pottersomersall, Derbys 


(Somersal Herbert?) which said Wm Atkinson had by


gift and grant of the late John Vernon provided always


if the said Mary Vernon shall pay to Henry Townshend


£1060.13  4d (£100 at feast of St John the Baptist next 


ensuing – any various other specified dates), and also that 


Edward V or one of his brethren should marry 


Margaret Vernon.


Various other provisions

FRADLEY, Co Staffs




FRADLEY E1

D410/1/E27
Release




                                          4 January 3 James II 1687/8

1. 
George Vernon of  Sudbury Esq and John Gery of


Cungerston Leics Yeoman

2.
John Finney of Fradley Staffs husbandman £100.5.0


consideration


Messuage cottage farm or tenement in Fradley in the 


parish of Alderwayes Staffs all lands, meadows, 


pastures etc etc

D410/1/E/28
Agreement George Vernon and John Gery to carry out


the bargain and sale on 4 Jan. 19 Nov 1687 


(obviously John Gery had mortgaged the property to 


Vernon)                 2 copies


with accompanying solicitor’s letter. 
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      HILTON

29.
3 Nov.  41.  Eliz.


Writ (royal) Grant of wardship


Grant of wardship of Margaret Vernon to Henry 


Townshend, Kt., and Dorothy his wife and to Walter


Hevyningham Esq, and also a rent of 33s 4d arising


from the court of the manors of Essington and 


Hilton, Staffs, and also from all messuages, lands and 


hereditaments in Essington, Hilton Great Surdon,


Shereshull, Walshalll, Frodley and Hopwas, Staffs,


which had belonged to Henry Vernon Esq decd.

30.
13 May 3  James I


as before Essington and Hilton (see 26)

31.
Number not used

32.
25 May 6 James I.


Edward Vernon of Sudbury Esq and Margaret his


wife (daughter and heir of Henry Vernon late of 


Hilton Staffs Esq. dec’d)                              (1)


Henry Townshend of (Counde?) Salop Kt. and 


Dorothy his wife, Walter Heveringham of Pipehall 


Staffs Esq and Richard Parkes of Weddesbury gent. (2)


- reciting incl of 13 May 3 J. I.


Now in performance of covenants (1) discharges (2) of and


from all cutting down, cropping, lopping of woods and


trees which grow within the manors of Essington and


Hilton.


Also released and assigned to (2) all dues and demands


due to Margaret by the will of late Henry Vernon and all 


actions, suits etc concerning the manors of Hilton and 


Essington.
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PENKRIDGE etc                            E1

33.
32 H. vi (6th) copy. (to be looked at in detail) described


as “Beaufoe’s judgment”.


Concerns Alrewas, Hopwas and Frodley

34.
‘John Mitton’s office’.


10 May 15 H.VII. Inquisition before Edward Knight 


escheator of the king in Staffs regarding Anne one of 


the daughters and heir of Thomas Swynton who hold


several lands and tenements – namely the manor of 


Hilton and 3 messuages with app. and the manor of 


Eissington and a messuage 10 acres of land two acres


of meadow with app. in Frodley and a piece of meadow


3 acres in Hopwas, 10 acres of land in Miginton(?), 30 acres


of land, 6 acres of meadow in Wirley, 3 messuages 20 acres of 


pasture in Lichfield 2 messuages in Penkerich, a 


messuage 200 acres 15 acres of meadow 20 acres of 


wood in Sardon 20 acres of land and an acre of meadow in


Godsale, 20 acres of land in Wyrley etc (all in Latin to 


be listed in detail?)

D410 M/

Box 1

PARCEL H II From Box XLIX

35.
Depositions (bound)                                                                 H.II


“Relating to Marchington and Houndhill”


Depositions of witnesses taken at Abbots


Bromley  16 Sept 9  Charles I


Case between Edward Litchfield pf. And


Edward Vernon kt. dft.

36.
Gift (not dated)


Ed. I


by Richard son of Alfred Pac de Hanley to Robert


son of Alfred son of Baldwin of 11 selions of land 


and two headlands in Neweland along with the hedges.


Rent 2d per annum in 4 terms: feast of St Andrew, ft


of annunciation of B.V.M, feast of Nut. of St John the Baptist


and Michaelmas. Witnesses Robert Forestarious, John


son of Simon, Robert, clericus. Robert son of William, Robert de


Seqesley, Richard de Blakemore, Richard le Aroher, Adam


de Eliselade Richard Wawepal et al


[Marchington?]
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       HOUND HILL



(MARCHINGTON)

37.
Sunday next before feast of St John the Baptist 23 Ed. I.


Gift by Margaret daughter of Roger Freman of Hownhull


to Henry de Hownhull of a messuage with buildings and


nine acres of arable land and an acre of meadow in the


territory of Hownshull. Witnesses (dom) Lord Robert de ?Pipetune,


seneschal de Tutebury, Stephen de Burton, Lord of Falde,


William de Chandos, John Onweyn, William Engelon?

38.
No date. Late 13c (or mid 13c)


Gift


by Henry de Hogunhull to Petronella his sister in free


‘maritagium’ all his assart lying lying between Rouweleg(y)


and the Foresta?, extending in length towards the said


Forest between the road which leads from Hogenhull 


to Hadgateleg(y) and the assart of Thomas Pintne? and


two acres of meadow in Russelg(y). Rent six pennies and 


two white gloves.


Witnesses: Dom William de Ferrars, Nicholas Pore de 


Tutebury, Geoffrey de Greseley Robert de Beulay, 


Geoffrey de Bec, Robert de          , Robert de Mutlay, Thomas 
Clericus, Ralph Le Fowa


Thomas Audon, William Coco?, Roger de Cotis, Thomas


Cradok.

D410
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             HOUND HILL

Hound Hill Marchington                                                                             

39.
Gift undated                                                                     H II      


H III ?


Gift by Roger de Gardiner of Foyale (Fauld?) to Henry


Coco de Hanbury of a penny annual rent of four acres


of land – lying in the territory of Howenhul between the


land of the ‘Comes’ (Earl) and the land of Roger Ginger


and extending from above Roweley towards the Forest


of Nedwode in width (lat.)


Witnesses: William Wyer, seneschal, Ralph de Rolliston


clericus, Robert de Pipe, Henry de Howenhul, Stephen


De Cursun? John de Miners et al.

40.
9 April 11 Edward III


Gift by William de Camera clericus to Thomas his son 


of a messuage with bgs and all his lands meadows and 


tenements in the fee of Marchington and Hounhull.


Witnesses: Dom Henry de Hambury kt, Robert Camerar,


William Placegrene, Roger Coigne Clericus, Symon 


Hawysson, Robert Sweyn, Robert de Pecto, Thomas


Engelon, Robert Othelnill and others
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HOUND HILL

41.
Gift no date


c.1300 (Ed.I) [probably a bit earlier]                             HII


Gift by Petronella de Cotus (or Crous) to Henry her son


of an acre of meadow lying in Rouley in the territory of 


Howenel between the meadow of said Henry and the meadow 


of Richard de Pilcote, extending from above Duten? 


(Duteren) and above the meadow of Dom. Of Howenel 


which is called Little (Littel) Medue. For thus gift the said 


Henry has give P.16 shillings.


Witnesses Lord (Dom) Andrew de (J)Iarpenvile Lord Symon


of the same place kt, Stephen de Corsum William 


Camerario, Robert Styret, Henry de Wynley, William


Morel clerk et al.

42.
Gift  no date


c.1300 (bit later than previously?)


Gift by Petronella widow of Adam Cotus (Cocus) of Cotus 


(Cocus) (Coton in the Clay?) to Henry Cotus of Hanbury


her son 16 acres of arable land which she held of Henry


de Howenhul her brother in free maritagium (marriage) 


lying between Rouley and the Forest extending in length 


towards the said Forest towards the road which leads from


Howenhul towards Adgerasley (Agardsley) and the assart


of Thomas Pincerne. Witness Henry Lord of Howenhul,


Roger de Donnes William Chandos Henry Oweyn of 


Marchinton, William Clericus et al.

D410                                                                                                               H.II

Box 1
43.
Houndhill – “Land in my own holding” – giving yearly


value and cultivation but not acreage.   17 c.  n.d.

44.
8 October 1683


Copy mortgage by Edward Vernon of Sudbury Kt to 


Robert Chapman Agardsley Lodge Staffs gent in 


consideration of £800.


Capital messuage Houndhill Hall Staffs, the Leas, the


Horse Close, The Cow Close, Dove Close Olde Field,


Cooks? Shayre, Hawthorne Hill, Pitt Field, New Close, 


Earles Meadow, Priest [plaster recently ‘got’] Croft,


Old Meadow Mere, Dovecoat Flat, the Hill, with all


app.


for 80 years  peppercorn rent


Redeemable on payment of £800 to R.C within


The tem of the lease.


(no definite date)

45.
Copy Feoffment undated 11 Charles I

Matthew Cradock of Caverswall Esq to Edward Vernon


of Sudbury 


£1400


Hownell Old Hall with all app. all other property of M.C


in Hownell, Marchinton, Hambury, Newlands, Stubbland.

D410 M/
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HOUND HILL

46.
Mortgage by way of Lease    [date?]                              H.II


Edward Vernon of Sudbury to Matthew Cradocke of 


Caverswall – in consideration of £800 for 1000 years


EV leased to MC Hownell Hall and land as before – 


redeemable on the payment of £800 within the term.

47/1-2
Deed to levy a fine and recovery


18 January 1659/1660


George Vernon of Sudbury Esq and Edward Vernon


his uncle (1) Thomas Lee of Middle Temple gent and 


Richard Cumberland of City of London gent (2) 


Edward Culy of Catesby Northants Esq and George


Bowyer of Uttoxeter (3)


for docking and cutting of all entails and in consideration


of a marriage between George Vernon and Margaret Culy


GV and EV shall before end of Easter term next ensuing


levy a fine on all the manor or lordship of Houndhill, 


capital mess. Houndhill Hall, 4 water mills at Draycott-in-


the Clay on the Dove, and all other property in Houndhill


and Draycott or within townships or hamlets of 


Marchington, Newlands, Stubby Lane, Morton, Coton, 


Fauld, Hanbury, Aston and Sudbury (to Lee and 


Cumberland) and a second fine upon the manors or 


lordships of Sudbury and Aston – again before end of 


Easter term to Cumberland and Lee – and Rodsley – and


moiety of manor of Marston Montgomery and all lands 


etc in Sudbury, Aston, Mackley Oaks, Somershall Potter,


Somershall, Marston Montgomery, Woodhouse, Rodsley,


Hollington, Eaton, Sedshall and Dovebridge


Culy and Bowyer to bring a writ of ‘entry sur disseisin en le 


post’ against Lee and Cumberland before the end of 


Easter term, on the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley


to execute a common recovery 


+ copy
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Box 1

48.
2 September 11  Charles I


Demise by Matthew Cradock of Caverswall Esq to Thomas


Vernon of Sudbury gent. Houndhill Hall (Hownell Old Hall)


with all app for 999 years  £64 per annum. If at any time 


G.V pays to M.C £832 then the demise to be void.
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ASTON           H.II

49.
Marriage Settlement


16 July 25 Elizabeth


Nicholas Browne of Snelston Esq and Eliano (Eleanor)


his wife (1) (late wife of Thomas Vernon dec’d)


Walter Vernon, son and heir of Thomas Vernon (2)


Edward Littleton of Pyllintonhall Staffs Esq. (3)


In consideration of a marriage between Walter Vernon


and Mary Littleton, sister of Edward Littleton (1) and


(2) to convey to (3) capital messuage called Houndhill


al. Howenhill Hall with all app. to trustees (Job 


Throngman Esq, James Littleton, Gent, George Allyn,


Gent, Walter Littleton, gent) to the use of W.V and M.L


for their lives, then lawful heirs male, in default of 


issue to use and behoof of right heirs of W.V for ever.

50.
5 March 1659/60


Additional limitation to marriage settlement.


Reciting settlement of 21 Feb 1659/1660 on the 


intended marriage of George Vernon to Margaret Culey, 


by which lordships of Houndhill, Sudbury and Aston 


settled for jointure.


Now additional limitation, G.V has appointed that 


immediately after his decease the said M.C to take 


possession of several closes in Sudbury, Aston and 


Rodsley – namely Rougholme and Churchyard 100 acres,


Hanley Swan 30 acres. Aston Cow Pasture 30 acres, 


Aston Bothoms 50 acres, Intacks, 30 acres, Middlefield 


65 acres, Roe Croft 11 acres, Blew Mews 8 acres – for


augmentation of the jointure.
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51.
Lease for possession (pt. of marriage settlement)        H.II


20 Feb 1659/1660


George Vernon to Edward Only of Catesby Northants


Esq and Alexander Stanhope of City of Westminster 


Esq. Lordships or reputed manors of Houndhill, with 


cap. messuage Houndhill Hall, 4 Watermills at 


Draycott in the Clay on the Dove, also manors or 


Lordships of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley. (see also 18.821)

52.
Copy ind. (a draft) Assignment


10 March 1684/5


Godfrey Meynell of Bradley Esq (1)


Thomas Kinnersley of Loxley Staffs Esq. Thomas Boothby


Of Tooley Park Leics Esq. George Flaunt of Forton,


Leics, William Whalley of Norton by Galey Leics, Samuel


Cotton of Fenwick, Bedford (2) Robert Burdett of 


Bramcote Warwicks Esq. Henry Dyson of the Borough 


of Leigh? (3) George Vernon of Sudbury Esq. (4)


Reciting lease and release of 20/21 Feb 1659 by which


G.V conveyed to Alexander Stanhope, manors of 


Houndshill, Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley


G.V died without issue, survived by wife Margaret


Now in consideration of £1000, G.M and (2) have 


assigned and release to G.V, capital messuage in 


Houndhill commonly called Houndhill Hall, Postern


Croft, Oldhall Close, Dovecoate Flatt, Plasterpitt Field,


Ashclose, the Four Acres, Lemonsholme, Helvett Head,


Barnholmes, Dovefield Head, messuage commonly


called Dovefield House with all app., Millholme, 


Greenplecks, the Moyers?, Overhills, Half Longpitt


Field, Houndhill Meadow, Seven Leys, one acre of 


Meadow at the Cow Close bottoms, Cow Close, Upper


Newlands, Headmeads, Cockshutt Yard, Old Meadow


Meere, Oldfield and Gods Blessing, the Fish House,


Jordaine Meadow: messuage called Maskeryes House 

D410M/
with all app, called the Nether Hill Meadow: messuage

52 cont.
Allens House with all app. Roundhill Herclose in Pipehay:


messuage or tenament called William Goodall’s


house with all app. Backers Close, Goodall’s Roundhill,


one acre in Denny, Long Lane, Little Meadow, one acre in 


Moodismoore? also the Rough Peece, Liesam’s Nook


in Pipehay, 3 acres and a dole in Demmy, Fosters Little 


Meadow, Middle Piece in Pipehay, one acre and three


doles in Demmy, Byflatt, Calver, Chapell Yard, Spellgrove,


Huntsmore and Fleshmore, Three doles in Demmy, one 


rood in Fiveroods, Demsy Meadow, Mill Lake, Hade 


Acre and Long Ridding – all in Houndhill, Draycott in the


Clay, Marchington, Newlands, Stubby Lane, Morton, Coton,


Ffawd, Hanbury, Aston and Sudbury


(see also 18.822)
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DRAYCOTT

53.
Rent account


Houndhill and Draycott 1653


Includes arrears for Houndhill and Draycott manors and


for plaster, fruit and corn


Rental for the manor of Houndhill 1653


Rental for Draycott 1653


List of tenements in Houndhill, Stubby Lane, Morton,


Draycott and Hanbury


Draycott Manor: Draycott mill profits


Account of wheat sown at Houndhill, gotten in 1652.


Account of plaster sold. 26 March 1653-10 September 1653

54.
Gift n.d. (H.III c.1250)


by Henry de Howenhull to Henry his son and heir and 


Orabilie daughter of Ralph de Rolliston 1/3 part of all 


his lands and tenements of the manor of Howenhull, and 


the residue of the lower part of his garden to augment


the 1/3 par and 1/3 part of his park.


Witn. Roger de Brabazon Justice of the King, William 


Wythen, seneschal (steward) of the honour of 


Tott(ebury?), Robert de Pipe, Roger de Brabazon, Henry


Coco, Robert Venator, Adam his brother, John de 


Mingners, Stephen Dom ? Court, William de Fenton clerk,


Roger de Donnes and others.

D410 M/
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DRAYCOTT

55.
Draft Deed


1684/5


Katherine Meynell Widow and relict and executrix of the


will of Richard Meynell (1)


Trustees as before (2)


Robert Willimott of Osmaston Esq (3)


George Vernon (4)


Again reciting lease and release of 20/21 February


1684/5


In consideration of £1100


Katherine Meynell has assigned to Willimott (presumably


G.V’s trustee) Manor of Houndhill, Manor of Draycott &


4 water mills on the Dove with all app, the fishhouse in 


Draycott, and several closes, Little Lemonsholme, 1 


acre in Denry, ½ acre in Moodismoor, ½ acre in Denry, 


cottage late in occup. of John Finney, messuage the 


Birch House, 1 rood of ground in Denry, ½ acre of ground


in Denry, ½ acre of ground in Denry, 2 acre of ground in 
Moddismoore, messuage with Mr Thomas Close and 


Powbridge Meadow, ½ acre in Moodismoore, + 6 cottages,


annual reserved rent arising out of a farm at Leigh 


called Sherratt’s Farm, annual rent of 2/- issuing from 


Hastims farm in Millwich: farm in occupation of Thomas


Maskery, 1 acre of ground in Moodismore, messuage 


or farm. Thomas Scott, messuage or farm Francis 


Whitterhouse, messauge or farm William Culey, 


messuage or farm Wm Biddle all in Houndhill Draycott


Marchington Newlands Stubby Lane Morton Coton Ffawd


and Hanbury, also parcels of inclosed ground called 


Churnard and Roughholme in Sudbury and Aston [to 


hold after the death of G.V for 100 years]: in trust 


for George Vernon his heirs and assigns.
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HOUND HILL

Box 1

56.
Surrender 13 March 1684/5                                            H.II


Marriage of Geoffrey Meynell to Margaret Vernon


Geoffrey Meynell of Bradley Esq.


trustees as before (2) Sir John Curson of Kedleston


(3) 


George Vernon of Sudbury (4)


Reciting lease and release as before


Now in consid. £1000


as draft


except for Sir John Curzon

57.
Surrender. 13 March 1684/5


Godfrey Meynell of Bradley Esq (1)


Trustees as before (2)


Sir John Curson (3)


George Vernon (4)


Reciting lease/release as before 


in consideration of £1000


(1) and (2) Surrendered to G.V – capital messuage in 


Houndhill commonly called Houndhill Hall, 


Posterne Croft, Oldhall Close, Dovecoate Close,


Plasterpitt Field, Ash Close, the Four Acres.

D419 M/
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Artificial Bundle 2 Box F and G.

113 Number Not used

114 Number Not used

115
Lease 16 January 1 James I


Roger Fowke of Brewood Staffs Esq. Wm Fowke son


and heir (1)


John Cooke of the Mosse in the parish of Shenston


Yeoman, Margery his wife and Isabell C daughter.


£70 consideration – all that capital messuage and 


mansion called Mosse House al.the manor house of


Mosse in the parish of Shenston, pasture called


Broome Croft, Mosse More and a great barn called


the Mosse Barne – for 25 years – 18 shillings rent.

D410 M/
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F AND G

116.
Bond


4 May 11 Elizabeth


Eleanor Ryddynge of Over Stonall Staffs and John 


Lewisson of Little Worley Staffs to Thomas Stanley 


Sen. in £20


Condition – whereas Thomas Stanley by mediation


of Roland Byggeley Esq and others is fully agreed 


that the above bounden Eleanor and her ex. shall 


occupy have and enjoy all such rye and other corn


and grain as she the said E. shall have before 


Ascension Day on such lands and tenements in Over


Stonall as one Humfrey Ryddynge her late husband


lately held in Over Stonall – and also that said 


E Shaw also occupy messuage in O.S (except for 


½ Orchard) etc late in the tenure of Humfrey R from


Lady Day part to Michaelmas, and to allow her to


remove all her goods and chattels before Michaelmas


- Eleanor R to pay 2.6d Michaelmas rent, Eleanor to 


depart quietly at the end of the term – if these 


conditions fulfilled then null and void.

117-119
Numbers not used

120.
Covenant by Francis Heape of Nottingham to George


Vernon that he has not heretofore made or committed


any release assignment or discharge of the 


obligation (bond) of 8 November 19 Charles II by John


Sherwin of Rodsley to Heape, now assigned by Heape 


to Vernon. 16 July 23 Charles II
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F and G

121.
4 December 1660


Assignment by Edward Vernon Esq (1)


to George Bowyer Gent (2)


of his hundred of Appletree Derbyshire, with rents of


assize, court pleas, perquisites, view of frankpledge


and all that liberty known by the name of implement


also all waifs, strays, goods and chattels, fines, 


punishments forfeitures to the Hundred Belonging or


within the said Court leete or view of Frankpledge


For 30 yrs.

122.
2 July 20 James I


Lease


John Harestaffe of Sudbury Derbys Ym. to Thomas


Sherwyn of Rodsley and john Sherwyn the Younger of


Rodsley, Yeoman.


Messuage or tenement in Rodsley with all app.


For lives of John Sherwyn the elder and Eliz.


Sherwyn his wife, and then for the term of 7 years


£24 per annum rent + 12d in lieu of a herriot on the 


decease of every person.

123.
Number not used
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Box 2

ARTIFICIAL BUNDLE 3 “F and G”

124.
29 March 1773


Lease



Glamorgan (see earlier)


John Edmondes of Cowbridge Glamorgan (1)


Thomas Edmondes the Younger of parish of St 


Mary le Bon Middlesex Esq and Joseph Kay of The 


Park ------------------------------ Middlesex Gent (2)


Mess. or dwelling house in parish of St Hillary Glamorgan


with closes as recited before


for lives of Margaret wife of John Edmondes, Margaret


daughter and Thomas Edmondes


£31 rent

125 & 126
Numbers not used

127.
Special grant (royal) of livery to William Fenwicke


9 Nov 9 Charles I


[Special] grant of livery to William Fenwicke of all


services, rents, reversions, emoluments whatever arising


from the manors, lands, tenements etc in the possession


of his father Richard Fenwick at the time of his death.


(any more detail? – no specific properties mentioned 


Fenwick property – see earlier?)

128-131
Numbers not used

132.
24 May 23 Eliz  Release


John Raynes of Bollham Northumberland Gent and 


Dorothy his wife (1)


Anthony Hedlie of little Ensseleye Northumberland


Yeoman (2)


£20 consideration


Messuage or tithe called Little Ensseleye with all app.

133.
Letters of attorney 15 January 1543/4


Richard Cox Dean of Oxford and Rector of the parish 


Church of Shenstone in the Diocese of Lichfield to Thomas


Stanley and Wm Sillvester – to collect the tithes of the


rectory of Shenstone.

end of artificial bundle 3

D410 M/

Box 2 (F and G) Oddments

134.
20 December 23 Eliz.


Declaration by Joan Robinson formerly wife of 


John Robynson of Northwich that she is indebted


to John William and Anne Robynson her children


in all these goods and chattels of J R at the time


of his decease and £3

135.
Bond by Robert le Mayner in £10 to Joan wife of


Henry son of Reynald de Hambury, with regard to 


payment of rent for lands leased by Robert of John: 


to be paid at Honnehul (Hound Hill) by ft. of 


Ascension next to come. Dated day after Easter


Day 34 Ed III

136.
Court baron of Robert Karre at Shenstone 


29 May 16 J I

Surrender by Henry Hanson son of Thomas Hanson


dec’d of a cottage and garden situated on the 


waste of the said manor in Thornes within the said manor 


to the use of the said Henry.

137.
Bond by Robert Greybrocke of Shenston to Thomas 


Stanley in £22  4 August 5 Eliz to obey the award and 


‘arbiterment’ of Edward Frythe John Baylye, John


Richards and John Parker, appointed to settle all 


actions between the parties.

138.
20 June 6 James I


Bargain and sale by William Atkinson of the Inner


Temple, esq., to Mary Vernon widow of John Vernon 


late of Sudbury dec’d and Edward Vernon son and heir,


annual rent of 30/- issuing out of a messuage at Leigh


Staffs, bargained and sold by William Atkinson and 


John Vernon to Francis Ault of Leigh.
Box 2

139.
26 March 1655


Receipt. Elizabeth Vernon one of the daughters of 


Sir Edward Vernon Kt. has received £600 from her 


brother Henry Vernon

140
Number not used

141.
Bond William Fenwick of Staunton Northumberland 


esq. and Edward Fenwick his son and heir to James 


Methuam of Newcastle in £1000


10 September 1630

142.
Bond by Richard Hodgkinson of Draycot under Needwood


to Robert Page of Coton husbandman in £20: to observe


the covenants in an indenture (b and sale of 1a of arable 


land in the fields of Draycot called Chappel Yard) of the 


same date.


4 June 9 James I

143.
Wednesday next after Easter Day 34 Ed III


Indenture (in Norman French) between Joan wife of 


Henry son of Reynald de Hanbur and Robert le Myners 


and Isabell his wife by which Joan has leased to R & J


all her lands, tenements, rents with app. in Marchinton, 


South Nedwood, Hounehull, Hanbur, Coton and Morton,


and two acres of land in Herfych an acre of land in 


Bondemedowe and three acres of meadow in Thewermeadow


(very faded – for how long?)

144.
Indenture 25 Nov 9 James I


George Warde of London gent (1) William Fenwicke of


Longshaws Northumberland gent (2) – consideration 


not stated --
(1) has bargained and sold to (2) – all


these lands and tenements in Longwitton Northumberland


in the occupation of Robert Stephenson with all app.
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Box 2

145.
Case paper Feb 23 1779 regarding Glamorgan property –


in the form of an abstract beginning with lease and 


release of 31 Jan/1 Feb 1762 of the manors or 


lordships of Beaufort and St Hilary in the parish of St


Hilary Glamorgan

146
Number not used

147
Number not used

148.
Turnpike bill 1780. work on a turnpike road October.


(no indication as to which)

149.
Court baron of the king – view of Frankpledge – at 


Shenstone 1 October 2 James 1


To this court comes Thomas Harrison an receives 


a cottage with app. situated on the king’s waste in the


manor aforesaid.

150
Number not used

Thursday 7th April 1659

150(a)
Mr Scawen reports from the Committee for the Inspection         ?


into the Accounts and Publique Revenue                            


a brief view of the publique revenue both certain and casual


with the ordinary expenses of the commonwealth of Eng, 


Scot and Ireland respectively in the three nations for one


year together with a state of the public debt as the same 


appeared to the said committee


the income of England


the income of Scotland


the whole pay of the army and forces


the whole charge of the navy


the pay of the army of Ireland


state of the debts of the commonwealth

150(b)
Hanbury 8 June 2  H.VIII Manor Court: Admittance


to this court comes Alesia daughter of Ollever 


Smytht and Margaret his wife and receives from 


the lord a croft called Birche croft.

151.
Royal writ


William Mitton Esq., Earl/Sheriff of Staffs, John Miners


bailiff of the liberty of the Duchy of Lancaster, William 


Bailly, itinerant bailiff of the king in the said county, 


Robert Owereow and Richard None – since Humphrey


Earl of Staffs William Vernon Kt., William Miners Richard


Bagot Nicholas Montgomery Nicholas Fitzherbert John Gamvill


Robert Gill and Thomas Leyland have made charges 


(pledges) of seizing and unjustly (unlawfully) detaining 


two horses and two cows against Robert Walker, 


I order that the said cattle (catalla) which the said R.W has


taken and unlawfully detained from Humphrey, William


Vernon --------Leyland be returned to them [or to reply to


the said H ------- at the next court at Stafford]. Dated Tuesday


next after the ft. of St Gregory 


36 H VI

152.
Shirley and Yeaveley


The great Court of Francis Sherley and Dorothea his 


wife 24 May 5 Eliz


admittance of Richard Pegge and Dorothy his wife


to a messuage with app. in Yeaveley.

153.
“An evidence under the hands of tenants of Moss 


concerning differences between Thomas Stanley” etc.


Ralph Edward Fryth Thomas, gent, Thomas Ryddyng


of Stonnall, yeoman, John Taylor of Stonnall, Yeoman,


Henry Mylner, John Adcocke, Robert Wyatt, John Hunt,


William Fydler Robert Grenall (Grenvall), John Coke, 


William Frornes! Henry Stanley, husbandman, Elizabeth


Gotham, widow, Juliana Eliot, widow, Alice Harding and


Isabel Hunt, widow, all of the parish of Shenstone and 


tenants to her majesty the queen under Thomas Stanley


her majesties former of the parsonage of Shenston and


the manor of Mossehowse Stonnall --- whereas there 


hath been sundry complaints made by William Wyatt,


John Finster and Elyn Ryddinge widow, copyhold tenants


for term of years which was ended in 7 Eliz and also by 


Richard Wyatt occupying wrongfully and paying no rent,


--- we do testify in the matter of controversy that the said


Thomas Stanley hath been very much and wrongfully 


troubled

Box 2
Evidence in a dispute between Thomas Stanley and 


various tenants of the Queen, under Thomas Stanley


former (lessee) of the parsonage and manor of 


Mossehowse Stonnall (Shenstone), over the right to 


occupy certain copyhold premises in the manor.


12 Oct. 8 Eliz.

154
Number not used

155.
Sudbury rental 





1683


(close names, tenants, rent)

156.
Catherine Vernon: wheat received from the mill
1686


oats, malt, beans, poultry

157.
Estate accounts – including corn sown 

1647


(receipts and disbts) photo Haslington

158.
Estate accounts





1684-1700/?










1800

159.
Household accounts (+ some estate accounts)
1704-1706

160.
Estate accounts and rental (Coppenhall, 

1662


Marchington, Walkerton Park, Haslington

161.
Haslington demesne rentals, Walkerton ex.

1663


+ estate accounts

162.
As above






1665

163.
Rental: Derbyshire (Sudbury, Sutton)


1669-71


Staffs


Haslington, Cropnall

164
Number not used

165.
Estate accounts





1672

166.
Estate accounts





1674

167.
Estate accounts





1680

168.
Estate accounts





1643-4

169.
Account book: receipts from every parish in

1644


Appletree – could it be militia – prob. 


taxation paid to royalist garrison at Tutbury


D410 M/

Box 2 continued

170.
Final concord Holy trinity in three weeks


6 Anne


Between Charles Cholmondeley esq. Richard Vernon


gent pfs.


Edward Vernon esq.


def. of manor of Sudbury Aston and Rodsley with 


app + 60 mess, 10 cottages, 100 barns, 10 tofts, a


dovecote, - gardens, 60 orchards, 1000 acres of land,


500 acres of meadow, 800 acres of pasture, 400 acres


of wood, 500 acres of furze and heath and 40/- rent


common of pasture and turbary in Sudbury, Aston, 


Mackley, Marston Montgomery, Rodsley, Hollington,


Eaton, West Broughton, Doveridge etc etc and advowson


of the church of Sudbury £1400.

D410 M/
                                                                            MARCHINGTON
Box 2
232.
Misplaced deed (damaged by damp)


Gift by Richard son of Walter Lighfot of M(ar)chington 


Woodhous(e) to William de Cam(er)a clerk of all his


messuage lands and tenements within the manor of 


Marchington were once of Walter Lighfot his father.

Witnesses

William Davy then receiver of ​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​​----------------------------- ) illegible due to 

damp), Robert de Darton?, clerk, Henry de Honnhull (Houndhill), Robert de Cimit(er)io, Richard Surden, Richard le Watt ---------------le Walker, William

Son of Gilbert et all to Edward II (day illegible)

233
Number not used

234
Number not used

End of Med.deed file B
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PACKET C BOX 3 


Small envelope labelled Marchington deeds

D410/3/262
Gift and quitclaim by Robert son of John Fussan? of  
early 14th c


Uttokusthather to Robert son of Robert de Cimit(ar)io of 


Marchinton desup (under) Nedwode of 15d annual


rent in Marchinton arising from a parcel of land which is 


called Willstonnishale. Witnesses Henry de Hownill., 


Thomas Camar (Cam(er)ar(ius?), William Engilin, 


John Plategreene, Robert Wille and others – at Uttoxeter 


Wednesday next after the feast of John ante portam latinam 1 Ed I


(?) (looks later but say Edward!)

D410/3/263
Gift by John Walker senior of Marcynton to 


1421


Robert Kynardesey, Walter Walker, John Walker


Junior, Henry Mackeley, chaplain, and William Walton


of all his lands tenements, meadows, pastures, 


pasturages, rents, reversions and possessions 


with appurtenances and all goods moveable and 


immoveable.


Witnesses: Robert Coke, Henry Ronndell, John 


Page and others


Wednesday next after the feast of St Lawrence, 9 Hy V

D410/3/264
Quitclaim by Thomas Leyland, vicar of the church

1459


Of Dovebrigge [Doveridge] to Robert Hill of all


Those messuages, lands, tofts, crofts, meadows,


Pastures, pasturage in the vill and fee of Prestwode


In the parish of Marchington under Nedewode.


Witnesses: John Hall, Thomas Jankyn, Henry Hayle


And many others.


20 July, 37 Hy V1

D410/3/264
a)
illegible deed - 





c1448



Endorsed: “Walterus Verney de Marn, Johi



Harpur de Ruysshale and Alianore ux parcellam



terre in [?]ton subtus Nedewode



- and hereds de corporibus ….” 26 Hy VI

D410/3/265
Inspeximus by Edmund son of Henry, King of England
1296


(Duke of Lancaster, brother of Ed I) of a gift by 


Robert de Ferrars, Earl of Derby, to Andrew de 


[Jaspunvile] for homage and service and 100 acres 


(5 x 20) acres of assart land with a half of a wood at


Rishay in the forest of Nedwode lying next

D410/3/265 

cont.
between the assart which once was of Walter


Choppetot and his [de F’s] wood there in length


and in breadth from the said wood as far as the


gate of the forest of Nedwode and then descending


[going down] through the hedge of Draycote as far


as the assart of the aforesaid Walter, and also 


“housebote, firebote and haybote” [the right of


taking firewood, wood for repairs] in the said forest


in the ward of Marchintone and “the view of the 


forester” [the bounds of the forest] – and pasture


for all cattle in the same ward except for “hays and


landis” [forest glades]” and passage for all his 


pigs in the said ward. Witnesses: (of inspeximus), Lord Richard, 


son of Jalyis? Lord Richard of the wood, Lord Ralph Basset of 
Drayton, Lord Elia de Hainule [Houndhill], Lord Laurence de 


Sto[na?], Lord William de Angtho and others. Thursday


next after feast of the purif. of BVM


24 Ed I

D410/3/266
Gift by Thomas Torkell to Robert Hill senior, 

1482


[the elder] of a messuage and all his lands, tenements,


carts, services, meadows, pastures and pasturages with 


all appurtenances in the fee of Marchington under


Nedewode which he formerly held by gift and feoffment 


of Robert Moreton and Margery his wife.


Witnesses: John Agard, Nicholas Agarde, Thomas 


Whityngton Thomas Boide, William Moreton and 


others.


Tuesday next after the feast of Ascension,


22 Ed IV

D410/3/267
Marchington manor court – Friday next after the 

1483


feast of the apostles Philip and James, 3 Ed IV?


by Surrender by John? E Careman of 5 acres


of land in Newruddyng and 7 acres 3 roods of land


in Merchyngton Wodlande in the tenure of 


Richard Careman to the use of William Careman

D410/3/268
Assignment by John Wade, parson of the church

1379


of Leigh, to Thomas de Marchington and John


Predham [?] of ten marks and to Christiana de 

D410/3/268 
Predham [?] 27s 8d and to Philip de Okour

cont
[Okeover] £8-6-8d in part payment of a bond


for £36


Dated Monday feast of St Peter, 3 Ric II


End of packet C – Box 3


Small envelope of deeds – FILE C

D410/3/269
Gift by Richard de Wolesshawe of Marchington

1433


under Nedewode to Robert de Hyll of Hobnell,


Thomas le Wright of Stubbylane and John Aylsy 


of Newlande of two acres of arable land lying in 


a field called Heresych and an acre of meadow 


lying in le Erles Medewe within the lordship of 


Marchington.


Wednesday the feast of the Annuciation of BVM.


11 Hy VI

D410/3/270
Gift by Richard Jurdon of Marchington to Henry

1336


De Hanbur[y] of all that piece of meadow in the


territory of Marchington with all appurtenances 


lying between the meadow of the lord earl and the


land of William de Cama [Chambers] clerk.


Witnesses: Henry de Hounhull, Robert de Cimit[er]io


[Churchyard] John Plategrene, William Gilbert,


Thomas Atte Oky and others. Tuesday next after


the feast of St Chad, 10 Ed III

D410/3/271
Gift by Henry Vernon, esq, son and heir apparent

1638


of Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury, kt, and Edward


Tompson of Aston, yeoman (1), Sir Edward Vernon


(2) reciting that the King [Charles I] gave to Vernon


and Tompson the office of the custody of the park of


Agardsley and the office of custody of the ward of


Marchington [within the forest or chase of Needwood], 


now Henry Vernon and E Tompson constitute


Sir Edward Vernon as their deputy: 


17 Nov, 14 Chas I.

D410/3/272
Gift by Richard Jurdon, senior, to ?[illegible] son 

[late 13th c]


of Thomas de Camer [Chambers] of Coton, clerk, of


six acres of arable land in Marchington Wodehouses,


two of which lie in a certain field called le Marelepente


Ruddinikr next to the field of Hugh Wenge, and four


of which lie in a certain field called Boggesbotheme.


Witnesses: John de Migners, Seneschal [? of Tutbury]

D410/3/272
 [--------------------] de Hounhull, William de Jaspunvill,

(cont)
Geoffrey Weyn,


John de Fokerh[a]m, Robert de Cimit[er]io,

[late 13th c]


[Churchyard] [badly faded by damp].


Tuesday feast of St Edith [illegible]

D410/3/273
Deed [Marchington] 


3 Nov, 1 Ric III


See also 276


Deed – FILE  D


D410/3/274
Court held at Marchington Tuesday next after the 

1435


feast of St George, 13 Hy VI – surrender by 


John Etwall of a ‘bond cottage’ and a half of a 


‘bond tenure’ formerly in the tenure of John Golbrie


to the use of Robert Aston.

D410/3/275
Quitclaim by John Wade, parson of the church of 

1377


Leigh to Richard de Alkemonton, Henry de Darley,


Richard Sharp and William del Haseles, chaplain of 


all lands tenements rents and services which the


said Richard, Henry Richard and William hold by 


gift and feoffment of Thomas de Marchington in the


counties of Derbys and Staffs.


Monday next after the feast of Pentecost, 1 Ric II

D410/3/276
Gift by Robert Hyll Junior, William Hyll, Henry 

1473


[Cundlyffe?], Henry Wetton, and William Symson


to William Hastynges, lord of Hastynges, John 


Stanley, kt, Nicholas Montgomery esq, and 


Robert Hyll senior, of two parts of a messuage lying


in the fee of Marchington under Needwood 


formerly in the tenure of John Walker and also a 


messuage  with appurtenances in Marchington


lying next to the cemetery of the chapel there 


formerly in the tenure of George Lyton and also a 


messuage with appurtenances lying next to the bridge


called Crokebrage which formerly Humphry Sill[?] along with 


Walter Sturdy [now deceased] held by gift and feoffment 


of the said Robert Hyll.


12 Sep, 13 Ed IV


See also 273

D410/3/277
Gift by Eadmund de Montgomery [?] to John 

1311


Wale de Sudbury [y] of five acres of arable land


in the fee of Marchington which he held by gift 


and feoffment of Thomas son of Roger de Aston


lying in a field called Dovefield between 


the great stream of Dove and a small stream of


water called Draycoteslem in latitude (width] and


between Hurst Siche and Chirnoule in length, rent


of a rose for 15 years, then 30s, if he wishes the


5 acres to remain in his tenure. Wednesday next


after the feast of St Michael, 5 Ed II

D410/3/278
Gift by Richard Chois of Marchington to John de 

1282


Miners of a messuage and five acres of arable land


enclosed with ditches and hedges with all 


appurtenances lying in a close between the land


of Walter de Marchington on one part and a certain


way leading to Marchington towards the forest of


Needwod, and also a penny of annual rent arising


from a cottage of John Chois with all appurtenances.


Witnesses: William de Jaspunvill, William de Stenton,


William Morel, Geoffrey Oweyn and others. Monday


next before the feast of St Michael the Archangel,


10 EdI

D410/3/279
Lease by Thomas Vernon of Howanshill, esq, to 

1554


John Stokdale, one acre of meadow lying in 


Hownshill meadow in the lordship of Marchington,


for 21 years, at 3s 4d p.a.


8 Jan, 1 Mary

D410/3/280
Gift by Thomas son and heir of John Oweyn to

1336


Ralph le Walkere and Godithe his wife of a piece


Of land with appurtenances in Marchington 


lying in the Floshfeld namely between the land


of John Plategrene and the land of Richard 


Gibbeson, enclosed and bounded.


Witnesses: Henry de Hanbury kt, Robert de Pipe,


Robert le Chamberleyn, Henry de Knyveton, 


Thomas Engelon and others. Wednesday next


before the feast of St Dunston, 10 Ed III

D410/3/281
Gift by Ralph son of Reginald de Schamnton

1328


‘manens’ in Howinhul [Houndhill] and Margery


his wife, to Henry de Hanbury his heirs and 


assigns of 5½ acres of arable land lying in the 


territory of Marchington between the land of Roger


Gingere on the one part and the land of Thomas

D410/3/281
Earl of Lancaster on the other. 





Cont.
Witnesses: Robert de Pype, Stephen de Curson, 




Lord of Falde, Henry de Howinhul, William Morel,


William de Stenton, William de Hanbury chaplain, 


Hugh de Esseborn, [Ashbourne] clerk, and others. 


Tuesday next after the feast of St Michael, 2 Ed III

D410/3/282
Gift by Thomas le Campion of Marchington under 

1298


Nedwode to Henry de Hanbury of six selions lying in


le Pool in the fee of Marchington in two parts between


the land of Robert de Cimit[er]io [Churchyard] on 


one part extending in length from the water of Douve 


[Dove] as far as the King’s way which leads to the 


Poolbreye into Derbyshire.


Witnesses: Lord Robert de Pipe, kt, then seneschal


of Tutusbur[y], [Tutbury], Stephen de Curzon lord


of Fauld, Henry de Howenhul, Thomas de Chamberlain,


William Engelonn de Marchington and others


Saturday the eve of Palm Sunday, 26 Ed I

D410/3/283
Gift by George Lyton of Marchington under Nedewode
1466



to Robert Hill, Henry Cunlyfe, Walter Sturdy, Henry


Walton and Roger Hill of a messuage with 


appurtenances in Marchington lying next to the 


cemetery of Marchington chapel. Eve of the feast 


St Lawrence, 6 Ed IV

D410/3/284
Gift by [?] le Muleware to William Chambers, 

1316


clerk, of a parcel of land with all appurtenances in


Marchington which lies between the house of 


Walter Lyghtfot and one part and the highway which


leads from Marchington towards Uttoxeter on the


other part, also an acre of arable land with 


appurtenances which acre lies between the land


of Walter Lightfot on one part and the land which


Richard le Wayte acquired from the said Walter.


Witnesses: William [?]ays, William Jaspunvill, Henry


de Hounhull, Henry de Cama [Chambers] Richard


Jurdon, William le Cok de Lyeghes, [Leigh] 


Richard le Wayte and others.


Eve of St Simon, 10 Ed II

D410/3/285
Gift by Thomas Attee Oky of Marchington to Henry

1321


De Hanbury of a piece of arable land containing


three acres by estimation with all appurtenances


in Wolstoneshalogh in the fee of Marchington lying


between the land which Alice Attee Oky held and


the water of Dove.

D410/3/285
Witnesses: Henry de Hounhull, Robert de Cimit[er]io

cont.
[Churchyard], Henry de Knyveton, John Oweyn, 


William Plategrene, clerk, and others.


Tuesday next after feast of St Thomas, 


15 Ed II

D410/3/286
Gift by Robert Moreton of Montrell [Mountsorrel]

1477


Leics and Marger[ia] his wife to Thomas Threkell


son of John Threkell of a messuage and all those


lands, rents, meadows, pastures and pasturages


with all appurtenance in Marchington Woodland


Staffs.


Feast of St Katherine, 17 Ed IV

D410/3/287
Quitclaim by Richard Oweyn of Marchington to 

1351


Henry de Counderslefe [Cundliffe] and Alexandra


his wife of all that parcel of land with buildings and


superstructures and all appurtenances in Marchington


lying in Holbrok on one part in width and the 


highway leading towards Uttox[eter] and in length


between the land of Robert Cosp [blank] and the 


land of Walter le Coher. 


Witnesses: Ralph de Cuffeld [?], Robert Oweyn, 


Thomas de Coton, Robert de Snelleston, Henry Cosp,


Robert Chamberleyn, Robert Bacon and others.


Sunday next after the feast of the apostles Peter 


and Paul, 25 Ed III.

D410/3/288
Gift by John Chois to John de Haytelagh of a 
[late 14th cent]


messuage with buildings, superstructures and 


curtilage adjacent which he held by gift and 


feoffment of Richard Chois his brother in the 


fee of Marchington with all appurtenances


[damp and faded].


Witnesses: [blank] son of Gilbert, Richard de


Swyndon, John de Swyndon, Richard son of 


Gilbert and others.


Day after the feast of  St Peter ad vincula [?],


Ed II [regnal year illegible]

D410/3/289
Gift by Robert de Ferrars son and heir of William
[early 13th cent]


De Ferr[ars] formerly Earl of Derby to Henry 


Coco [Coke] son of Adam de Coco [Coke] of 40


acres of land lying between the grange of Adam


Coco [Coke] and [?] field on one part and the 


mountain of Marchington [Marchington Hill] from 


the house of Henry Leynsderere on the other part


in the territory of Marchington with husbote and 

3D410/Box 3/289
heybote ‘per visum fores’ [in the forester’s view]

(cont)
in the ward of Marchington, 20s annual rent.


Witnesses: William his brother, Lord Richard de


Herthull, Lord John de Pulens, Lord William de


Landon, Stephen de Minhers then seneschal,


Andrew de Jaspunvill [?], Henry de Hunhull,


William de Chaundos, Roger de Annis, Henry


Buwen [?], Richard Hingelun, Walter le 


Chamberlen, Ralph Harys, clerk, and others.


nd

D410/Box 3/290
Gift by Thomas de Coton to John del Churcheyard

1350


of Marchington of an acre of arable with 


appurtenances lying in the Oldfield between the 


land of William Plategrene on one part and the


land of the lord of Hounhulle on the other.


Witnesses; William Plategrene, Thomas Engeland,


Adam Arnald, Robert de Snelleston and Robert


Bacon and others.


Wednesday the feast of St Michael, 24 Ed III

D410/Box/3/291
Quitclaim by Robert Schyret of Foston to 


1297


Master Henry le Kerr his heirs and assigns of 


12d annual rent which Henry was accustomed 


to pay to him for a certain tenement called 


Wolstonishalwe in the fee of Marchington 


under Nedwode


Witnesses: Robert de Pipe, Stephen de Cursun, 


Henry de Howenhull, William Horall, William


Engelun and others: Monday next after 


Easter Day 26 Edw I

D410/Box3/292
Gift by Robert Walker to Robert Hill of a 


1477


messuage with a croft and all appurtenances 


called Flechfield lying in the fee of Marchington


under Nedewode formerly in the tenure of 


Richard Walker


12 Apr 17 Edw IV

D410/Box3/293
Gift by Robert de Hill of Hownhill to John Curson 

1426


of Ketulston [Kedleston] and Thomas 


Montgomery esq of two acres of arable land 


lying in the Polefield in the parish of Marchington


between the water of Dowfe [Dove] on the N


and the land of John Kerysby on the S, abutting


over the Hursyche to the W at one head and at 


the other (head) butting on the land of the 


prior of Tutbury: 6d per annum rent to the Duke


of Lancaster  26 Jan 15 Hy VI

D410/Box3/294
Gift by John de Miyneres to Ralph Walker of 

1330


? Barton Marchington and Godith his wife of


5 acres of arable land lying in Marchington in


a close next to the path which leads from 


Marchington to the wood Richard Choys sometime


held 3s 9d rent


Witnesses: Henry de Howenhull, Robert de Pype


Robert le Chamboleyn, William de Fenton, John


at the Churchyard and Henry Kenyveton and others


4 Ed III

D410/Box 3/295
Quitclaim by Robert Walker to Robert Gilb(ert) of

1476


a messuage and croft called Fleshfield with 


appurtenances in the fee of Marchington under 


Nedewodde 12 Apr 16 Ed IV

D410/Box 3/296
Gift by Robert Schyret to Henry Coco [Coke] of 
     [early 14th c]


Cotes for his homage and service of three acres


of land in Wulstonishalgh in the fee of Marchington


which he (Robert) formerly held of John de le Hoke


which lies in width between the land of the Lord the


Earl Ferrars on one part and the land which John de


le Hoke held on the other and in length between the


water called Dove as far as Katheshalgh 12d 


annual rent.


Witnesses: Andrew de Jaspenvile Henry de Howenhul, 

William De Chandoys, Roger de Donnes, Henry de 


Marchington, Oweyn and others nd [early 14th cent]

D410/Box 3/297
Gift by John Oweyn son and heir of Robert Oweyn

1289


of Marchington to Master Henry Coco [Coke] of


Hanbury of a parcel of arable land in the territory


of Marchington in the field called Hurside lying 


between the land of Gunnote formerly wife of 


Richard Pierpont of Marchington on the one part 


and the water of Douve [Dove] over the other, 


extending in length from that stream towards 


Draycote Hayrows: rent of a rose. Witnesses: 


Robert de Pipe, Henry de Hownhul, Robert Hunter,


Adam his brother, Robert de Cimiterio [Churchyard],


William Engelun, Walter Lok and Robert de Morely


and others. Monday the eve of St Nicholas 1289


[severely damaged]

D410/Box 3/298
Quitclaim by Robert Wille de Uttoxeter chaplain

1297


to Robert son of Robert de Cimiterio [churchyard]


of Marchington of a mediety (half) of 5 acres of


arable land with appurtenance on the territory


of Marchington lying between the field of Mulneton on 


one part, of the field called Bankhurst on the other part, 


and the other two acres lying between the land of John 


De Quercu [Oak] on one part and the land of Roger de 


Droghton on the other part. All Saints Day 1297

D410/Box 3/299
Part of a deed between Robert Walker and 


1477


Robert Hill relating to a house in Marchington


in the tenure of john Walker and closes 


belonging. 17 Edward IV

D410/Box 3/300
Gift by Thomas Attee Oky of Marchington 


1285


to Henry de Hanbur(y) of two selions of arable


land in the territory of Marchington with all 


appurtenances lying in the choudemedwe in


two places between the land of Ralph Lok? on 


one part and the land of Richard son of Gilbert


De Scropton on the other


Witnesses: Henry de Hounhull, Robert de 


Cimiterio [Churchyard], John Plategrene, Richard


Jordan, Reginald de Hanbury, William de Commer,


clerk and others


Wednesday next after the feast of St Christopher


13 Edward I 

D410/Box 3/301
Gift by John le Campion chaplain to Godithe la 

1280


Campion and her lawful heirs of six acres of 


arable land in the territory of Marchington with all 


appurtenances of which one acre and one rood 


lie in a certain field called le Holdennilnesele and three


roods of land lying next to the great marlpit 


(marleram) and above i.e. Pikkyngges and three


roods of land lying next to le Priges Ole in the field


called Mulneffield and half an acre of land lying next t 


the Dove 
Bridge in the same field called Hurst Siche


and Danehurst and half an acre of land lying next to 
Asschebiesgreves: 6s annual rent: 


Witnesses: John de Migners, Henry de Hounhal,


William de Jaspunvill, Geoffrey Oweyn, Roger de 


Donnes, and others.


Sunday next after the feast of Tiburtius and 


Valerianus 5 Edward I

D410/Box 3/302
Confirmation by William de Ferr(ers), Earl of Derb(y) [mid 13th cent]


of the gift by William parson of Hanbury to 


Thomas son of Helie(as), priest of Marchington,


and his heirs of two bovates of land belonging to 


the chapel of Marchington which the said Helias held 


for the service of
the church of St Wereburge de Hanbir


[Hanbury] and the parson of the same place


Witnesses: William de Ridewar then seneschal,


Jordan de Thoke, Thomas de (Ferr(ars), Henry


De (Ferr(ars), Stephen de Cursun, Henry de 


Huhenhul, Gilbert de Boshchmill, Roger Hunter


George de Mercutt(on) [Marchington], Loe de 


Mercutton and many others (Wm de Ferrers, Earl, 


1254)

D410/Box 3/
Quitclaim by Richard of Liton of town of St 


1466

303/1
Albans and George Liton to Robert Hyll, Henry


Cundliff, Walter Sturdy, Henry Wetton and 


Roger Hyll of a messuage with appurtenances


in Marchington lying next to the cemetery of the


chapel there. 10 Oct 6 Edward IV

D410/Box 3/
Order or notice from James, Earl of Northampton,

1660

303/2
master of his majesties leashes, to all Justices,


Mayors, Sherriffs etc concerning greyhounds


26 Oct 1660 [Damaged]

D410/Box 3/
Recovery (1633) by Edward Vernon against 

1633

304
Walter Vernon esq and William Allan, gent, 3


messuages, 6 acre of meadow, 120 acre of 


pasture in Hanbury, Machington and Draycott


6 Nov 9 Chas 1

D410/Box 3/305
Feoffment by Dame Mary Browne of Snelston 

1633


widow (lat wife of Sir William Browne kt decd)


Barbara Browne and Mary Browne her daughters


to Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt, in 


consideration of £840 of all that inclosed ground


called Pipehay in the parish of Hanbury adjoining


the Forest of Needwood, also close of meadow


or pasture commonly known as Blackearth, 5a by 


estimation, in the manor of Marchington in the 


parish of Hanbury 


3 Oct 9 Chas I

D410/Box 3/306
Feoffment of Humphrey Clarke citizen and dyer 

1634


of London to Sir Edward Vernon kt of Sudbury


in consideration of £70, close called Rosley, 


20 acre by est, parcel of meadow called Buckridding


of a 4a, 2a of land lying in Stubbelane, 1 a


of meadow ground in Eareles Meadow all in 


Marchington


1 Sep 10 Chas I [severely damaged deed]

D410/Box 3/307
Quitclaim by Humphrey Clarke citizen and dyer

1636


of London to Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury


kt, of the Upper and Nether Newlands in 


Marchington. (Recently a suit in Court of the 


Duchy Chamber at Westminster)


27 Aug 12 Chas I

D410/Box 3/308
Lease by Robert Chapman of Agardsley Lodge, 

1635


Staffs gent. to Thomas Vernon of Sudbury, gent.,


of all that enclosed ground called Pipehay, close


of meadow called Blackyearth in the manor of 


Marchington in the parish of Hanbury, messuage


or tenement in Draycott in ten. or occup. of Mary


Hill, messuage or tenement in Stubbinlane in the


p. of Hanbury in the occupation of William Wolley,


 messuage or tenement in Marchington in the occupation


 of  Francis Whiteringe and tenement in Marchington of 

Francis Whitheringe and tenement in Marchington


occup. of William Marshall, two closesof meadow called

 Buckridding and a close or pasture called Alkins Close in 
Marchington near a bridge over the Dove called the 

New Bridge: for 79 years at an annual rent of £60


6 Jan 10 Chas I

D410/Box 3/309 Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury 

1635


Kt. to Anthony Cope of Morton, Hanbury, Staffs,


Yeoman, in consideration of £80, close called


Wardhurst Knowle in Marchington 


23 Mar 10 Chas I



D410/Box 3/310
Rough rental and particular of Marchington

    [late 17th cent]

D410/Box 3/311
Feoffment by John Alkin of Marchington 


1634


Yeoman to John Gilbert of Marchington, yeoman


in consideration of £40, of a close called Ankers


Holme, 2a, in the manor of Marchington


21 Nov 10 Chas I

D410/Box 3/312 Feoffment by Richard Aston of Marchington 

1640


Yeoman to John Gilberd of Marchington for a


certain consideration, two parcels of land, the 


greater being in a small enclosure of JG’s taken


out of the Brookfield and the other lies in the Byflatt


(½ rood)


10 Jan 15 Chas I

D410/Box 3/313
Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury 

1635


kt to Thomas Allen of Draycott in the Clay


husbandman, in consideration of £40, close of


meadow called Dovecothiron, 4a by est., in


Marchington and another acre of meadow at a 


place called Hollowes Nook


17 Sep II Chas I

D410/Box 3/314
Feoffment 






1635


Sir Edward Vernon to Ralph Adderley of




Mickleover of a selion of land containing a 


rood and a half now in the occup. of George 


Creswall in a croft called the Bulyord


in Marchington


4 Jun

D410/Box 3/315
Final concord






1665


Between William Harrison plaintiff and Humfrey


Clarke and Elizabeth his wife deforciants of


a messuage a garden, an orchard, 14 acres of 


land, 2 acres of meadow, 20 acres of pasture


and common of pasture for all cattle with 


appurtenances in Marchington and Hanbury:


consideration £41


Octave of Purification, 17 Chas II

D410/Box 3/316
Final concord between George Vernon esq pf and

1668


John Alkin sr and John Alkin jr. and Anne his 


wife deforc of 2 messuages, 1 cottage, 2 gardens,


2 orchards, 18a of land, 20a of m, 30a of pasture


and common of pasture for all cattle p. with all app. 

in Marchington,Marchington Woodland and Needwood

 £100 consid. day after Trinity 20 Chase II

D410/Box 3/317
Final concord between George Vernon esq pf and

1668


John Alkin sr and John Alkin jr. and Anne his wife


deforc of 2 messuages, 1 cottage, 2 gardens, 


2 orchards, 18a of land, 20a of m, 30 a of pasture


and common of p. with all app. in Marchington,


Marchington Woodland and Needwood: £100 


consid.


Day after Trinity 20 Chase II

D410/Box 3/318
Final concord between George Vernon esq.


1668


pf. And Robert Woodroff gent and Ann his


wife deforc. of 15a of pasture and common 


of p. in Marchington, and Needwood: £60 consid.







D410/Box 3/318
Day after Trinity 20 Chas II




1668

D410/Box 3/319
Lease for 20 years by Sir Edward Vernon 


1627


kt to Anthony Cope of Morton in the parish 


of Hanbury yeoman, in consid. of  £20 10s., a


close called Wardhurste in Marchington, Staffs


an. rent of 26s 8d


16 Apr

D410/Box 3/320
Assignment John Aston the elder of Marchington

1630


Staffs yeoman (1) to Richard Croupwell of 


Marchington and William Burden of Marchington


yeoman (2) – of a parcel of demesne land in 


Marchington (for which Aston is a tenant for life


of John Alkin) – to use and behoof of J A for


10 years, then to use of Richard Aston son of 


J A for 60 years and then R A to pay his brother 


William Aston £30, if J A so long lives


20 Dec 6 Chas I

D410/Box 321
Copy Feoffment Humphrey Clarke citizen and 

1639


dyer of London (1) Richard Aston of Marchington


Yeoman (2) in consideration of £100, of a messuage


or tenement called Reeves Thing now in the 


tenancy or holding of Richard Aston and Longe 


Croft, 2a., the Furlongs 6a, new enclosure butting


on the Dove 4a, the land in three Intakes taken out


of Brookfield 4 ½ acres. 1 acre of land in Brookfield


near Brighton Bridge below the brook, 3r of land 


lying in a close of Richard Robottam’s lately 


enclosed from the Brookfield, 2 selions of land 


lying in a close of Richard? in the Brookfield, one 


selion of arable land ½ v lying in the Brookfield


near the Swans Nest, one selion of arable land lying


in Beniamas field upon Rye Furlong, an acre of land


lying in a close called Hobholme, 1a of arable land lying


dispersedly in the Milnefield upon Rowecliff Pickings, 


also the moiety of a cottage in Marchington where Ann


Ashton widow lives. With moiety of the orchard with 


all app. and common of pasture attached to messuage


and moiety of cottage in the manor of Marchington


14 Oct 15 Chas I

D410/Box 3/322
Final concord between Nicholas Browne gent

1558


pf. and George Vernon kt. and Matilda his wife


deforciants of a messuage, 1 water mill, 40a of


land, 40a of meadow, 100a of pasture, 10a of




wood 100a, of furze and heath called 


Milneholme Meadow and Pypehaye with app.


in Draycott consideration not stated


Easter in 15 days 4/5 Philip & Mary

D410/Box 3/323
Demise (in effect a mortgage) Sir Edward Vernon

1634/5


of Sudbury kt (1) Robert Chapman of Agardsley


Lodge Staffs gent (2) £800, all that inclosed ground


called Pipehey, Hanbury with all buildings and the


meadow or pasture in Marchington called Blacke


yearth with all app. for 80 years at a peppercorn


rent 5 Jan 10 Chas 1

D410/Box 3/324
Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury

1635



kt to John Gilbert of Marchington, in consideration


of £25, of six selions of land 1½ a by est. in 


Marchington in a close or pasture of J G’s called


Wetfurlong, and a selion of land by est. 1r. in the 


close called Wetfurlong intermixed with the other


lands with hades, balks etc


30 Mar II Chas 1

D410/Box 3/325
Feoffment by Humphrey Clarke citizen and 


1640


dyer of London to Richard Aston of Marchington


Staffs yeoman of two small parcels of ground in 


an inclosure of John Gilbert’s at Marchington below


the brook lately taken out of the Brookfield, and 


the other in a certain parcel of ground called the 


Byflatt ½ rood be est., and one other very little


parcel of ground lying in a certain intake in the 


tenure of Raphe Baxter sometimes parcel of 


the Brookfield 1/8 rood all in the manor of 


Marchington, held from the Crown only “in common and 


free socage not in capite or by Knight’s Service”


4 Jan 15 Chase I

D410/Box 3/326
Feoffment by Humfrey Clarke citizen and dyer of

1635


London to Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt in 


consideration of £20, a meadow or parcel of ground


called Dovecott Hyron 4a by est., 6a of meadow 


lying dispersedly in Marchington, Draycott, Morton


and Stubbelane meadows, and 1a of meadow in the


Poolefield late the property of Matthew Cradocke 


of Caverswall, all in Marchington, again held of the 


king in common and free socage  


4 Apr II Chas 1

D410/Box 3/327/
Final concord at Reading between Edward 


1625

1-3
Vernon kt.pf. and Ralph Alkyn and Margaret


his wife and John Alkyn and Margery his 


wife, deforc. of 6a. of pasture and app. in 


Marchington £42 consid (with counterpart and legal


a/c)


Day after All Saints, 1 Chas I

D410/Box 3/328
Feoffment by Abraham Scott of Sudbury yeoman 

1638


and William Scott his son and heir apparent to


William Madeley of Aston, Derbys, yeoman, in 


consideration of £30, of a close or parcel of 


inclosed ground 2a by est in Marchington Poole


field with all app.


15 Jan 13 Chas I

D410/Box 3/329
Feoffment in consid. of £100, Humfrey Clarke

1639


citizen and dyer of London to Richard Aston


of Marchington, yeoman, of a messuage called


Reeves Thing


14 Oct 15 Chas I

D410/Box 3/330
Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury 

1635


to Francis Wittrens of Marchington husbandman,


in consid of £22, an acre of meadow known as 


the Erls meadow in Marchington


2 apr 11 Chas I

D410/Box 3/331
Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt.

1635


to Humfrey Meacock of Hanbury, carpenter, in


consid. of £33, of close, parcel or dole of meadow


ground 2½ a. by est. in a place called Wardehurst


Marchington


23 Mar 10 Chas I
D410/Box 3/332
Memorandum relating to the Manor of Marchington
1633


copyholders’ offers to purchase in James I’s time,


Mr Clarke’s purchase, Mr Clarke took court rolls from


Tutbury Castle etc. etc.


2 Nov

D410/Box 3/333
Final concord between Walter Vernon esq. and 

1633


William Allen gent. pfs. and Mary Browne widow,


Barbara Browne and May Browne spinsters deforc.


of 3 cottages, 6a of Marchington, 120a of p. with


app in Hanbury, Marchington and Draycott


- consid. £120


Sep 9 Chas I

D410/Box 3/334
Final concord between George Vernon esq.


1668


pf. and Robert Woodroff


Day after Trinity 20 Chas II

D410/Box 3/335
20 Feb 11 Chas I


Feoffment by Humfrey Clarke citizen and dyer

1636


of London to Richard Aston of Marchington in


consideration of £3  5s  0d., of an acre of 


pasture ground in a close of RA’s called the 


furlong and ½ acre of meadow or pasture in 


the Church Furlong, both in Marchington, 


yearly rent, of 12d (chief rent)


20 Feb 11 Chas I

D410/Box 3/336
Feoffment by Dame Mary Browne of Snelston,

1633


widow, late wife of Sir William Browne kt, Barbara


and Mary Browne her daughters t Sir Edward Vernon


of Sudbury Kt.,of all that enclosed ground called Pipe 

Hay in Hanbury and all that close of meadow or pasture


called Blackyearth in the p. of Marchington 5a


by est.


11 Nov

D410/Box 3/337
Feoffment by Humfrey Clarke citizen and dyer 


1636


of London to Raphe Adderley of Cotton, Staffs, in


consideration of £100, of a messuage or tenement 


of Arthur Gilbert in Marchington Woodland, two


crofts 6a by est. a meadow called the meadow


before the door 6a., Little Meadow 2 ½ a, the 


Shruggie Field 5a, Stotfold Flatt 4a., Jones Croft


1a, Smithee Croft 3a, Lightwist, Calver Croft and


Lighthurst Meadow 36a of land, Upper and Nether


Lightwoods 14a., Clotiholmes 2a, 1 rood of land


in the Buttyard, parcel of land called the Fineracres


4 ½ a, with all app. common of pasture for all manner


of cattle in commonable places of Marchington, 


chief rent of 33s 10d


20 Jul 12 Chas I

D410/Box 3/338
Feoffment by Humfrey Clarke to Dame Mary Browne
1633


and Barbara Browne of close of meadow or 


pasture called Blackyearth 5a. by est, 6s 8d chief


rent


1 Oct

D410/Box 3/339
Lease by Robert Chapman of Agardsley Lodge


1634/5


Staffs gent to Thomas Vernon of Sudbury gent., 


of Pipehay, of the close called Blackyearth in


Marchington, 3 messuages in the occup. of


Mary Hill, Francis Whitherings and William 


Woolley in Marchington, a tenement known as 


Rowley in the occup. of William Marshall, a 


meadow called Buckriddings and a close of 


pasture called Alkins Close near the bridge


over the Dove called New Bridge for 79 years –


£60 p.a., all in Marchington. This lease will


be void if during the term Sir Ed Vernon pays


to Rt. Chapman £830 as by ind. 5 Jan 1634/5


6 Jan

D410/Box 3/340
Counterpart of mortgage of Pipehay 


1634

/1
5 Jan 1634 for £800

D410/Box 3/340
Letter to Sir Edward Vernon to accompany legal

1634

/2
documents relating to the manor of Marchington


Easter Monday 1634


End of Box 3 and of Marchington Bundle

Box 4

File of miscellaneous Derbyshire Deeds

1.
Settlement/Agreement between Henry de Kent of


Boylleston and Thomas son and heir of Thomas


de Barton, reciting that Thomas married Agnes


daughter of Henry de Kent, and the said Henry


provided for her “maritagium” 4 oxen 40s. 2 mares


20s, 2 cows 16s, 2 bullocks 10s, a sow 2s, two 


carts one bound with iron one not, one brass pot


one bowl, one bowl and jug and a tub to be paid to


Thomas or his attorney at the end of four years


ending at Michaelmas 1390; also Thomas has 


demised to Henry all his lands and tenements in


Barton for the duration of the term also the said


Thomas agrees and obliges himself (binds himself)


to enfeoff Agnes in all his lands and tenements


in Barton which he held of his father, for her life:


also the said Henry agrees to sustain Thomas and 


Agnes and children in food, clothes etc, and at 


the end of the term the said Henry will deliver to 


Thomas all his lands and tenements (i.e. the 


Barton lands) with all fruits issuing from the lands. 


Witnesses: Thomas de Maikeleye (Mackley?),


John de Sapyrton, Roger de Kent, John Robyn, 


Walter de Irton chaplain and others.

2.
25 April 22 Charles II 1670


Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq. to


John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert Esq., in 


consid. of £305, of 3 closes in Church Somersall


called Lee Lawton and Taylors Croft 9a, 4 closes


in Church Somersall called the Lees al. Rathbone


Lees 81 a., upper part of a certain close in Church


Somersall called Great Croft 3½ a. (reciting 


lease for possession).

Box 4

3.
25 March 1690


Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Thomas


Browne of Bentley esq, in consideration of £80 and £60,


of a messuage, farm or tenement in Rodsley and closes


called the Scattscarse, the Nearer Scattscarse, the 


Cliffts, The Crofts adj. the messuage, the Fow Cote 


Closes, the Long Meadow and the South Lee, all in 


Rodsley – for 21 years, at an annual rent of £24 (the 


£80 is paid by Browne at the appointment of John 


Sherwin of Rodsley who occupies the premises, being


the arrears of rent due to Vernon part of it for the use 


of Rodsley poor).

4.
Quitclaim by Henry Saucheverell and Ralph Leche at


the special request of John Vernon of the manors of


Leghe and Yeldersely to John Vernon. Dated 20 June 


25 H.VIII 1533.

5.
Lease by Thomas Stanley of the Moss Barn Shenstone
1547


to Thomas Kene of Sutton Collfyld  in consid. of 


£6.6s.8d, of the tithes of Little Aston in Shenstone: for 


8 years. Dated 10 September 1 Ed. VI 1547.

6.
20 July 16 Eliz. 1574


Lease by Thomas Stanley of Shenstone gent. to John 


Shelfield of Great Barr Staffs husbandman of the tithes


of Little Aston in the parish of Shenstone: for 3 years at £4 per 
annum.

7.
18 January 35 H.VIII 1543/4. Lease by Thomas Stanley


of little Aston Shenstone to Thomas Kene of Sutton in 


Colfylde gent. of all the tithes of corn and grain in 


Fotherley, ph. Shenstone, except for the tithes of one 


close called Bromelles Nowe

Box 4


also all the tithe hay in Fotherley except for that of 


William Sylvester and William Grandon (who are to


pay a composition instead) for 29 years: consid.


£8  8s  8d. 

File of Clayton mediaeval deeds (Lancs)



Clayton-in-Dale









Blackburn

Numbers 7, 8 and 9 not used

Box 4. 
Folder of various mediaeval deeds

351
Gift by Ralph de Grendon in Gayton to Robert son and


heir of Ralph de Pype and Joanne his daughter, 


Ralph’s wife, in free marriage (maratagium) of all his


lands and tenements, rents and possessions in Weston


on Trent, reserving a parcel of moor called Le 


Meregreaves and an acre of meadow in Westonemeadewe


one half acre of which Lord Roger Tromwyne held and 


the other half acre Nicholas le Hore once held: for all 


services and an annual rent of a red rose at the ft. of St


John the Baptist.


Witnesses: Ld. Thomas de Pype and Henry Mannesyn, 


Kts., Roger de Aston, William de Tomenhorn, Geoffrey


Le Wastenys, Richard Hagod de Folndeleye, Hugh de


Aston and others 


Sat. feast of St Valentine 9 Ed. II (Weston on Trent, Staffs)

352.
Gift by Ralph de Grendon kt. lord of Scheneston to William


son of Geoffrey son of Richard de Cest(er)feld of a 


moiety of six and a half acres and one rood lying in ?Gulmor


which Adam son of Geoffrey Walt holds, the other moiety


lies in length between the moor which is called Rochalemor


and a moor which Geoffrey son of Richard de Cest(es)feld


holds, and in width (lat.) between the head of Rochale and


the moor of Richard Nichol and the half acre extends in length


from the said six acres as far as the moor of the said William


son of Geoffrey de Cest(er)feld: annual rent of 2s  3d (all


presumably in Shenstone?) 


Witnesses: Hugh Ld. of Aston, Robert de Gresebrok


Richard Gerod?, Gilbert le Hunte, Geoffrey Wait and 


others.


Sunday next after St Gregory 2 Ed II

Box 4

353
Gift by Ralph son of Nicholas de Marchinton to Ralph


de Grendon and John his son and his  (John’s) lawful


issue of all the land he held within the precinct of the 


said Ralph de G. in Gayton as is enclosed by a ditch:


annual rent of a red rose: if the said John dies 


without lawful issue then after his decease the remainder


to Philip his brother, then in default of issue to Robert


his brother and his lawful issue, and in default to Ralph


de Marchinton


Witnesses: Roger de Aston, parson of Weston, Richard le


Venables, John de Hodinet, Adam son of Ralph de


Grendon, William le Hor, clerk, and others


Sunday next after ft. James the Apos.  6 Ed III

354
Gift by Petronilla daughter of Symon le Sage Ld. of 


Tymmor widow to Ld. William de Vernun of all her


mill of Tymmor with all app. along with site? (sede) 


and water and “holmes” (holmis) belonging to the 


Mill, and “fermare passum molendinum et stagnum et


bayas ub: melious ad corriodum (a sort of annuity)


fuerit et ub: melius placuerit” on the said fee of


Tymmor: grants also to the said William de Vernun


help of the men of Tymmor in the repair of the 


mill and pond: annual rent of a mark of silver.


Witnesses: Robert de Thore, Geoffrey Selvein, John de 


Thamehorin, Richard his brother, Gilbert de Anesidel,


Robert de Awnes, Symon de Norton, Geoffrey? Your 


Mag. Roger de Derby, Robert Carpentarius, Peter, clerk


and others.


n.d. early 14c.

Box 4

355.
Quitclaim by Petronilla daughter of Symon le Sage


Ld. of Tymmor widow, to Ld William de Vernun and


his heirs of Nicholas fisherman of Tymmor and all 


his goods (?secta) and chattels and all appurtenances:


one silver mark for this sale and quitclaim.


Witnesses: Ld. Robert Thore Lord of Selvein, John


De Thamehorin, Geoffrey ?Poun, Richard his brother,


Gilbert de Anesidelelya, Robert de Awnes, Symon de


Northon, Mag. Roger de Derby, Robert Carpenterius, Peter 


Clerk and many others


Same hand as 354 n.d. early 14c?

356.
Gift by Robert Ltd. of Grendon to John de Dagenhall 


for 20s of an acre of moor, and a half, in ? Harnhurstmor 


lying in length from the moor of Gilbert de Fulwedeleg


towards the assart of William de Grom on Burnam: 


annual rent of 12d: witnesses John de Aston, John Bagod,


Almo de Cumberford, Bartho(lomew) de Gresebrok, Thomas 


De Hamstede, Walter de Hulton, Richard son of John 


Bagod, Adam de Bromley, Roger de Bodenh(a)m and others.


n.d. early 14.c                     (see Box 2/81)


?Shenstone

357.
Gift by William son and heir of Petronilla daughter of 


Symon le Sage Lord of Tymmor to Ld. William de Vernun


of all gifts and grants which his mother Lady Petronilla


made to him (reciting 354 and 355) 


santions parcum de? Goseholm – versus Elleslawe and


“vado de Peneeford”.


Witnesses: Ld. Philip de Kynton seneschal, of ?Coventr?


Ld Robert de Toke, Lord G(eoffrey)? Selvein, John de 


Thamehorin, Richard his brother, Gilbert de Anesedel, 


Geoffrey? Poun and others.


n.d same hand as 354/355. could be late 13 c.

Box 4

358.
Quitclaim by Petronilla de sage “Lady” of Tymmor, 


widow, to William de Vernon of half a mark of silver 


annually of one mark which the said William paid for 


the mill in Tymmor with appurtenances and the park 


of Gosholm. Witnesses: Mag. Ralph de Lacost then 


seneschal of the Lord Bishop, Robert de Tok, Hamone


de Turevill, John de Tamhorn, Nicholas Durdent, Philip


de Erdentona, Henry de Hulle, Hugh de Tymmor, Robert


de Rideware et al.


n.d. but probably a bit later than 354 etc – different 


hand. early 14 C?

359.
Covenant between Ld. William de Vern(on) and Lady


Petronilla le Sage “Lady” of Timmor, that, the said


Petronilla and her heirs are accustomed to (debent = may


fish – better)? Fish in the water with nets and baskets 


between the holme of St Edith and the mill of Timmor without


impediment of the said William de V. or his heirs outside 


the bays, pond and mill, and it is known that the said Ld.


William de V and his heirs ? may fish are accustomed at


the same time to fish in the water between the said Holme of 


St Edith and the said mill with impediment of the said 


Lady Petronilla or her heirs with nets, baskets and ?


machines (ingeniis) (?other devices?), and the said Ld.


William de Vernon may have the whole fishing and fishery


of the “bays” and mill of the said Petronilla and her heirs.


Witnesses: Ld Robert de Thoke, Ld Geoffrey Solvein,


John de Thamenhorn, Ralph his brother, Adam Coppe, 


Robert his brother, Alan de Cu(m)berf(ord), Gilbert de


Ansedelee, William de Parkes, Simon de Nortu(a), 


William Buch, Robert de Dunes clerk and many others


[Agreement between Ld William and Petronilla re.


the fishing between the “holm” of St Edith and the mill


of Tymmor, namely that Petronilla may -------------]


n.d. later than 354 etc – similar hand to 358 – probably 


early 14 c.

BOX 4

360.
Gift by Roger son of Roger de Dounes to Robert de


Pype Kt. and Thomas his son of 15 acres and a half


and a rood of land in the vill of Coten lying in length 


between the Rifhay and the way which leads towards


Tuttebury, in width (lat.) lying between his (Roger’s)


house and le Longe Ruding: consideration of 15 marks 


10 shillings. Witnesses: Stephen de Curson, John de


Miners, Stephen de Falde, forester, Robert son of 


Julian, Robert, chaplain of Overe and others.


Sunday next bef. nativ. of BVM 1294 (22 Ed I)

361.
Gift by Roger son of Roger de Dounes to Robert de 


Pype Kt. and Thomas his son of 11 acres of land 


with appurtenances in Coten lying close to the land of the


said Robert de Pype which is called Longerudyng under the


Rifhay and extends in length from the Rifhay as far as another


way which leads towards Tuttebury: consideration of 11 marks. 
Witnesses: StephenDe Curcon, John de Miners, Stephen de Falde, 
forester, Robert son of Julian, Robert de Overe, chaplain, and 


others. Sunday ft. of St Nicholas 22 Ed I (6 Dec 1293)

362.
Grant (concessisse only)


by Alice de Jarepunull of Draycote, to Henry son of


Stephen de M(archin)gton, Stephen Nernon  of the 


same place and Richard son of Walter of the same place


of all the lands and tenements in Marchington which were

 demised by Ld William de Jarepunull once (formerly) her 

lord to Henry, Stephen and Richard: to hold for 6 years. 

Witnesses: Philip de Sonnull?, Reginald Coco, Roger Faber, 

William son of Elitia? Richard de Swyndon and others


Sunday nxt after concept. B.V.M 11 Ed I

410M/

Box 4

363
Declaration by Roger de Donnes that if he fails to pay 


the rent for a messuage toft and garden in the vill. of 


Coton conveyed to him by Ld. Robert de Pipe and Thomas


his son then the said Robert and Thomas or one of them may 


repossess and hold the said messuage, toft and 


garden. Monday next after the feast of St Hilary 


24 Ed. I.

364
Gift by John Fichet to Walter de Draycote clerk of a


messuage, a third part of a garden, an acre of arable 


land of John de Aldenam and a butt called le Stombutt


and a rood of meadow lying in Littelmedwe which John 


le Wimpler was accustomed to hold by English law after


the death of Gonne his wife: 8d rent (?in Draycott)


Witnesses: Robert de Pipe Ld of Draycote, Stephen le


Curson of Falde, William de Mineworth, William le 


Mareschal of Draycote, William Molot and others.


Sat next bef. feast of St Katherine 18 Ed III.

365
Gift by John de Swynn(er)ton seneschal of the forest 


of Cannock (Kannoko) to Roger de Bakewalle and 


Walter de Aston of the manor of Hulton and all lands 


and tenements, messuages, mills, meadows, rents and 


services with app. in the fees of Hulton? Eseryngton


Walsale, Wolvernehampton, Stafford, Wirleye, Little


Sardon, Stretton, Peng, Pylatenhale, Huntyngdon, 


Lycheffeld, Frodeleye and Bruggenorth.


Witnesses: Robert Ld of Swynn(er)ton, Nicholas de


Swynnerton parson of Mokleston, Richard Hillary 


parson of the church of Wolstanton, John de Molhisleye,


senior, John de Molhisleye, junior and others. Wed


nxt. aft. feast of All Saints 16 Ed III

D410 M/

Box 4

366
Quitclaim by John son of Luce Pictoris of Drayton brother


and heir of Ralph Pictoris to Hugh his brother of an acre 


of land lying in the parish of Hermodesworth 


in a certain culture (furlong) called Styghelfurlong between


the land of Robert de Cruce and the land of Roger 


Bernard and called Foreacre.


Witnesses: Ralph de Drayton, Gilbert Dereman, Robert


De Piro, Robert de Cruce, Roger de Cruce, Hugh, clerk,


and others


Eve of All Saints (Sunday) 1288

367
Number not used

368
Gift by Thomas de Coton of Marchinton Wodehous to


John Shaille Lord of Honnenhull of 3a  3r of meadow 


lying in the demesne of Marchinton under Nedewode


with all app, of which nine selions containing two acres


which were of Margery de Bromleygh abutt on the 


Horsbuttes at one head and on the meadow of Thomas?


Angelon and lie between the land of Marchington and 


the land of the said John and four selions containing


1 acre lie between the meadow of William Anbey and 


the land of John Hycheson and abutting on the land of 


the said John at each head, and half an acre of meadow


lies in the meadow of Honenhull between the meadow 


of the said John and the meadow of John Hycheson, and 


a rood lies next to the Erlesmedue between the meadow


of William Palmere and John de Waldeley and abutting


on the meadow of the Lord Duke and the land ________


(left blank).


Witnesses: Robert de Pipe John Curson, John 


Curteys, Richard Walker, John de Waldeley William 


Wareyn, William Anbey/Aubey ? and others.


Sunday next aft. ft. St Valentine 50 Ed III.

D410M/

BOX 4

369
Demise by William de Tymor to William de Vernon of


all his part of the meadow (park) of Goseholm for 


20 years (several covenants to be investigated in detail


- one apparently relating to the flooding of the meadow


(park) for 100s. (not annually – just consideration)


Witnesses: Lord Adam then chaplain of H(ar)laviston 


(Blaniston) (Tamhorn) Ld. Robert de Grendon, John 


de Thominhorn, Alan de Komberford, John de 


Ederinghale (?Edingale) William, clerk of H(ar)laviston


(Blaniston), Simon, Marshall, Thomas, clerk.


Nat. of St John the Bapt. 25 Henry III.

370
Quitclaim by Richard de Vernon, Knight, to Richard 


de Vernon his son and his heirs of all that meadow 


park called Goseholm.


Witnesses: Richard de Curzun of Breadeshale, Henry


his son, Robert? Ferbraz, Simon de Norton, Richard


Anskyn, Geoffrey de Mozleie, John de Park and others


at Harlaston (Harlaston nr Tamworth) Monday next 


after St Edith the v. 8  Ed.II.

371
Demise by Hugh de Tymor to Gilbert le F(ra)nceys of all


his part of the meadow/park of Goseholm with app. for


10 years for 33s  4d paid to the said Hugh (more covenants).


Witnesses: Lord Peter de Arderne, Andrew Selvayn , 


Peter de Colecestr, Thomas de Thamenhorn, Roger de


Cumbirford and many others.


Tuesday nxt bef. St Mark the Evang.  4 Ed I.

372
Demise by William de Tymore to Richard de Vernun of


all his part of the meadow/park of Goseholm with 


app. for 19 years: for 3 mares and a foal (other covenants


inc. the bit about flooding I think)


Witnesses: Ralph de la Bache, Adam Mannaled ?(Mauvaled), 


John de Edinghal, William Scheye of Tamworye William then 


chaplain of Herlaustone. All Saints 41 Henry III
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D410M/Box4/401
	Declaration by Robert chaplain of the Canons of Lichfield; that he has received from Lord William de Vernun 2 shillings annually on Michaelmas Day for the ? deacon’s mill of Timmor and the fishery and his meadow of Gosholm

Witnesses: Ld William de Manecestr, deacon of Lichfield, Mag. Ralph, Arch?deacon of Cestr. Mag. Robert de Chebbeseia

Not dated. Probably mid 14 c?

as 371.

Gift by Matill(da) daughter of Geoffrey le Fenere (Fevere) of Herlaston to Johanne her daughter of half (moiety) of a messuage with app. in the vill of H(ar)laston which she held by gift and grant of Margery

daughter of ? Dava piscoris of H(ar)laston

Witnesses: Sunday next aft. the feast of St. Ambrose (the bishop) 16 Ed II

Number not used

Lease by Alice late wife of Thomas Stafford Kt., to Robert Swynfeyn, esq; and William Swynfeyn his son, of the manor of Dracote under Nedewood with app. Staffordshire, and the manor of Scheill with app. Leicestershire and the manor of Pipe Ridwar with app. Staffordshire and all lands and tenements with app. in Ednynghale Staffs which formerly were of Robert de Pipe Kt. (also a part to the deed): to be held for the life of Alice, paying annually to Alice for life £20, at Pentecost and Michaelmas 

25 November 13 Henry IV

Quitclaim by Walter Lock of Marchinton to Robert de Pype, Matilda his wife and his heirs of a rood of meadow with app. in the vill. of Draycote, which lies in Muckelmedwe which he holds in exchange for a certain piece of land which he granted to Andrew de Jarponnile and Simon his brother for altering the course of the water towards his mill of Draycote: consideration of 4s.

Witnesses: William Chaundoys, Roger his brother, Robert son of Julian, William clerk, William son of Roger, William Fabro et al.

n.d? late 13 C.

Gift by William de Pype Ld. of Draycote to John le Warde of a moiety of a messuage, house, acre of arable land and a moiety of an acre of meadow in Draycote, which messuage is situated between the land of Robert le Mareschal and the house of Thomas in le Hurne, and the moiety of an acre of arable land lies in the Overfield of Draycote between the land of Robert le Marchle (sic) on one side and the land of William Sparr on the other, and the other moiety of an acre of land lies in Spelgreve between the land of William de Min(v)eworth on one side and the land of William le Reve on the other, and the moiety of an acre of meadow lies in the Mychelmedwe between the meadow of Robert le Mareschall on each side: annual rent of 9d.

Witnesses: John de Cama, William de Mineworth, Robert le Maresthald, Ralph Molet, Robert Stotte and many others.

Mon. next bef. ft. St. Dionysius mtyr. 14 Ed.III

Gift by William le Chaundoys of Mortone to Robert de Pype Kt. and his heirs of 5½ acres of land lying dispersedly (per particuilas) in the field of Draycote and Mortone between the great river of Dowe and the branch of the Dowe which runs to the mill of Draycote.

Witnesses: Stephen de Ourton, Henry de Howenhulle, Robert le Chaundoys, Richard Folegaumbe, Stephen de Falde, forester, Robert son of Julian de Draycote William de _____________ (illegible)

Day after Christmas Day 1296 (25 Ed.I)

Gift by Joanna (John) le Warde of Draycote to William de Minewarthe and Cicilie his wife of a half acre of arable land in Spelegreve lying between the land of John Okey of Draycote and the land of Agn(e)t le Warde on the other, and extending at one head on the land of William le Reve and at the other head on the land of Roger le Clerkessone.

Witnesses: William de Pype Ld. of Draycote, John de Cama of Coton, Richard le Browne, Henry de Knyveton, William de Mareschal, William Molot and many others.

Sunday next after Inventis St Cross 20 Ed.III

(with 379)

Gift by William de Pype to Thomas son of John de Draycote for life of ten acres of land and meadow in Draycote namely 2½ a. in the Longeruding; in le Revecroft, 2½ a. of land; in the Douvefield, 2a. of land; in Hoddeworth, ½ a. of land; in Densey? 3 roods of meadow in le Longemor, 3 roods of meadow; and in Lytelmeadow next to the Stresende an acre of meadow: annual rent of 8s.

Witnesses: William de Minneworth, Henry de Dracolowe, Robert le Mareschal, William Hert, John Dycomson, and others.

Friday next aft. ft. St Barnabas the Ap. 32 Ed.III

Quitclaim by Walter de Montegomer(y) Kt. Thomas de Pype Phillip de Som(er)ville, Stephen de Corton, de Fald, Henry le Cu of Hanbur(y), Henry de Honnehull

and William Morel of Fald to William de Jarponville of Draycote of a way in Draycote which extends in length

from the path called Stubbes Lane as far as the messuage of Cacilie de Hambur and in width from the land of the said William on each side.

Witnesses: Ld. William de Staff(ord), Robert de Touk, Kts, John de Min(v)ers, William de Kavereswell, Thomas Chamberleyn and others.

Tuesday next before the ft. Philip and James the 

Ap. 1 Ed II.

end of file 

Gift by Thomas Morton to William Hastyng Ld. of Hastyng, Nicholas Mountgom(er)y esq., Robert Hill, John Cudworth, James Wodroffe and Robert Waren of an acre of meadow in a meadow called Morton Meadowe called Walacre and lying between the meadow of Henry Vernon esq, and the meadow of William Betts in width, and extending in length from the meadow of the said Henry as far as the meadow of the said Thomas Morton.

Dated Wed. next before ft. Corpus Christi 17 Ed IV (at Morton)

Bond by Ralph Wodford to Robert Hill and Elizabeth his wife in £10.

Houndhill (Honnhill) Thursday 30 Henry VI next aft. ft. of All Saints

End of file

Gift by Thomas de Pype of Lich(field) to John de Astoleye, chaplain, of a messuage and twenty acres of land, meadow and manor with appurtenances in Lich(field) which messuage lies in Sonfedestrate between the tenement of William Vicar on one part in width and the land formerly of Adam Pawe on the other and extending in length from the highway to the river (stream) called Pypebrok and nine acres of land, meadow and moor lie under Lemonsle between the land of Hugh le Notte on one part and the land of Richard en la More on the other, and eight acres of land meadow and moor lie on the other part of Lemonsle between the land of William le Cav(er)ner on one part and the land formerly of Hugh del Dale on the other, and an acre and a half of moor lies in Kynchalemor between the land of Richard en la More

on one part and the land of Henry de Kynchale on the other, and an acre of land lies in the  Mulnefeld between the land of John Bolyn on one part and the land formerly of William Godde on the other.

Witnesses: Richard le Mortimer, Roger de Pype, William Vicar(ins), Robert Bernard, Layto, William Godde and others.

Dated Tuesday next aft. ft of translation of St. Thomas the Martyr 11 Edward III.

Quitclaim by Thomas Everdon to Thomas Heth and William Lee of all those lands and tenements in Lichfield and Pipe “joined with” (coniunctum cum) the said Thomas and William through a certain fine at Westminster levied through James Turnour and Margaret his wife Dated Monday next aft. feast of St Andrew the Apostle 21 Henry VI.

Lease (in French) by John de Swynn(er)ton of Hulton to Hugh le ?V(er)rer of Lichefeld of all the lands and tenements which were formerly of Thomas de Pype of Lich(field) which the said John holds within the fees of Pype and Lich(field), is to say before (debtors) the gate of Sandford (presumably “on Sandford Street): to be held for life at an annual rent of 25s 10½ d (“mayle” – halfpenny?). Witnesses: Ralph Teyntral, John Boton, Robert de Witleye, John de Alrewich of Lichfield and others.

Monday next aft. la cluse pash” (the first Sunday after Easter Day) 34 Ed.III.

Gift by John son of Thomas atte Halle de Stychesbrok to John de Swynn(er)ton kt and his heirs of a messuage with appurtenances in Lych(field) of a messuage with appurtenances in Lych(field) which lies between the land of Ld. William de Haywod on one part and the land formerly of Hugh de la Dale on the other, extending from the highway to the vineyard/vinery (vinarium) of the Ld Bishop of Chester.

Witnesses: Richard Edrdon, William de Byton, Thomas de Pype, Robert Hoole, Ralph de Horton clerk and others.

Wednesday next after ft of St James the Apostle.

6 Ed III.
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	Power of attorney by John de Swynn(er)ton of Hulton to Richard de Wirleye and William de Srethey to deliver seisin to Richard Wisse of Lychefeld of all the lands and tenements which he holds in Lichfield and Pype by gift and feoffment of Richard Hawys, Henry de ?Burywey and John de Asteleye chaplain, and also seven shillings annual rent arising from a tenement which was of Thomas de Abenhale in Lich(field) in Roblestrete.

Dated Thursday in Sept. of Easter 42 Ed III 

(see 405)

Quitclaim by Thomas son of John de Pype of Lychefeld to Nicholas de?Yntebarwe and Walter de Aston of a messuage and twenty acres of land, moor and meadow with app. in Lychefeld and Pype just as is contained in a certain charter by John de Asteleye chaplain to the said Nicholas and Walter.

Witnesses (Part torn): William le Vesr(er), Henry de Fethreston Richard de la More, Thomas le Taverner of Lychefeld, Thomas de Abenhale and others.

Dated? next after the ft. of St Chard the Bishop 

22 Ed III

(see 398)

Quitclaim by Roger son of John de Pipe of Lichfield to Thomas his brother his heirs and assigns of all lands, tenements, rents, services, pasturage, pastures and moors whatsoever which were of John his father within the town of Lich(field).

Witnesses: Richard Cardon, William le Taverner, roger de Newport, William de Eyton, Ralph de Harton clerk and others.

Monday next after ft. of St Gregory 13 Edward II
	


	D410M/Box4/405

D410/Box4/406

D410/Box4/407


	Gift by John de Swynn(erton) of Hulton to Richard Wisse of Lych(field) his heirs and assigns of all lands and tenements with app. which he held by gift and feoffment of Richard Hawys, Henry de Burywey and John de Asteleye chaplain, in the towns of Lich(field) and Pype which were of Thomas de Pype of Lych(field), also an annual rent arising from a certain tenement which was of Thomas de Abunhale of Lychefeld in Lychefeld in Robestrete, which rent descended to him and his heirs after the death of this father.

Witnesses: Thomas le Taverner senior, Hugh de Gunston, John Wisse, Adam de Hopton, Henry de Bromleye, Adam le Spycer, William Fraunceys and others.

Thursday in Sept. Easter 42 Ed III (see 402)

Note of the land held by John Cooke within Netherstonnall member of Shenstone and the chief rent payable.

n.d. late 17.c.

Gift by Simon de Blaby, John Jones and Thomas de Combrigge chaplain to John de Tomnehorn (Tamhorn) his heirs and assigns of a parcel of land with app. called le Bromycroft which lies in the fee of Schenston between the road called Watelyngstrete on one part and the land of Roger Faber of Scheneston on the other: annual rent of 16d.

Witnesses: John de Swyne senior, Thomas de Teddesleye of Chesturfeld, Robert atte Brodeheth, Adam son of Simon de le Wal, John atte Lynde of the same and others.

Sunday ft. St Chad the Bp. 39 Ed III

(see 2/74)
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	Lease(Grant) by the Abbot of the Monastery of BVM of Okeney, Oxfordshire, to Thomas Stanley of Oxfordshire yeoman, of the reversion of the manor of Shenston with all members and app. viz Mosse Byrchley Thornes Stonehall the over and Stonehall the lower or the nether and the parsonage of Shenston with all tithes belonging (leased by Abbot William to John Joliff of 21 years 9 Jun 9 Henry VIII) immediately after the 21 years is complete or if Joliff dies within the 21 years term: for 60 years (after the 21 years) at an annual rent of £15.

Dated 14 January 23 Henry VIII.

End of file

Numbers 409 – 426 not used

Lease by Henry Cavendish of Dovebridge esq to Francis Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert gent, in consideration of £56, close or pasture in Dovebridge called the Mareclose now in the tenure or occupation of Thomas Swynson and James Plymer, for 100 years at an annual rent of 12d. Dated 20 August. 16 James I.

Number 428 not used

Assignment by Edward Barrs of Osboston Leics, yeoman, of a lease by Sir Henry Longvile of Wolverton, Bucks, to Thomas Russell of Tronncell/Trouncell, Staffs, husbandman (?Trysall?) of all and singular the lands, tenements and premises expressed therein for the lives of Katherine Russell, his wife, Thomas Degge of Tronncell and Dorothy Russell, his daughter, (subsequently assigned by Thomas Russell to Edwards Barrs), to Walter Russell of Tronncell Yeoman. Dated 2 November 1650.

Marriage settlement on the marriage of Christopher Roe son and heir of M.R and Dorothy Baily by which Matthew Roe of Stubbelane ph. Hanbury, yeoman in consideration of £55 paid by Thomas Baily the elder of Uttoxeter Woodland yeoman as a marriage portion for Dorothy Baily his daughter and for a competent jointure to be made out of his (Roe’s) lands and tenements, has enfeoffed to Edward Holbrooke of Marchington Woodland, yeoman, and Thomas Baily the younger of Uttoxeter Woodland, yeoman, messuage or tenement occupied by Matthew Roe with all barns, stables, lands, meadows etc in Stubbelane, Draycott in the Clay (a close called the Ould Lee and a parcel of meadow taken out of Stubbelane Meadow leased for 21 years, for the raising of the portions of the younger children of Matthew Roe, excepted): moiety to be held  by Holbrooke and Baily for their lives, and after their decease to the use of the lawful heirs of Christopher Roe by Dorothy Baily, and in default to the use of the right heirs of Christopher Roe: the other moiety to the use of Matthew Roe and Mary his wife for life, then to the use of Chrisopher Roe and his lawful heirs by Dorothy Baily, in default to the use of the right heirs of Christopher Roe. Dated 11 August 1659.

Mortgage in fee for £12 by Matthew Roe and Christopher Roe of Stubby Lane ph Hanbury, yeoman, to Roger Clyffe of Draycott in the Clay, glover, of a croft or close called Tanners Croft in Stubbie Lane next to the dwelling house of Matthew Roe on the south. Dated 29 November 1660.

Final concord between Henry Vernon pf. and John Foster and Rachaell his wife and Wilde Robinson and Alice his wife deforciants of two cottages, two messuages four gardens, four orchards, 40a of land, 80a of meadow, 80a of pasture 5a of wood, 20a of furze and heath, 12s rent and common of pasture with app. in the forest or chase of Needwood, Draycott in the Clay, Morton , Coton, Faud, Hanbury and Marchington: consideration £200. 8 days pur. B.V.M 1655 (with counterpart 435).

Feoffment by William Burton of Falde (Fauld) Esq and Jane his wife to John Foster of Draycote in the Clay, musitian, in consideration of £60, of 12a of meadow ground lying disposedly in a meadow called Densey, and five doles of meadow ground (3a by estimation) in a meadow called New Meadow adjoining Densey in Cotton in the parish of Hanbury (then described in great detail.

1 April 21 James I.

Feoffment by Richard Hodgkinson of Draycote ph.Hanbury, yeoman to John Foster of Draycote, musician, in consideration of £18, of one selion of arable land, ½ a, in a certain field called Spelgreave, and one acre of meadow in Densey in Draycott in the parish of Hanbury.

Dated 25 October 9 James I.

Counterpart of 432

Lease for possession by Henry Vernon of Haslington Cheshire Esq. to William Wyld of the Inner Temple, London, of the manor of Draycott in the Clay, and messuage or tenement and watercorn mill with appurtenances commonly called Draycoate Milne, five tenements or cottages in tenures or occupations of Francis Smith, John Greane, John Evans, William Goodall and Henry Warren, also closes called the Green Plecke, the Long Lane, the Short Lane and the Crosse Lane, parcel of ground called Chequer Leas and Banholme 6 acres, and 2a 1r of meadow ground lying in Dovefield Head, the same now staked and meared out, and 2a of meadow ground lying in a parcel of meadow called Coatehole, close of pasture called Pipehey 120a, two parcels of ground called Clayteholme 2a by est. – all in Draycott.

20 July 1653

Feoffment by Simon Mallaber of Draycott in the Clay yeoman to William Boyer of Morton in the parish of Hanbury, ym, in consideration of £127, of a messuage or tenement inhabited by Thomas Bacon in Draycott with all houses, buildings, barns, meadows, pastures etc belonging

27 December 1648

end of bundle

END OF BOX 4
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	BOX 5

Manor of Shenstone – rental Michaelmas 4 Richard II

Quitclaim by George Vernon of Netherhaddon Derbys, esq, to Henry Vernon of Hassilbache (Hazlebridge) esq., (reciting that there have been “diverse debates” between the parties regarding the dues and demands made by Henry Vernon as executor and administrator of the goods and chattels of Sir John Vernon father of Henry, as also other dues and demands made by the said George Vernon concerning utensils and “implements of howsold” of the hall of Horlaston demanded against the said Henry, and in “appeasement and final concord” George Vernon to pay Henry Vernon £180 for all dues and demands to be made by the said Henry, at various recited dates, for which Henry releases George from all dues and demands or any other claim relating to the possession of certain goods to the use of George Vernon in the house at Harleston viz. all the stuff, utensils and implements hanging and “other things” in the chamber of Harlaston where the said George Vernon were accustomed to lie in and in the chamber next adjoining and all other chambers in the house and all other stuff goods, implements etc in the “kechin”, backehowse and “bruehowse”? of the same house of Horlaston at late in variance between the said parties), of all other debts, personal “dewties” and contracts except only such goods as by this presents be given into the said George which lately were occupied and use in the said  house of Harlaston. Dated 15 November 37 Henry VIII

(i.e. agreement between George and Henry regarding partition of goods at Harlaston by quitclaim).
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	Lease for possession by William Wylde of the Inner Temple, Esq., and Henry Vernon of Haslington Cheshire, Esq., to Sir Thomas Dacres of Chesthunt, Herts, kt, and William Priestley of Essanden Herts, Esq., of the manor of Draycott in the Clay, messuage or tenement and Water Corn Mill with appurtenances commonly called Draycoate Milne, five tenements or cottages in the tenures of Francis Smith, John Greene, John Evans, William Goodall and Henry Warren, closes called Greene Pleck, the Long Lane, the Short Lane, the Myres, parcel of ground called Chequer Leas and Banholme, 6a by estimation, 2a 1r of meadow ground in the Dovefeild now staked and meared out, two acres of meadow in a parcel of meadow called? Gatehole, close of pasture called Pipehey 120 acres, two parcels of ground called Cleyteholme 2a lying on both sides of a place called Draycoate Fleame. Dated 26 January 1655.

Beginning of Draycott bundle.

Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and Richard Cope of Barton Lodge, Staffs, yeoman, to Humfrey Moore of Uttoxeter Woodlands, Staffs, yeoman, in consideration of £385, of a messuage house or tenement in Draycott in the Clay formerly inhabited by Richard Cope two crofts adjoining, closes called the Gervas Yards and the Intacks, two acres of meadow called Hollowes Acres, in Draycott in the Clay, Stubby Lane, Hanbury and Marchington – with all deeds. Dated 14 October 1689


	1655
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	Mortgage by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Alexander Stanhope of St Martins in the Fields, Middlesex, Esq., for £600, of a messuage or tenement in Stubby Lane ph. Hanbury, formerly inhabited by Matthew and Christopher Roe with closes belonging called Tanners Croft, the Great Meadow, Oate Croft, Little Meadow Close, Hyron Field and Parkers Field, 

in Draycott, Stubby Lane, Marchington and Hanbury also close called Ould Lee, parcel of meadow ground taken out of Stubby Lane Meadow, also messuage, dwelling, house or tenement in Draycott in the Clay with backside, three orchards, one piece or parcel of arable land called the Leas, croft called Ree Croft, close called Hall Orchard commonly called the Cowpasture, two closes called the Great Ridding and Little Long Ridding, parcel of pasture ground called the Hall Flatt, parcel of ground called Lady Hay, a meadow there called Densey Meadow, an acre of ground in Spelgreave, ½ a of ground at the head of Densey (all late the inheritance of Richard Sutton of Bromeley Park, Staffs, gent and William Sutton his son and heir), also close in Marchington Woodland called Hamkersholme 14a by est. late in the occupation of Robert Woodroofe of Marchington Woodland, gent., ½ a of arable land lying in a field called Milne Hill, two parcels of land lately inclosed in a close called Rowcliffe 2a by est., parcel of ground inclosed in Brookefield called Brookefield Close 2a by est. containing a common balk, close taken out of Marchington Common called Ashbey Leyes 5a by est., ½ a of land in Marchington Common Meadow called Watfurlong Leyes, one rood of land near the same place, ½ a of land lying in Marchington Common Meadow called Moore Meadow, 3r of land near the same place, also all those parcels of land, meadow or pasture in Marchington Meadow called Stocking Acres lately inclosed, another acre in Marchington meadow called New Meadow Acre, and two roods and a balk in Marchington Meadow with all appurtenances: redeemable on the payment of £600 and interest, in instalments of £60 by April 1679. Dated 13 April 1672.
	1672
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	Recovery by James Cope and William Harrison against John Hayne, gent, and Edmund Hussey of two messuages, four gardens, 100a of land, 20a of meadow, 50a of pasture with appurtenances in Draycott in the Clay, Coton, Fald, Marchington and Hanbury: 28 November 28 Ch.II.

Lease for possession by Thomas Adie of Lichfield mercer, to Frances Adie of Lichfield, spinster, his sister, of all that close called Dovesetts Hirne (damaged in this section) 20a by estimation at Draycott, Morton and Marchington, close called the Pingle at the Mill, 1 ½ a by est., close called the ? Ash Acres (on a torn faded joint) 11½ a, in Draycott, late in the occupation of Jane Taylor. Dated 5 March 12 Geo II.

(see Box 1/1 etc).

Mortgage by demise (damaged) by Thomas Taylor of Coton Staffs, yeoman to Margaret Buxton of Bradbourne for £70, of a close called Dovesetts Hiron or Dove Setts Hirne formerly several closes 20a by est. in Draycott, Morton and Marchington, the Pingle at the Mill 1½ a and Densie close or Ash Acres 11½ a by est with all app: for 500 yrs: redeemable on payment of £70 plus interest on 29 October next ensuing. 29 April 1736

Lease for possession by William Busby of Loughborough, gent, and Anne his wife to Thomas Johnson of Aston, Derbys, yeoman of a close or piece of ground 1½ a by est. the Pingle at the Mill abutting on a meadow commonly called Densie Close or Ash Acres, and a close called Ash Acres 11½  a by est now or late in the tenure of Thomas Allyne: both in Draycott. Dated 4 April 1700.

Follows on 444.

Agreement between Vernon and Stanhope – Vernon has defaulted in payment as agreed – Stanhope to peaceably occupy premises: new agreement for payment of outstanding £60 instalments (by October 1686). Dated 6 November
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	Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to Mary Godwin of Hill Somersall, widow, in consideration, of £44, of a messuage, farm or tenement called Maliber Tenement now in the possession of Mary Harrison with all lands etc belonging at Draycott, for 99 years at an annual rent of 40s. Dated 20 October 1696.

Lease for possession by Anthony Hill of Higglesworth, Bedford, clerk, Robert Hill of Uttoxeter, fellmonger, Joseph Hill of Hanbury clothier, George Baggaly of Motthouse, Staffs, yeoman and Edward Grettrix of Sudbury, husbandman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., of a cottage and croft, ½ a of meadow at the upper end of Denzie Meadow, two lands in Stony Flatt in the Over Field in Draycott and four lands more in the Over Field butting on a close called Almonds Hill

Dated 8 April

(see 445). Deed to lead to recovery – between George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., John Foster als. Forster of Sudbury, yeoman John Hayne of Ashbourne, gent, Edmund Hussey of the City of London, gent, James Cope of Stubby Lane, yeoman, and William Harrison of Aston iuxta Sudbury, yeoman, by which Vernon and Foster convey to Hayne and Hussey, all those several messuages or tenements in Draycott known as the New House and the Birchehouse now or late in the tenure of John Boare and Elizabeth Foster widow with all lands etc belonging, and all other mess.etc. formerly the inheritance of John Foster great grandfather of the said John Foster: to the use of Hayne and Hussey on trust that Cope and Harrison may bring a writ of entry sur disseisine in the post against them: the recovery to be to the use of George Vernon. Dated 7 November 1676.

Damaged feoffment. 27 October 1681.

John and Richard Benskin to ? John Hawkins of Burton on Trent in consideration of ?£80, of a close in Draycott (name illegible).

Lease for possession by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to William Bowyer of Somersall, yeoman, all his messuages, farms, cottages or tenements in the occupations of George Tunbrill, Richard Cope, William Starkey, George Smith, John Meacocke and James Cope with all lands etc belonging, and closes called Lemonsholme al. Lemondsholme, Dovecloses, Milstones, Milstones Meadows, Coate Holes, Long Riddings, Velvit Head, Spelgreave, Great Riddinge, Dovecetts Hyron, Densy Meadowe, Little Riddinge, Hunts Moore, Flesh Moore, Green Plecks, Banholmes, Preist Croft, Long Land, Short Land, Little Meadow, Lady Meadow, Calver and Chappell Yards arable and meadow lying dispersedly in Hall Flatt Field, Spelgreave, Bufton Field, Furlonge Field, Over Field, Coton Meadow, Densy Meadow, Moodismoore Meadow – all in Draycott, Stubby Lane, Morton, Coton, Fauld ph Hanbury Dated 27 September 32 Charles II.

Revocation of remainders by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., (reciting marriage settlement on the marriage of George Vernon to Margaret Only between George Vernon, Edward Only of Catesby, Northants, Esq., Alexander Stanhope of Westminster Esq., Sir Edward Cooke of Longford, Derbys, kt and Bart., Thomas Kinnersely of Loxley Staffs, esq., Thomas Boothby of Clatercott, Oxon, George Fawnt of Foston, Leics, William Whallie of Norton by Galbye Leics Esq., and Samuel Cotton of Henwicke, by which George Vernon released to Only and Stanhope of the manor or lordship of Houndhill, capital messuage called Houndhill Hall with all land belonging, four water mills in Draycott in the Clay with all tolls, multures, profits etc., all other messuages, cottages, farms etc. situate in Houndhill, Draycott in the Clay, Marchington, Newlands, Stubby Lane, Morton, Coton, Fauld, Hanbury, Aston and Sudbury, and the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley and the advowson of Subbury church, to various uses, with remainders to Henry Vernon, Edward Vernon and John Vernon successively, dated 21st February 1659), in his marriage settlement. Dated 28 March.
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	Lease for possession by William Bowyer of Potter Somersall, yeoman, to Francis Whitterins of Marchington, yeoman, of all those his messuages, farms, cottages or tenements in the tenures of George Tunbrill, Richard Cope, William Starkey, George Smith, John Meacocke and James Cope with all lands etc belonging, closes called Lemonsholme al. Lemondsholme, Dovecloses, Milstones, Coate Holes, Longe Riddinge, Veleitt Head, Spelgreave, Great Riddinge, Dowcetts Hyron, Densy Meadowe, Little Riddinge, Hunts Moor and Fleshmoor, Green Plecks, Banholmes, Priest Croft, Calver and Chappell Yards and all those arable and meadow grounds dispersed in Hallflatt Field, Bufton Field, Spelgreave Field, Furlonge Field, Overfield, Coton Meadow, Densy Meadow and Moodismore Meadow, in Draycott in the Clay, Stubby Lane, Morton, Coton and Fauld in the parish of Handbury. Dated 1 October 32 Charles II (see 454).

Release by William Sutton of Draycott in the Clay, gent, Joan his wife and George Baggaly the elder of the Mott House, Hanbury, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £38, of nine selions of arable land lying dispersedly in Spelgreave Field, three selions of arable in the Over Field (all purchased of Robert Cope dec’d), piece of meadow ground called the Half Acre in Draycott meadow adj. Morton Brook, 3a by est (purchased of Edward Iremonger). Dated 24 July 1669.

Lease for 41 years by William Bowyer of Potter Somersall, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., of lands etc as in 456: ann.rent of £5. Dated 28 September 32 Ch II.

Feoffment by Charles Greene of Foston, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq, in consideration of £50, of a close called Cote Hole, 3a by est., in Draycott in the Clay in the Dovefield, with all app. with receipt for £50. Dated 27 October 25 Ch. II.


	1673
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	Charity – originally Noone Charity

- reciting will of Henry Noone of Aston ph.Sudbury by which he bequeathed £20 the interest of which to be distributed by the churchwardens and person of Sudbury yearly among the poor inhabitants – also reciting that John Turton of Sudbury yeoman, also bequeathed £20 to the same purpose – but the  moiety of the principal sums to be in danger of being lost – so Geo. Vernon of Sudbury, esq, has granted to Nathaniel Sturgis, clerk, and the churchwardens, an annuity of 40s arising out of a close called Lady Meadow in Draycott in the Clay, to be paid annually to the poor of Sudbury.

Dated 16 October. Dated 16 October 31 Ch II (1679)

Lease for possession by William Sutton of Draycott, (with 457) gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury, of nine selions etc as 457. Dated 10 June 1669.

Quitclaim by the Vicar of Sudbury and the Churchwardens to George Vernon of the sums of £20 bequeathed by Henry Noone and John Turton to the poor of Sudbury and all claims, actions etc arising therefore. Dated (with 460). Dated 16 October 1679.

Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq to William Bowyer of Potter Somersall, yeoman, of property of 454/456 – not termed as such but part of a mortgage. Dated 28 Sept 32 Ch I (1680)

Lease for possession by Jane Taylor of Coton, widow, Thomas Taylor of Coton, yeoman, and Joseph Taylor of Coton, plumber and glazier to Thomas Adie of Lichfield, mercer, of close called Dovehead and Dowe Setts Hiron otherwise Dove Setts Hirne formerly 20a by est in Draycott, Morton and Marchington, close called Ash Acres, 11a by est close called the Pingle at the Mill 1½ a by est (see earlier)

Dated 1 May 1738 (see 446 etc).
	1679
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contd.

D410M/Box5/469

D410M/Box5/470
	Power of attorney by Anthony Hill of Steeple Giddinge to William Hill of Uttoxeter, barber, ?chyrugeon and John Hayne of Uttoxeter, gent, to deliver seisin of a close called Coatehole 2a by est., and a parcel of land called Hollowed Acres, 2a by est in Draycott to George Vernon. Dated 20 March 1 Wm and Mary.

Quitclaim by Anthony Hill of Steeple Gidding, Hunts, clerk, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., of a meadow called Coatehole, 2a by est in Draycott. Dated 20 March 1 Wm and Mary.

Release by Anthony Hill of Bigglesworth, Beds, clerk, Robert Hill of Uttoxeter, felmonger, Joseph Hill of Hanbury, Staffs, clothier, George Baggaly of Mott House, Staffs, yeoman, and Edward Grettrix of Sudbury, husbandman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £51, of a cottage or tenement in Draycott, Croft adjoining the cottage, ½ of meadow lying in the upper end of Denzie Meadow, 2 lands in Stony Flatt in the Overfield, 4 lands in the Overfield abutting on a close called Almonds Hill. Dated 9 April 1673.

(see 5.451).

Further mortgage relating to 13 April 1672 – Vernon to Stanhope – 5.444.  30 March 1685

Between George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., Thomas Milward of ph. of St Martins in the Fields, Middlesex. Esq, John Maxwell of Westminster, Esq., and Alexander Stanhope of ph. of St Martins in the Fields M’sex, Esq, reciting 5.444, and subsequent further security 5.449 6 November 1679, a) Vernon has ratified and confirmed to Stanhope al the mess., lands etc in 5.444 for the residue of the 500 year term,  b) lease by George Vernon to Maxwell and Milward, of all the mess., lands etc in 5.444 and the excepted close called Old Lee and  a parcel of meadow taken out of Stubby Lane Meadow (purchased of Matthew and Christopher Row), also parcel of land called the Intack, two closes called Pokers Grass Piece and Wilson Grasspiece – now together called Boyers Croft, 3 selions of land in Strafford al.Stotfold Field, 6 selions of land in the Milnefield at a place called the Eyes, 1a., of all which in ph of Hanbury and purchased by George Vernon of Richard Robotham; also close of meadow called Lady Mead in Draycott in the Clay, 4a., two closes called Two Mill Stones, and all lands of George Vernon in Coate Hole and all the lands in Dovefield late of said William Robotham, and two pingles between Draycott Mill with all the lands late of William Robotham in the Dovefield, for 1000 years in trust for Alexander Stanhope at a peppercorn rent: if Vernon pays several sums of £60 at times recited and sum of £1050 on 6 Nov 1685 (£25) and 6 May 1686 (£1025) then null and void.

18 February 2 William and Mary 1689/90

Release by George Vernon of Sudbury esq., to James Sykes of Bagworth, Leics, in consideration of £1000, of a messuage, dwelling house or tenement inhabited by George Timbrell in Draycott with all barns, stables etc., and closes called the Hall Orchard, Rye Croft, Hall Flatt, Lady Meadow, 5 selions of arable in field called Spellgreave 1a by estimation, 6a of meadow called Suttons Densy Meadow previously the land of William Sutton, 2 closes called the Pingles, closes called Great Ridding and Little Long Ridding, all in Draycott: annual rent of 12d.

Schedule of deeds attached.

With 5.469

18 Feb 1689/90

reciting 5.444 and 5.468

In consideration of £1000 paid by James Sykes to Alexander Stanhope, George Vernon of S. Esq., Alexander Stanhope of the Inner Temple Esq., Thomas Milward of St Martins in the Field M’sex Esq., and John Maxwell of Westminster Esq., have assigned to George Buckley of Burton on Trent, Gent, and Thomas Alsopp of Burton Gent, all the mess. etc in 5.444 and 5.468 for the residue of the terms.

END OF BUNDLE AND OF BOX
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	Box 4 – Miscellaneous Derbyshire and Staffordshire Deeds

Settlement

Agreement between Henry de Kent of Boylleston and Thomas son and heir of Tomas de Barton, reciting that Thomas married Agnes daughter of Henry of Kent, and the said Henry provided for her maritagium – 4 oxen, 40s, 2 mares 20s, 2 cows 16s, 2 bullocks 10s,  a sow 2s two carts one bound with iron one not, one brass pot, one bowl, one bowl and jug and a tube to be paid to Thomas or his attorney at the end of four years ending Michaelmas 1390; also Thomas has demised to Henry all his land and tenements in Barton for the duration of the term: also the said Thomas agrees and binds himself to enfeoff Anges in al his lands and tenements in Barton which he held of his father, for her life; also the said Henry Agrees to sustain Thomas and Agnes and children in food, clothes etc and at the end of the term the said Henry will deliver to Thomas all his lands and tenements (i.e. the Barton lands) with all fruits issuing from the lands. Witnesses; Thomas de Malkely (Mackley?), John de Sapyrton, Roger de Kent, john Robyn, Walter de Irton chaplain and others.

Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq to John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert Esq., in consideration of £305, of 3 closes in Church Somersall called Lee Lawton and Talors Croft 9a, 4 closes in Church Somersall called the Lees 1a, Rathbone 81a, upper part of a certain close in Church Somersall, Great Croft 3 ½ a (reciting lease for possession)

25 Ap 22 Chas II

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Thomas Browne of Bentley esq., in consideration of £80 and £60, of a messuage, farm or tenenat in Rodsley and closes called the Scattscarse the Nearer Scattscarse, the Cliffs the Crofts adj the messuage, the Fur Cote Closes, the Long Meadow and the South Lee, all in Rodsley – for 21 years, at an annual rent of £24 the £80 is paid by Brown at the appointment of John Sherwin of Rodsley who occupies the premises, being the arrears of rent due to Vernon, part of it for the use of Rodsley poor

25 Mar

Quitclaim by Henry Saucherverell and Ralph Leche at the special request of John Vernon of the manors of Laghe and Yeldersley to John Vernon 20 Jun 25 Hy VIII 1533

Lease by Thomas Stanley of the moss Barn Shenstone to Thomas Kene of Sutton Collfyld [Coldfield] in consideration of £6  6s  8d, of the tithes of little Aston in Shenstone: for 8 years.

10 Sep 1 Ed VI

Lease by Thomas Stanley of Little Aston Shenstone to Thomas Kene of Sutton in Colfylde gent, of all the tithes of corn and grain in Fotherley ph Shenstone, except for the tithes of one close called Bromelles Nowe; also all the tithe Hay in Fotherley except for that of William Sylvester and William Grandon (who are to pay a composition instead) for 20 years: consideration £8  8s  8d

18 Jan 35 Hy VIII

Numbers not used

Gift by Ralph de Grendon in Gayton to Robert son and heir of Ralph de Pype and Joanne his daughter, Ralph’s wife, in free marriage (maritagium) of all his lands and tenements, rents and possessions in Weston on Trent, reserving a parcel of moor called the Meregreves and an acre of meadow in Westonemedewe one half acre of which Lord Roger Tomwyne held and the other acre Nicholas le Hore once held: for all services and an annual rent of a red rose at the feast of St John the Baptist. Witnesses: Ld Thomas de Pype and Henry Mauvsyn [Mavesyn], kts, Roger de Aston, William de Thomenhorn [Tamhorn], Geoffrey le Wasteneys, Richard Bagod de Folndeleye, Hugh de Aston and others. Sat feast of St Valentine 9 Ed II [Weston on Trent, Staffs].
	nd [14th cent]

1670

1690

1533

1547

1544

1316


	D410/Box 4 cont.

D410/Box4/352

D410/Box4/353

D410/Box4/354


	Gift by Ralph de Grendon kt Lord of Scheneston to William son of Geoffrey son of Richard de Cest(er)field of a moiety of six and a half acres and one rood lying in ?Gulmore which Adam son of Geoffrey Walt holds, the other moiety lies in length between the moor which is called Rochalemor and a moor which Geoffrey son of Richard de Cest(er)field holds, and in width (1a) between the head of Rochale and the moor of Richard Nichol and the half acre extends in length from the said six acres as far as the moor of the said William son of Geoffrey de Cest(er)field annual rent of 2s 3d [all presumably in Shenstone] Witnesses: Hugh Ld of Aston, Robert De Cresbrok, Richard Bagod? Gilbert le Hunte, Geoffrey Walt and others Sunday next after St Gregory 2 Ed II

Gift of Ralph son of Nicholas de Marchinton to Ralph de Grandon and John his son and his (John’s lawful issue of all the land he held within the precinct of the said Ralph de G in Gayton as is enclosed by a ditch: annual rent of a red rose: if the said John dies without lawful issue then after his decease, the remainder to Philip his brother, then in default of issue to Robert his brother and his lawful issue, and in default to Ralph de Marchinton

Witnesses: Roger de Aston, parson of Weston Richard le Venablus, John de Hodinet, Adam son of Ralph de Grendon, William le hor, clerk and others

Sunday next after feast James the Apostle 6 Ed III

Gift by Petronilla daughter of Symon le Sage Lord of Tymmor widow to Ld William de Vernon of all her mill Tymmor with all app.along with site? (sede) and water and “Holmes” (holmis) belonging to the mill, and on the said fee of Tymmor: grants also to the said William de Vernum help of the men of Tymmor in the repair of the mill and pond: annual rent of a mark of silver.

Witness: Robert de Thore, Geoffrey Selvein John de Thamehorin [Tamhorn], Richard his brother, Albert de Anesidel, [?Anslow] Robert de Awnes, Symon de Norton, Geoffrey?Poun, Mag Roger de Derby, Robert Carpenter, Peter the clerk and others.
	1309

1332

nd [early 14th cent]


	D410/Box 4 continued

D410/Box 4/355

D410/Box4/356

D410/Box3/357


	Quitclaim by Petronilla daughter of Symon le Sage Lord of Tymmor widow, to Lord William de Vernun and his heirs of Nicholas Fisherman of Tymmor and all his goods and chattels, all appurtenances, one silver mark for this sale and quitclaim. Witnesses: Ld Robert Thore, Lord of Selvein, John de Thameherin [Tamhorn] Geoffrey ?Pound, Richard his brother, Gilbert de Anesideleya {?Anslehy], Richard his brother, Gilbert de Anesideleya [?Ansley], Robert de Awnes, Symon de Northon Mag Roger de Derby, Robert Carpenter, Peter the Clerk and many others

Gift by Robert Lord of Grendon to John Dagenhall for 20s of an acre of moor and a half in?Harnhurstmor lying in length from the moor of Gilbert de Fulwedleg towards the assart of William de Grom on Burnam: annual rent of 12d Witnesses: John de Aston, John Bagod, Almo de Cumberford Barthol(omew) de Cresebrok, Thomas de Homstede, Walter de Halton, Richard son of John Bagon, Adam de Bromlet, Roger de Bodenh(a)m and others [see Box 2/81] ?Shenstone

Gift by William son and heir of Petronilla daughter of Symon le Sage Lord of Tymmor to Lord William de Vernun of all gifts and grants which his mother Lady Petronilla made to him (reciting 354 and 355)

Mentions: paracum de?Goseholm – Versus Elleslow and “Vads de Penceford” [Pensford, Staffs]

Witnesses: Ld Philip de Kynton, seneschal, of ?Coventre?, Ld de Toke, Lord G(eoffrey)? Salvein, John de Thamehorin [Tamhorn], Richard his brother, Gilbert de Anesedel, [Ansley] Geoffrey? Poun and others


	nd [early 14th cent]

nd [early 14th cent]

nd

[late 13th cent]


	D410/Box 4 contd.

D410/Box 4/358

D410/Box4/359

D410/Box3/360

D410/Box4/361

D410/Box4/362

D410/Box4/363

D410/Box4/364


	Quitclaim by Petronilla la sage, Lady of Tymmor, widow, to William de Vernon of half a mark of silver annually of one mark which the said William paid for the mill in Tymmor with appurtenances and the park

of Gosholm. Witnesses: Mag Raph de Lacots then seneschal of the Lord Bishop, Robert de Tok, Hamore de Turrevill, John de Tamhorn, Nicholas Durdent, Philip de Erdentona, Henry de Hulle, Hugh de Tymmor, Robert de Rideware and others

Covenant between Lord William de Vern(on) and Lady Petronilla le Sage Lady of Timmor, that, the said Petronilla and her heirs are accustomed to fish in the water with nets and baskets between the holme of St Edith and the mill of Timmor without impediment of the said William de Vernon or his heirs outside the bays, pond and mill, and it is known that the said Ld William de Vernon and his heirs are accustomed at the same time to fish in the water between the said Holme of St Edith and the said mill with impediment of the said Lady Petronilla or her heirs with nets, baskets and ingenilis (?other devices?), and the said Ld William de Vernon may have the whole fishing and fishery of the bays and mill of the said Petronilla and her heirs.

Witnesses: Ld Robert de Thoke, Ld Geoffrey Solvein, John de Thamenhorn, Ralph his brother, Adam Coppe, Robert his brother, Alan de Cu(m)berf(ord), Gilbert de Ansedelee, [Ansley] William de Parkes, Simon of Norton William Buch Robert de Deunes clerk and many others

[Agreement between Ld William and Petronilla re the fishing between the “holm” of St Edith and the mill of Tymoor].

Gift by Roger son of Roger de Dounces to Robert de Pype Kt and Thomas his son of 15 acres and a half and a rood of land in the vill of Coten lying in length between the Rifhay and the way which leads towards Tutbury, in width (1 acre) lying between his (Roger’s) house and le Long Ruding: consideration of 15 marks 10 shillings. Witnesses: Stephen de Curson, John de Miners Stephen de Falde forester, Robert son of Julian , Robert, chaplain of Overe and others

Sunday nxt bef native of BVM 1294 (22 EdI)

Gift by Roger son of Roger de Dounes to Robert de Pype Kt and Thomas his son of 11 acres of land with appurtenances in Coten lying close to the land of the said Robert de Pype which is called Longerudyng under the Rifhay and ascends in length from the Rifhay as far as another way which leads towards Tutbury: consideration of 11 marks

Witnesses: Stephen de Curcon John de Miners, Stephen de Falde, forester, Robert son of Julian, Robert de Overe, chaplain and others Sunday feast of St Nicholas 22 Ed I (6 Dec 1293).

Grant by Alice de Jarpunvill of Draycote, to Henry son of Stephen de M[archington], Stephen? Vernon of the same place and Richard son of Walter of the same place, of all the lands and tenements in Marchington, which were demised by Ld William de Jarpunvill once formerly her lord to Henry, Stephen and Richard: to hold for 6 years Witnesses: Philip de Sonnull?, Reginald Coas, Roger Smith William son of Elia?, Richard de Swyndon and others

Sunday nxt aft concept BVM II Ed I

Declaration by Roger de Donnes that if he fails to pay the rent for a messuage toft and garden in the vill of Coton conveyed to him by Ld Robert de Pipe and Thomas or one of them may repossess and hold the said messuage, toft and gardens. Monday next after the feast of St Hilary 24 Ed I

Gift by John Fichet to Walter de Draycote clerk of a messuage, a third part of a garden, an acre of arable land lying between the Honterest and the land of John de Aldenam and butt called le Stombutt and a rood of meadow lying in Littlemedwe which John Le Wimpler was accustomed to hold by English Law after the death of Gonne his wife; 8d rent (?in Draycott) Witnesses: Robert de Pipe Ltd of Draycote, Stephen le Curson of Falde, William de Mineworth William le Mareschal of Draycote, William Molot and others

Sat next bef feast of St Katherine 18 Ed III


	nd

[early 14th cent]

nd 

[early 14th cent]

1294

1293

1282

1296

1344


	D410/Box/4
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D410/Box 4/365

D410/Box 4/366

D410/Box4/367

D410/Box4/368


	Gift by John de Swynn(er)ton seneschal of the Forest of Cannock (Kannoke) to Roger de Bakewalle and Walter de Aston of the manor of Hulton and all lands and tenements messuages mills meadows rents and services with app in the fee of Hulton, ?Essington, Walsale, Wolvernehampton, Stafford, Wireley, Little Sardon, Stretton, Penkridge, Pillaton Hall, Huntington, Lycheffeld, Frodeleye [Fradley] and Bruggenorth. Witnesses: Robert Ld of Swynn(er)ton, Nicholas de Swynnerton parson of Mokleston [Mucklestone], Richard Hillary parson of the church of Wolstanton, John de Molhisleye, senior, John de Mohisleye junior and others. Wed nxt aft feast of All Saints 16 Ed III

Quitclaim by John son of Luce Pictoris [Painter] of Drayton brother and heir of Ralph to Hugh his brother of an acre of land lying in the provision of Hermodesworth in a certain culture(furlong) called Styghelfurlong between the land of Robert de Cruce and the land of Roger Bernard and called Foreacre

Witnesses: Ralph de Drayton Gilbert Dereman, Robert de Pipe Robert de Cruce Roger de Cruce Hugh, clerk and others

Eve of All Saints (Sunday) 1288

Number not used

Gift by Thomas de Coton of Marchinton Wodenhouse to John Shaille Lord of Hannernhull of 3a 3r of meadow lying in the demesne of Marchinton under Nedewode with all app, of which nine selions containing two acres which were of Margry de Bromleygh about the Horsbuttes at one hand and on the meadow of Thams? Angelon and lie between the land of Marchington and the land of the said John and four selions containing 1 acre lie between the meadow of William Anbey and the land of John Hychesson and abutting on the land of the said John at each head, and half an acre of meadow lies in the meadow of Horenhull between the meadow of the said John and the meadow of John Hycheson and a rood lies next to the Erlesmedue between the meadow of William Palmere and John de Waldeley and butting on the meadow of the Lord Duke and the land [blank]

Witnesses: Robert de Pipe, John Curson John Curteys, Richard Walker, John de Waldeley, William
	1342

1288

1288
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RENTALS AND ESTATE ACCOUNTS

	D410/6-11

D410/6/1

D410/6/2

D410/6/3

D410/6/4

D410/6/5

D410/6/6

D410/6/7

D410/6/8

D410/6/9

D410/6/10

D410/6/11

D410/6/12

D410/6/13

D410/6/14

D410/6/15

D410/6/16

D410/6/17

D410/6/18

D410/6/19-20

D410/6/21

D410/6/22

D410/6/23

D410/6/24

D410/6/25


	Rentals and estate accounts for the Sudbury estate – Sudbury, Aston, Hill and Potter Somersal, Somersal Herbert, Marchington, Houndhill, West Broughton, Marston Montgomery, Cubley etc.

The amount of detail given in the estate accounts declines over the 1719-1820 period, until they are only the barest summary of rents collected, ect by 1820

Account of Mrs Grace Smith, administrator of Robert Smith dec’d late Steward of the rents and profits of the manors of Sudbury, Rodsley, Marchington, Hundill and Draycott – detailed rentals and estate accounts 1719.

Estate accounts and rental of standard format, rent payable once a year at Lady Day

1732

1733

1734-1735

1735

1736

1737

1738-1739

1740

1741

1742

1743

1744

1745

1745-1746

1746

1747

1747-1748

1748 [2 vols]

1749

1750

1750-1752 [rents only]

1751

1751-1752


	1719-1884

1719

1732-1855



RENTALS AND ESTATE ACCOUNTS

	D410/7/1

D410/7/2

D410/7/3

D410/7/4-5

D410/7/6

D410/7/7

D410/7/8

D410/7/9-10

D410/7/11

D410/7/12

D410/7/13

D410/7/14

D410/7/15

D410/7/16

D410/7/17

D410/7/18

D410/7/19

D410/7/20

D410/7/21

D410/7/22

D410/8/1

D410/8/2

D410/8/3

D410/8/4

D410/8/5

D410/8/6

D410/8/7

D410/8/8

D410/8/9

D410/8/10

D410/8/11

D410/8/12

D410/8/13

D410/8/14

D410/8/15

D410/8/16

D410/8/17

D410/8/18

D410/8/19

D410/8/20

D410/8/21

D410/8/22

D410/8/23

D410/8/24

D410/8/25-26

D410/8/27

D410/8/28

D410/8/29

D410/8/30-31

D410/8/32

D410/8/33

D410/8/34

D410/8/35

D410/8/36-38

D410/8/39

D410/8/40

D410/8/41

D410/8/42-44

D410/8/45

D410/8/46-48

D410/8/49

D410/8/50

D410/9/1

D410/9/2-3

D410/9/4-6

D410/9/7

D410/9/8

D410/9/9

D410/9/10

D410/9/11

D410/9/12

D410/9/13

D410/9/14

D410/9/15-16

D410/9/17-19

D410/9/20

D410/9/21

D410/9/22

D410/9/23

D410/9/24

D410/9/25

D410/10/1-4

D410/10/5-6

D410/10/7

D410/10/8

D410/11/1

D410/11/2

D410/11/3

D410/11/4

D410/11/5

D410/11/6

D410/11/7

D410/11/8-9

D410/11/10-11

D410/11/12-13

D410/11/13-15

D410/11/16-17

D410/11/18

D410/11/19-20

D410/11/21

D410/11/22

D410/11/23

D410/11/24

D410/11/25-26

D410/1127

D410/11/28

D410/11/29

D410/11/30

D410/11/31

D410/11/32

D410/11/33-34

D410/11/35

D410/11/36

D410/11/37

D410/11/38

D410/11/39

D410/11/40

D410/11/41

D410/11/42

D410/11/43

D410/11/44

D410/11/45

D410/11/46

D410/11/47

D410/11/48

D410/11/49

D410/11/50-51

D410/11/52

D410/11/53

D410/11/54

D410/11/55

D410/11/56

D410/11/57

D410/11/58

D410/11/59

D410/11/60

D410/11/61

D410/11/62

D410/11/63


	1752

1753

1754

1755 [2 vols]

1756

1756-1758 [summary]

1758

1759 [2 vols]

1760

1761

1762

1763

1764

1766

1767

1768

1769

1770

1771

1772

1780

1781

1782

1783

1784

1785

1786

1787

1788

1789

1790

1791

1792

1793

1794

1795

1796

1797

1798

1799

1800

1801

1802

1803

1804[2]

1805

1806

1808

1809[2 vols]

1814

1815

1816

1818

1819[2 vols]

Collecting rentals giving rents only

1826

1827

3 ½ years 1827 [2]

1828 [2 vols]

1828-29

1829 [3 vols]

Survey and rental giving close names, acreage

and tenants names

1829

1830

1830-31

Collecting rentals

1831-32 [2 vols]

1832-33 [3 vols]

1836

Survey and rental 

1831-32

1833

1833-34

1834-35

1835-36

Collecting rentals

1837

1838

1839 [2 vols]

1840 [3 vols]

RENTALS AND ESTATE ACCOUNTS

Survey and rental

1837-38

1839-40

1840-41

1841-42

1843-44

1855-45

collecting rentals 

1841 [4 vols]

1842 [2 vols inc Kinderton]

1843

One undated survey and rental 

Survey and rental 

1845-46

1848-49

1849-50

1850-51

1851-52

1852-53

Collecting rental

1846

1847[2 vols]

1848 [2 vols]

1849 [2 vols]

1850 [2 vols]

1851 [2 vols]

1852

1853 [2 vols]

Survey and rental 

1853-54

1854-55

1855-56

1858-59

Collecting rentals

1854 [2 vols]

1855

RENTALS AND ESTATE ACCOUNTS

New pattern ½ yearly rentals for Lady Day and Michaelmas beginning Lady Day 1868

LD 1868

M 1868

LD 1869

M 1869

LD 1870

M 1870 [2 vols (34 is for Poynton)]

LD1871

M1871

LD 1872

M1872

LD 1873

M1873

LD 1874

M 1874

LD 187

M 1875

LD 1876

M1876

LD 1877

M 1877

LD 1878

M 1878 [2 vols (51 is for Cubley)]

LD 1879

M 1879

LD 1880

M 1880

LD 1881

M 1881

LD 1882

M1882

LD 1883

M 1883

LD 1884

M1884
	1732-1855

1732-1855

1868-1884


Place index to volume 1 of the catalogue of Vernon 

Estate papers (D410)

Note: All places are in Derbyshire or Staffordshire unless otherwise stated

	PLACE
	Field/house name
	Date
	Description
	Reference

	Agardsley Park within Forest of Needwood
	-
	c1337
	Appointment of 

deputy
	Box 3/271

	Alrewas
	-
	c1454
	‘Beaufoe’s judgment
	Box 1/33

	Appletree Hundred
	-
	1644
	Account, probably for payments to royalist garrison at Tutbury
	Box 2/169

	Aston
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Aston
	-
	1660
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/50

	Aston
	-
	1660
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/51

	Aston
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Aston
	-
	1685
	Assignment 
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Aston
	-
	c1708
	Final concord
	Box 2/170

	Barton under Needwood
	-
	c1448
	Deed
	Box 3/264a

	Barton under

Needwood
	-
	nd
	Settlement
	Box 4/1

	Bridgnorth
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Bridgnorth
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Carderdon (?)
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Church Somersall 
	The Lees

Rathbone lees

Great Croft
	1670
	Feoffment
	Box 4/2

	Coppenhall
	-
	1662
	Estate account and rental
	Box 2/160

	Coton
	-
	c1286
	Declaration
	Box 4/363

	Coton
	-
	c1361
	Lease
	Box 2/143

	Coton
	-
	1655
	Final concord
	Box 4/432

	Coton
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Coton
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 4/455

	Coton
	-
	c1677
	Recovery
	Box 5/445

	Coton
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Coton
	[various]
	C1681
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/454

	Coton

Coton
	[various]

Densey New Meadow
	17th cent

c1624
	Lease for possession

Feoffment
	Box 5/456

Box4/433

	Coton
	Rifhay

Le Longe Ruding
	1294

1293
	Gift

Gift
	Box 4/360

Box 4/361

	Cropnall
	-
	1669-1671
	Rental
	Box 2/163

	Dovebridge
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Dovebridge
	Le Mareclose
	c1619
	Lease
	Box 4/427

	Dovebridge
	Ley Hill

Brick Kiln Pitts

Palmer Moore

Broad Meadow
	1740
	Lease
	Box 1/2

	Draycott under Needwood
	-
	c1412
	Lease
	Box 4/377

	Draycott under Needwood
	Chappel Yard
	c1612
	Bond
	Box 2/142

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	1296
	Gift
	Box 4/380

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	1633
	Recovery
	Box 3/304

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	c1634
	Final concord
	Box 3/333

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	1635
	Lease
	Box3/308

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	1653
	Rent account
	Box 1/53

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	1653
	List of tenements
	Box 1/53

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	1655
	Final concord
	Box 4/432

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	-
	c1677
	Recovery
	Box 5/445

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	-
	1681
	Feoffment
	Box 5/453

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	-
	1697
	Feoffment
	Box 1/17

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[4 water mills]
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[4 water mills]
	1660
	Marriage settlement 
	Box 1/51

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[a way leading from Stubbes Lane]
	c1308
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/383

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[capital messuage]
	1668
	Quitclaim
	Box 1/20

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[messuage]
	1648
	Feoffment
	Box 4/437

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[various]
	c1681
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/454

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[various]
	17th cent
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/456

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[various]
	1672
	Mortgage
	Box 5/444

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	[various]
	1685
	Further mortgage
	Box 5/468

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Allens Parke
	c1678

1687
	Mortgage

Release
	Box 1/16

Box 1/21

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Botham Field
	1676
	Feoffment
	Box 1/4

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Bulls Park
	1671
	Demise of annuity
	Box 1/14

Box 1/23

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Bulls Parke

Hills Farm
	1699
	Lease
	Box 1/18

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Coatehoale
	c1689
	Power of attorney

Quitclaim
	Box 5/465

Box 5/466

	Draycott-in-the Clay

Draycott-in-the Clay
	Cote Hole, Dovefield 

Densey
	1673

c1612


	Feoffment

Feoffment
	Box 5/459

Box 4/434

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Densye Meadow
	1717
	Feoffment
	Box 1/22

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Denzie Meadow

Stoney Flatt

Over Field
	1673
	Lease and release
	Box 5/451

Box 5/467

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Dovehead

Dove Setts Hiron

Pingle at the Mill 

Ash Tree alias Ash Acres
	1700

1736

1738

1739

1740

1745

1750
	Various deeds
	Box 1/1

Box 1/3

Box 1/6

Box 1/9

Box 1/10

Box 1/11

Box 1/12

Box 1/24

Box 5/446

Box 5/447

Box 5/448

Box 5/464

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Draycott Mill 
	1653
	List of profits
	Box 1/53

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Draycott Milne

Green Plecke

Long Lane

Shorte Lane

Crosse Lane

Chequer Lease 

Banholme

Dovefield Head

Coatehole 

Pipehay

Clayteholme
	1653 

and

1655
	Leases for possession
	Box 4/436

Box 5/442

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Gervas Yards

Intacks

Hollowes Acre
	1689
	Feoffment
	Box 5/443

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Hall Orchard

Rye Croft

Hall Flatt

Lady Meadow

Spellgreave

Suttons Densy Meadow

Great Ridding

Little Long Ridding


	1690
	Release

Assignment of term
	Box 5/469

Box 5/470

(see also Box 5/444 and Box 5/468)

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Hodders Hill
	c1677
	Feoffment
	Box 1/15

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Lady Meadow
	1679
	Charity deed

Quitclaim
	Box 5/460

Box 5/462



	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Le Longeruding

Le Revecroft

The Douvefeld

Hoddeworthe

Deusey

Le Longemor

Lytelmedowe
	c1361
	Gift
	Box 4/382

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Maliber Tenement
	1696
	Lease
	Box 5/450

	Draycott-in-the Clay


	Mandeyard alias

Mande’s Lane
	1697
	Articles of agreement
	Box 1/7

	Draycott-in-the Clay


	Milneholme Meadow

Pypehaye
	c1558
	Final concord
	Box 3/322

	Draycott-in-the Clay


	Muckelmedwe
	Late 13th cent
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/378

	Draycott-in-the-Clay
	New House

Birchehouse
	1676
	Deed to lead a recovery
	Box 5/452

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Overfeld

Spelgreve

Mychelmedwe
	c1341
	Gift
	Box4/379

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Paretree Croft
	c1682
	Feoffment
	Box 1/19

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Spelgreave Field

Over Field

Draycott Meadow
	1669
	Lease and release
	Box 5/457

Box 5/461

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Spelgreve
	c1347
	Gift
	Box 4/381

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Stubbeland

The Ould Lee
	1659
	Marriage settlement
	Box 4/430

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Stubbelane

Tanners Croft
	1660
	Mortgage
	Box 4/431

	Draycott-in-the Clay
	Twinbrooke
	1682
	Feoffment
	Box 1/13

	Draycott-in-the Clay

(?)
	Honterest

Le Stonbutt

Littelmedwe


	c1355
	Gift
	Box 4/364

	Eaton
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Ednynghale
	-
	c.1412
	Lease
	Box 4/377

	Essington
	-
	c.1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Essington
	-
	c.1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Essington
	-
	c.1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Essington
	-
	c.1599
	Grant of wardship
	Box 1/29

	Essington
	-
	c.1606
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/26

Box 1/30

	Essington
	-
	c.1609
	Release and discharge
	Box 1/32

	Faud
	-
	1655
	Final concord
	Box 4/432

	Fauld
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Fauld
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Fauld
	-
	c1677
	Recovery
	Box 5/445

	Fauld 
	[various]
	c1681
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/454

	Fauld
	[various]
	17th cent
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/456

	Ffawd
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Forest of Needwood
	Rishay

Draycott

Marchington
	c1296
	Inspeximus of gift 
	Box 3/265

	Frodeleye

Frodley


	-

-
	c1343

c1454
	Gift

‘Beaufoe’s judgment’
	Box 4/365

Box 1/33

	Frodley
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Fradley
	-
	1688
	Release
	Box 1/27

	Gayton
	-
	c1333
	Gift
	Box 4/353

	Godsale
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Hanbury
	-
	c1361
	Lease
	Box 2/143

	Hanbury
	-
	1633
	Recovery
	Box 3/304

	Hanbury
	-
	c1634
	Final concord
	Box 3/333

	Hanbury
	-
	c1636
	Feoffment
	Box 1/45

	Hanbury
	-
	1653
	List of tenements
	Box 1/53

	Hanbury
	-
	1655
	Final concord
	Box 4/432

	Hanbury
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Hanbury
	-
	c1666
	Final concord
	Box 3/315

	Hanbury
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Hanbury
	-
	c1677
	Recovery
	Box 5/445

	Hanbury
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Hanbury
	[various]
	c1681
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/454

	Hanbury
	[various]
	17th cent
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/456

	Hanbury
	Birche Croft
	c1611
	Admittance in manor court
	Box 2/150(b)

	Hanbury
	Densey

New Meadow
	c1624
	Feoffment
	Box 4/433

	Hanbury
	Densey
	c1612
	Feoffment
	Box 4/434

	Hanbury
	Gervas yards

Intacks

Hollowes Acre
	1689
	Feoffment
	Box 5/443

	Hanbury
	Pipehay
	1633
	Feoffment
	Box 3/305

	Hanbury
	Pipehay
	1633
	Feoffment
	Box 3/336

	Hanbury
	Pipehay

Blackyearth

Stubbinlane
	1635
	Lease
	Box 3/308

	Hanbury
	Pipehay
	1635
	Mortgage
	Box 3/323

	Hanbury
	Stubby Lane [and others]
	1672
	Mortgage
	Box 5/444

	Hanbury
	Stubby Lane [and others]
	1685
	Further mortgage
	Box 5/468

	Harlaston 
	-
	c1323
	Gift
	Box 4/375

	Harlaston
	[hall/capital messuage]
	c1546
	Agreement by 

quitclaim
	Box 5/441

	Haslington
	-
	1647
	Estate accounts
	Box 2/157

	Haslington
	-
	1662
	Estate account and rental
	Box 2/160

	Haslington
	-
	1663
	Demense rentals
	Box 2/161

	Haslington
	-
	1665
	Demense rentals
	Box 2/162

	Haslington
	-
	1669-1671
	Rental 
	Box 2/163

	Hermodesworth
	Styghelfurland
	1288
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/366

	Hilton
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Hilton
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Hilton
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Hilton
	-
	c1599
	Grant of wardship
	Box 1/29

	Hilton
	-
	c1606
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/26

Box 1/30

	Hilton
	-
	c1609
	Release and discharge
	Box 1/32

	Hollington
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recover
	Box 1/47

	Hopwas
	-
	c1454
	‘Beaufoe’s judgment’
	Box 1/33

	Hopwas
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Hound Hill
	-
	[1216-1272]
	Gift
	Box 1/39

	Hound Hill 
	-
	c1250
	Gift
	Box 1/54

	Hound Hill
	-
	c1295
	Gift
	Box 1/37

	Hound Hill
	-
	c1338
	Gift
	Box 1/40

	Hound Hill
	-
	c1361
	Bond
	Box 2/135

	Hound Hill
	-
	C1361
	Lease
	Box 2/143

	Hound Hill
	-
	C1472
	Bond
	Box 4/397

	Hound Hill
	-
	17th cent
	Valuation
	Box 1/43

	Hound Hill
	-
	C1634
	Depositions
	Box 1/35

	Hound Hill
	-
	1653
	Rent Account
	Box 1/53

	Hound Hill
	-
	1653
	Rent Account
	Box 1/53

	Hound Hill
	-
	1653
	List of tenements
	Box 1/53

	Hound Hill
	Houndhill Hall
	C1635
	Mortgage
	Box 1/48

	Hound Hill
	Houndhill Hall
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Hound Hill
	Houndhill Hall
	1660
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/51

	Hound Hill
	Houndhill Hall
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Hound Hill
	Houndhill Hall & lands
	1633
	Mortgage
	Box 1/44

	Hound Hill
	Houndhill Hall & lands
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Hound Hill
	Hownehill Hall
	c1583
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/49

	Hound Hill
	Hownell Old Hall
	c1636
	Feoffment
	Box 1/45

	Hound Hill
	Hownell Old Hall
	17th cent
	Mortgage
	Box 1/46

	Hound Hill
	Hownshill Meadow
	1554
	Lease
	Box 3/279

	Hound Hill
	Rouley
	c1300
	Gift
	Box 1/41

	Hound Hill
	Rouley
	c1300
	Gift
	Box 1/42

	Hound Hill
	Russelegy
	13th cent
	Gift
	Box 1/38

	Huntingdon
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Huntyngdon
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Leghe
	-
	1533
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/4

	Leigh
	-
	c1609
	Bargain & sale
	Box 2/138

	Lichfield
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Lichfield
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Lichfield
	-
	1533
	quitclaim
	Box 4/4

	Lichfield

Lichfield
	-

-
	c1609

c1320
	Bargain & sale

Gift
	Box 2/138

Box 1/25

	Lichfield
	-
	c1320
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/404

	Lichfield
	-
	c1333
	Gift
	Box 4/401

	Lichfield
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Lichfield
	-
	c1351
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/403

	Lichfield
	-
	c1443
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/399

	Lichfield
	Robestrete
	c1369
	Power of attorney

Gift
	Box 4/402

Box 4/405

	Lichfield
	Sandford Street
	c1361
	Lease
	Box 4/400

	Lichfield
	Sonfedestrete

Lemonsle

Kynchalenor

Mulnefeld
	c1338
	Gift
	Box 4/398

	Little Sardon
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Mackley Oaks
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Marchington
	-
	Mid 13th cent
	Confirmation
	Box 3/302

	Marchington
	-
	c1282
	Gift
	Box 3/278

	Marchington
	-
	c1283
	Grant
	Box 4/362

	Marchington
	-
	[1307-1327]
	Gift
	Box 3/288

	Marchington
	-
	c1317
	Gift
	Box 2/232

	Marchington
	-
	c1317
	Gift
	Box 3/284

	Marchington
	-
	c1329
	Gift
	Box 3/281

	Marchington
	-
	c1331
	Gift
	Box 3/294

	Marchington
	-
	c1337
	Gift
	Box 3/270

	Marchington
	-
	c1338
	Gift
	Box 1/40

	Marchington
	-
	c1361
	Lease
	Box 2/143

	Marchington
	-
	c1422
	Gift
	Box 3/263

	Marchington
	-
	c1478
	Deed (part)
	Box 3/299

	Marchington
	-
	c1483
	Gift
	Box 3/266

	Marchington
	-
	c1483
	Deed
	Box 3/273

	Marchington
	-
	c1625
	Final concord
	Box 3/327

	Marchington
	-
	1630
	Assignment
	Box 3/320

	Marchington
	-
	1633
	Recovery
	Box 3/304

	Marchington
	-
	1633
	Memo relating to manor
	Box 3/332

	Marchington
	-
	1655
	Final concord
	Box 4/432

Box 4/435

	Marchington
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Marchington
	-
	1662
	Estate account and rental
	Box 2/160

	Marchington
	-
	c1666
	Final concord
	Box 3/315

	Marchington
	-
	c1669
	Final concord
	Box 3/316

Box 3/317

Box 3/318

	Marchington
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Marchington
	-
	c1677
	Recovery
	Box 5/445

	Marchington
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Marchington
	-
	Late 17th cent
	Rental
	Box 3/310

	Marchington
	[bond cottage]
	c1435
	Surrender in manor court
	Box 3/274

	Marchington
	[messuage next to the cemetery of Marchington chapel]
	c1467
	Gift
	Box 3/283

	Marchington
	[messuage]
	c1467
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/303

	Marchington
	Ankers Holme
	1634
	Feoffment
	Box 3/311

	Marchington
	Black yearth
	1635
	Mortgage
	Box 3/323

	Marchington
	Blackearth
	1633
	Feoffment
	Box 3./305

	Marchington
	Blackyearth
	1633
	Feoffment
	Box 3/336

Box 3/338

	Marchington
	Blackyearth

Pipehay

Rowley

Buckriddings

Alkins Close
	1635
	Mortgage
	Box 3/339

Box 3/340

	Marchington
	Brookefield

Byflatt
	c1640
	Feoffment
	Box 3/312

Box 3/325

	Marchington
	Buckridding

Alkins Close
	1635
	Lease
	Box 3/308

	Marchington
	Bulyord
	1635
	Feoffment
	Box 3/314

	Marchington
	Chondemedwe
	c1285
	Gift
	Box 3/300

	Marchington
	Crokebrage
	c1474
	Gift
	Box 3/276

	Marchington
	Dovecott Hyron

Poolefield
	c1636
	Feoffment
	Box 3/326

	Marchington
	Dovesethiron

Hollowes Nook
	1635
	Feoffment
	Box 3/313

	Marchington
	Dowefeld

Drayvoteslem

Hurst Siche

Chirnoule
	c1312
	Gift
	Box 3/277

	Marchington
	Eris Meadow
	c1636
	Feoffment
	Box 3/330

	Marchington
	Flechfeld
	c1478
	Gift
	Box 3/292

	Marchington
	Fleshefeld
	c1476
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/295

	Marchington
	Floshfeld
	c1337
	Gift
	Box 3/280

	Marchington
	Furlong

Church Furlong
	c1636
	Feoffment
	Box 3/335

	Marchington
	Gervas Yards

Intacks

Hollowes Acre
	1689
	Feoffment
	Box 5/443

	Marchington
	Hamkersholme [and others]
	1672
	Mortgage
	Box 5/444

	Marchington
	Hamkersholme [and others]
	1685
	Further mortgage
	Box 5/468

	Marchington
	Heresych

Le Erles Medewe
	c1433
	Gift
	Box 3/269

	Marchington
	Holbrok 
	c1352
	quitclaim
	Box 3/287

	Marchington
	Horsbuttes

Honenhull

Erlesmedue
	c1377
	Gift
	Box 4/368

	Marchington
	Hursiche
	1289
	Gift
	Box 3/297

	Marchington
	Le Holdennilnessele

Le Pikkyngges

Haystoweyerd

Le Priges Ole

Mulneffeld

Hurst Siche

Danehurst

Asschebiesgrenes
	c1280
	Gift
	Box 3/301

	Marchington
	Le Pool
	C1298
	Gift
	Box 3/282

	Marchington
	Marchington Hill
	nd
	Gift
	Box 3/289

	Marchington
	Marchington Wodeland
	C1478
	Gift
	Box 3/286

	Marchington
	New Meadow Acre

Marchington Meadow
	1745
	Lease for possession
	Box 1/3

Box 1/24

	Marchington
	Newruddyng

Marchyngton Wodland
	C1464
	Surrender in manor court
	Box 3/267

	Marchington
	Oldfield
	C1351
	Gift
	Box 3/290

	Marchington
	Polefeld
	C1437
	Gift
	Box 3/293

	Marchington
	Poole Field
	1638
	Feoffment
	Box 3/328

	Marchington
	Prestwode
	C.1459
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/264

	Marchington
	Reeves Thing

Brookfield

Beniamas Field

Hobholme

Milnefield
	C1640
	Indenture
	Box 3/321

Box 3/329

	Marchington
	Rowley

Buck-rudding

Stubblelane

Earelee Meadow
	1634
	Deed
	Box 3/306

	Marchington
	Upper Newlandes

Nether Newlandes
	1636
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/307

	Marchington
	Wardehurst
	C1635
	Feoffment
	Box 3/331

	Marchington
	Wardhurst Knowle
	C1635
	Feoffment
	Box 3/309

	Marchington
	Wardhurste
	1627
	Lease
	Box 3/319

	Marchington
	Welstonnehal

Bankhurst
	1297
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/298

	Marchington
	Welstonnehal

Bankhurst

Mulneton
	1297
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/298

	Marchington
	Wetfurlong
	C1636
	Feoffment
	Box 3/324

	Marchington
	Willstonnishale
	C1272
	Gift & quitclaim
	Box 3/262

	Marchington
	Wodehouses

Le Marelepente Ruddinikr

Boggesbotheme
	14th cent
	Gift
	Box 3/272

	Marchington
	Wolstomshalwe
	C1297
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/291

	Marchington
	Wolstoneshalogh
	C1322
	Gift
	Box 3/285

	Marchington
	Wulstonishalgh
	Early 14th cent
	Gift
	Box 3/296

	Marchington (?)
	Madeley’s Close

Mill Hill
	1669
	Feoffment
	Box 1/5

	Marchington (?)
	Newelond
	[1272-1307]
	Gift
	Box 1/36

	Marchington Ward within Forest of Needwood
	-
	C1337
	Appointment of deputy
	Box 3/271

	Marston Montgomery
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Miginton
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Morton
	-
	c1361
	Lease
	Box 2/143

	Morton
	-
	1653
	List of tenements
	Box 1/53

	Morton
	-
	1655
	Final concord
	Box 4/432

	Morton
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Morton
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Morton
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Morton
	[various]
	c1681
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/454

	Morton
	[various]
	17th cent
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/456

	Morton
	Morton Medowe

Walacre
	c1478
	Gift
	Box 4/396

	Newlands
	-
	c1636
	Feoffment
	Box 1/45

	Newlands
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Newlands
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Peng
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Penkrich
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Pentrich
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Pipe Ridwar
	-
	C1412
	Lease
	Box 4/377

	Pipehay
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Pylatenhale
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Pylatenhale
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Rodsley
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Rodsley
	-
	1660
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/50-

	Rodsley
	-
	1660
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/51

	Rodsley
	-
	c1708
	Final concord
	Box 2/170

	Rodsley
	[messuage]
	c1623
	Lease
	Box 2/122

	Rodsley
	Scatterscarse

Nearer Scattscarse

The Cliffts

Four Cote Close

Long Meadow

South Lee
	1690
	Lease
	Box 4/3

	Rowsley
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Sardon
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Sedshall
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Shenstone
	-
	c1381
	Manor Court Roll
	Box 5/440

	Shenstone
	-
	c1563
	Bond
	Box 2/137

	Shenstone
	[cottage]
	c1605
	Admittance in manor court
	Box 2/149

	Shenstone
	[reversion of manor]
	c1532
	Grant
	Box 4/408

	Shenstone
	Fotherley
	1544
	Lease
	Box 4/7

	Shenstone
	Gulmor

Rochalemor
	c1309
	Gift
	Box 4/352

	Shenstone
	Le Bromycroft
	c1366
	gift
	Box 4/407

	Shenstone
	Little Aston
	1547
	Lease
	Box 4/5

	Shenstone
	Little Aston
	1574
	Lease
	Box 4/6

	Shenstone
	Mosse House

Broomye Croft

Mosse More

Mosse Barne
	1604
	Lease
	Box 2/115

	Shenstone
	Mossehowse Stonnall
	c1561
	Evidence in a dispute
	Box 2/153

	Shenstone
	Netherstonnall
	Late 17th cent
	Note of land and rents
	Box 4/406

	Shenstone
	Over Stonall
	c1569
	Bond
	Box 2/116

	Shenstone
	Rectory and tithes
	1544
	Power of attorney
	Box 2/133

	Shenstone
	Thornes
	c1619
	Surrender in manor court
	Box 2/136

	Shenstone (?)
	Harnhurstmor

Burnham
	Early 14th cent
	Gift
	Box 4/356

	Somersall Herbert
	-
	c1606
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/26

Box 1/30

	Somershall
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Somershall Potter
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	South Needwood
	-
	c1361
	Lease
	Box 2/143

	Stafford
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Stafford
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Stretton
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Stretton
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Stubbiland
	-
	c1636
	Feoffment
	Box 1/45

	Stubby Lane
	-
	1653
	List of tenements
	Box 1/53

	Stubby Lane
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Stubby Lane
	-
	1685
	Assignment
	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Stubby Lane
	[various]
	c1681
	Lease for possession
	Box 5/454

	Sudbury
	-
	c1708
	Final concord
	Box 2/170

	Sudbury
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Sudbury
	-
	1660
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/50

	Sudbury
	-
	1660
	Marriage settlement
	Box 1/51

	Sudbury
	-
	1673
	Revocation of remainders
	Box 5/455

	Sudbury
	-
	1683
	Rental
	Box 2/155

	Sudbury


	-
	1685
	Assignment


	Box 1/52

Box 1/55

Box 1/56

Box 1/57

	Sutton
	-
	1669-1671
	Rental
	Box 2/163

	Troncell
	-
	1650
	Assignment of lease
	Box 4/429

	Tymmor
	-
	Late 13th cent?
	Gift
	Box 4/357

	Tymmor
	-
	Early 14th cent
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/355

	Tymmor
	[fishing]
	Early 14th cent
	Covenant
	Box 4/359

	Tymmor


	[mill and fishery]

Gosholm meadow
	14th cent
	Declaration
	Box 4/373

	Tymmor
	[Mill]
	Early 14th cent
	Gift
	Box 4/354

	Tymmor
	[Mill]
	Early 14th cent
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/358

	Tymmor
	Goseholm Meadow park
	c1241
	Demise
	Box 4/369

	Tymmor
	Goseholm Meadow park
	c1315
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/370

	Tymmor
	Goseholm Meadow park
	c1276
	Demise
	Box 4/371

Box 4/374

	Tymmor
	Goseholm Meadow park
	c1257
	Demise
	Box 4/372

	Walkerton
	-
	1663
	Estate account
	Box 2/161

	Walkerton
	-
	1665
	Estate account
	Box 2/162

	Walkerton Park
	-
	1662
	Estate account and rental
	Box 2/160

	Walsall
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Walsall
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Weston on Trent
	Le Meregreves

Westonemedewe
	c1316
	Gift
	Box 4/351

	Wirley
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Wirleye
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Wolverhampton
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Wolverhampton
	-
	c1343
	Gift
	Box 4/365

	Woodhouse
	-
	1660
	Deed to levy fine and recovery
	Box 1/47

	Wuleye Parva
	-
	c1320
	Gift
	Box 1/25

	Wyrley
	-
	c1524
	Inquisition
	Box 1/34

	Yeaveley
	[messuage]
	c1563
	Admittance in manor court
	Box 2/152

	Yeldersley
	-
	1533
	Quitclaim
	Box 4/4

	(Derbyshire & Staffordshire)
	-
	c1377
	Quitclaim
	Box 3/275

	(Staffordshire & Derbyshire)
	-
	1684-1700
	Estate accounts
	Box 2/158

	(Staffordshire & Derbyshire
	-
	1704-1706
	Household and estate accounts
	Box 2/159

	(Staffordshire and Derbyshire)
	-
	1643-1644
	Estate accounts
	Box 2/168

	(Staffordshire and Derbyshire)

(Staffordshire and Derbyshire)
	-

-
	1672

1674
	Estate accounts

Estate accounts
	Box 2/165

Box 2/166

	(Staffordshire and Derbyshire)
	-
	1680
	Estate accounts
	Box 2/167

	(Staffordshire?)
	-
	1780
	Bill re turnpike road
	Box 2/148

	Little Ensseleye

(Northumberland)
	[messuage]
	c1583
	Release
	Box 2/132

	Longwitton

(Northumberland)
	-
	c1612
	Bargain and sale
	Box 2/144

	(Northumberland)
	-
	1630
	Bond
	Box 2/141

	Scheill (Leicestershire)
	-
	c1412
	Lease
	Box 4/377

	St Hillary (Glamorgan)
	-
	1779
	Case paper
	Box 2/145

	St Hillary (Glamorgan)
	[messuage]
	1773
	Lease
	Box 2/124


	D410M/Box14/471

D410M/Box14/472

D410M/Box14/473


	Release (reddidisse, remisisse) by Robert de Aldenham of Draycote with assent of Letitia his wife to Robert de Pype his lord and Matilda his wife of a half-acre of land with app. in the vill. of Draycote lying in a place called Hertsules.

Witnesses: Stephen de Corton, John de Min(v)ers, Robert son of Juliane, Robert de London, William son of Roger and others

Friday ft. annunciation B.M 23 Ed I

Gift by Richard Hert and Nichola his wife to William de Muncworthe and Cecilia his wife of eight and a half selions of land arable with app. in Draycote of which six selions lie in the Holiwallefeld between the Holywalle and the land of Richard? Keis and extends from a way called le Fyldngweye as far as the Rottsiche, and a selion and a half lies between the land of Richard Keis on each side and extends from the land of Letitia Bronn as far as the Fyldyngweye towards the Hayyate and a selion of land lies between the land of Richard Keis on each side and extends from the land of the said Richard as far as “Marlera” (marl-pit) and the land of Richard Keys. Witnesses: Henry de Honnhull, Robert de Pipe, William de Neuton, Henry de Knyveton, William Plategrene, clerk, and others

Monday next before Nat. John Bapt. 16 Ed II

Gift by Roger Bert of Draicote to ?Thomas Boide and John le Smyth of Bromlegh of a messuage with ? (illegible) and 2½  selions of land and ½ a of meadow with appurtenances in Draycote.

Witnesses: Richard Walker, John de Aston, ?William ? Sparr, Thomas de Dray c[ote], Richard Bailli and others. Sat next after ft of St Hilary 8 Richard II
	


	D410M/Box14/474 

D410M/Box14/475

D410M/Box14/476

D410M/Box14/477

D410M/Box14/478

D410M/Box14/479

D410M/Box14/480

D410M/Box14/481

D410M/Box 14/482 

D410M/Box14/483

D410M/Box14/484

D410M/Box14/485

D410M/Box14/486

D410M/Box14/487-492

D410M/Box14/493

494


	Quitclaim by William le ?Butiler to Henry de Holinton of 6 acres of land with appurtenances in the territory of Draycot and Morton which he held by gift and feoffment of Roger de Ioxelle (Yoxall), clerk, witnesses Roger de Dunes, Henry de Howehull, Robert Houweyn, William Lok, Richard Enganulf, William de Maperton, Walter de Chaumblerig, Henry?Brim, Engenulf de Moregrene, John S(t)cot and others.

n.d. probably Ed I/II

Quitclaim by William son of William Poget of Draycot to William (Fl or S) Pough[  ] of Wylthorp his heirs and assigns of all the lands and tenements with homage, service, rents, wards and reliefs and all app. which Roger P(Fl?)oget of Draycote his uncle once held in the vill and territory of Draycote, Wylthorpp, Breydiston, Ryseley and Brampcote (Wilsthorpe, Breaston, Risley, Bramcote) Witnesses: Geoffrey de Herdeby, Michael de Breydiston, Richard Keys of Kyleburn, Hugh Poug [   ], William son of John son of Alan de Breydiston, Henry son of Robert of the same place, Roger Munk of Draycote, Stephen, clerk, of Breydiston and many others.

n.d. early 14c (later than 474 – Ed II or III)

Power of attorney by Roger Berd to Robert de Pipe to deliver seisin to Henry Colynsone and John de Luyton, chaplains, of a messuage with curtilage, 2½ selions of land and ½ acre of meadow in Draycote.

Friday next after ft. St George 15 Richard II

(see 14.473)

Quitclaim by William Davy son and heir of William Davy and Alice his wife, who was daughter and heir of Robert Morton of Draycote under Needwood to Henry Vernon Esq his heirs and assigns of a messuage, curtilage and croft with all appurtenances in the fee of Draycote and Marchington.

Dated 20 July Edward IV.

Gift by Amabilla (sic) daughter of William le Hunte, widow, to John de Aldenam of two acres of arable land and an acre of meadow in Draycote with a messuage adjacent, which messuage lies between a place (placeam) of Letitia her sister and the highway and an acre and a half of the said land lies in the higher (superior) upper field between the land of William de Jargunvile and the land of the said Letitia in breadth (latitudine) and extending in length from the land of the lord as far as le Rotisiche, and a half acre lies in Blakwarefurlong between the land of the said William and the land of the said Letitia, and extending in length from Saltebrok as far as Le Hunteresty, and the meadow lies between the Oldebrok and the way called le Milneoutlone in length.

Witnesses: Master Henry le Ken, William le Chaundoys, Thomas son of Lord Roger Faber, William son of William, clerk, and others

Thursday next before the ft. of pur. B V M 33 Ed I.

Quitclaim by Anericus Bete son of William Bete to Henry Vernon kt of all those lands and tenements etc which he formerly held by gift and feoffment of William Bete his father in the vill of Morton and Draycowte

14 July 7 Henry VII

Lease by William de Pipe of Draycote to Robert de Brougthon (sic) of a part of a house and half a garden and croft adjoining in Draycote which once was of William Jarponyle and an acre of arable land lying between the land of Ralph Molot and the land of John Thorpe: for life of said Robert: an. rent of 3s 8d.

Witnesses: William de Munworthe, Robert Marchal, William Hert and others

Sat. before ft. of George the Martyr 20 Ed III

Gift by John son of Robert le Warde of Draycote to William le Marchal of Draycote and Alice his wife of a house in Draycote and half of a curtiliage next to thehighway and 2 ½ selions of land next to the  land of Thomas le Hurne and extends from over the Broc and ?half a rood of meadow in Densey next to the Heye and extending from Draycote as far as Hottlone.

Witnesses: William de Pype, Lord of Draycote, Egidius le Corsoun de Coton John son of Hamond of the same place, William Molet? (crease) of Draycote, John del Chamb[e]r de Coton and others.

Friday the Eve of the Conception of B V M 20 Ed III

Grant (vendidi; concessi, confirmavin - no dedi) by Richard son of Ralph de Lega to William de Dukyleye* of all his land of Dukyleye* with all appurtenances – for a sum of money – annual rent of 2d. 

*may be saxon rune “th”.

Witnesses: Hugh de Wlouckelowe then constable of Ellesm (abbrev?)* Roger son of Gronon, ypenewet de Stokes, Ever de Stokes, William de Hotton [sic], William de ?Ham[il]ton, Madock de Cruchothe, Adam clerk of Ruge, Richard, Forester William de Chelenoche and many others n.d. (late H.III?).

*could be Ellesmere

Gift by John Tirry (?) of Snelston to Robert Baddeley of Draycote and Alice his wife of a messuage with ten acres of land and meadow in Draycote under Needwood, which he held by gift of Isabel formerly daughter and heir of Thomas Scheperd.

Witnesses: Thomas Coton then seneschal of Draycote, Robert Hulle of Honnhull, William Burton of Falde John Bailly of Draycote, Thomas Waryn of Honnhull and many others

ft. of St Katherine the virgin 22 Henry VI

Letters of attorney – Elionora de Draycote to Thomas de Coton to delivery seisin to Richard Walker of all her lands and tenements in the vill of Draycote

6 January 2 Henry IV

end of file

Miscellaneous file

Covenant by Richard de Tyckenes rector of the church of Wodechirthe to return to Ranulph de Meyeres of a certain written obligation for a pension of 5 marks per annum which said Ranulph granted to him at Hertunleye Wednesday next after ft of St George 1291.

Royal writ to John Turton, Ralph Hyde, Humphry Jolye and Edward Vernon to appear at Court at Westminster 10 March 44 Elizabeth

Numbers not used

Declaration by Roger de Beketere of Lich[field] to John Benet of Fetherston who is bound to him in £10, that if he or his heirs assigns after his death remain in possession of lands and tenements acquired from the said John and Joan his wife then the said bond for £10 shall be null and void

Monday next after the feast of St Matthew 

48 Ed III

Number not used

End of Miscellaneous file


	


	D410M/Box14/495

D410M/Box14/496


	Gift by John de Grandon to Robert de Lahyde his heirs and assigns of half an acre of land by the king’s measure in the territory of Mulowyt for homage and service, lying in Gerynggeshale and extending in length from the court (curia) of the said Robert as far as the house which Luke de Lawode formerly held next to the road which leads to Hilduleston, with all common rights including moors, marlpits (marleriis) and turbary: annual rent of 2s.

Witnesses: Robert de Hugeford de Hilduleston, William de Pulton, of the same place, Jurdano le Warner, Walter son of Symon de Mulewyt, John son of the parson (?) person of the same place, Richard son of Swani (Swain) de Blithfeld, William de Weston and others.

n.d. late 13c

Milwich, Staffs

Gift by William son of Gilbert de Puteo to Lord Ralph de Dutine (?) and his heirs of all his land in Melewiz which was of Gilbert his father in exchange for his land next to his mill of Dulune, namely that which Alexander son of Edwyn held with half an acre in addition.  

Witnesses: Richard de Draicote, William Wyn, Richard son of Henry de Dulfne (presumably Dilhome again), William son of Huei (Heruei) de Lega, Hugh son of Gilbert de Fotelboc, Simon his son, John de Warilowe, Robert son of John and others

n.d. late Henry III ? (see also 501)

N.B DUW[ER]NE FOR DILHORNE THE MOST LIKELY EXPLANATION BUT LOOKS LIKE DUHINE


	


	D410M/Box14/497

D410M/Box14/498

D410M/Box14/499

D410M/Box14/500

D410M/Box14/501

D410M/Box14/502

D410M/Box14/503

D410M/Box14/504

D410/Box14/505

D410/Box14/506

D410/Box14/507

D410M/Box14/508

D410M/Box14/509

D410M/Box14/510

D410M/Box14/511

D410M/Box14/512

D410M/Box14/513

D410M/Box14/514

D410M/Box14/515


	Gift by Thomas Lord of Milewyz to Robert de Lahyde for homage and service and his faithful counsel and twenty shillings of an acre of arable land towards Geringerhale which is called the Fanaker with a view to living there and building (ad habitandum et ad edificandium) and an acre of waste by the kings measure which is measured out next to his land which Simon de Pyckestoce holds on Blachul and the furze (heath) towards Bicheware to be held by Robert his heirs and assigns except monks, at annual rents of a penny at All Saints as an offering, at Christmas a pound of cumin and at Easter a penny as an offering.

Witnesses: Walter son of Walter Orm, Philip his brother, Walter de Montem, William Justice of Cotes, Richard Warner of the same place, Elya clerk de Viridi and others

n.d. Ed I (with 495).

Gift by Robert de la Hyde to William Lord of Kaverswelle (Caverswall) of an acre towards Geringeshale in the fee of Melewys which is called the Fenaker lying in width (lat.) between the land of Henry de Hecstall on the one part and the kings highway on the other with houses, curtilages and buildings as is enclosed and ditched, and one other acre of land by kings measure in the same fee which John de Grendon granted to him by charter (incartavit) (see 495) which lies in Geringgeshale and extends in length from the said acre of land to the land of Philip son of Richard super Viridem (sic) next to the way which leads towards Hildeston: rent of a rose.

Witnesses: Roger de Kav[er]eswelle, William Godefrey de Hylyntton, William son of Robert Kav[er]eswelle, John de Cast[er]ne, Walter son of Horin de Melewys, Philip his brother of the same place, William son of Ralph of the same place, Robert de Gerynggeshal, William de Fulford, clerk, and others n.d. Ed I (with 495).

Quitclaim by Petronilla late wife of Robert de Melewyz in widowhood to Lord W(illiam) de Cav[er]eswell his heirs and assigns of a virgate of land with appurtenances in the fee of Melewyz of which one moiety Ralph del Hay holds from me in Farthul and in Oldetone and the other moiety William de Crumbel holds which certain virgate the said Lord W[illiam] holds of Thomas her son.

Witnesses: John de Grendon, Henry de Hekestal, Walter son of Walter Orm of Melewyz and Philip his brother, John son of Mag. Richard de Penc (Penkridge?) and many others.

(follows on after 495, 498, 497)

n.d. prob. early 14c.

Gift by Henry son of Roger de Kav[er]eswelle to William Lord of Kav[er]eswelle of all his land in Melewyche, namely a fourth part of the land of Hulware with app. in the territory of Melewys: rent of a red rose

Witnesses: Roger de Kav[er)eswelle, John Coyne Lord of Weston, William son of Robert de Kav[er]eswelle, William de Pyestock, William Godefrey, Walter son of Erniy de Melewys, John son of parson/person of the same place (ought to be person)

n.d. Ed I

Gift by William son of Gilbert de Puteo (see 496) to Lord Ralph de Dulv[er]ne and his heirs of all his land of Mulewiz as 496.

Dul[ver]ne – very clear – altogether a much clearer version

Quitclaim by Ralph de la Luccheke to Lord Ralph de Dulvern of a third part of two acres of land in Mulewiz which Robert Desp[e]nsari[us] once held which is called Bikaccres

Witnesses: Robert Lord of Mulewiz, Richard de Hetistal, Richard de Morton, Walt[er] de Aula, de Fotesbroc, Richard de Esington, William de Bevill, Walter deacon and others

n.d. early 14.C?

Number not used

Number not used

end of Milwich/Middlewich file

New file

Lease by Richard de Praers and Johanna his wife to Avic[ie] one of the daughters and heirs of Thomas de Crue of all their part of Chelm[u]ndeston next to (iuxta) Stoke with all rents, issues, profits and all appurtenances except for a moiety of all the wood of Chelm[un]ndeston and a moiety of the * “approvements” of the ground on which the wood grows, which the said Avicie granted to them for her part of Gue and Leighton for 6 years from the feast of St Peter in Cathedra 1305

Witnesses: Robert de Gresty then Earl of Chester William de Praers, Richard de Fuhgelashurst, Patrick de Crue, William de Crue and others’

* approvements – approwyamentis – sort of profits from improvements

Gift by John de Orreby to Adam son of Bricii (Brice) of Stalinto(n) for homage, service and a certain sum of money, of two parcels of his land in the vill. of Churchecopenhall with app. which lie opposite the house of the said Brice between the house of Gilbert de le Shaw and the Wode Wart near the street (stratum) and the other lies near an assart which said Adam held, with liberty to enclose with a hedge and ditch: annual rent of 9d.

Witnesses: Robert de Burton, Richard de Fougl, Adam le Parker, William de Pulle “Ad(am) Mall ?Poud de Capo” William de Wodehouses, Robert clerk et al n.d.

late 13c.

Gift by Richard de Kav[er]eswelle son of Gilbert de Kav[er]eswelle to Robert Bryd of all his tenement in Cotun next to (iuxta) Melewych (Milwich) which he held by demise of Robert Waleyf: 2s annual rent for life. Witnesses: William son of Robert de Kav[er]eswelle, Robert de la More, John de Pulton, Walter son of Erni De Melewych, W de Fulford clerk and others.

n.d. ?early 14c

Number not used

Number not used

Gift by Roger son of Roger de Donnes to Robert de Pype, Matilda his wife and their heirs of the services(?) of Robert son of Matilda de Coten and Isabel daughter of Peter le Blake of Hanbur[y] who was formerly wife of Roger Agiluy of the same place and their heirs for all the tenements he holds of him in the vill of Coten

Witnesses: Lord Simon de Jarpunvile, Stepehen de Curcon, John Vichened, Richard ________, Robert son of Juliane and others

n.d. late 13 C? [see 4/361 R.de Dounes 1293)

(Coton in the Clay not by Milwich)

Lease by Robert de Pype of Draycote to John son of Richard le Bronne of Coton of a messuage with buildings and all other appurtenances in the vill of Coton between the land of Roger Morcok and the land of Henry de Lathom – to be held for the life of the said John, at an annual rent of 18d. Witnesses: Stephen Morel of Falde, Harnon le Bronne of Coton, Richard le Bronne of the same place, John de la Chaumbre and William le Fishere and others. Thursday next after the feast of St Chad II Edward III.

Number not used

Gift by John Corley to William Vernon kt. and Margaret his wife of a messuage with appurtenances in Draycote, in exchange for a cottage with app. in Coton

20 April 37 Henry VI

Number not used

as 512

end of file
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	Numbers not used
Number not used

Number not used

Number not used

Number not used

Number not used

Quitclaim by John Enchell of Horsley, Worcs to John de Swynn[er]ton, Lord of Hulton [Hilton] of a messuage with lands and tenements and all app which descended to him after the deaths of John Benet and his [Enchell’s] wife Botonye at Fetherston in the fee of Wolverhampton [Staffs]

Witnesses: John de Holt, Henry Wyllez, Richard Colyns and others.

Sunday next after feast Assumption BVM 12

Richard II

Court of William de Everdone

Surrender by Lord Clamens de Hampton of all his land in the fee of Fethurston to the use of Robert son of John Edwyne and Johanna his wife: if they die without heirs of their body then reverts to the heirs of said Robert

Thursday next before Epiphany 17 Edward II

Gift by Robert de Hungerford chaplain to Nicholas son of Ralph de Marchinton and Sibil his wife and B[o]h[a]me their son and the heirs of the body of Bohame of his manor of Gayton [Staffs], with all demesnes, lands, rents, woods, meadows, mills, socages, vineyards, pastures, services belonging to the said manor, also a messuage and bovate of land with appurtenances which John Walkyn holds from him for life in Gayton and a parcel of pasture which Adam ate Pirie chaplain holds for life in the same place and two parcels of land which Henry le Hoe holds for life in the same place and two parcels of land and a parcel of meadow which Isolda le Hore holds for life in the same place and a messuage and a bovate of land with app which Henry Cok holds for life, and after the death of said John, Adam, Henry, Isolda and Henry then to remain to the said Nicholas, Sibil and Bohame and the heirs of said Bohame, Witnesses: John Bagoot, John de Aston, Malcolm le Wastoneys kts. Edmund de Draycote, John de Okovere and others. Day after Invention of the Holy Cross

20 Ed III

Court of William Throlby Prebendary of the Prebend of Fetherston at Wolverhampton, John Botelar of Fetherston and Elizabeth his wife surrendered a parcel of garden in Fetherston between the orchard (?) of Egidius [Giles] de Swynn[er]ton on one part and the garden of said Egidius on the other, and extending from the land of Roger Bovebrok as far as the highway to the use of Margaret who was wife of said Egidius for life and after her decease to remain to heirs and assigns of said Egidius: fine of 5d

feast St Mark the Ev 17 Henry VI

Grant by William de Chattuln [Cheddleton] to Thomas de Kerserval [Caverswall] and his heirs Robert de Parco of Off (?Offley Hay) and his heirs, Geoffrey de Newcastle and his heirs, Hugh de Stanl[ey] and his heirs, William de Cherleton and his heirs, of suit of the court of the Ld Bishop at Eccleshall

Witnesses: William de Chetelton, William de Yppestanes [Ipstones], Robert de Enkerdon, Robert de Badenhal [Bednall], Robert de Mundon, Thomas de Derneslowe and others. [n.d. early 14c]

Surrender Great Court of John de Stoke, Prebendary of the prebend of Fetherston at Wolverhampton.

Surrender by John Enchell of Horsley, Worcs and Betone his wife to John Derkyns of Fetherston of a messuage with all lands and appurtenances which John Benett held of the lord at Fetherston for life in the right of his wife Johanna, which after death of said John Benett remains to the use of John Enchell and Betona his wife [see 523] – to the use of Hugh Cook of Hulton and Margarie his wife and their first male child, if no children male or female, then to remain to John de Swynerton his heir and assigns.

Wednesday the feast of St Katherine 12 Richard II

View of frankpledge and Great Court of John Thynne 

Prebendary of the prebend of Featherstone held at Wolverhampton Surrender by Roger Alyn of Peneryche [Penkridge] and his wife of all the lands and tenements etc they hold in Fetherston, or anywhere within the lordship by right of said Johanna, to the use of Humfry Swynnerton esq; his heirs and assigns for the life of said Johanna. Annual rent of 26s 8d to be paid to Roger and Johanna

Monday 28th May 35 Henry VIII

Bond by John Boteler of Fetherstone yeoman to Egidius [Giles] Swyn[ner]ton of Hilton and Margaret his wife in 16s 8d

Monday in 7 days of Easter 17 Henry VI

Lease by Margaret formerly wife of Egidius [Giles] Swynnerton decd to Nicholas Holt of Hilton of a messuage with all lands, meadows, pastures belonging in Fetherston for the life of said Margaret for rent of 28s.

Michaelmas 22 Henry VI

Demise by Lord Ralph of Dulv(er)na [Dilhorne] to Thomas son of Robert de Chettel [Cheadle], chaplain, of half a virgate of land with appurtenances in Fotesbrok [Forsbrook], viz a moiety of all the virgate land which Huric de Stalinton [Stallington] once held annual rent of 4s 6d. Witnesses: Lord Richard de D[ra]ycot, Simon de Fotesbroc [Forsbrook], William son of Ralph, William de Warilowe, Hugh son of John, Walter the deacon and others.

?Ascension Day

Grant by John son of Andr(ew ) in le Mor of Hulton to Margaret daughter of Nicholas Holte of Hulton of an annual rent of 40s arising from all his lands and tenements in Esnygton [Essington], Mollesleye [Mosley] and Fetherston [Featherstone] which he formerly held by gift and feoffment of the said Margaret

Monday next after feast of St Matthew the apostle 43 Edward III

End of file

Gift of Ralph de Dulv[on] [Dilhorne] to William, chaplain, son of Rob[ert] White de Dulv[ern] and whoever he wishes to assign (it to) except (those) of a religious house, of two bovates of land with appurtenances in Dulv[ern] [Dilhorne] which Alde (?) lord of Stant[on] held in the vill of Dulv[ern]: annual rent of 12d. Witnesses: William de Stafford, Silvest[er], deacon of Alvet[on], [Alton], High de Dakiseye [Doxey], Robert the parson of Caverswall, William de Stant[on], Hugh de Fotisbroc [Forsbrook] Simon son of Hugh son of Osbert de Fotisbroc [Forsbrook], Robert son of John de Fotisbroc [Forsbrook]. Roger Moyson and many others.

nd. Hy III [mid 13c]

Lease by Lord Ralph de Dulv[er] [Dilhorne] to John Smith of nine acres of land except for a rood lying between the field of Dulv[er] [Dilhorne] and the field of Adam Galepi [Galpin] with all app for 24 years at an annual rent of 3s. Witnesses: Symon de Fotesbroc [Forsbrook]. Walker de Witemor [Whitmore], William son of Ralph, William son of John, Richard his brother, Thomas de Stanton and others.

n.d. Hy III prob mid 13c

Gift by William, Lord of Kav(er)eswelle [Caverswall] to John son of William de Fertesbroc [Forsbrook] of 9 acres of land with app in the fee of Dulv[er]ne [Dilhorne] by king’s measure of which 4a of land and meadow lie near the water of Blythe which Thomas Moreschall of Tene [Tean] held and two acres of land lying on the Leefurlong and two acres of land on the Brucke at the head of Lee and an acre of land lying on the Cleyland which William, son of Ralph, once held; annual rent of 9s. Witnesses: Lord Ralph Basset of Chedelee [Cheadle] William son of Robert de Kav[er]eswelle, [Caverswall] Hugh de Fotesbroc [Forsbrook], Symon son of William of same place, Richard de Warylowe, Hugh de Dokesey [Doxey] of the same place, Richard son of William of the same place.

nd. Ed II [early 14c]
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	Lease by Lord Ralph de Dulv[er]n [Dillhorne] to Philip Part[er]ch of three acres of land with all appurtenances in Lutlele lying between the land of Adam Galopin and the land of Robert son of Susanne to said Philip his heir and assigns, except monks, for 24 years annual rent of 12d. Witnesses: Symon de Fotesbroc, [Forsbrook] Walter de Witemor, William son of Ralph, William son of John, Gerald de Bradoc, Gilbert de Addele [Adderley], Richard Shauekeland and others

Gift by Philip de Deulv[er]ne [Dilhorne] to William Lord of Kav[er]eswelle [Caverswall] of five selions of land in the fee of Dulv[er]ne [Dilhorne] lying together between the pond of the said Lord William on one part of the land which once was of John Pykard on the other. Annual rent of a red rose

Witnesses: Lord Ralph Basset of Chedelee [Cheadle] kt, Roger de Kav[er]eswell, William son of Robert of the same place, Henry of the same place, Alexander de Dulv[er]ne [Dilhorne], Symon son of William de Fotesbroc, [Forsbrook] William de Fulford, clerk and others

nd [early 14c]

Lease by William, Lord of Kav[er]eswall to Henry de Chest?[le]hurst of a parcel of land with appurtenances lying between la Lee and the vill of Dulv[er]ne [Dilhorne] of the land which was of Symon de Fotesbroc [Forsbrook] of which a part extends to la Lee and the remainder to Dulv[er]ne namely two parts of that parcel of land which were of the said Symon: annual rent of 2s.

Witnesses: William? Coyne de Hulm, William de Warilowe, Richard de Warilowe, Symon son of William, Hugh de Dokeseye, William son of Mabilie and others.

nd

Gift by William Lord of Kav[er]eswal to Thomas de la Marshale for homage and service of three acres of land with appurtenances in the field of Dulv[er]ne [Dilhorne] lying between the land of Adam Galpin and the land of Robert son of Susan de Dul[er]ne [Dilhorne] and extends from the highway in length as far as Wallescch: annual rent of 12d.

Witnesses: John de Wathamestud, Rector of Church of Kingesle[ey], Philip de Draycote, William Coyne, Richard de Brodok, Stephen de Holies, Adam de Schahe [Shaw] and others 

nd

Lease (tradidi) by William, chaplain of Dulv[er]ne to William son of Brid of a house with curtilage which Warin, chaplain, held in Dulv[er]ne with half an acre of land of which one head extends to the curtilage and the “p[er]tica” (perch) of which contains 22 feet: for four years annual rent of 6d.

Witnesses: William son of Ralph, William de Warilawe Walter de Witemor, Richard de Warilawe, Thomas de Stanton and others

n.d. ? mid/late 13c. H.III

Quitclaim by William, chaplain of Dulv[er]ne to William his son and ”aluminus” (ward or foster-child) of two bovates of land with appurtenances in Dulv[er]ne namely those which Aldred de Stanton once held in the same vill. of Dulv[er]ne: to be held by said William his heirs and assigns except religious houses of Lord Ralph de Dulv[er]ne: annual rent of 12d.

Witnesses: Lord Robert (parsona?) de Kav[er]iswalle, Robert de Checkeley, Hugh de Fotesbroc, John de Warilawe, William his son, Richard his brother, Walterde Sev[er]ley, Nicholas, chaplain, and others:

n.d. mid 13c H.III

Lease by Lord Ralph de Dulvern to William son of William Hardhendo of Dulvern – at the ascension of the Lord “by cycle of the moon XIII” and “anogre” (short years?) 1247 for 24 years, of three half acres of land in Dulvern of which the perch is 24ft between the “parroc” (parrocus – Park, paddock or enclosure) under the (le) Cressiford and the “paroc” at Rueleford: annual rent of 6d

Witnesses: Hugh de Aula, Lord of Fotesbroc, William son Ralph, Richard de Withurst, William chaplain and others

(Looks a lot later than the 1247 suggests – some catch in “claw bre”)
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	Gift by Philip Brun of Dulv[er]na and Agnes his wife to Lord Ralph of Dulv9er)na and his heirs of an attachment (atachiametum) of their pond at their land in Brul (abbr.) and so much of their land which the water has flooded – in exchange for half an acre of land in the field of Luthele which Huric brother of William chaplain, once held.

Witnesses: Lord Robert Bagod of Hida, Lord Robert de Halhton, William Winn, Adam his brother, Roger Tailur of Burt[on], John Veyat, Hugh de Fotesbroc, Thomas Coine of Stant[on], Hugh son of Hugh de Fotesbroc, William son of Ralph de Fotesbroc and others.

Not dated – prob. H.III

Lease by Lord Ralph Lord of Dulv[er]ne to Adam son of Alexander de ? Roches, ? (R diff. from R in Ralph) Bothes of 21 acres of land to which there is an addition (increments) of another piece of land (p[ar]ticule terra) next to other land for which there is a rent of one penny at farm, namely those which lie between the land of Adam de Withenist and Fulsiche of which one head extends to the house of the said Adam and the remainder towards le Merebroc, and each perch contains 24 feet: for 20 years at an annual rent of 5s 4d.

Witnesses: Hugh de Fotesbroc and Symon his son, William son of Ralph, Andrew de Sponn, William, clerk, and many others

n.d.? late 13c. HIII

Quitclaim by John le Bonde to Ralph de Dulv[er]ne and his heirs of two selions of land in Smithefurlong with app. of which one head extends both the west and south and the other head towards the east “in seven parts” (quo septemtionales partes). Witnesses: William Winn (abbr), Peter Gifford, Richard de Hurtel, Adam son of Godfrey, Richard de Hecsthale, William de Legis. n.d. mid/late 13c.

Quitclaim by Felicia daughter of Jord[an] de Fotisb[ro]c, widow, to Lord Ralph de Dulv[er]n and his heirs of so much of her land between le Glodelyche and le Grubrul? as his pond water can flood: consid.10 shillings. Witnesses: Lord Richard de Draycot, Philip his son, Robert pa (parson?) of Kav[er]iswell, Robert and William his wards, Hugh son of Hugh de Fotisb[ro]c, William son of Ralph of the same place, Walter de Wyttemor and many others. n.d. ? late 13c H.III

Gift by William son of William Hardhevnet of Dulv[er]na to Lord Ralph de Dulv[er]na and his heirs of so much of his land in Dulv[er]n as his fish-pond (aqua vivarium) in Brul can flood ------ in exchange for an acre of land with appurtenances in Fotesbroc which he granted to him (William) in le teleg between the land of William de Warilowe and the land of Hugh de Aula and extends as far as Smalebroc.

Witnesses: Simon son of Hugh, Hugh de Aula, Thomas de Stant[on], Thomas Coyne, William son of Ralph, Richard de Withurst, Henry de Thest[le]hurst, Robert de Grenewey, William de Warilowe, Walter de Aula and others.

n.d. same hand as “1247” lease – but looks much later H. III mid 13c.

Lease by Lord Ralph de Delverne to William son of Richard at the feast St Michael in the year of grace 1250 as far as the end of 22 years of all the land with appurtences which Adam de Rugenhale formerly held, which land is hedged and ditched: with all easemonts, commons housebote and haybote – ann. rent of 3s 6d.

Witnesses: Symon de Fotisbroc, William son of Ralph, William de Warilowe, Richard his brother, William de Stalinton and others.

*It would seem that all the Dulverne deeds are in fact Henry III – despite appearances.
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	Sudbury file:

Final concord Trinity Term 16 Charles I (day after Trinity) between Edward Littleton, bart., Henry Townshend, esq., and George Harpur gent, plfs; and Edward Vernon kt and Margaret his wife deforciants of the manors of Sudbury and Aston, 40 messuages 20 cottages, a watermill, a windmill, a dovecote, 40 gardens, 30 orchards, 700 acres of land, 200a of meadow, 400 acres of pasture, 300 acres of wood, 300a of furze and heath: £600 consideration.

17c extract from the Tutbury Coucher, part of the records of the Duchy of Lancaster: Nicholas Mountgomery knight holds the manor of Sudbury along with the advowsons of Cubley, Marston Montgomery etc.

Quitclaim by Simon son of William Clerk of Sudbury to Alan Chamberleyn of Marton of all that tenement with appurtenances which belonged to his father William and also all arable lands, meadows, crofts, pastures etc belonging which he inherited on the death of his father. Witnesses: Richard Colyer, of Notingham, William Folnyle of the same place, William Cote of the same place, Nicholas Skynner of Ilkeston, Adam Peyntour and others.

Feast of St Benedict (12 January) 41 Edward III

Gift by Thomas Mountgom[er]y son of Nicholas Mountgom[er]y kt. sen. lord of Cubley to John Tadyngton, chaplain, and Thomas Butler of Sudbury of all his lands and tenements, meadows, pastures with app. called Mylton Thyng in the fee of Sudbury, which he held by gift and feoffment of Nicholas Mountgom[er]y kt his father and Robert Wase of Macley. Witnesses: Thomas Herdy of Sudbury, Robert Steyll of the same place, Richard Cartwright and others. Monday bef. All Saints 2 Henry VI
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	Lease by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt. and Dame Margaret his wife to Thomas Bothome and May his wife of a cottage, farm or tenement with all land etc belonging in Sudbury for the lives of Thomas, the elder and younger, and Mary: rent of 10s 8d. Dated 3 July

Assignment by John Layton, citizen and merchant taylor of London, to Thomas Vernon of Sudbury gent, in consideration of £42, of a close called New Copy or Harrison’s copy in Sudbury Wood. Dated 1 June

Lease by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt and Dame Margaret his wife to William Allen and William Coates of Sudbury, gents. of a messuage or tenement with houses, edifices, buildings etc., a croft lying at the Backside, close commonly called the Newe Close lying near the Crosfield, 3a of arable land in the Crosfield, one acre of arable land in the Wyndmiln Field, two leas lying in the Wyndmiln Field, one piece of ground used for meadow in the Wyndmiln Field, and four closes called Stubriddinge, Highfield, Beancroft and Calvercrofte in Mackley, all in the occupation of Thomas Vernon: to hold for the life of Thomas Vernon at an annual rent of 12d. Dated 11 September.

Assignment of lease by Thomas Alsoppe of Langford, gentleman, to James Robinson of Westboughton, yeoman, of two messuages and tenements in Hillsom[er]shall, late in the tenure of Thomas Whitteringe and John Wright al. Boswell, together with two beast gates in a close or pasture called the More in Hillsom[er]shall which late belonged to Shawe’s tenement (leased by Robert Jackson of Enfield M’sex to Edward Banckes of Mackley 30 October 43 Elizabeth – interest now vested in Alsope). Dated 15 October
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	Quitclaim by Agnes once wife of William son of William chaplain, of Dulv[er]ne to William de Kav[er]eswell his heirs and assigns of all the land which came to her by right of dower of the land of her husband William in the vill of Dulv[er]ne.

Witnesses: Robert de Kav[er]eswell, Simon de Rocestne, Walter de Aula of the same place, William son of Ralph of the same place William de Wariloue Richard his brother, Hugh de Dokeshaye, Richard del Witehurst, Thomas de Stantonn, Robert del G[re]nweye and others

n.d. ? late H.III

Lease by William Lord of Kav[er]eswall to Richard son of John de Haselwall of 14a. of land with app. in the fields of Dulv[er]ne next to le Blakehall in these bounds from the sitch (or syke) called le Gorstilegesiche as far as the way called Rugweie within two ditches, and from Rutindewallesiche as far as the ditch which is divided between Lord Ralph de Cheadle and Lord Ralph de Dulv[er]ne: for 30 years beginning at the feast of St Nicholas “in the year which the cycle of the moon runs through the eleventh year” – a rent of 4s 8d.

Witnesses: Lord Robert  pa (parson?) de Kav[er[eswall, Lord Ralph de Dulv[er]n, Thomas Coygne, Sym[on]de Fotesbroc Thomas de Stanton, William son of John de Fotesbroc and others.

n.d. presumably H.III as Ralph de Dulverne mentioned.

Manor Court of Thomas de Marchynton held at Dulverne Tuesday next before the feast of St Dionysious 5 Henry IV.

Admittance of William Wryde to a pasture called Foxfeld with app. for 22 years at 7s per year.
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	Gift by Richard Lord of Cav[er]eswell to William de la Blakelegh his clerk of a parcel (placiam) of land with app. in the fee of Dulvern lying in Calchesdon near the Redeway just as is surrounded by a ditch, to the land of Lord Richard p[er]petui (perpetual?) vicar (curate) of the church of Dulvern, namely that which Lord Ralph Basset of Cheadle held there and with the same bounds: annual rent of 2s.

Witnesses: Lord Ralph Basset, of Chedle, John Coyne, Lord of Weston, William son of Robert Cav[er]eswell, William son of Presbit: (?) de Dulv[er]ne, Richard de Delves and many others n.d. looks like Ed I but?

Lease by Lord William de Kav[er]eswell to William son of Symon de Dulv[er]ne of half a virgate of land with app. in the vill. of Dulv[er]ne namely that which Alexander holds at the will of the lord: for 24 years beginning at the Ascension. 15 Edward I: ann.rent of 2s.

Witnesses; William son of Robert de Kav[er]eswelle, Symon son of William de Fostesbroc Richard del Delf, Adam Galpyn, William de la Blakelegh and many others.

Gift by William son of William chaplain, to William Lord of Kav[er]eswall his heirs and assignes for homage and service of two bovates of land with app. in the vill of Dulv[er]ne and with two crofts as is ditched and enclosed and with all buildings: rent of a pound of cumin and 6d. Witnesses: Lord Richard de Drayc[ot], William de Chetilton, Thomas de Gressewall, Symon de Fotesbroc, Walker de Witemor, William de Wariloe, Richard his brother, William son of Ralph, Hugh de Doceshey and others.

n.d. pres. Ed I (William Ld of K).
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	Quitclaim by William Hadewod of Dulv[er]ne junior to Lord William de Kav[er]eswall his heirs and assigns of all the land he holds in Dulv[er]ne, with wards, reliefs, escheats and all other liberties which belong to him or his heirs.

Witnesses: Simon de Fotesb[ro]c, William Coyne de Hulm, Robert de Kav[er]eswell, William son of Ralph de Fotesb[ro]c, Hugh de Dokesheye, Walter de Witemor, William de Warilowe, Thomas de Stanton and others.

n.d. pres.Ed I (William de K).

Lease by Peter de Careswall kt. to Simon Gromile (?could be Bromile but looks like a “G) of a messuage and half a bovate of land which John Pare once held in Dulv[er]ne – for 20 years at an annual rent of 5s.

Witnesses: John Coyne, John de?Duytleye, John de Pesale (Pelsall?), William his father, Richard son of William and others.

Monday nearest the feast of St Michael the Arch. 34 Edward III

Thursday next after ft. of John ante portam latinam I Edward II.

Lease by Richard Lord of Cav[er]eswell to Henry Mest[er]mon of Dulverne for 12 years, and 30s (consideration), of all the wood growing within the limits of the lands and tenement of the said Henry at Dulv[er]ne Wodehouses.

Witnesses: William son of Robert de Cav[er]eswell, William son of  Simon in (sic) Dulv[er]n, Robert Mellesone, William “dicto” (?called) le Prufessone, William de la Blakelegh and many others

Lease by William de Caverswell to Roger “perpetual vicar” (curate?) of the church of Dulverne of two acres of land with appurtences in le Lee which William de Blakelegh once held: for 24 years at an annual rent of 14d.

Witnesses: Henry de Delf, John le Prustessone of Dulvern, John de Peshale and others

Sat. feast of St Barnabas the ap.19 Ed III
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	Grant (no dedi, “concessi et confirmavi”) by Robert son of Huric de Poddemor to William son of William chaplain of Dulv[er]ne of all the land which Huric de Poddemor his father gave to William chaplain his father, with all app. as is contained in a charter between Huric de Poddemore and William, chaplain, of Dulverne.

Witnesses: Lord Richard de Draicot, Lord Hugh de Acov[er]e (d.1269), Lord William de Chiltone, Lord William de Ippestones, Lord William Caverswelle, Simon clerk of Fotesbroc, William de Worilawe, William son of Ralph, Richard son of Adam de Dulv[er]ne and many others. n.d. pres. H III.

Quitclaim by Richard de Stanton in [sic] Dulv[er]ne to Richard de Kav[er]eswelle his lord (N.B 1 Ed II when last mentioned) of a certain acre of land in the fee of Dulv[er]ne, half an acre of which lies under Blakenhul and extends in length from (“Brucheto”) the thicket (brushwood) of Henry Mest[er]mon as far as the heath of Blackenhul and in length from the land of Simon son of Thomas and the land of Henry de Pessale, and a halfacre in the field of Lutleye on Henrikeshul with meadow belonging (“ad capita Seyhonn”) at the heads of Seyhonn which extends in length from the meadow of Roger de Kav[er]eswell as far as the heath of Dulv[er]ne and in width between the land of Roger de Kav[er]eswell and the land of Henry de Pessale.

Witnesses: William son of Robert de Kav[er]eswell, Simon son of William, William son of Simon in [sic] Dulv[er]ne, William son of Presbiti of the same place, William de la Blackeleye and others. n.d. Ed I/II pres.

Quitclaim by Hugh Messarius of Dulverne to lord Richard de Kav[er]eswell his lord his heirs and assigns of five parcels (placiis) of land in the territory of Dulverne lying on the Overe Godelee and on the Nether Godelee with a certain parcel of land next to (near) the Merebrok which is called Knotte Pyngel which he held there by gift and feoffment of Lord Richard de Kav[er]eswell.

Witnesses: William son of Robert de Kav[er]eswell, William del Blakeleye, William son of Simon in Dulv[er]ne, William son of the chaplain of the same place, Richard de Stantone in the same and many others.

assump. B. Mary 23 Ed I.

Lease Ft. of St Mark the Evangelist 3 Ed III by Lord John de Chetwind Kt and Lady Joan de Cav[er]eswall to William son of Simon de Dulv[er]ne of a parcel of land called the Rederuding in the fee of Dulv[er]ne in those metes (metas) and bounds that Alexander Blat once held – annual rent 3s 4d.

Witnesses: William de le Blakeleye, de Dulv[er]ne, Hugh de Pessale, Henry de le Wal, Henry de le Delf, John de Blakeleye, William de Cokenage chaplain and others.

Gift Thursday the feast of St Oswald 2 Richard II by Peter de Careswall kt. to William son of Agneti and Phypotam his wife of 22 acres of land with appurtenances in Dulv[er]ne in these bounds, between the Merebrok and the assart of Richard Miller, and Alexander Bothes and the sitch (or syke) which descends from Chestnehurstewall as far as the said Merebrok: annual rent of 5s 6d: if William and Phypota die without lawful issue then remainder to Thomas Jonessone and his lawful issue then in default remainder to Richard Smyth of Dulvern, reversion to Peter and his heirs in default. Witnesses: Robert Coyne, John Barlowe Henry Delf and others.

Lease by Peter de Cav[er]eswell, Kt, and Mary his wife to William Smithe of Dulv[er]ne of a messuage with app. in Dulv[er]ne – for 20 years – 6s 8d. ann.rent.

Witnesses: John Deparale, William Pesal, Henry de Delfe, John Mesing[er], Thomas Haywart and others.

Monday next after ft. of All Saints. 10 Richard II

Lease by William Lord of Kav[er]iswall to Symon son of Nicholas de Stant[on] of all the land with buildings and all app. which lies between the district or street village (vicus) which is known in English as ?Utloue and the land which Walter de Wakefield once held in the vill. of Dulv[er]n: for 20 years: annual rent of 3s 9d.

Witnesses: Symon de Fotesbroc, William son of Ralph, William de Warilowe, Thomas de Stant[on], Nicholas de Stant[on] and others.

[n.d. Wm de K. prob late H III from app. or early Ed I]

Lease by Peter de Cav[er]eswall “chmaler” to William de Pessaule of a messuage and all those lands and tenements with app. which Henry Fox once held in Dulv[er]ne Wodesetes – for 12 years – annual rent of 4s.

Sunday next after feast of St Andrew 46 Edward III

Lease by William Lord of Cav[er]eswell to William Messeg[er] of Dulv[er]ne of a messuage and a bovate of land with app. in Dulverne which Roger Albeyn? formerly held in the same vill. and a selion of land in le Lee between the land of Hugh de Aula nd the land of Henry son of Walter: ann. rent of 5s.

Witnesses: Richard de Whithurst, Henry de Wal, William de Whithurst, Henry Fox, Richard Albeyn et al.

Feast of St Michael 1344

Lease by William Lord of Kav[er]eswelle to Philomena daughter of Walter de Aula of Fotesbroc of 5 acres of land by kings measure in Douleye in the fee of Dulv[er]ne lying in length from the land of Roger de Kav[er]eswelle as far as the land of ? the church of Dulv[er]ne and in width between the land of Mylysant de la Creseyforde and the land of Roger de Kav[er]eswelle – for 30 years from Ascension Day 9 Ed I: ann. rent of 5s.

Witnesses: Lord Ralph Basset of Chedelee, kt., Hugh de Fotesbroc, Richard de Warylowe of the same place, Symon son of William of the same place Hugh de Dokesey of the same place, Alexander de Dulv[er]ne, William clerk and others.
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	Caverswall file

Quitclaim by Robert de Kav[er]eswell to William Lord of Kav[er]eswell and his heirs of two “p[ar]ticlas” (parcels surely not “perches”) of meadow of which one lies at Brouneswell and the other lies at Willlanesleyeforde.

Witnesses: Thomas Coyne of Hulm, Simon de Fotesbroc, Robert de?Elysse, S[er]lone de Bosco Gilbert de la ?N[er]ne, Richard de la ?N[er]re, Henry de Adridel and others.

n.d. late H.III or Ed.I (Wide K) (similar witn. to 579)

Lease by William lord of Kav[er]eswall to William son of Thomas [on the other] of a bovate of land with app. in the vill of Kav[er]eswalle namely that which William de Hoke formerly held for a term of 24 years beginning at Ascension Day 38 Henry III (does this refer to this tenancy or the previous one?) – annual rent of 6s 9d. Witnesses: Thomas Coygne, Robert de Kav[er]eswall, Richard de la? M[es]e or N[er]re, Gilbert de la M[er]e, Henry de Adridel, Henry clerk, of Wilardacroft and others.

Grant (no dedi) by Robert de Checkeleg to William Lord of Kav[er]eswal and his heirs, so that he can improve all his lands, plains and wastes, reserving to himself and his heirs free common in “La Le” de Kav[er]eswal just as he and his father before him were accustomed to have, also reserving sufficient pasture for the tenements he (Robert) holds of him (William) in Kav[er]eswal, all his assized (assigns? at a fixed rent) lands in the manor of Kav[er]eswal from the year 32 Henry III, and for this concession the said William has given him (Robert) an acre of land with appurtenances in the heath of Tonstal.

Witnesses: Lord Robert p[ar]son of Kav[er]eswal, John Coyne, Richard de Tene, Thomas Coyne, Symon de Fotesbroc, William son of Ralph of the same place and others. *(looks later than it is)
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	Gift by Thomas Pakemon of Forsebrok to Henry Chalyner of Dulv[er]ne of a statute (royal) acre of land which he holds by gift of the said Henry in the fee of Cav[er]eswall.

Witnesses: Thomas Beck, kt., Stephen Attewood, Henry de Delf, Richard Turnehar, Robert Whitehurst and others.

Pentecost 2 Henry IV

Grant by John Coyne of Westu[n] to William Lord of Kav[er]isw[e]ll and his heirs, so that he may raise his pond under the mill of Kav[er]isw[e]ll, of all that land which the water can flood on the heath which lies between his ditch of Westu[n] and his ditch of Kav[er]iswell: for this concession said William gave to him 2 shillings.

Witnesses: Lord Richard de Drayc[ot], Robert de Becco, Robert de Kav[er]isw[e]ll, Thomas Coyne, Simon de Fotesbroc, Walter de Witemore, William son of Ralph de Fotesbroc and others.

n.d. pres. Henry III (by app. – also W.de K.)

Annunciation BVM 2 Edward II

Lease by Richard Lord of Kav[er]eswalle to William de Felde for 24 years of a messuage which Agnes wife of Simon Aurifaber (Goldsmith) once held of the said Richard, as is enclosed and ditched, along with a path called Honuttloue which way? Is the best to take with carts and wagons into the vill of Kav[er]eswalle?, and which lies between the messuage of Henry son of William? P[ro]potti and the curtilage of a cottage towards the road (way), and said Richard has granted to William 3 acres of land of statute measure of which one lies on Pilatelond next to the land of Thomas? Byfoft and one on Cattechcheyht next to the land of William son of Robert and one on Rowagge in the Hornstonnsslade next to the land of William son of Robert: annual rent of 4s. Witnesses: William de la Blakeley, William son of Richard, John de Glasleye, William le Prestussone of Dulv[er]ne, Hugh de Dokeseye and many others.

Quitclaim by John Coyne, Lord of Weston-under-Ken[er]m[e]nt(?) to Richard, Lord of Cav[er]reswalle his heirs and assigns of all lands, woods, moors and marshes within his close of part of Cav[e]reswalle along with a parcel (placiam)of moor outside the park from the corner of the park pale as far as the water of Blithe without any reservation. 

Witnesses: Brother Nicholas, Prior of St Thomas next to Stafford Lord Robert Hastang[es], John de Honton, William de Stafford, Henry son of Herbert, Henry de Cressewalle, Ralph Basset, Robert de Dutton, Roger de Swynn[er]ton, kt., John de Warrinton, Henry de Verdon, Thomas de Titnysov[er]e, William son of Robert de Caverswalle and others.

St Peter and Paul 1293

Quitclaim by William son of Robert de Kav[er]eswell and his heirs and assigns of the Cokschulemor within the park of Kavereswell of the Prustesmor in the said park, of the Blakemor in the same park, and two acres of land in the same park in le Ast[er]newelle and a parcel of meadow called le Longedole in the great “vivario”? enclosure (for game) in Caldewelle Meadow, of the Oletherepol in the said park and the whole of his park of Kav[er]eswell.

Witnesses: Lord Ralph Basset of Cheadle, John Coyne Lord of Weston, Thomas de Thene, clerk, John de Cast[er]ne, William de Blakeley and many others.

Ed I (John Coyne)

End of file
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	Small cartulary bound in mediaeval music

a) Quitclaim by Hugh de Munton to Thomas son of William Herbert of Somersale his lord and his heirs of two bovates of land with appurtenances in the territory of Somersale.

Witnesses: Lord William de Mo[n]tegom[er]y, William 

De Mesam, Kt., Lord Peter de Wakepul, Robert?(S)Legasale, Walter de Bosco, Richard son of Herbert, clerk.

n.d.

b) Gift by Richard son of Robert de Mungom[er]y to Henry son of Thomas son of Herbert de Somersale and Roger his brother of all lands and meadows with messuages and buildings and all appurtences which he holds by gift and feoffment of Henry son of Thomas de Lutlewod in Chirchesomersall without any reservation except for an acre of meadow in the Wetedoles.

Witnesses: Nicholas son of Herbert Joan de Bentleye Richard de?Schamnton Ralph de Bosco, Henry de Lee, Robert son of Walter de Lee, Richard, clerk, and others.

n.d.

c) Quitclaim by Henry son of Thomas de Littilwode to Richard son of Robert de Mungom[er]y of 19 acres of arable land with 3 acres of meadow and all other app. which he held in the vill and territory of Chirchsomersall.

Witnesses: Robert de Acov[er]e Lord of West Brotton, Robert de Segesall (Sedsall), Joan Wate of Makel[ey], Richard Kingeell, Robert de la Mulneton, Joan de Kingesl[ey], Thomas de Duddell, Henry Yoderich, Henry de la Lee, Warin, clerk and others.

(Rt.de O.d.1269) H.III

d) Gift and quitclaim by Roger Fitz(son) of Herbert de Chirchesom[er]sall to Henry Fitherbert his brother his heirs and assigns of all the lands and tenements he held in the vill of Somersall with app.

Witnesses: William de Bosco, Robert de Lee, Thomas his brother and others.

Monday nearest after the feast of St Michael 5 Ed I

e) Gift by Henry son of Thomas Fitzherbert chaplain to Nicholas son of Stephen de Woodford of all his goods and chattels in all his lands and tenements in Chirchsom[er]sall.

Monday next after the feast of St Valentine 14 Edward II

f) Quitclaim by Thomas son of Henry Cloppe of Somersall to Richard de?Schamhton (could be Conchamnton – begins g) of half an acre of meadow with app. in le Brodemedue.

Witnesses: John Lord of Broutton, Richard de Brugist, Ralph de Bosco, Henry de Lee, Robert de Lee, Henry Goderich, Thomas de Duddel and others.

Tuesday next after the close of Easter 24 Edward I.

g) Gift by William de Kyngiston of Som[er]sall to Agnes daughter of Alice his wife of 4 acres of land in the territory of Som[er]sall, namely an acre of arable towards the Wodehouse between his land and the land of Nicholas Carpenter, and half an acre beyond Dodevinehock (or oke) next to the acre of Walter de Lee and a half acre on le Bregge, two selions and a rood extending on Mosumer, two butts next to the land of William son of Matilda and two selions on le Toft, a halfacre next to the land of William son of Matilda and an acre of meadow in the meadows of Somersall, and an acre next to le Holte.

Witnesses: Robert de Lee, Walter de Lee, Richard de Folkishul, Henry de Bosco, Adam de Lee and others

n.d.

h) Gift by Thomas son of Henry Clopp of Chirch-som[er]sall, to Henry son of Thomas Fitzherbert of Somersal, chaplain, of a messuage and five acres of land and half acre with app. in the vill aforesaid, which descended to him after the death of Henry his father. Witnesses: Nicholas (son of) Fitz Herbert Lord of Somersal, Joan de Bentel, Henry de Lee, Robert son of Walter de Lee, Thomas his brother and others.

ft. St Mark the Evangelist 27 Edward I

i) Gift by Thomas Fitzherbert Lord of Somersale to William son of Richard de le Leyes for homage and service of a garden in the vill of Somersale, and four acres of land in the territory of Somersale lying next to the croft of Ralph, clerk, and extending from the way which leads towards Somershale Woodhouses: annual rent of 3s 3d.

Witnesses: William de Mesam, Walter de Bosco, Roger de Werney, Henry le Roxe de le Leyes, Henry clerk de Kingeston and others.

j) Gift by Elienora Derbina to Matilda her daughter of a messuage and all her lands and meadow in the vill and territory of Nether Somersal which she held by gift and feoffment of Alan Champeneys.

Witnesses: Lord William de Mongom[er]y, Henry de Kynneton kts., Richard de Kingisl[ey], John Wase, John de Bentel, Ralph de Bosco and others.

k) Gift by William son of Richard de Leys to Alan son of William Chaumponeys in [sic] M[er]tinton M[o]ngom[er]ry for homage and service of a house with curtilage in the vill of Nether Somersale which said house and curtilage Ralph le Carret once held and a moiety of two bovates of land and meadow with appurtenances and a moiety of two bovates of land and meadow of which Thomas Fitzherbert made to him in fee in the territory of Nether Som[er]sale and a certain parcel of land which he sold to Henry Cloppe and Agnes his wife, also an acre of arable land of four acres.

Witnesses Lord William de Montegom[er]y, Robert de Seggeshall, Ralph ad Boscu, William de Clomsh[a]m, John Wace, Walter de la Lee, Richard de Presstlio and others.

Sunday next after the ft. of St Jacob  1280

l) Gift by William son of Richard de Lewes to William son of William de Finderne and Ysolde his daughter in free marriage of a bovate of land with appurtenances with houses, gardens and all other appurtenances and three shillings annual rent arising from Alan Chaumpeneys (abb.um?) his heirs and assigns and five shillings annual rent arising from the heirs of Henry le Clop: annual rent of 12s: reversion to said William if William and Ysolde die without lawful issue. Witnesses: Thomas Fitzherbert, Lord Robert then chaplain of Somersall, Nicholas de Fynderne, Walker de Lee, Ralph de Bosco, Ralph clerk of Som[er]sal, John de Kingsle and others.

n.d. Ed I.

m) Gift by Thomas Fitzherbert of Som[er]sal to Alan son of William Chaumponeys of a selion of arable land close to his parcel (placiam) of land which he holds of William de Kingeston and extends from the highway next to his (Thomas’) garden, with license to enclose and build, in exchange for another selion of land which lies opposite the house of John Burdon of Somersal: also grants to said Alan a gift and sale which William son of Richard de Leys made to said Alan of a house and curtilage in the vill. of Nether Som[er]sal and a moiety of two bovates of land and meadow with app. in Nether Som[er]sall, the land and meadow which said William sold to Henry Cloppe and Agnes his wife and also half an acre of meadow which he sold to Matthew de Shaninton and the gift and sale (donum et venditione) of the said William to Alan and his heirs and assigns of an acre of arable land of 4 acres of land. Witnesses: Lord William de Mo[n]tegom[er]y, Robert de Seggeshall, Ralph and Bosum, Walter de Lee, Richard de Pres, clerk, and others.

Sunday next after ft. St Peter and vincula 1280

n) Gift by Thomas son of Henry Cloppe of Somersale to Henry son of Thomas Fitzherbert of a messuage with appurtenances in Somersal Herbert namely that which lies next to the cemetery on the west and the road which leads through the middle of the vill on one part, and the croft of the lord in width on the other.

Witnesses: Nicholas Fitzherbert, William his brother, Robert de Lee, Thomas his brother, Ralph, clerk and others n.d. Ed. I.

o) Gift by Thomas son and heir of Henry Clopp of Chirchsom[er]sal – and quitclaim – to Thomas Fitzherbert chaplain and his heirs of a messuage and five acres of land and a half in Somersall with appurtenaces.

Witnesses: Nicholas Fitzherbert de Som[er]sall, William Fitzherbert of the same place, Henry de Lee, Robert de Lee, Thomas his brother and others.

ft. St Mark the Evangelist 27 Ed. I.

p) Gift by William Fitzherbert of Somersale to Simon Bakun of Mercinton his heirs and assigns of four acres of land in the assart (essartum) of Somersal extending from the assart of Geoffrey de Segishall in length next to the assart of Robert Aryng which the said Simon was accustomed to hold from his (William’s) mother: annual rent of 8d.

Witnesses: Lord William de Mungu[m]ery, William de Meysam, Geoffrey de Segishall, Ralph de Boses de Burton, Robert de Grendon Robert de Mulneton.

n.d. Ed. I.

q) Henry son of Thomas Fitzherbert, chaplain, to Nicholas one of Stephen de Wodeford, of a messuage and two bovates of land and 3 acres of meadow with appurtenances in Chirchsomersall, also a messuage and five acres of land and a half with appurtenances in the same vill, namely those which he held by gift and feoffment of Thomas Clopp, also a messuage with appurtenances in the same vill namely that which he held by gift and feoffment of Richard de Shanyngton.

Witnesses: Joan de Shanynton, William atte Wode William de Lee, Thomas de Lee, Thomas son of Marg[er]ie, Robert de Lee and others

Monday next after the feast of St Valentine the Martyr  14 Edward II.

r) Gift by Henry son of Thomas de Luttelewode to Richard de Mungomery of a toft in the vill and territory of Chirchsom[er]sall, that which lies between the land of the lord of Somersall on one part which is called Wallemorflat and his toft on the other, descending from the highway as far as the stream running from Caldwalle, and a halfacre of land lying on Mosemereshul between the land which Alan de Som[er]sal once held on the one part, and the land which Ralph, clerk, once held on the other part, and a half acre of land lying on Dodefinger between the land of Thomas Clopp on the one part, and the land which William son of Matlida de Som[er]sal once held on the other, and a parcel of land lying next to le Turnouresgrene on one part and the land of the lord of Som[er]sal on the other: rent of a red rose.

Witnesses; Robert de Seggeshal, Richard de Kingesl[ey], William de Clonnh[a]m, Joan Watce de Mackel, Robert de la Mulneton, John de Kingesl[ey], Thomas de Duddel, Henry de la Lee, Richard, clerk, and others n.d. Ed I (Wiln.)

s) Gift by William de Kingeston to William, son of William de Twyford for homage and service of a bovate of land in the vill. of Somersall with all app. in free marriage with Ysolda his daughter , with a barn and curtilage and the buildings built there, and five shillings annual rent from the heirs of Henry Cloppe and three shillings annual rent from Alan Camponeys. Annual rent of 12s.

Witnesses: Ralph de Bosco, Nicholas de Finderne Walter de Lee and others.

n.d. (see L – pres. Ed I or II)

Gift by Simon son of Clement de Wolv[er]neham[p]ton to Lord John de Siyneforton, kt., of a penny annual rent issuing from a messuage which John son of Richard Gerneyse holds in the vill of Wolv[er]nehampton.  Witnesses: Nicholas de Trescote, William de Salfort, Simon Franceys, Clement de Wylehale, Richard Gerneyse and others

Sunday day after Michaelmas 7 Edward II

Lease by Rt. Hon John de Veer Earl of Oxford to Stephen Kent of Warmyneh[a]m, Cheshire, and Agnes his wife of all his tenement and tack wherein they now inhabit and dwell with all lands pastures meadows and moors to the same belonging: for 60 years if they so long live – annual rent of 17s 10d: 10 November 35. Henry VIII

Gift by Robert de Stanyford to Robert le Hunte of seven selions of land with the meadow adjacent with app. in Uttokeshath[er] lying in a certain place called le Heye between the land of Robert le Hunte on each side and extending in length from the land of the said Robert le Hunte as far as the land of Thomas de Eyton. Witnesses: Walter de Stafford, John de Co[y]ney, Thomas de Eyton William Allewode, Henry Bealmound, and others. Sunday next after ft. Simon and Jude 18 Ed.III.

Agreement between Lord William de Vern[on?} and Lady Pet[ro]nilla le Sage, Lord of Ti[m]mor, namely that the said Pet[ro]nilla and her heirs may fish in the water with nets and baskets between “le Holm of St Ediht” and the mill of Timmor without impediment from the said Lord William de Vern[on] or his heirs outside the bays (bayas) of the pond and mill, and it is known that the said Lord William de Vern[on] and his heirs may fish in the water between the Holm of St Ediht and the said mill without impediment from the Lady Pet[ro]nilla or her heirs with nets and baskets.

Witnesses: Lord Robert de Thoke, Lord Geoffrey Salverin, John de Thamenhorn, Richard his brother, Adam Coppe, Robert his brother, Gilbert de Ansedelee, William de           , Alan de Cu[m]berford, Simon de Noctun, William Birchard, Robert de Dunes, clerk, and many others.

n.d. see 4.354 etc. late H.III or Ed I. prob.

Quitclaim by Avicia widow of ?Thomas le Mey of Undirwod in pure widowhood to Agneti son? of Blakemor de Copenhal of all her right of dower in the lands were of her husband Thomas in Underwood with all app. in Underwod with all app., for 2s 4d. [consideration].

Witnesses: Augustine de Underwod, Thomas de Campo, William son of Syke de Pulle, William de Wodehous, Adam Malbon, William son of Hugh de Letton, Robert, clerk, and many others. n.d. ?Ed.I (Underwood, ches.? In view of Copental)

Badly damaged 8 January 35 Eliz.

Wolverhampton Manor Court – surrender and admittance of copyhold land – surrender by Margaret Wynter – late wife of George Wynter dec’d, previously wife of Henry Vernon – and admittance of John Vernon, son and heir admitted – closes and arable land in the fields of Wolverhampton.

Gift by John son of Walter de Kempeley to Adam son of Gerard de Ulnesby of all that land in two parts which his father Walter de Kempley held by the gift and grant of Ralph, Prior, and the convent of Karli (?), namely of five acres of land and a rood and a half which Adam de Mora sold to Adam de Kempeley father of the said Walter: annual rent of 12d – all in vill of Ulnesby. Witnesses: William de Bradeley Gilbert de Mort, Richard de Layes and others.

n.d. Ed I/Ed II.

Gift by Robert son of Robert de Soganhal to Roger de Wavete and his heirs for homage and service of all the land he has in Suganhul [“Sugnall] with appurtenances namely the land which Nicholas de Fonte held along with a messuage and appurtenances and the land which Gamel held along with a messuage and all appurtenances and all the land contained within the croft called Breres with all appurtenances and two acres next to “the moss” (mossam) with moss and all the moor near the moss in these bounds from Ridebache in the moor as far as the ditch and then from the ditch as far as the way which is called Kartereswei and then across the moss through the ditch as far as the assart which was of Roger de Ridebache and then through the ditch as far as the assart which was of Richard Caln(v)i, with all appurtenaces, liberties, and commons in the wood, waste etc: annual rent of six shillings.

Witnesses: ?Hinone de Mere, Robert de Mere, Robert de Swinnertun, Robert Halectun, Robert clerk, of Conestuni, Robert de Badenhale, Robert de Seldeford, Robert de Cotes, Nicholas de Witegreve, Robert Franco, William de Chattulne, ?Thomas de Peshale, Halatio de Haspele, Richard de Croftun and many others.

n.d. looks early? Henry III

Number not used

Grant (in French)

Tues. ft. of St Oswald 22 Edward III by William de Cavereswelle to Richard Hody of all his lands and tenements, meadows and pastures with all app. which Richard de Marton, Adam ?Loe, Thomas Fox, William de Mitteleye, William le Fitzhughe held in the vill. of Little Soudleye (could do with doing in more detail)

Soudley – near Church Stretton, Salop

end of file
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	Number not used

Number not used

?

End of file
	


	D410M/Box14/615

D410M/Box14/616

D410M/Box14/617

D410M/Box14/618

D410M/Box14/619

D410M/Box14/620

D410M/Box14/621

D410M/Box14/622
	Assignment by George Vernon of Sudbury, esq., to John Hayne of Ashbourne Green, gent, reciting lease by Princess Catherine, Queen Dowager, and others, to George Vernon of the Hundred of Appletree in the Honour of Tutbury and the rents of assises there etc. for 28 years from 29 September 1691 (dated 15 October 1688), of lease recited above for residue of 28 year term: ann. rent £18 16s 9d. Dated 21 November 1689.

Gift by Gilbert Choppecok to William de Jarpunull of Draycote of a messuage with croft adjacent in Newborough [Novo Burgo] containing an acre of land with all appurtenances lying between the burgage of Robert le Deye on one side and a certain way leading to the forest of Needwood on the other.

Witnesses: John de Migus, William Mgel (!), Richard de Wychenhull (Wychnor), Richard Tegeri, Henry Dyton and others.

Sunday next after ft. of St Ambrose 10 Edward II

Gift by Thomas de Cruwe to Nicholas his son for homage and service of all that land with app. which Roger de Chelmondiston held in the vill.of Aston and all that land which app. which ‘Richard son of Dan[ie]l held in the same vill. rent of a pair of white gloves and a penny at St John the Bapt.

Witn: Peter de Stapilles, William Waschet, William de Letton, Henry de Wenre, Warin de Choleg[ra]ne Richard de Pulle, John de Wetinhale and others. n.d. Ed I/II which Aston?

Number not used

Number not used

Gift by Thomas Broun of Novo Burgo (Newborough) to William de Jarpunnill of a burgage with buildings standing there and three acres of land with appurtenances in Newborough which burgage lies between the burgage formerly of John Muntyng on one side and the burgage formerly of Henry Michel on the other and which three acres of land lie between the land of the said John on one part and the tenement of the said Henry on the other and an acre lies between the land formerly of Robert del Cros on one part and the land of Roger le Gardiner.  

Witnesses: John  de Mineres, Robert de Whitfeld, Gilbert Choppekoc, Richard de Wythenhull, Henry Dykini and others

Friday nxt bef.ft. of St Mark evan. 10 Ed II

Grant (tradidit, concessit, confirmavit) by William Halughton to Thomas de Cruwe esq of all his land and tenements in le Wodehous in the parish of Burwardesley with app., in consideration of £11 2s

Witnesses: Roger Drayton, John Esthop, William Child and others.

Sunday next before ft. of St John the Baptist 6 Henry V.

Gift by Robert Fippen? To John de Mitto (abbr.) of a burgage in the new town (novo burgo) of Adgaresley lying in the Holewokhull containing three acres of land lying between the land of Robert le Dapur de Cento (abbr) on one part and Feyrhurstlone on the other and extending in length from the land of Adam le Cok as far as Feyrhurstloneyate.

Witnesses: Thomas Whyt[i]ntto[n], Adam le Taylor, Alan Cabot, Richard Whithed, Thomas Beller and many others.

Sunday next before ft. of St Modwen (new saint!) 

31 Edward III

end of file
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	Number not used

Lease by Sir John Mountgomery kt. to Nicholas Langforth of Langforth and Elyn his wife of all that his close called 20 acres lying in the park of Langforth in the parish of Langforth: for life of Nicholas and Elyn: annual rent of 245.

4 July 23 Henry VII.

Number not used

Gift by William atte Holte of Hulton manentem at Allerleye to William de Ruycroft of Hulton of a parcel of land which is called the Crodecroft with app. in Hulton: if said William atte holte pay to said William de Raycroft 40s at Easter next then this charter null and void

Thursday the feast of Corpus Christi 42 Edward III.

Lease 20 March 21 Henry VII.

John Mountegom[er]y kt to Thomas Longforde, gent, a close called the 20 acres in the parish of Longford: for the life of Elyn his mother. 24s. annual rent (see 624)

Lease by Sir John Montegom[er]ey kt. to Thomas Longforde close called Twenty Acres in the parish of Longford beside the park there for the life of Elyn Longford Thomas’ mother: 24s ann.rent. Dated 20 March

21 Henry VII (counterpart of 627)

Gift by Lady Pet[ro]nilla wife of Master Adam Coci of Cotis to John son of William forester of M[er]cintona (Marchington) for his homage and service of two acres of meadow in the territory of Hounel namely in Russileya: an.rent of 6d.

Witnesses: Lord Thomas de Eddinshou, Roger de Norton, Roger de Dounes, Robert de Cam[er]a, William de Candos, Walter Cam[er]ario, Roger clerk of Hamb[ar?]ia. Gilbert de Bosco of M[er]cintona, Walter de Cundesleya and others.

n.d. ?Henry III (looks early)
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	Gift by Henry de Honnhul son and heir of Henry de Honnhul to John de Wytacre of an acre of meadow in the field of Honnhul with hedge and ditch adj. which acre of meadow with app. lies in width between his (Henry’s) meadow on one part and the land which Robert le Wasteneis once held on the other part and extending in length from Wetfurlong as far as Wallebuttes.

Witnesses Lord Philip de Barynton, kt., Lord Robert de Pype, kt., Robert le Vemir, Stephen le Cursun, Henry le Ken, William Engelun, John Plategrene and others.

Saturday next after feast of St Mark the Ev. 28 Edward I.

Number not used

Gift by Robert Alfred of Fetherston to John son of Alvredi of the same vill of all his land with appurtenances which he held in a certain encroachment on the heath of Hulton which abutts at one head on the land of the same Robert and Richard Angevin and at the other head on the way which leads from Schareshull towards Wolvernehampton and all the land which he held with app. in the new lands of Atleloneshande in the same vill.

Witnesses: Robert son of William Prepoiti? P[re]poriti, Geoffrey? Coftey, Richard Angevin, Peter de Fethersto[n], John son of John P[re]porti and others.

n.d. ?late 13.c (is this the same Hilton as earlier – near Wolverhampton?)

Gift by Michael Wythur of Longeford to Edith his daughter and Stephen de M[er]cinton of a bovate of land and meadow with toft and croft and other appurtenances in the fee of Longford which bovate of land Richard Wyther his father formerly held in the same vill. an. rent of a red rose.

Witnesses: Roger de M[er]canton, Roger Durdent, John le Fonn, John son of Anbetil de Bentl[ey], John Foucher of the same and others.

n.d. ?late 13c.

Number not used

Accounts of Roger Aleyn bailiff and collector of rents there (Draycott) from the day after St Michael 12 Ed IV – manorial rental for Draycott.

End of box

Box15

Arbitrators’ award 11 August 13 Edward IV (in English) in a dispute between Nicoll Mountegom[er]y esq and Anne wife of John Agard regarding title, claim and possession of certain lands and tenements in Sudbury which the ancestors of the said Nicoll gave to said John and Anne – John Curson of Kedleston and Nicoll Fitzherbert of Norbury esqs - decide that Anne should hold for life the said lands and tenements (except that N. M shall take the issues and profits of a tenement in Sudbury, 14s a year pasture called the Halle Orchard, 15s a year parcel of the land called Rickards Thing, 8s a year, and a close called Feny Croft, 6s 8d a year) paying 4 marks a year to N.M.

Grant of seisin by Nicholas Mountgom[er]y kt., to Thomas Mountgom[er]y his son of a messuage and three bovates of land and seven acres with appurtenances in Sudbury together called Dictynruddyng, also quit-claim of a feoffment to his son Thomas

Friday next after the feast of the Invention of St Cross 3 Henry VI

Gift by Thomas Craddock to Roger de Montegom[er]y of an acre of land in the territory of Sudbury in these bounds, a half acre on Dudefurlong between the land of the Rector on one part and the land of John Wele on the other and the other halfacre between the land of John Wele on one part and the land of John Wareyn on the other on the Hul.

Witnesses: William Morel then Seneschal, John Wildegos de Aston, John Wate of Sudber[y], John Wele, Thomas Wate of Mackeley and others

Tuesday next after the feast of Pur. B.M 10 Edward II

Gift by Thomas Beck Rector of Sudbury and John de Tadyngton, chaplain, to Thomas son of Nicholas Mountegom[er]y., kt of a messuage, three bovates and 7 acres of land with app. in Suddebury together called Dichynrudding which they formerly held by gift and feoffment of Alan Chamberleyn (Chaumbreleyn), Dated 11 April 6 Henry V.

Gift by John Stele and John de Tadyngton chaplain, to Alice daughter of Thomas Wate of Maclay of two acres of land which they hold by gift and feoffment of Elizabeth late wife of the said Thomas Wate of which one acre lies next to the highway which leads to the vill. of Sudbury as far as the mill and extends in length as far as the “gate” of Mylneton and the other acre on this side (citra) of the water of Dowue which lies divided in several parcels: to be held for life with reversion to John brother of said Alice, after his death reversion to Margaret his sister, and after her death reversion to Elizabeth their mother and her right heirs.

Dated Monday next after feast of St Martin (in winter) 3 Henry IV

Lease by Robert Wase to Thomas Montgomery esq., of all his share of Wyldgosfeld and Mydelfeld and his half share of Fulmedow: to be held from the feast of St Martin in winter 10 Henry VI for 40 years. 6s 8d. an.rent. Dated 1 May 10 Henry VI

Grant of seisin by Nicholas Mountgom[er]y to Thomas Mountgom[er]y his son of all those lands tenements, meadows and pastures with appurtenances which were of Robert Huggeford and Margerie his wife in Sudbury and in Macley and a charter of feoffment. Dated Friday next after ft. of Invention of St Cross 3 Henry VI (with 637)

Grant (no dedi) by William Halyfax of Notyngham Richard Byngham, John Gegge, chaplain, and John Kay, chaplain, to Thomas Mountgomery, esq., and Cecily his wife of all their lands and tenements in Boilston which were of John Notyngham son and heir of William Notyngham of Derby, all their lands and tenements with app. in Sudbury which formerly were of Robert Wase, and all their lands and tenements with appurtenances in Macley and Milneton within the territory of Sudbury which formerly were of John Wase of Sudbury all their lands and tenements with appurtences in Macley lying on the west part of the way which leads from Boilston to Foston Hethe which were formerly of Alice de Chedill daughter and heir of Ralph Macley al. Ralph Kyngeley, all lands and tenements with appurtenances in Sudbury and Macley which were of Robert Huggeford and Margaret his wife and a messuage, 3 bovates and seven acres of land together called Dichynruddyng with app.in Sudbury: if Thomas and Cecily die without issue remainder to the right heirs of Thomas Dated 12 October 10 Henry VI (see 653)

As 643 (counterpart)

Gift by Nicholas Mountgom[er]y kt to Thomas Beek parson of the church of Sudbury and Robert Onyley chaplain of all his lands and tenements meadow and pasture with all app. which formerly were of Robert de Huggeford and Marg[er]ie his wife in Sudbury and in Macley. Dated Tuesday next after the feast of the Apostles Philip and James

6 Henry IV

(see 650 & 648)

Power of attorney by John de Tadyngton, chaplain, to John Foxlow chaplain to take seisin on his behalf of certain lands and tenements called Mylton Thynke and Rowlonte in the fee of Sudbury and Makley.

Saturday next after the feast of All Saints 3 Henry VI

Lease by Simon de Shepoye person of the church of Sudbury and Roger de Murkaston chaplain, Lords of Sudbury, to William del Wodehous of Mackele and Thomas his son by Margaret his wife of 4 acres of waste in their wood of Sudbury: to be held for the lives of William and Thomas ann.rent of 2s 8d, also to make two appearances at their Great Court at Sudbury also the grain growing on the said land to be milled at their mill of Sudbury “at a twentieth of the grain” (ad vicessimun granum – as Okeover).

Witnesses: Walter de Mungom[er]y John de Mungom[er]y John de Shauyntton, Henry de Oselaston, Henry Mathew and others.

Saturday in feast of Nat. BVM 15 Edward III

Gift by Thomas Beek parson of the church of Sudbury to Thomas Mountgom[er]y son of lord Nicholas Mountgom[er]y of Cubley kt of all his lands and tenements, meadows and pastures with all app. which formerly were of Robert Huggeford and Margerie his wife in Sudbury and in Macley which he held by gift and feoffment of the said Lord Nicholas (see 645): if Thomas dies without issue, remainder to Margaret his sister. Day after Michaelmas 8  Henry V (with 645 and 654)

Quitclaim by Robert de la Mulneton to William Montegom[er]y his heirs and assigns of a capital messuage called le Mulneto[n] with all houses, structures, gardens and curtilage with all his arable land on each side of the Douve and all his meadow and water mill of Sudbury with all “following goods”, pond and water course and all other app.: also (quitclaim), pannage for 28 pigs in the wood of Sudbury and also pasture for sixty sheep in the pasture of Sudbury and 30 cattle and four mares in the same pasture: with housebote and heybote and [gathering] firewood to burn.

Witnesses: William de Meynel, Henry de Braylisford, Egidius de Meynel, Ralph de Monjoye, Rogerde M[er]chinto[n] kts., Roger de Ridewar, Ralph de ?Bakepur, Richard de Kyngisl[ey], and Ralph de Bosco de Douvebrug and others.

n.d. prob. Ed I.
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	Gift by Nicholas Montgom[er]y kt. to Thomas Beek parson of the church of Sudbury and Robert de Onyley chaplain of a messuage with a dovecote and other buildings a toft lying next to the said messuage on the one part and the lane called le Huntelone on the other part formerly in the tenure of John Richard and John Cartere, and three bovates of land and 3 acres of meadow with all app. in Sudbury which formerly were of Walter Montegom[er]y Esq., also gives and grants to said Thomas and Robert all his lands and tenements, meadows and pastures with all appurtenances which were formerly of Robert de Huggeford and Marg[er]ie his wife in the same vill and in Makleye.

Witnesses: Walter Fitzherbert of Soudsale, Arthur de Rolleston, Thomas Toly and others.

Tuesday next after the feast of the Ap. Philip and James 

6 Henry IV (see 645)

Final concord (in the court of the Lord Roger at Nottingham) Easter Day in one month 36 Henry III between William de Montgom[er]y pf. and Ralph de Grendon and Matilda [?wife] who claim to have common of pasture in the lands of said William in Sudbury and Cubley, reciting that Ralph and Matilda quitclaimed all their common pasture in the lands of the said William in the said vills except on certain land called Cocschutewode outside the park of the said William of Cubley where Ralph, Matilda and their men of Boyleston have common of pasture after the harvest (corn raised and carried away) without impediment: and afterwards said Matilda and Ralph grant that the said William and his heirs can assart and improve cultivate (exedo = cultivate) all his lands in the said vills and enclose with ditches and hedges without impediment: and the said William quitclaims to Ralph and Matilda common of pasture in the lands and tenements of Ralph and Matilda in Boyleston except on certain land called Meduhay where William and his men of Cubley have common of pasture after the harvest without impediment of the said Ralph and Matilda and it will be lawful for the said Ralph and Matilda to make assarts and cultivate the said parcel of land which is called Meduhay reserving to said William and his heirs common of pasture after the harvest: also same William to pay to said Ralph and Matilda one mark at Cubley every year: if he fails to pay it then Ralph and Matilda can distrain William for all his chattels in all his tenements in Cubley.

Final concord Michaelmas in 15 days 48 Edward III between Matil[da] who was wife of Walter de Montgomery ‘chivaler’ (knight) pf. and Robert de Huggeford and Marg[er]iam his wife deforciants of a moiety of a messuage, 42a of land, 6a of meadow and 9a of pasture with appurtenances in Sudbury: 20 Marks consideration.

Quitclaim by Cecilia who was wife of Thomas Mountgom[er]y to John Curson esq of all those lands and tenements she once held along with said Thomas by gift and feoffment (see 15.643) of William Halyfax of Notyngham, Richard Byngh[a]m, John Gegge, chaplain, and John Kay chaplain, in Boylleston Sudbury Macley and Mylneton

30 December 18 Henry VI

Gift by Margaret who was wife of Nicholas Mountgom[er]y kt., senior. John Cursun esq and Margaret his wife to Thomas Blount, Thomas Greseley, Roger de Aston, John Greseley, kts., Thomas Cursun, Thomas Mountgom[er]y esqs., John Cursun junior and Richard Byngham their heirs and assigns of all their estate in a messuage, 3 bovates of land and 3 acres of meadow with appurtenances in Sudbury which were of Thomas Beke parson of the church of Sudbury: 1 October 5 Henry VI (see 645, 650)

(joined to 654) Power of Attorney to William Thomkynson to deliver seisin: 1 October 5 Henry VI

Final concord Trinity in three weeks 34 Elizabeth between William Atkinson gent, pf. and John Vernon esq. deforc. of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley with app. and 100 messuages, a water mill, a windmill, a dovecote, 100 gardens, 60 orchards, 1000 a of land, 500 a of meadow, 1000 a of pasture, 500 a of wood, £5 rent in Sudbury, Aston, Rodsley, Marston Montgomery, Potter Somersal, Woodhouses, Okes, Hill Somersall, Mackley Waldley Doveridge and Hollington: consid. £1160.
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	13 February 16 James I Settlement

between Sir Walter Hevaningham kt of Pipehall, Staffs, Erasmus Heveningham of Pipehall, gent, Mary Vernon of Sudbury, widow, Edward Vernon son of said Mary of Sudbury esq., and Margaret his wife, Walter Vernon of the Inner Temple, London esq., and Mary his wife, and John Harestaffe of Sudbury, gent and William Allen of Sudbury, gent, reciting that by agreement of 28 June last Walter Vernon surrendered to the Heveninghams, Mary, Edward and Margaret Vernon, all his estate in two messuages or tenements in Hillsomersall, the Heveninghams etc have enfeoffed to Harestaffe and Allen the two messuages to the use of Walter Vernon and Mary his wife for their lives.

Easter term 4 Edward VI

Case paper re the manors of Cubley, Sudbury and Aston John Porte kt. answer to Henry Vernon esq – desc. as 100 messuages, 40 tofts, 2 mills, 3000 a of land, 500a of meadow, 2000 a of pasture, 500a of wood, 300a of furze and heath, £10 rent in Cubley Sudbury, Aston, Mackley, le Okes, Hill Somersal, Church Somersal, and the advowson of the church of Cubley, Church Somersal and Sudbury.

1 October 23 Elizabeth   Bargain and sale by Francis Curson of Kedleston esq., and John Curson son and heir apparent to John Vernon of Sudbury esq., in consideration of £1000, all that messuage called Mortons Farm and all other the lands etc of the Cursons in Sudbury, Aston, Mackley, Draycott, Hanbury, West Broughton, Church Broughton, Boylestone and Sapperton

Gift by William de Mungom[er]y kt., Hugh de Mungom[er]y, parson of the church of Cubley and William de Mungom[er]y to Walter de Mungom[er]y kt and Matill[da] his wife and their heirs of the manors of Sudbury and Cubley and the advowsons of the churches of Sudbury and Cubley and a messuage and a bovate of land which Robert le Baker holds for life and a messuage, 36 acres of land which John son of Hugh and Joan his wife hold for life and a messuage which Alice daughter of Robert le Wodeward holds for life and a messuage and 20a of land which Alice late wife of William Frankeleyn holds for life, a messuage and four bovates of land which Walter de Mungom[er]y and Margaret his wife hold for life, a messuage and two bovates of land which Symon son of William le Clerc holds for life in the manor of Sudbury: and a messuage and 9 acres of land which Walter de Merdeley holds for life, a messuage and 6 acres of land which Walter le Smyth and Agnes his wife and Nicholas his son hold for life, a messuage and two bovates of land which William de Weryngton holds for life and a messuage and two bovates of land which William Mathew holds for life a messuage which Agnes late wife of Robert le Soute[r] holds for life, a messuage and 4 bovates of land which Roger atte Mate and Anneys his wife hold for life, a messuage and 3 acres of land which John atte Loue holds for life, a messuage and a bovate of land which Marg[er]ia late wife of Walter son of ? Gene holds for life and a messuage and two bovates of land which John de Som[er]sale chaplain holds for life – all of which remain to the said Walter and Matill[da]

Witnesses: Nicholas de Longford, Henry de Brayllesford, William le Meygnyll, Robert de Twyford kts. William de Sap[er]ton and others.

Frid next after ft. St Lucia the v.24 Edward III

Bargain and sale by Walter Vernon of Houndhill, gent, to Nicholas Browne of Snelston esq., in consideration of £350, of all those messuages, cottages, lands, tenements etc in the town or fields of Snelston and Roston now or late in the several tenures of Nicholas Browne, Richard Ashton, Robert Todde, Thurstan Hurde, Richard Woodwarde, Thurstane Bullocke, Richard Hill, William Morton and widow Bagnolde. Dated 7 July 20 Elizabeth.

Feoffment by Sir Walter Heveningham kt of Pipehall, Erasmus Heveningham of Pipehall gent, Mary Vernon of Sudbury widow, Edward Vernon son of Mary esq., and Margaret his wife to John Harestaffe of Sudbury, gent, and William Allen of Sudbury gent of two messuages with app. in Hillsomersall, sometime in the tenure of Thomas Whittering John Wright al. Boswell and John Everard. Dated 13 Feb 16 James I

(see 15.657) (PART FAMILY SETTLEMENTS)
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	Final concord (assoc.with 657/662). Easter in 15 days 

17 James I between John Harstaff, gent, and William Allen pfs. and Edward Vernon esq., and Margaret his wife and Mary Vernon widow deforc. of 2 messuages 40a of land, 10a of meadow, 40a of pasture with app. in Hill Somersal and Sudbury

Quitclaim by Thomas Rawbon of Potter Som[er]sall yeoman to Mary Vernon of Sudbury and Edward Vernon of Sudbury, esq., son and heir apparent of Mary Vernon of part of a small orchard in the parish of Sudbury late in the tenure of John Plymer dec’d and that part which lies within a parcel of land called  a hemp butt in the parish of Sudbury now in the tenure of Thomas Alt as has been divided by said Thomas and a small garden now in tenure of Thomas Alt and a parcel of land called a hempe butt in tenure of Thomas Alt and Thomas Tunycliffe

16 February 16 James I.

Mortgage by William Atkinson of Banstead Surrey gent, to Robert Jackson of Enfield gent, in consideration of £665 and £850 paid to Sir Edward Fytton kt. for the debts of John Vernon of Sudbury of all those messuages, houses, edifices etc called Hillsom[er]sall, Mackley and Wodley, and all those manors, messuages etc called Marston Montgomery, Pottersom[er]sall and Woodhouses.

Dated 25 August 38 Elizabeth

Counterpart of 665

Assignment by William Atkinson of Banstead to Robert Jackson of a statute stable for £3000 by John Vernon to William Anderson 25 July 34 Elizabeth. Dated 26 August 38 Elizabeth.

Mortgage in fee by Thomas Barlow of Scropton yeoman to Thomas Rossinton of Scropton, gent in consideration of £13  6s  8d, all those four riggs of arable land in the Nooke Field in the manor of Scropton, 1½ a by estimation. Dated 16 October 1652

Grant (no dedi) by William de Mungom[er]y to John Tirry and his heirs of a gift and feoffment which William de Grendon made to said John of two bovates of land with app. in Sneleston which John Carrettar held. Witnesses: William de Longgeford, Richard de la Sale, Robert his brother, William Bussini, William de Acav[er]e, Peter de Denneby, John clerk and others.

n.d. Ed I (William de O)

Grant (no dedi) by Walter de Monte Gommery kt to Thomas le Tot[er]re of Cubeleye of ten acres of land which he formerly held by gift and feoffment of the said Thomas in the waste of Snellston – with quitclaim – John Fitzherbert, Nicholas Fitzh[er]b[er]t, Henry de Bantelye, John Tyrry of Snellseston, Henry de Thorpe of the same place and others. Thursday next before the feast of St Luke the ev.7 Ed II.

(with 665-7)

Mortgage by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple esq to Robert Jackson of Enfield, Middlesex, gent, in consideration of £590 and £850 paid to Sir Edward Fytton kt. for the debt of John Vernon – of manors as in 665-7. Dated 7 February 39 Elizabeth.

Assignment of statute staple as 667. Dated 8 February 39 Elizabeth

Lease by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, London esq and Robert Jackson of Enfield, Middlesex, gent, to Edward Bancke of Mackley, gent of two messuages in Hill Somersall in tenures of Thomas Whittering, John Wright als.Boswell and now in occup. of John Everard together with two beast gates in a pasture called the Moore, Hill Somersall, for 120 years ann.rent of 24s. Dated 30 October 43 Elizabeth

(property as 657, 662-3 - ? related)

Bargain and sale by Robert Jackson of Enfield esq. to William Atkinson of the Inner Temple – reciting bargain and sale by Atkinson to Jackson 31 July 36 Eliz. of manors of Hill and Potter Somersal and Mackley and that considerations satisfied – of the manors as above 10 May 3 James I (1605)

(with 665-7, 671-2)

Assignment by John Everard of Hill Somersal, gent, John Everard son and heir apparent and Thomas Everard, youngest son, to Thomas Alsopp of Longford, gent, reciting ease by Robert Jackson to Edward Bancke of Mackley of two messuages in Hill Somersall with two beast gates, 30 October 43 Elizabeth assigned by Bancke to Everard, for the residue of the 120 year term (673)

With 657, 662-3, 673. Dated 28 September 9 James I.

5 March 30 Elizabeth

Exemplification of a judgment regarding a debt of 2000 marks to the City of London by Francis Curzon of Kedleston, esq., John Vernon of Sudbury esq., and William Agard of Foston, gent – Francis Curzon seised in the manor of Kedleston and Weston with app. and a capital messuage or tenement in Kedleston called Kedleston Hall and in 20  messuages, 20 messuages, a water mill, 600a of land, 50a of pasture, 300a of meadow, 200a of wood, 50a of furze and heath in Kedleston, and a park called Kedleston Park, 40a of meadow, pasture and wood by est., and in the manor of Windley with app. and in a messuage called Windley Hall or Windley Hill Hall in the parish of Duffield, and 3 messuages, 2 cottages, 200a of land, 40a of meadow 60a of pasture and 10s rent in Chaddesden and Spondon and in a grange called Alderworthe Grange (alwark Grange), and in the manor of Wingerworth and in 20 messuages, 20 cottages, 600a of land, 500a of pasture 300a of meadow, 200a of wood, 500a of furze and heath and 40s rent in Wingerworth and Tupton: and the said John Vernon was seised in the manor of Sudbury with all app. and the manors of Aston, Mackley, Okes, Hill Somersall, Potter Somersal, Marston Montgomery, Wawdeley and Woodhouses, and said William Agard in seven messuages, 4 cottages, 200a of land, 40a of meadow, 200a of pasture, 20a of wood and 5s rent in Scropton and Foston – reciting value of each of the manors etc – judgment in favour of Cuthbert Buckley citizen and alderman of London.

(Waldley = parish of Marston M: Okes = Oaks Green)

Family settlement by which Edward Madeley the elder of Westbroughton, yeoman, has enfeoffed to John Woodward of Hollington Staffs, yeoman and William Madeley of Aston Derbys, yeoman all that messuage or tenement in Snelston now in the tenure or occupation of Richard Allen, all his lands, tenements and hereditaments in Marston Montgomery lately purchased of John Fitzherbert and Ralph Gellen all his lands tenements and hereditaments in Marchington, copyhold land in the tenure of Robert Devill: mess. in Snelston to the use of Edward Madeley and Elizabeth his wife for their lives, then to use of William Madeley second son of Edward Madeley the younger and Joan daughter of Edward Madeley the younger and their heirs: in default of issue to the use of Elizabeth and Anne Madeley two other daughters of Edward Madeley and their issue: in default to the use of Edward Madeley son and heir apparent of Edward Madeley the younger and his heirs, in default to the use of Edward Madeley the younger and his heirs – lands, tenements in Marston Montgomery and Marchington to the use of Edward Madeley the elder and Elizabeth his wife for their lives, then to the use of Anne and Elizabeth Madeley two of the daughters of Edward Madeley the younger and their issue, in default to the use of William and Joane son and daughter of Edward Madeley the younger and their issue, then to use of Edward Madeley son and heir apparent of Edward Madeley the younger and his issue and in default to the use of Edward Madeley the younger and his right heirs. Dated 8 November 1651.

Lease by John Vernon of Sudbury esq., to John Plymer of Potter Somersall, Helen his wife and Richard Plymer their son of all that messuage, tenement, garden edifices etc., in Potter Somersal, fourth part of a close called Gorstie Close, for their lives, ann. rent of 6s 8d. Dated 20 November 31 Elizabeth.

Lease by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, London, esq., and Robert Jackson of Enfield, Middlesex, gent, and Peter Broughton of London, gent, in consideration of £100, of all that messuage or tenement in Hill Somersal in occupation of Widow Pattricke, all those arable lands belonging viz half a days work in Broughton Eyes, seven days work in Maynefield, four days work in Littlefield, 3 days works in the Old Field, 4 days work in the Hillfield, in Hill Somersal, 4a of meadow in the Mayrefield, two acres of meadow in Broughton Eyes, 4a in the Brode Meadow of Hill Somersal and pasture grounds called the Marsh, the two Pingles, Will Riddinges and two crofts about the said messuage also all that messuage or tenement late in the tenure or occupation of Humphrey Brooke or of his assigns and all those arable lands in Hill Somersal, viz, 8 days work in the Meynefield, 4½ days work in the Little Field, 8 days work in the Hill Field, 4 days work in Broughton Eyes, 4 days work in the Ouldefield, 6a of meadow in the Brode Meadow, 3a of meadow in Broughton Eyes, 5a of meadow in the Meyrefield, pastures called Spring Meadow, the Shawe, Cowe Close, Meyrefield Close, a little croft on the backside of the same tenement the crofts about the messuage, with four beast grasses in the More of Hill Somersall, messuage or tenement in Hill Somersal now or late in the tenure of Widow Hall, one close at the backside, pastures called the Round Close, the Hauce Riddinge, the Longnor and the Hill Field, in Potter Somersall: for 29 years: ann.rent of £3 12s 8d. Dated 30 October 41 Elizabeth.

Feoffment by Richard Bate of Westbroughton gent and Anne his wife and Charles Agard of Foston esq to Robert Bate of Westbroughton gent, son and heir apparent of Richard Bate, Robert Bate agreeing to pay £600 as required by ind. of 1 May 1656,of a messuage or tenement in Hill Somersal in the tenure or occupation of James Platt, two messuages in the parish of Sudbury in the occupations of Henry Upton and Edward Woodward and closes etc belonging. Dated 25 June 1668.

Lease by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt. and Dame Margaret his wife to Thomas Bladen of Potter Somersal, husbandman, Henry Bladen his son and Elizabeth Bladen Henry’s wife, in consideration of £60, all their messuage, farm or tenement with all barns etc belonging in Potter Somersal now in tenure or occupation of Thomas Bladen: to hold for lives at an annual rent of £4. Dated 7 July 1641.

Surrender by Thomas Rathbone, yeoman, Henry Bladen, yeoman and Nicholas Harrison, yeoman, of Potter Somersal, Edward Madeley of Mackley, yeoman, Joan Peise of Churchbroughton widow, John Bladon, yeoman, Henry Upton the elder and Henry Upton the younger of Hill Somersal (who hold several messuages in Hill and Potter Somersall for several terms of freehold the revertion expeciant to George Vernon) to George Vernon of Sudbury esq., all the said messuages and lands, on condition that Vernon pays to them £1000. Dated 24 December 1659.

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury esq., to Francis Lycett of Worston Farm in the parish of St Mary’s, Staffs, in consideration of £275, of his messuage, house and tenement in Hill Somersal formerly in lease to Edward Madely with all barns stables, outhouses etc., croft at the backside of the house, Broomy Close close lying to the lane going to the little field, 6½  beast gates in the Meir Field, two marshes lying by Whilan Moore, one piece of meadow in Broughton Eyes, one other meadow spott shooting upon Stubbins intack, two other lands in the said meadow, one other land in said meadow shooting towards Robinsons Start., one other land shooting up to the Brooke, one half acre in the Broade Meadow, one half acre in the same meadow shooting up to Crowfoot, one half acre in the same meadow shooting up to the Longdale sitch, one half acre in the same meadow going down by the side of the Holt, one half acre shooting down to the Holt, one half acre in the meadow commonly called the Benns, one half in same meadow at the Wet Dooles, one other half acre at the Breath, one other rood in the head of the Breath, two lands in the Little Field, 5 other lands in the same field, three other lands in the same field shooting up to the Marlpit, two other lands in the same field, five other lands in the same field shooting up to the highway, one other land shooting up by Chawner’s intake, four other lands shooting upon John Harnson’s headland, 13 lands in the Ouldfield, one other land in the same field called the Crabb Tree land: for the lives of Frances Lycett, Jane his wife and William his nephew: ann.rent of £1: to grind corn at Vernon’s mill at Sudbury. Dated 5 January 4 William and Mary (1692/3)

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to William Twigg of Hill Somersal, yeoman, in consideration of the surrender of a former lease and in consideration of £51, of all that messuage or tenement in Hill Somersal 2½ a of ploughland in the Little Field, 5a of ploughland in the Hill Field, 4½ a of ploughland in the Old Field: for the lives of William Twigg and Samuel Johnson and Mary his wife, and Richard Wright and Elizabeth his wife: £7 yearly rent. Dated 10 November 1 James II.

Lease for possession by Richard Bate of West Broughton, gent, and Ann his wife, Robert Bate his son and heir apparent and Mary his wife, Nathaniel Bate second son of Richard Bate, Thomas Bate third son of Richard Bate, Richard Bate fourth son of Richard Bate, John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbet Esq to George Vernon of Sudbury, of their capital messuage, farm or tenement in West Broughton, and their messuage, farm or tenement in Hill Somersal in tenure of James Platts, their messuage, farm or tenement in Hill Somersal in the occupation of Henry Upton the younger, also their messuage, farm or tenement in Okes Green in the occupation of Thomas Statham. Dated 19 April 22 Charles II

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq. to Nicholas Harrison of Potter Somersal, yeoman, in consideration of surrender of earlier lease and £230, all that messuage or tenement in Potter Somersal in terms of Nicholas Harrison with all lands etc belonging, for the lives of Thomas, John and Ann Harrison his children: an. rent of 20s. Dated 10 September 1666.

Assignment by Robert Wilmot of Chaddesden, gent, to Sir Edward Vernon kt. and Thomas Vernon, gent, in consideration of £127 3s 4d, of several parcels of ground in Hill Somersall, Cowe Close, piece of ground lying beyond the Brook, Long Close, Hutfalls, the Pooles, Eight Leys, in which he is possessed for the lives of Francis Cockaine, Jane late wife of Francis Bucke. Dated 24 March 6 Charles I

Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, Esq., in consideration of £305 of three closes in Church Somersal 9a by est. and four closes in Church Somersal called the Lees als.Rathbones Lees, 18a and upper part of a close in Church Somersal called “The Great Croft” as is divided by meers. Dated 25 April 22 Charles II.

Counterpart of 688.

Assignment by Robert Wilmot of Chaddesden, gent, to Nicholas Boyer al. Bower the elder of Potter Somersal yeoman, in consideration of £140, a messuage or tenement in Potter Somersal leased by Robert Jackson and William Atkinson to Francis Bucke of Hill Somersal 16 November 43 Elizabeth for 120 years. Dated 10 December 10 James I (?with other deeds)

Lease by Peter Broughton of London, gent, to Thomas Bladon of Potter Somersal, husbandman, of a messuage or tenement and all lands belonging in Potter Somersal, for 9 years, at an annual rent of £10 17s. Dated 20 March 12 James I.

Deed to levy a fine by Mary Vernon of Sudbury, widow, Edward Vernon of Sudbury, her son, and Margaret his wife to John Harestaffe and William Allen of Sudbury gents, of two messuages in Hill Somersal and Sudbury. Dated 12 March 16 James I

(with 662 etc).

Bargain and sale by Robert Jackson the elder of Enfield, Middlesex, gent to Robert Jackson the younger of the Inner Temple, London, gent, son and heir apparent, in consideration of a debt of £50 (to Robert Goodday) and £105 (owed to Richard Collins) and £52 10s (owed to John Harrison) of all his manors, messuages etc in Staffs and Derbys and also his messuage or tenement called Berdfield in Thaydon Garnon, Essex, and all other messuages etc there also messuage and shop in the parish of St Christopher, City of London. Dated 21 July.

Arbitrators award – by Thomas Fitzherbert, Doctor of letters, and Thomas Babyngton of Dethick, regarding a dispute between Antony Babyngton and Katherine his wife late, wife of Thomas Coton and Anthony Fitzherbert and Maude his wife William Venables and Elynor his wife, William Grosvenor and Katherine his wife and John Bradborn and Isabel his wife, Maude, Elynor, Katherine and Isabel being cousins and heirs of Elizabeth, late daughter of Thomas (Coton) and Katherine his wife: regarding property in Boylestone and Rossyngton, and Churchaston, ?Bayham and Mapylwell, Leics and Prestowde and Alfeld, Staffs. Dated 10 September 2 Henry VIII.

Recovery by Reginald Corbet Esq., and Robert Asheburne against Henry Vernon Esq of a moiety of the manors of Merston (?Marston Montgomery), Rodsley, Snelston, Yeldersley, Cubley, Sudbury, Aston and Doveridge with app. and a moiety of 360 messuages, 40 tofts, 2 water mills, a dovecote, 300 gardens, 3300 a of land 1530 a of meadow, 2500a of pasture, 2000a of wood, 6000a of furze and heath, a moiety of two fisheries in the Water of Dove and 10s 8d rent in Sudbury, Cubley, Aston, Doveridge, Merston, Rodsley, Okes Hill Somersal, Potter Somersal Overmackley, Yeldersley and Snelston and a moiety of the advowson of the churches of Cubley, Sudbury and Church Somersal

10 July 3 Edward VI.

Final concord between Robert Cope and Richard Lont pfs. and Thomas Barlowe def.of 2 messuages, 2 cottages, 50a of land, 10a of meadow and 40a of pasture and common of pasture for all cattle with app. in Scropton and Foston: in 8 days of St Martin 22 Charles I. £100 consideration.

Final concord between Nathaniel Hallowes gent.pf. and Edward Vernon kt. and Walter Vernon Esq., and Mary his wife deforc.of 2 messuages, 40a of land, 10a of meadow, 40a of pasture and common of pasture for all cattle in Hill Somersal and Sudbury: consideration £100. ? Trinity 1 Charles I (flaking)
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	Agreement for exchange of lands in Scropton – between Thomas Rossington of Scropton, gent, Thomas Barlow, senior and Thomas Barlow, junior, of Scropton, yeomen, and George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., 9 June 1669 – by which Rossington and the Barlows agree to assume to Vernon a tenement in Scropton, parcel of land called the Pyeflatt, 8 lands of arable ground in the Nooke Field of Scropton – in consideration of £315: also Vernon to reconvey to Rossington as parcel of ground called? Reddrun with two ?baches belonging lying between the close and the River Dove and 8 lands lying in the Nooke Field – in consideration of £270; also Vernon shall reconvey to Thomas Barlow, sr. and jr. the residue of the premises not before mentioned except for one close called the Ryeflatt and another close called the Acre with the lane and byeflatts belonging and 2 bays of barn at the end of the great barn, which are to remain to George Vernon and for which he is to pay the remaining sum.

Lease by Robert Jackson of Enfield, Middlesex gent. and William Atkinson of the Inner Temple to Thomas Rabone of Potter Somersal, yeoman, in consideration of £40, of all that messuage, farm or tenement in Potter Somersal now in the tenure of John Rabone, father of Thomas with all lands etc. belonging: for 120 years: 23s 4d an.rent. Dated 12 February 44 Elizabeth.

Exemplification of a writ [de libat in filatiis] regarding a debt of £600 by Francis Curson of Kedleston and John Vernon of Sudbury to Isabel Hampden widow of Edmund Hampden dec’d – estates recited exactly as in 676 – estates distrained until debt paid. Dated 27 October 28 Elizabeth.

Discharge by Francis Bucke gent, son and heir of Nicholas Bucke of Hill Somersal to William Atkinson of all actions, suits and demands against him by virtue of John Vernon’s intention in 1600 that messuages etc in Hill and Potter Somersal should be assured by Atkinson to Bucke: now Bucke has accepted other satisfaction. Dated 14 November 1601.

Lease by Dame Marget Mountegomery to Nicholas Mountgomery the elder of the Bernhaye with all the profits belonging, reserving the great timber to Dame Marget, for 20 yrs: ………………(eaten) 3 cottages in Sudbury that is to say the Newehouse, the house late in the holding of Thomas Gefray and the house late in the holding of Agnes of Newehaye with an acre of arable ground there. Dated 29 April 30 Henry VI. [seems to be that D.M leasing to N.M the Barnhaye, in return for him leasing to her the 3 cottages]

Quitclaim by James Graves Rector of the parish church of Sudbury to John Mountgom[er]y Esq., of all and singular the manors, lands, tenements etc with all app. which were of Nicholas Mountgom[er]y dec’d in Derbys and Staffs.

Dated 6 June 10 Henry VII.

Final concord between George Vernon Esq. pf. and John Osbiston and Deborah his wife and Thomas Barlow senior and junior deforc. of 2 messuages, 2 gardens, 2 orchards, 16a of land, 20a of meadow, 30a of pasture, 12a of furze and heath and common of pasture for all cattle with app. in Rodsley, Foston and Scropton: £100 consideration. Dated Day after St Trinity 22 Charles II.

Agreement between Thoms Alsop of Longford, (Lankford) Derbys, gent, and James Robinson of Westbroughton, yeoman, that whereas by ind.15 October 10 James I Alsop has for sum of £234 conveyed to Robinson two messuages and diverse, lands, tenements etc., in Hill Somersal, Robinson may retain £78 of the £234 until all incumbrances against Thomas Everard one of the sons of John Everard of Hill Somersal are removed. Dated 16 October 10 James I (?with settlements 662 etc).
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	Counterpart of 705

Lease by George Venables Lord Vernon to Samuel Lawley of Aston, Sudbury, farmer of a capital messuage, dwelling house or tenement in Sudbury late in occup. of Edward Burton dec’d, with yards, courts, gardens etc. 0a 3r 29p, and the Broomy Close 7a 1r 06p, the Near Broomy Close 7a 3r 18p, Rick Close 4a 2r 31p, the Pingle 10a 2r 36p, the Tofts 8a 0r 19p, Upper Bottoms 14a 1r 0p, Clover Croft 7a 0r 10p, Porters Croft 9a 1r 31p, Little Croft 1a 2r 32p, Meadow Cow Close 8a 2r 34p, Little Cow Close 6a 2r 12p, Lower Mill Stores 9a 2r 07p, reserving minerals, timber and game: for 21 years: £160 ann.rent, corn to be ground at Draycott Mill: £10 per acre additional rent for every acre of old meadow or pasture ploughed, to use all manure etc on the premises. Dated 24 June.

Mortgage by way of lease for 500 years by Thomas Challiner of Marchington and Anne his wife, widow and executrix of the will of John Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, dec’d and John Budworth son and heir of John Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, and George Stone of Draycott in the Clay, yeoman to Elizabeth Budworth of Marchington, spinster, one of the younger children of John Budworth of closes in Marchington called the Nooks or Crooks, the Lowfields, the Bothams and pieces of meadow ground 2½ a in Marchington Meadow, pieces of arable ground in a common field called the Foul Ford Field, ½ a arable land in the Stradford Field of Marchington: consideration £300. Dated 30 January 14 George II.

Marriage settlement in consideration of a marriage already had between John Marsh the younger of Great Chell ph. Woolstanton, Staffs, and Ellen one of the daughters of Thomas Poole of Harding Wood Mill, Woolstanton, by which John Marsh has released to William Forde of Church Lawton, Cheshire, gent, and Samuel Stevenson of Cobridgyate, Burslem, potter, in consideration of £100, of all that messuage or tenement in Burslem in the holding or occupation of John Marsh the elder and closes called the Green Field, the Great Sneydale, the Little Sneydale, Sneydale Meadow: moiety of the messuage and lands to the use of John Marsh for life, after his decease upon trust that Ellen and her assigns may take £7 a year from the rents and profits provided she remains unmarried: if she remarries to receive £5 per ann – in lieu of her jointure and right of dower: after decease of Ellen to the use of John Marsh and his heirs for ever. Dated 4 May 1726.

Feoffment by Francis Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, gent, Anne his wife, Robert Fitzherbert father of Francis and Dorothy his wife to Richard Rowe of Parwich yeoman, in consideration of £160, of a toft and an oxgang of land in Parwich now or late in the tenure and occupation of Ralph Taylor. Dated 2 May 14 James I.

Discharge by James Budworth youngest son of John Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, of his eldest brother John from legacies bequeathed in his father’s will which said John has now paid. Dated 6 June

Feoffment by John Fitzherbert of Mansfield Woodhouse Esq., Richard Burbidge the elder of Mansfield, apothecary, and John Farrer of Mansfield apothecary, to Gervas Hutton of Mansfield Woodhouse, yeoman, in consideration of 5s and 8s, of 2a 2r 11p in the fields of Mansfield Woodhouse called Randsdale and Witch Dike Plaine (allotted in enclosure award) Dated 14 December

Lease by Rt Hon Sir William Yong of ph. St James, Westminster, Bt and Kt of the Bath and George Venables Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Edmund Donnellan of Streamstown Co. Westmeath, Ireland Esq and John Vaudeleur of Dublin, Esq., of all the town and lands of Moyglare 504a 2r 21p town and lands of Bryanstown 217a 0r 09p, Baltimagillen 125a 0r 03p, pt of lordship of Moyglove Co. Meath; for 31 years: £444 8s 3d. Dated 30 July
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	Mortgage in fee by William Atkinson of Inner Temple, London, esq., to Henry Vernon of Grays Inn, esq., for £300 and also in consideration of the assignment to Atkinson of a statute for £500 (by Henry Vernon, John Curson and John Vernon to William Blunt Thomas White and Robert Jackson) of the manor of Geton (Gayton), Staffs, and all messuages etc in Gayton and all those messuages, lands tenements etc in Hilton and Norton. Dated 23 July 34 Elizabeth

Covenant between John Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., and Henry Vernon of Grays Inn, Esq., by which John Vernon covenants with H. V that at the time of the sealing of 714, William Atkinson was seised of the manor of Gayton and the mess etc in Hilton and Norton. Dated 24 July 34 Elizabeth.

Assignment of statute staple for £500 by Henry Vernon of Grays Inn to William Blunt, Thomas Wheeler of London and Robert Jackson of London: statute by Henry Vernon of Stokeseye ,Salop, John Curson of K and John Vernon of Sudbury to Henry Vernon of Grays Inn Dated  ------ (not filled in) July 34 Eliz.

Further covenant by Henry Vernon that if William Atkinson shall within one year pay to Vernon the sum of £300 then the said William and his heirs shall abate the sum of £20: 20 marks if within two years. Dated 24 July 34 Elizabeth.

Feoffment by John Fitzherbert of Mansfield Woodhouse Esq., Richard Burbridge the elder of Mansfield, apothecary, and John Farrer of Mansfield, apothecary, to Gervase Hutton of Mansfield Woodhouse, yeoman, in consideration of £8 10s, of two parcels of land 10a 1r 17p at Ransdale and Birchdike Plaine in Mansfield Woodhouse fields (allotted to George Lord and Francis Cheetham). Dated 30 April (with 712)

Feoffment by Francis Gilbert of Marchington Woodland ph.Hanbury, yeoman, to Robert Amery of Marchington corvizer, in consideration of £60, of all those three acres of meadow ground in Marchington Great Meadow at a place called Wardhurst, and two roods of meadow in the Great Meadow in Moore Meadow there. Dated 23 May.

Feoffment by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, London, Esq., and Mary Vernon, widow, late wife of John Vernon of Sudbury, Esq, dec’d to Richard Jackson of the city of Lichfield, capper, in consideration of £43, of all those closes called Myddell More Lake in the fee of Lichfield Pipe within the Barony of Longdon, late in the inheritance of John Vernon. Dated 17 May 2 James I.

Covenant by George Bowyer of Uttoxeter Staffs gent, that if the Hundred of Appletree is recovered by a prior title during the term of its assignment to Richard Fleetwood of Stafford Esq., then Bowyer will repay sum of £200 [leased by Edward Vernon to Geo.Bowyer for 30 yrs. 4 Dec 1660 – see 2/121]. Dated 16 January 19 Charles II

Surrender by Dorothy Asteburie wife of late William Asteburie of Geyton, Staffs, yeoman to John Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., of all her estate in her late husband’s lands and tenements in Geyton in return for an annuity of £4. Dated 10 May 40 Elizabeth.

Feoffment by Henry Merry of Sutton on the Hill Esq., to Henry Vernon of Houndhill Esq., in consideration of £20, of all those parcels of meadow ground ½ a by est. part lying in the Brook Field Close and the other part lies in a close called the Newe Intack, and a parcel of ground 1a by est. commonly called Davies Piece Dated 31 October.

Inventory of the goods and chattels of William Clowes of Fowley ph.Wolfington, husbandman, dec’d, 6 March 1634

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Thomas Maskrie of Marchington, Whitetanner, in consideration of £31, of that new erected house or houses in Marchington and close called Budworth Hill, parcel of ground called New Meadow, for 21 years, at £14 per annum, to grind his corn at Draycott Mill. Dated 25 March 1667.
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	Assignment by Sir Richard Fleetwood of Callwich, Staffs, Bart, and John Hayne of Ofcott, Ashbourne, gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., of the Hundred of Appletree, for a certain sum of money for the remainder of the term of years in lease by Vernon to Bowyer (2/121). Dated 20 March 25 Charles II (see 721)

Certificate that the Commissioners of the Land Revenue have contracted to sell to Lord Vernon a yearly rent of 13s 4d payable to the Crown for tithes in Sudbury: for £20. Dated 8 August

Marriage settlement on the intended marriage of Thomas Wright and Bridgett Charlotte Vernon, daughter of John Vernon by which in consideration of the marriage and an annuity of £200 by Thomas Wright to Bridgett, John Vernon of Clontarfe, Dublin, Esq., to Thomas Wright of Longstone Esq. of the town and lands of Clontarfe in the county of Dublin, with proviso to reconvey if Vernon pays to Wright £2000 as his daughter’s marriage portion. Dated 26 February.

Feoffment by Wiliam Atkinson of the Inner Temple and Mary Vernon widow of John Vernon of Sudbury to Francis Heathcote of City of Lichfield baker, in consideration of £32, all that close or pasture divided into two parts called Cowclose or Westones Close in the fee of Lichfield. Dated 30 November 44 Elizabeth.

Lease by George Venables Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Thomas Twigg of Middlewich, Cheshire, labourer, in consideration of £3 3s and also that Twigg will erect before 25 March next a messuage or dwelling house of timber or brick containing in length six yards, in depth 5½ yards, 3 yds in height to the wall plate, on the site of a messuage in Newton, Middlewich, where John Corke lived, of all that decayed messuage with garden and backside in Middlewich, for the lives of Thomas Twigg, Martha his wife and Charles their son: 5s annual rent. Dated 26 March.
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	Copy lease by Henry Scott of Doveridge, gent, (receiver of the rents and profits of the estate of Thomas Wright Esq. an infant) to Thomas Ashwood of Great Longstone, Esq., of all that capital messuage called Longstone Hall, with use of books, plate, china etc close or orchard adj. and closes called the Backside, the Greenhill, Greenhill Top, Church Croft, Oarmark, Outrake Close, Gildale Tops, Gildale Bottom, 100 sheep gates upon Blackelowe – for 7 years - £140 per annum: extra rent of £5 per acre for ploughing contrary to husbandry covenants. Not dated.

Mortgage by way of release by Henry Marshall of St Mary Hill, Esq., Alderman of City of London, and Charles Poole of London, merchant, to Sarah, Dowager Duchess of Marlborough, at direction of George Venables Vernon, in consideration of £32,000 of the manors of Newton Stanthorn, Marston, Witton, Cotton iuxta Cristleton, Stanford and Belgrave, Cheshire – 2 skins of details. Dated 8 August

(Mortgage in fee for £32,000 by Vernon in effect).

Lease for possession by John Fitzherbet of Somersal Herbert Esq. to Thomas Stubbinge of Scropton, yeoman, of a close called New Close 12a by est. in West Broughton between Salters Lane, a close called Battingsley, the Broome Croft and the Broome Croft Pingle. Dated 18 January

Release with 733: consid.£120. Dated 20 January.

Feoffment by Edward Madeley of Somersal Heath ph.Doveridge, yeoman, to Thomas Stubbinge of West Broughton, yeoman, in consideration of £55, of all that close called Battingsley in West Broughton. 4a by est., with reversion, remainders and deeds. Dated 16 April
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	Assignment by Patrick Gilmore of Stafford, gent, at the request of George Vernon, to Joanna Anson of Shugborough one of the daughters of William Anson, Esq., of a mortgage by way of lease for 1000 years by George Vernon to Patrick Gilmore, of parcels of land called Amberholme and Powbridge Pingle in Marchington, for £250. Dated 23 July 1682.

Feoffment by Edward Madeley of Somersal Heath ph.Doveridge, yeoman John Botham of Hill Somersal ph.Sudbury yeoman, Francis Robinson of Somersal Heath yeoman and Agard Dickinson of Findern, yeoman, to Thomas Stubbing of West Broughton, yeoman, in consideration of £100, of close called “the Little Beach in West Broughton: chief rent of 5s. Dated 4 April.

Final concord between John Fitzherbert Esq., Walter Dixon, Edward Wolley, John Madeley, Edward Madeley, Richard Robinson, Edward Torner, Richard Wall and Thomas Stubbinge pfs. and Penelope Merry, widow, John Merry, Esq., Thomas Jermyn Esq., and Mary his wife, John Dyxe al. Ramsey and Frances his wife, Elizabeth Merry, Edward Gage Esq. and John Coell Esq., def. of the manor of West Broughton and 7 messuages, 2 cottages, 7 gardens, 7 orchards, 300a of land, 50a of meadow, 150a of pasture, 20a of wood, 100a of furze and heath in West Broughton, Doveridge, Somersal Herbert and Sudbury: consideration £500. Dated the Morrow of St Martin 1659

Counterpart of 738

Feoffment by Penelope Merry, widow of Henry Merry late of Sutton on the Hill, Esq., John Merry of Barton Park, Esq., son and heir of Henry, Thomas Jermyn of Risbrodie, Suffolk, and Mary his wife, one of daughters of Henry Merry, John Dix al.Ramsey of Wickmore, Norfolk, and Frances his wife, Elizabeth Merry, Edward Cage of Hengrave, Esq., and John Coell of Depden, Suffolk, to Thomas Stubbinges of Scropton, yeoman, in consideration of £1570, of all that messuage, tenement or farmhouse reputed to be the capital messuage with app. in West Broughton and closes called Kilne Croft, the Dary House Croft, The Broome Crofte, Broome Croft Pingle and the New Close, 14a. by estimation 

Dated 19 November

Lease for possession with 740

Quitclaim by Thomas Gilbert son and heir apparent of Richard Gilbert of Doveridge to Richard Stubbinge of Somersal Herbert, yeoman, of two parcels of meadow ground, one acre of meadow in Broad Meadow, West Broughton, one other piece or parcel of meadow by est. one rood in the meadow called Crowfoote, Doveridge. Dated 31 January 29 Charles II.

Feoffment by Richard Gilbert of Doveridge, gent, Thomas Gilbert his son and heir apparent, John Gilbert the elder of Marchington, gent, and Richard Gilbert of Uttoxeter, Staffs, mercer, to Richard Stubbinge of Somersal Herbert gent, in consideration of £30, of two parcels of meadow as 742. Dated 20 March 28 Charles II.

Final concord between Richard Stubbinges the younger pf. and Richard Bate, gent, and Anne his wife def. of 12a of meadow and 2a of pasture with app. in Sudbury, West Broughton and Doveridge: £60 consid: morrow of the Trinity 1656.

Counterpart of 744

Mortgage by Richard Bate of West Broughton, gent to Richard Stubings the younger of Somersal Herbert, yeoman, of all those several parcels of meadow ground in a common meadow commonly called Broad Meadow in West Broughton and Somersal Herbert 11½ acres by estimation parcel of meadow in parcel of ground in Doveridge called Crowefoote, 1 rood, one pingle and other parcel of land in West Broughton between parcels of land called the Eies and “the Stonerie”: in fee for £50. Dated 20 June.

Feoffment (consideration not mentioned) by Bate to Stubbings of property as 746. Dated 10 April.

Grant in consideration of a further £62 15s by Bate to Stubbings of property as in 746/747. Dated 31 August.

Final concord and counterpart between John Wright

pf. and Robert Emery the younger and Rebecca his wife def. of 15a of land, 6a of meadow, 9a of pasture and common of pasture for all cattle in West Broughton and Doveridge: consid. £60. 8 days of pur.B.M 13 George III
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	Mortgage by way of demise for 99 years for £200 (to secure the payment of a bond) by Anthony Whyting of Shepton Mallett, Somerset, clothier, and Anne his wife to Margaret Whiting of London, spinster, of all that messuage or tenement and dwellinghouse with app. commonly called Gloves lying in Charlton in the parish of Shepton Mallett, close of pasture or meadow adj. one acre by estimation, 2 closes of meadow or pasture called Innocks, 5a by est., all that cottage and close of pasture called Long Close 2a by est., 5a of land meadow and pasture lying in a South Furlong in a field in Shepton Mallett called East Hitchin, close of meadow or pasture called West Hitchin 2a by estimation, one little close containing one yard with cottage erected there and 3 other cottages and a little plot of ground 22ft x 20ft., with covenant to levy a fine. Dated 21 December.

Final concord between George Stone pf. and Margaret Copestake, widow, and John Copestake and Elizabeth his wife def. of one messuage, one cottage, one barn, one garden, 20a of land, 10a of meadow 15a of pasture, 20a of furze and heath and common of p. in Hollyhurst, Marston Montgomery and Cubley: £120 consid: St Hilary in 15 days 2 William and Mary.

Number not used

Feoffment by Penelope Merry, widow of Henry Merry late of Sutton on the Hill, John Merry of Bartons Park Esq., son and heir of Henry, Thomas Jerman of Risbrooke, Suffolk Esq and Mary his wife (one of daughters of Henry Merry), John Dix al. Ramsey of Wickmoore Esq., and Frances his wife (another daughter of HM), Elizabeth Merry of Hengrave Suffolk spinster (another daughter), Edward Gage of Hengrave Suffolk, Esq., and John Coell of Depden, Suffolk, Esq., to Edward Wolley of Somersal Herbert yeoman, in consideration of £140, of a close called the Eise Close 5a, in West Broughton, parcel of meadow called Jelleys Meadow al.Over Meadow 4a in West Broughton. Dated 7 November.
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	Lease for pa. with 754. Dated 5 November 

Number not used

Number not used

Deed of separation – marriage of Hon. George Venables Vernon and Louise Barbara Vernon – between  Hon. George Venables Vernon of Briton Ferry Glamorgan, Hon. Louisa Barbara Vernon his wife, only child and heir of Rt. Hon Bussy late Lord Mansell, Baron Mansell of Margam, Glamorgan, Rt. Hon. Rev Dr John Hinchcliffe, Lord Bishop of Peterborough and Richard Lockwood of Dews Hall, Essex, Esq., reciting marriage settlement of 2 July 1757 and other deeds, and that there is one child of the marriage Louisa Vernon aged 9, that Vernon and his wife have lived apart since 11 November last past and agree not to cohabit, now to make suitable provision for her support, Vernon has agreed to pay to his trustees £1000 per annum in trust for his wife, arising from manors in Glamorgan settled on his wife for his separate use to which end he has conveyed to the trustees (Bishop of Peterborough and Lockwood) the manor of Resolvan, 1/6 pt of the manor of Langenith and other properties in Glamorgan and Brecon, manor of Wellingore, Sussex, and other Sussex properties (recited in detail): schedule of household goods and jewellery for Lousia Vernon’s use. Dated 8 March

Conveyance of manors to assure the payment of an annuity by George Venables Vernon of Sudbury., Esq, only son and heir of Henry Vernon of Sudbury to Anna Caterina Vernon, spinster, one of his daughters by Catherine his late wife dec’d, of the manors of Sudbury, Rodsley, Okes, Somersal, Potter Somersal, Marston Montgomery, Woodhouse, Hollington, Eaton, Sedsall, West Broughton, Doveridge, Houndhill, Draycott in the Clay, Marchington Woodlands, Stubby Lane Newlands Moreton, Coton, Hanbury, Fawld, Aston and forest and chase of Woodward (sic) in Derbys and Staffs, to receive a rentcharge or annuity of £200 arising from them. Dated 13 June.

Bond by George Venables Vernon of Sudbury to Rt. Hon. Francis Earl Guilford and Charles Montague of parish of St George, Hanover Square, in £6000. Dated 2 July – re a decree in Chancery, G.V Vernon pf. and Jane Vaudrey widow and executrix of Richard Vernon gent. and devisees under the will of Richard Vernon defts. Dated 2 July.

Deed to levy a fine between Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and Charles Cholmondeley of Vale Royal, Cheshire Esq., and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, Cheshire gent, by which Vernon agrees to levy to Cholmondeley and Vernon a fine of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley, the advowson of parish church of Sudbury, capital messuage called Sudbury Hall and park adjoining with all lands etc in Sudbury, Aston, Mackley, Okes Somersal, Potter Somersal, Marston Montgomery, 

Rodsley, Hollington, Eaton, Sedsall, West Broughton, and Doveridge, under the description of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley 60 messuages, 10 cottages, 10 tofts, 1 pigeon house 100 barns, 80 gardens, 60 orchards, 1000 a of land, 500a of meadow, 800a of furze, 500a of wood, 500a of heath and furze, 40s rent and common of pasture, common of turbary and free warren with app. in Sudbury etc (as before), free fishing in the Dove, the advowson of Sudbury church, and a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery and the manors of Houndill and Draycott and 20 messuages, 10 cottages, 2 tofts, 4 water corn mills, 30 gardens, 200a of land, 100a of meadow, 700a of pasture, 150a of wood, 100a of heath and furze and common of pasture for all cattle with app. in Houndhill, Draycott in the Clay, Marchington, Marchington Woodlands, Stubby Lane, Newlands Morton, Coton and Hanbury, Fawld, Aston, Sudbury and forest or chase of Needwood. Dated 6 June.

Counterpart of 761

Feoffment by John Bladon of West Broughton, yeoman to Richard Stubbings of West Broughton, gent, in consideration of £16, of all that one acre of land, meadow or pasture in Church Somersal called the Oxacre lying in the Breach Nooke. Dated 10 March 6 Anne

Copy will of Thomas Wright of Great Longstone: to Thomas Wright his son all his real estate in Great and Little Longstone, Ashford, Wardlow, Foolow Eyam, Underwood etc – Thomas Wright, Executor, George Venables Vernon of Sudbury and Godfrey Clarke of Sutton, Derbys, assistants to the Executor. Dated 30 March

Copy lease for possession by George Venables Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Elizabeth Squire of ph. of St Margaret, Westminster, gentlewoman, of the manors or lordships of Wytton, Marston, Cotton iuxta Christleton, Stanford, Eccleston and Belgrave, Cheshire, also advowson of the church of Eccleston with indiv. properties listed in detail including Wincham salt rock pits and Witton corn mills. Dated 19 February

Copy mortgage in fee for £16000 by G. V. Vernon to Mrs Squire of properties as in 765. Dated 20 February.

Copy lease for possession by George Venables Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., and Elizabeth Northcote of Sunninghill, Berks, spinster (executrix of the will of Elizabeth Squire dec’d) to Henry Marshall of St Mary Hill, London, Esq., and Charles Pole of London, merchant of manors in Cheshire as in 765-766. Dated 9 August

Quitclaim by John Botham of Hill Somersal ph.Sudbury, yeoman to Thomas Stubbinge of West Broughton, Derbys, yeoman of all that close or parcel of pasture ground called Battingsley in West Broughton 4a by est. Dated 5 November

Will of Thomas Stubbinge of West Broughton – all his estate of land in West Broughton, Doveridge and Marchington to his brother Richard Stubbinge – if he marries again and has children then he may dispose of it to any of them – in default of issue to Richard Stubbinge second son of his brother …………£10 to the poor of West Broughton and Doveridge £2 to the poor of Church Somersal. Dated 16 February

Mortgage by demise for 1000 years for £60 by John Woolley of Somersal Herbert, yeoman, to John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, of all that close of meadow ground called Jolleys Meadow in West Broughton ph.Doveridge: to be paid by 8 February next ensuing. Dated 8 August.

Quitclaim by John Woolley of Somersal Herbert yeoman, to Richard Stubbinge of West Broughton gent reciting mortgage by Woolley “to Stubbinge” of Jolleys Meadow 29 April 1710, of the equity of redemption in Jolleys Meadow. Dated 9 January

Assignment by John Coke of Derby and John Woolley of Somersal Herbert, yeoman, to Richard Stubbing of West Broughton, gent, reciting mortgage by Woolley to Fitzherbert and assignment by Fitzherbert to Coke, in consideration of £80, of the mortgage of Jolleys Meadow. Dated 1 June

Lease for possession and mortgage in fee by John Woolley of Somersal Herbert, yeoman, to Richard Stubbing of West Broughton, gent, in consideration of £140, of Jolleys Meadow, West Broughton. Dated 28/29 April.

Assignment of mortgage: Fitzherbert and Woolley to John Coke, Doctor of Physick: Dated 15 August £60 consid.

Security for £1000. Henry Vernon of Sudbury and William Woolaston of the Charterhouseyard, M’sex, clerk, by which the manor Sudbury is charged with the sum of £1000 payable to Woolaston. Dated 14 April

Inquisition post mortem – Thomas Venables – 22 April  4 James I (1606)

(in great detail needs looking at again – all Cheshire estate recited in full)

Number not used

Number not used

Numbers missing

Assignment and mortgage, reciting indenture of 13 March 1 James II in pursuance of decree in Chancery by which manor of Houndhill and other properties assigned to Robert Willimott of Osmaston Esq in trust for George Vernon, by which Willimott at the direction of Vernon has assigned to Philip Hawkins, citizen and fishmonger of London, in consideration £620, 2 closes or parcels of enclosed ground called Churnard and Roughholme in Sudbury and Aston for 100 years after the death of George Vernon, also Vernon has leased to Hawkins as a better security the two closes for 91 years at a peppercorn rent: money to be repaid at stated dates. Dated 30 October.

Assoc. with 784 Receipt – Edward Chester one of the sons of Haseldine Chester and Jane his wife, one of the daughters of Robert Hawkins late of City of London dec’d – has received £100 from Isaac Hawkins surviving executor of Robert Hawkins and £28 11s 5d given by the will to his brothers and sisters who died infants – which money was in pursuance of a decree in Chancery set out at interest to George Vernon. Dated 9 September.

Assoc. with 784-785

Bond by George Vernon of Sudbury to Philip Hawkins in £1400: 30 October 1693

Account of monies remaining unpaid from the £1400 mortgage upon Mr Vernon’s estate at Sudbury – this includes bequests to Chester family and bonds due to Isaac Hawkins (again with 784-787)

Assignment by Thomas Chester one of the sons of Granado Chester of £100 legacy from his grandfather Hawkins lent to George Vernon to his brother Robert Chester. Dated 9 December and other associated papers 1 December 1703, 20 December 1713 (785-788) all to be lumped together)

An Act for vesting in New Trustees certain Trust Estates comprised in the settlement made on the marriage of Rt. Hon George Venables, Lord Vernon with Louisa Barbara, Lady Vernon his late wife.

46 Geo.III.

Assignment by John Davey of Clements Inn Middlesex, gent, at the appointment of William Petre of Bellhouse M’sex esq., and Lady Mary Petre daughter of the Earl of Darwent, to Richard Moreton of the Six Clerks Office in Chancery Lane, gent, of a security for £1000 charged on the manor of Sudbury and the whole of the Derbyshire estate by indenture of 24 June 1708 which was not paid. Dated 8 June
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	Bond by Rt Hon George Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton to George Venables Vernon of Britonferry Glamorgan (eldest son of George Lord Vernon) in £10,000: to indemnify G. V. Vernon from the payment of £5000 to Trustees in the marriage settlement of Henry Venable Vernon to Elizabeth Sedley. Dated 29 January.

    Mortgage by way of lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Patrick Gilmore of Stafford, gent, in consideration of £250, of all those several parcels of ground in Marchington called the Ankerholme or Ankerholmes and a little meadow called Powbridge Pingle now in possession of Thomas Fearne – for 1000 years – dated repayable stated. Dated 23 July.

Will and probate of Henry Atkins of Tiverton 20 Sept 1781 (no apparent link with Vernons with receipts for legacies by Joseph Carter and Thomas Ord Craft of Newcastle, Staffs (1798)

End of Box 16

Box 17

2 original parcels of legal papers 

Number not used

Number not used

Draft conveyance 20 June 6 James William Atkinson of Inner Temple to William Allen and John Harestaffe of Sudbury (Vernons agents) fine of manor of Sudbury etc.

Early 17c. Bill against Mr Atkinson to discover the trust in Mr John Vernon’s estate.

Interrogatories to be administered to witnesses produced to be examined on the part and behalf of John Hulme complainant against Rowland Wild, Richard Hyll  and Edmund Skinner (re rectory of Warndon al. Warrenton – Peter Venables involved). n.d. early 17c.

The several answers of George Vernon Esq one of the defendants to the information of Sir John Heath, his majesties Attorney General of his highness Duchy of Lancaster at and by the relation of Sir Thomas Culpepper kt relator -  re lease of fines, commercements and other monies issuing from Duchy of Lancaster property in various counties (n.d. but Charles II).

Number not used

Draft lease for lives John Vernon of Sudbury and William Atkinson of Inner Temple Esq., to Harry Browne of Leigh Hill, Staffs, yeoman, Ellen his wife and Agnes his daughter, in consideration of £20, of a messuage, tenement or cottage and lands etc belonging at Leighe Hill for the lives of 3 leasees. Dated 14 May 35 Elizabeth

Case paper Lawrence Barrow administrator of goods and chattels of John Barrow his brother against Thomas Hewitt regarding a black cow of his brother’s ph of St Mary Bow in the ward of Cheape, London c.1655.

Copy fine – Easter in 15 days 32 Elizabeth – between Thomas Persall Esq. pf and Henry Vernon Esq and John Vernon Esq def. of the manors of Aspley and Sugenhull al. Sugnall 16 messuages, 300a of land, 100a of meadow, 200a of pasture 40a of wood 20a of furze and heath, 100a of marsh in Aspley, Sugnell, Great Sugnell, Little?Ilsall, Dernelsow al. Dorslow, Slyndon and Eccleshall £260 consid.

Case paper – interrogatories to be ministered to witnesses to be produced upon the part and behalf of Peter Venables Esq., def. against William Vernon gent comp. – re borrowing money 1641.

end of bundle
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	Bundle H – another original bundle of case papers

Numbers not used

“True and perfect declaration of John Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., for the disposition of all his lands heretofore conveyed to William Atkinson, Esq., and of his full mind how the same shall be disposed after his death made and declared by him 2 May 1600” – copy: very good account of Vernon property at this date and how J. V disposed of it: includes foundation of poor charities 

Numbers not used

The several answers of Catherine Vernon one of the parties to the bill of complaint of Thomas Vernon Dr of Physick and Merial his wife n.d. late 17.c re Vernon estate in general.

Box 18

Settlement on the marriage of George Venables Vernon the younger to Hon. Louisa Barbara Mansel daughter and heir of Rt Hon Barbara Lady Mansel Widow and relict of Rt. Hon Bussy Lord Mansel Baron Mansel of Margam dec’d, between George Venables Vernon the elder and George Venables Vernon the younger, Lady Mansell and Hon Louisa Barbara Mansell, Rt Hon. Francis Earl Guilford and Charles Montague of the parish of St George Hanover Square (Trustees), Rt Hon William Earl of Jersey and Rt Hon Simon Earl of Harcourt (Trustees)., Rt Hon William Earl of Dartmouth and William Bagot of Blithfield, Staffs, Esq (Trustees) and Rt Hon Thomas Lord Hyde Baron Hyde of Hindon Wilts, and Sir John Eardley Wilmot, kt and the Justices of HM Court of Kings Bench (Trustees), by which in consideration of the marriage and by authority of an indenture enrolled in Chancery 3 May 1757, G V Vernon the elder and G V Vernon the younger limit and appoint that the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley and a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery capital messuage at Sudbury and advowson of Sudbury church manors of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay, capital messuage called Houndhill Hall, 4 water corn mills in Draycott, shall be to the uses herein declared, also the Vernons have released to Earl Guilford and Montague, all the above premises and the messuages, lands, etc on the Derbyshire Estate, also the manors of Kinderton, Sprowston and Bradwell, Cheshire, to hold in trust to several uses, on trust to raise out of the manors an annual rent of £300 for the lives of G V Vernon the younger and Louisa Barbara Mansell, to such uses as she shall appoint, also Trustees to take out a further annual rent of £500 for the lives of G V Vernon the elder and G V Vernon the younger, further if Louisa Barbara survives her husband then she may take for her life a further annual rentcharge of £800 from the premises in lieu of dower: if these sums are paid then the various manors shall be to the use of the Earls of Jersey and Harcourt for 200 years on trust, (declared later) then to the use of George Venables Vernon the elder for life, then to the use of Earl Guilford and Montague to preserve the contingent uses namely to permit G V Vernon the elder to take the rents and profits for life, then to the use of G V Vernon the younger for life, then to the use of Guilford and Montague to permit G V Vernon the younger to take the rents and profits for life, then after the decease of both to the use of Earl of Dartmouth and Bagot for 500 years (trusts declared later), to the uses of the successive male heirs of the marriage, in default to the use of Henry Vernon second son of George Vernon the elder and his successive male issue, and in default to the use of  Lord Hyde, Wilmot and the Justices of Kings Bench, to the use of the successive male heirs of Vernon by any other wife, in default to the use of Henry Vernon second son of George Vernon the elder and his successive male issue, and in default to the use of the other sons of G V Vernon the elder and in default to the use of G V Vernon the elder his heirs and assigns: may other provisions regarding the terms of 200 and 500 years mentioned earlier, providing for marriage portions etc. Dated 2 July.

Release and quitclaim by Peter Yates administrator of the will of Jane Vaudrey dec’d (who was executrix of the will of Richard Vernon of Middlewich), to George Venables Vernon, son and heir of Henry Vernon and grandson of George Vernon, releasing G V Vernon his heirs and administrators and the heirs and administrators of Henry Vernon his father, from the sum of £7872 3s 1d due to Yate as administrator of Richard Vernon and from all and every the sums of money which Peter Yate as administrator has against G V Vernon, and quitclaiming to G V Vernon all the manors land etc heretofore of Henry Vernon wherein he or any person in trust for him has any claim which were included in the marriage settlement of Henry Vernon and Ann Pigot, beginning with recital of complaint in Chancery Trinity Term 1732 by G V Vernon son of Henry Vernon against Thomas Vaudrey, Jane his wife and others and subsequent developments which explain the connection between Geo.Vernon’s (grandfather) debts, Henry Vernon’s marriage settlement, the Vaudreys and this deed. Dated 22 July.

Reports – G V Vernon to Vaudrey – explaining the transactions between Henry Vernon’s marriage settlement and the “Vernon and Vaudrey decree” and containing also 15 schedules of accounts dealing with the financial transactions between Henry Vernon, Richard Vernon, Thomas and Jane Vaudrey, which resulted in the sum of £7872 3s 1d mentioned in discharge of 22 July 1761 (817). Dated 18 November.

Security for indemnifying estates in marriage settlement prior to marriage between George Venables Vernon and Mary Howard, one of the daughters and co-heirs of the late Lord Howard of Effingham, by which in consideration of the marriage and in pursuance of an agreement for indemnifying the manors to be settled from debts, mortgages etc., G V Vernon has released to Mary Howard’s guardians, Rt Hon Francis Earl of Effingham, Rt Hon John Lord Monson and James Pelham of Crowhurst, Sussex, Esq., the manors of Mooresbarrow cum Patme arclie Moreton (!) [poor copy], Alconlowe, Newbold, Astbury, Somerford, Radner, Davenport, Moston, Hunsterson, Briddesmere, Lea, Checkley, Witton, Marshton, Wincham, Castle Northwich, Hartford, Eccleston and Cotton iuxta Christleton, Cheshire and the advowsons of the churches of Eccleston and Rosthorn, Cheshire with all messuages etc belonging, to use of guardians with the proviso that if various indemnifies the said properties from all debts mortgages etc then null and void. Dated 20 June.

Assignment of mortgage by Rt Hon Grace, Countess of Dysert (or Dysart – spelt both ways), widow of Lionel Earl of Dysart, to George Venables Vernon of Sudbury (infant under the age of 21, son and heir of Henry Vernon), in consideration of £2800 paid to the Countess by William Mills of Leek, Staffs, gent, (one of the receivers of the rents of the estate of G V Vernon) and £1323 11s 5d paid to the Countess by Ralph Bridge of Huxley Hall, Cheshire (the other receiver of the rents of the estate of G V Vernon) - £4123 11s 5d in all – paid at the direction of William Hanbury of Kelmarsh, Northants son and executor of Thomas Hanbury, sergeant at law dec’d, reciting many previous deeds beginning with the marriage settlement of George Vernon and Margaret Oneley 21 February ]1659 (1/51) by which the manors of Houndhill, Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley, Houndhill Hall, four water corn mills at Draycott, advowson of Sudbury church were conveyed to trustees and by which the five daughters of the marriage became entitled to the sum of £10,000 and continuing with indenture of assignment of 11 December 1713 by Henry Vernon son of George Vernon (by a subsequent marriage?) to Nehemia Osland, at the consent of John Fitzherbert and John Beresford of properties in Sudbury, Aston, Hill and Potter Somersal, Okes Green and Mackley (recited in full) for better securing the payment to Thomas Hanbury of Kelmarsh the sum of £2500 and continuing with all the transactions involving the Chesters (see 16.784-7 et al), of all the messuages etc to be demised, bargained and sold to Philip and William Hawkins in Sudbury etc., and further Nehemia Osland citizen and grocer of London (mortgagee in 1713) has assigned to Sir Charles Vernon of Farnham, Surrey, all the premises in the assignment of 11 December 1713. Dated 1 April.

(see 1/51, 16.784.7 and presumably many others – not clear whether all these transactions should come under family settlements) all seem to be tied in with money raised for trusts and legacies.
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	As 1/51 – settlement on the marriage of George Vernon and Margaret Only, daughter of Edward Only Esq. Dated 20 February (trusts probably need examining).

Family settlement following the marriage of George Vernon to Katherine daughter of Sir Thomas Vernon, by which, in consideration of the marriage and £3000, George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., Katherine his wife, Sir Thomas Vernon father of Katherine, Sir George Vernon of Farnham, Surrey kt. brother of Sir Thomas Vernon, George Vernon Esq son and heir of Sir George Vernon and William Falkener of London, merchant agree to levy to the Hon Alexander Stanhope of the parish of St Clement Danes M’sex Esq., and Robert Yard of the City of Westminster Esq., a fine of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley, the advowson of Sudbury church, a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery, manors of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay the capital messuage called Houndhill Hall and four water corn mills on the Dove: to various uses: for and concerning that piece of ground in Sudbury between the lane leading to Scropton and the piece of ground called Mr Thomas’ Piece a messuage, farm or tenement in Sudbury in the possession of James Platts, a close called Somersal Close, capital messuage in West Broughton messuage, farm or tenement in Hill Somersal now in the tenure or occupation of Henry Upton, messuage, farm or tenement in Okes Green in the occupation of Thomas Statham, messuage, farm or tenement at Rodsley in the tenure of John Osbiston, parcels of land called Anchor Holmes and a parcel of meadow called Powbridge Pingle in Marchington, messuage or tenement and croft adj, ½ acre of meadow in the upper end of Densey, 2 lands in Stoney Flatt in the Overfield of Draycott, 4 further lands in the Overfield of Draycott, closes called Earls Meadow and Deresalts Hyron, 4a in Marchington, close called the Ashpiece in Draycott, the Intacks 3a, Pokers Grasse Piece, Wilsons Grasse Piece, 3 selions of land in Stratford Field ½ a, 6 selions of land in the Milnefield at a place called the Eyes, 1a (all in Marchington), a messuage or tenement called Reeves Thing with backside 1½  a in Marchington, closes Cheshire Field 8 acres, two little closes at the end of Bayles 3a, upper and Nether Boate Stake 5a, 3a of land in the Brookfield, 1a 3r of meadow in Marchington New Meadow, 1a of meadow in Church Furlong, 1 selion of arable in Brookfield in a close and 7a 1r of arable land in Brookfield, Millfield, Stotfoldfield and Bemainas Field, 1½ a of pasture in Brookfield, a close meadow called Lady Meadow in Draycott in the Clay, 4a by est., two closes called Millstones, lands in the Dovefield of Draycott purchased of William Robotham, two pingles below Draycott Mill, a close called Coate Hole, Draycot, 3a and other properties in Draycott and Marchington (scheduled in detail), also the manor of Haslington, Cheshire: to the use of George Vernon of Sudbury for life, then to the use of Thomas Vernon, William Falkener and Anthony Balam for the life of George Vernon to preserve the contingent uses, after his decease to the use of his sons successively, in default to the use of George Vernon his heirs and assigns subject to the provisions in an indenture of 7 February 28 Charles II for raising the portions of daughters of George Vernon by Dorothea his late wife: for and concerning the manor of Houndill and the capital messuage Houndhill Hall, to the use of George Vernon for life then to the use of Katherine Vernon his wife for life for her jointure, then to the use of Thomas Vernon, Falkener and Balam for the lives of George and Katherine to preserve the contingent uses; after the decease of both to the use of the successive male issue, in default to the use of the Trustees for 1000 years in trust, then to the use of George Vernon’s heirs and assigns: for and concerning the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley and the advowson of the church and the moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery, to the use of George Vernon for life, then to the use of Vernon Falkener and Balam to the use of successive male issue of the marriage; in default to the use of George Vernon his heirs and assigns, subject to the provisos in the marriage settlement of George Vernon and Margaret Onley on 20 February 1659: the term of 1000 years is to raise £10,000 from the rents and profits of the estate to provide the portions of daughters. Dated 10 March.
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	Deed to levy a fine by Henry Vernon of Sudbury to Charles Cholmondeley of Vale Royal, Cheshire Esq., and Richard Vernon of Middlewich Cheshire gent, reciting that Henry Vernon is seised of an estate tail of the manors of Sudbury Aston and Rodsley, advowson of Sudbury church, capital messuage Sudbury Hall a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery, manors of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay, capital messuage called Houndhill Hall and 4 water corn mills on the Dove, and in order to bar and dispose of these estates, of the manors recited above under the descriptions of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley and 60 messuages, 10 cottages, 10 tofts, 1 pigeon house, 100 barns, 80 gardens, 60 orchards, 1000a of land, 500a of meadow, 800a of pasture, 500a of wood, 500a of heath and furze, 40s rent in Sudbury, Coton, Macley, Okes, Somersal, Potter Somersal, Marston Montgomery, Woodhouse, Rodsley Hollington, Sedsall, West Broughton and Doveridge, free fishing in the Dove, advowson of Sudbury church, moiety of manor of Marston Montgomery, and the manors of Houndill and Draycott in the Clay and 20 messuages, 10 cottages, 2 tofts, 4 water corn mills, 30 gardens, 200a of land, 100a of meadow, 700a of pasture, 150a of wood, 100a of heath and furze in Houndhill, Draycott in the Clay, Marchington, Marchington Woodlands, Stubby Lane, Newlands, Morton, Coton, Hanbury, Fawd and the Forest of Needwod, on trust for Henry Vernon to receive the rents and to make any conveyance of the premises. Dated 6 June.

Appointment by Henry Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, gent in consideration of £1000 paid by Neville Ridley of St Anne’s Soho, gent, and Benjamin Pyne of London, goldsmith, that the sum of £1000 + 5% interest shall be raised out of the rents and profits of the manors of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay – to be repaid at the end of 6 months from the date of this indenture. Dated 23 July (in effect a mortgage)

Assignment by Walter Plummer of parish of St George the Martyr Esq to George Vernon of Farnham Surrey Esq (in trust for George Venables Vernon, son and heir of Henry Vernon), reciting many previous mortgages beginning with marriage settlement of George Vernon 20/21 February 1659 once again, in consideration of £1564 14s 8d, of two closes called Churnard and Roughholme in Sudbury for the remainder of an unexpired term of 100 years demised to Thomas Hanbury of Kelmarsh dec’d – and also assignment by Walter Bacon of Earlsham, Norwich Esq., to George Vernon and Thomas Vernon of Twickenham Park Esq (again in trust for G V Vernon), at the appointment of William Hanbury and Walter Plummer, of the same two closes for the remainder of a 500 year term demised to Bacon – and further assignment of same premises by Sir Thomas Samuel of Upton, Northants and Dame Mary his wife (executors of William Ives) for the remainder of a 40 year term, to George Vernon in trust for G V Vernon, Dated 27 May (£1564 paid by Walter Mills, receiver of rents of the estate of G.V.V).

Assignment by Robert Moreton of the Inner Temple Esq., sole executor of the will of Richard Moreton with the consent of William Petre of Belhouse, Essex, Esq., at the nomination of G V Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to James Pelham of Crowhurst Sussex Esq., and Richard Lockwood of the City of London Esq., - reciting deed of 24 June 1708 by which £1000 was to be raised out of the manor of Sudbury – in consideration of £1330, of the principal sum of £1000 secured out of the manor of Sudbury mentioned in deed of 24 June 1708. Dated 3 July.

Damaged

Agreement prior to the marriage settlement of Henry Vernon and Ann Pigott Dated 20 May. Parts illegible but may be able to make something of it if settlement itself missing.

Security – by which Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, gent, in consideration of £1000 (paid by John Rowland of Boothby Pannell, Lincs, gent), reciting that by deed of 6 June 1707 a fine to be levied of the manors of Sudbury Aston and Rodsley and Sudbury Hall, have charged that the above manors be charged with the sum of £1000. Dated 1 November.

Mortgage by demise for £5000, by Henry Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., and Anne his wife, to William Wollaston of the Charterhouse Yard, Middlesex, clerk, of the manors of Houndhill and Draycott, Houndhill Hall and 4 water corn mills at Draycott: for 1000 years. Dated 16 February (9 Anne) (with counterpart)

Further charge by Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, gent, to Nevile Ridley of the parish of St Ann Soc.Hoe gent, and Benjamin Pyne of London, goldsmith, for £500 charged on Houndill and Draycott estates, reciting mortgage for £1000 of 23 July 1707. Dated 27 September

Appointment by Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, gent to Joseph Newell of London, goldsmith, in consideration of £1000, that the sum of £1000 by raised out of the manor of Sudbury and Derbys estate: with bond. Dated 25 July.

Further charge as 833 but to John Meade of London, goldsmith, for £1000. Dated 28 July

Assignment by Henry and Richard Vernon to Benjamin Pyne of London, goldsmith, in consideration of £500 (paid by Joseph Cox, of Kidderminster, previous mortgagee), of the principal sum of £500 charged on the manor of Sudbury and Derbys estate. Dated 28 January

Mortgage to Joseph Cox of Kidderminster, gent, for £500 charged on Sudbury estate recited in 835 Dated 4 October
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	Release (and lease) by Henry Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Thomas Vernon of Twickenham Park, M’sex, Esq., and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, gent for indemnifying Richard from Henry Vernon’s debts, for raising money to pay Henry Vernon’s debts to Richard and for securing an annuity of £200 granted by Henry Vernon to his wife Matilda as her jointure and an annuity of £50 for the portion of Catherine their daughter, of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley, Sudbury Hall, the advowson of Sudbury church, moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery, the manors of Houndhill and Draycott and 4 water corn mills on the Dove – to uses as specified above. Dated 17/18 June.

Further charge for £1000 – part of the purchase money for the manor of Long Witton, Northumberland: Henry and Richard Vernon to Thomas Radclyffe of Dilston, Northumberland, Esq., and Nevile Ridley of ph. of St Anne Soho, gent, in consideration of £1000, on the manors of Sudbury and Derbys estate. Dated 24 June.

Further charge for £500 – by Henry and Richard Vernon to Nevile Ridley of parish St Ann Soho – part payment of a bond to Thomas Vernon of April 1707 – again charged on Sudbury and Derbys estate. Dated 10 September: with bond

Addendum to 837 – between Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and Thomas Vernon of Twickenham Park M’sex, Esq., and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, gent, by which Henry Vernon revokes all wills, also charges all the estates in 837 with raising £10,000 as the portion of Anna Catherina his daughter and also confirms that Thomas, Richard and Anna Catherina Vernon, his sister, are the guardians of his son and daughter. Dated 12 February.

Receipt by Henry Vernon of Hilton, Staffs, son and heir of Henry Vernon late of Hilton dec’d, from Richard Vernon one of the executors and trustees of Henry Vernon late of Sudbury, of £139  13s  4d, due upon a bond. Dated 7 October
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	A state(ment) of the incumbrances which affected the estates of a G V Vernon the Elder, Esq., in Staffs and Derbys, previous to his first marriage in 1733 and of the family settlements, wills and other transactions with observations showing how such incumbrances were created and with a few exceptions have been discharged or at an end: Dated 11 September. i.e. abstracts of all settlements, mortgages etc. form the marriage settlement of George Vernon in 1659 onwards (N.B. George Vernon had 3 wives).

Bond 9 May 1696 by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Katherine Meynell, widow, of Richmond in £80 – with case paper May 1728

Copy marriage articles of Henry Vernon and Ann Pigott (828 damaged) between Henry Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., Catherine Vernon widow and relict of George Vernon dec’d and mother and guardian of Henry Vernon now an infant aged 17, and Thomas Vernon of Twickenham Park Esq., his uncle, Ann Pigott only daughter of Thomas Pigott late of Stafford Esq., dec’d by Mary his late wife also dec’d who was the only sister of Peter Venables, Esq., late Baron of Kinderton dec’d, and Richard Vernon of Middlewich, guardian of Ann Pigott by which it is agreed that within one month of attaining the age of 21 Henry Vernon shall convey to Trustees all the manors etc in Derbyshire and Staffordshire in which he has any estate: £100 to be set aside annually for the exclusive use of Ann Pigott, to be increased to £200 if the estates of Peter Venables descend to her: after the death of Henry Vernon estates to the value of £600 per annum to the use of Ann for life and after the determination of the several estates and terms the estates to be to the use of the successive male issue, and in default to the use of the daughters successively in default of all issue to the use of Henry Vernon and his heirs: Many other provisions for raising the portion of daughters etc. Dated 20 May.

Case paper Vernon against Yate: order for making the agreement of 10 June 1761 an order of court and for the Master to deliver back all the deeds, books, papers and writings left with him: G V Vernon son of Henry Vernon and Ann his wife v Peter Yate administrator of the Jane Vaudrey who was the executrix of Richard Vernon dec’d. Dated 16 June.

End of Box 18
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*It was Edward son and heir of John who married Margaret whatever it says here.
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	Box 19

Bundle of Sudbury deeds:-

Agreement between Henry Townshend of Cunde Shropshire Esq., and Dorothy his wife, late wife of Henry Vernon of Hilton, Staffs, dec’d, Walter Hevningham of Pipe Hall Esq., Margaret Vernon infant daughter and sole heir of Henry Vernon dec’d and Mary Vernon widow late wife of John Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., for herself and on behalf of Edward Vernon son and heir of Walter Vernon of Houndhill Esq – upper part just about illegible – whole series of clauses – for ending all suits relating to the estate of the late John Vernon – *marriage is to be had between Edward Vernon son and heir of Walter Vernon and Margaret Vernon daughter of Henry Vernon (?) – upper part is inexplicable, too faded.

agreed that Mary Vernon shall receive the rents and profits of the lands conveyed to Mr Harvie for the payment of several charges of John Vernon – debts due to Edward Bankes, William Prince and others. Agreed that on payment of £1100 to Mr Townshend the order of the Court of Wards touching the receiving of the issues rents etc of land conveyed to Mr Harvey shall be dissolved.

Agreed that the £1100 paid by Mr Townshend is payment for the satisfaction of Mr Jackson, Mr Allen, Mr Atkinson and others to whom John Vernon in debt. All lands remaining unsold to be assured in various ways – Hilton and Essington to the use of Mary Vernon until Edward Vernon comes of age, then moiety to use of Mary Vernon with remainder to Edward and Margaret Vernon 

Manors of Sudbury, Aston and Okes Green, Mackley etc to use of Mary Vernon until Christmas 1608, then moiety to her use for life with remainder to Edward Vernon and his male issue with remainder to Thomas Vernon and his male issue, other moiety to the use of Edward and Margaret and their male issue with remainder to Thomas and Walter Vernon and their male issue.

Lands in Hill and Potter Somersal, moiety of Marston Montgomery, manor of Rodsley etc as shall not have been sold to use of Mary Vernon until Christmas 1608, then to her use for life, then with remainder to Edward and Margaret and their heirs and many other provisions. Dated 16 June.

N.B some confusion: are there two Edwards. Edward also heir of John Vernon – which is getting married? (see 865)

Recovery (with good seal) too damaged to open.

Assignment Grant by Edmond Story(?) of the City of London to Walter Vernon of the Inner Temple in consideration of £939 of all bonds obligations etc in which he is bound to him. Damaged: large holes: date missing. 16 James I.

Lease by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, Esq., to John Everard of Ouldfeilds, Charnwood Forest, gent, in consideration of £10, of all his close called New Copie or Harrisons Copie in Sudbury (reserving timber): for 120 years, if Jane wife of J. E,

and his sons John and Thomas live as long. Dated 1 July 4 James I. 

Gift by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple Esq. Edward Banks of Finchley  Middlesex, gent, Peter Broughton of London, gent (with consent of Mary Vernon, widow, late wife of John Vernon and Edward Vernon son and heir apparent) to Thomas Vernon of the Inner Temple, second son of said Mary of an annuity of £13  6s  8d issuing from the manor of Sudbury and of Aston – for life. Dated 10 June.

Deed to lead to uses of a fine between William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, London, Esq., William Allen of Sudbury, gent, John Harestaffe of Sudbury, gent, Mary Vernon widow of John Vernon, Edward Vernon son and heir apparent of Mary, Margaret Vernon wife of said Edward, Thomas Vernon of the Inner Temple London, gent, second son of said Mary and Walter Vernon of the Inner Temple, third son of the said Mary, - by which in consideration of £1373 2s 8d (by Mary and Edward), Atkinson, Mary Edward, Thomas and Walter Vernon have levied a fine to Allen and Harestaffe (agents) of the manor of Sudbury, the advowson of Sudbury church – to various uses – moiety viz. the capital messuage lately erected by Mary Vernon, Hall Orchard and Sherwin’s Close to the use of Mary Vernon for life, then to use of Edward Vernon and his male issue, in default to use of Thomas and Walter Vernon and their male issue, in default to the use of Sir Robert Vernon of Hodnett, Salop and his male issue, in default to use of right, heirs of Edward Vernon: other moiety to the use of Edward and Margaret and their male issue, and in default to successive uses as before – schedule attached of annuities, rentcharges etc., and lease made by William Atkinson relating to manor of Sudbury. Dated 20 June 6 James I.

Counterpart of 851

Lease by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple Esq to John Bothome of Sudbury, husbandman, of all that messuage or tenement in Sudbury in the occupation of John Bothome with all lands etc usually belonging: for 120 years: or for lives of John and Mary his wife and Thomas his son; annual rent of 19s. Dated 1 May 4 James I

Counterpart of 849

Lease by William Atkinson of Inner Temple Esq to William Powson of the High Ashes Sudbury, yeoman (with consent of Mary and Edward Vernon) of all his messuage or tenement at High Ashes in Sudbury Woods with all buildings, lands etc belonging – for 120 years or lives of Walter and Helen Pearson (wife) and Vernon Pearson (son) – ann.rent of a red rose. 

Dated 23 May 6 James I

Assignment by Henry Towneshend of Connde Salop Esq – pursuant to agreement of 16 June 1601 to Walter and Erasmus Heveningham of Pipe Hall to receive all the sums of money remaining to be paid as a result of above agreement upon trust to employ the same to the benefit of Henry Towneshend the son being an infant. Dated 20 September (see 846)

Lease by ?Henry (scrubbed out) Vernon to Edward Allen of Sudbury of 2 closes lying together lately belonging to John Greatorex, 3 lands in a croft belonging to house in which Edward Allen lives, croft on the backside of the house, three leas lying in the Millstones in Sudbury Hill Field, so much land lying in the Crosse Field lately belonging to the tenement in Okes now in the occupation of Widow Paulmer viz. one butt in the Crosse Flatt, another butt in the same flatt, 6 butts in the same flatt, three butts in the White Field – for 80 years – ann.rent of 7s. Dated 20 March (late 17c presumably).

Receipt – Edward Vernon of Houndhill to his mother Mary Vernon of Sudbury – has received £246 as part of the 400 marks which she agreed to pay towards the discharge of the debt due to Sir Henry Townshende. Dated 24 April 1611 (see 846, 856)

Declaration of William Atkinson Esq for the disposition of certain lands heretofore conveyed to him by John Vernon Esq and the issues and profits of the same lands remaining in his hands, and William Atkinson’s full mind how the same shall be disposed after the death of John Vernon, 3 July 1600.

Receipt – Sir Henry Agard Kings feodarye of the Honour of Tutbury  - of Mary and Edward Vernon - £16 13s 4d – all releases and respects of homage for the manor and lordships of Sudbury, Somersal, Aston, Marston Montgomery, Rodsley Osleston Eaton and Sedsall – 14 October 1619.

Bond by Edward Griffis (sic) of Alverbury Salop, yeoman, to Mary Vernon of Sudbury, widow and Edward Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in £400. Dated 24 July – re advowson of Sudbury rectory.

Exemplification of fine (and previous documents), St Trinity in 3 weeks 34 Elizabeth between William Atkinson, gent, pf., and John Vernon Esq., def of the manors of Sudbury, Aston, Rodsley and 100 messuages, 1 watermill, 1 windmill, 1 dovehouse, 100 gardens, 60 orchards, 1000a of land 500a of meadow, 1000a of pasture, 500a of wood, £5 rent in Sudbury, Aston, Rodsley, Marston Montgomery, Potter Somersal, Woodhouses, Okes, Hill Somersal, Mackley, Waldley, Doveridge and Hollington, right of fishing in the Dove, advowson of Sudbury church, and the manors of Leighe and Geaton and 50 messuages, 20 tofts, 1 watermill, 1 dovehouse, 50 gardens, 500a of land 200a of meadow, - - of pasture, in Leigh, Wothington, Nobotte, Chitley - £1160 consideration. Dated 23 January 43 Eliz.

Gift by Mary Vernon of Sudbury, widow, and Edward Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Edward Griffis of Allerbury, Salop, yeoman, of the next advowson to the church and rectory of Sudbury. Dated 24 July (see 86)

Lease by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, London, Esq., to Raffe Buckley of Sudbury, husbandman, Margery Buckley his wife and Humfrey Buckley his son, all that messuage or tenement with appurtenances all bgs, lands etc belonging – for their lives – 7s per annum. Dated 12 February 44 Elizabeth

Counterpart of 846 – better copy

parties Henry Townshend of Cund, Salop Esq., Dorothy his wife late wife of Henry Vernon of Hilton Esq., Walter Heveningham of Pipe Hall guardian of Margaret Vernon an infant daughter of Henry Vernon dec’d, Mary Vernon late wife of John Vernon for herself and on behalf of Edward Vernon son and heir of Walter Vernon late of Houndhill Esq., dec’d and of her the said Mary late wife also unto said Walter Vernon * (so Mary must have been the widow of both John and Walter Vernon, making Edward heir to both)

Lease by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple London Esq., to Nicholas Scott of Sudbury, husbandman, of all that messuage or tenement in Sudbury in tenure or occupation of Nicholas Scott with all lands etc belonging for 120 years or the lives of Nicholas, Anne and John Scott. Dated 6 November 44 Elizabeth 24s per ann.rent.

end of bundle

Rodsley – Okes Green bundle

Feoffment by Mary Vernon of Sudbury widow and Edward Vernon her son and heir apparent to John Prince of Rodsley, yeoman, in consideration of £150, of all that messuage, farm or tenement in Rodsley with all bgs. lands etc. belonging (except for beast gates on a pasture called They Fynny in Rodsley). Dated 17 March 7 James I

Feoffment by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple London Esq., Ralph Allyn citizen and mercer of London, Mary Vernon widow of Sudbury and Edward Vernon son and heir apparent to Peter Pollett of Rodsley, gent, for unspecified consideration, of messuage, farm or tenement in Rodsley in the tenure of Peter Pollett, Great Close, Clyffe Field, the Parkesyde, Hanginge Flate, 3 beast gates in the Highe Cliffe, closes called Great Rake, Little Rakes, Garncestile, meadow at the end of the same close, parcel of ground in the Church Field, two little crofts above the house, also all that messuage, farm or tenement called Turners Farm in Rodsley all bgs. lands etc belonging (except for beast gates in the Fynnye). Dated 25 June 6 James I

Feoffment (v. badly faded) by William Atkinson, Ralph Allen, Mary and Edward Vernon to John Harestaffe of Sudbury, gent, in consideration of declarations of John Vernon, of a messuage, farm or tenement in Rodsley in the occupation of John Sherwyn with all bgs. lands etc belonging (basically illegible – probably not a straightforward conveyance). Dated 24 June 6 James I

Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt and Dame Margaret his wife to Henry Vernon of Haslington Cheshire his son and heir, for a “competent sum of money”, of a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery and the manor of Rodsley. Dated 23 February 1651 (sic)

Release by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to William Bowyer of Potter Somersal, ym, in consideration of £120, of all that messuage farm or tenement at Rodsley with all bgs. lands etc. belonging. Dated 30 March 1689.

Bond as above in £40: Vernon to Bowyer. 16 October 

Case paper – alleged trespass by Thomas Prince upon a farm at Rodsley leased by Henry Vernon to Thomas Wildinge for 5 years 10 April 1658 – Upper Bench Holy Trinity term 1658 (with 871/2)

Gift by Robert le Aumbler to Thomas de Marchynton of Rodsley of a toft and all that land and meadow with appurtenances which John de Felde formerly held in Rodsley. Witnesses: Nicholas de Knyveton, John Durdon, John Selveyn and others.

Sunday nxt. After the feast of St James the Apostle 46 Edward III.

Feoffment by Mary Vernon of Sudbury widow and Edward Vernon son and heir to James Browne of Marston Montgomery and Thurston Browne his brother, yeoman, in consideration of £150, of all that messuage farm or tenement in Rodsley now or late in tenure of William Browne and James Browne all bgs, lands etc belonging, close of meadow on pasture near Peter Pollett’s dwelling house called Ireland’s Croft and close called the Fynnye. Dated 17 March 7 James I.

Feoffment by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple Esq., and Ralph Allen citizen and mercer of London to John Harestaffe of Sudbury, gent, of all that messuage in Rodsley now or late in occup. of John Sherwyn with all bgs. lands etc. belonging (except for 4 beast gates in the Fynnye). Dated 25 June (see 869) (as 869 but old-style Latin feoffment).

Declaration by John Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., reciting bargain and sale – towards the payments of John Vernon debts to Edward Horton – by William Atkinson to Ralph Allen citizen and mercer of London of the manor of Rodsley, that William Atkinson was lawfully seised of the manor at that date, that Ralph Allen may lawfully occupy and may continue to do so if Vernon defaults in payment of sums mentioned in above indenture. Dated 2 August 34 Elizabeth.

Lease by William Atkinson to Richard Scattergood of all that messuage or tenement with appurtenances and all bgs. lands etc. belonging in Okes Green in occupation of Richard Scattergood – for 120 years or lives of Richard, Margerye (wife) and Elizabeth (daughter) Scattergood – annual rent of 44s. Dated 14 November 2 James I.

Agreement by Nicholas Bucke of Chardon Warwicks Esq., to pay to George Wyntowe of Huddington Worcs Esq., £20 per annum for the joint lives of George and Margaret his wife, formerly wife of the late Henry Vernon reciting that Wyntowe had previously assigned to Buck all the lands he held by right of his wife’s jointure (doesn’t specify where). Dated 12 October 26 Elizabeth.

Lease by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple, London Esq., to John Stevenson of Okes Green, husbandman, Anne his wife and William Narwood son of Richard Narwood of Scropton, husbandman, of all that messuage or tenement with app. in Okes Green now in occupation of Dorothie Stevenson, widow, and the said John – for their lives – 13s per annum. Dated 14 November 2 James I.

Gift by Thomas son of Nicholas de Marchinton to Master John de Legh parson of the church of Legh, Master Thomas de Clifton parson of the church of Irton and John Wade, chaplain, of his manor of Rodsley (Roddesley) with and all and singular lands, rents, woods, meadows, mills, ponds, vineyards, turberies, pastures, services etc and also a messuage and bovate of land which Alice formerly wife of Roger Michgov[er] held in dower and which reverts to him (Thomas) after the death of said Alice, also all his lands and tenements in Wyardeston with all app. and also 20s rent arising from lands and tenements which William ?Plautnill (tear) and Hawise his wife held from him in Hollington and 5s annual rent arising from lands and tenements which Thomas Adam held from him in Ashbourne (Assheburne) and 6d annual rent arising from a messuage which Thomas le Locsmyth? held from him in _________ (hole) and 3s 4d annual rent issuing from a messuage of Thomas de Lemenstre 

_______(hole)

Witnesses (bottom half v.damaged)

Richard de Meignill, Robert de Twyford ________kts, John Cockeyn Edmund Cokayn, Thomas de Knyveton, Nicholas de Knyveton, John Selveyn _______. Monday next after ft. of St Thomas the Martyr? 41 Edward III (41 illeg).

Covenant by Ralph Allen (Raphe Allin) citizen and mercer of London that if William Atkinson, who within 6 years is to pay to him £600, (as recited in bargain and sale of manor of Rodsley by Atkinson to Allen of same date), shall in the meantime enter into a sale of the manor of Rodsley, then Allen (Allyn) is to “enter and join” in the bargain and sale. Dated 2 August 34 Elizabeth.

Feoffment by William Atkinson of the Inner Temple London, Esq., Ralph Allyn citizen and mercer of London to Peter Pollett of all that messuage or tenement in Rodsley called Turners Farm and all lands etc belonging.

Dated 25 June

Feoffment by William Atkinson Raphe Allyn and Edward Vernon to Mary Vernon – in consideration of the accomplishments of the declaration of John Vernon concerning the payment of £500 to Grace and Elizabeth Vernon, two daughters of said Mary – of the manor of Rodsley. Dated 26 June

Feoffment by William Atkinson and Ralph Allyn to Mary Vernon of the manor of Rodsley – as recited above. Dated 26 June

(882, 884.5 are all obviously part of family settlement but perhaps ought not to be split from the

bundle)

end of bundle 
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	Marchington Bundle

Quitclaim by Robert Chapman of Park House gent, to William Botham, Mackworth, yeoman, of all that inclosed ground called Pipehey ph.Hanbury, close of meadow and pasture called Blackyearth ph. Marchington, messuage or tenement in Draycott in the possession of Mary Hill, messuage or tenement in Stubby Lane in the possession of William Wolley, messuage or tenement in Marchington in the occupation of Francis Witheringes tenement in Marchington in the occupation of William Marshall, closes in Marchington called the Rowley or Bucke Reddinge and Atkins Close also in Marchington and any other mess. etc. he may claim by the will of Robert Chapman of Agardsley Lodge. Dated 1 October.

Assignment of mortgage by demise of properties as in 886 – mortgage for £500 by Sir Edward Vernon 5 January 10 Charles I to Robert Chapman – now assigned for the residue of the term by Giles Chapman, Aston Cliffe, Staffs, gent John Willett of Thorney Lane, Staffs yeoman (executors of the will of Robert Chapman) to William Botham of Mackworth, yeoman. Dated 29 September 22 Charles I (1646)

Deed to levy a fine - Richard Cope of Draycott, yeoman and Elizabeth his wife, Anthony Carter of Marchington Woodland, yeoman, and Margery his wife agree to levy a fine to William Gilbert of Uttoxeter, gent, Christopher Smith of Bromley Hurst ph. Bromley Pagett, Staffs, gent, and William Hill of Morton ph. Hanbury, yeoman, of all that messuage or tenement in Draycott now or late in tenure of Richard Cope with all lands etc belonging 1a, ½ a and 3r of meadow in Marchington Great Meadow at a place called Wordhurst, ½ a of meadow called ?Lowsie Acre in Marchington Great Meadow – by the name of 1 messuage, 20a of land, 6a of meadow 20a of pasture and common of pasture for all manner of cattle in Draycott, Hanbury, Stubby Lane and Marchington to various uses:

5 selions of arable, 1 acre in Spellgreave and Furlong Fields to the use of Walter Meacock of Morton, yeoman, 18 selions of arable 2a in Draycott Overfield and 1a of meadow called Flash Acre in Twinbrookes Meadow to the use of George Alcock of Draycott yeoman, Lady Meadow and ½ a in Draycott Meadow to the use of Edward Ironmonger of Marchington Woodland, yeoman.

Cottage house tenement and yard and parcel of ground called the Riddings to the use of John Smith the younger of Draycott miller.

2a 1r of inclosed land in the Hiesetthill Field of Draycott to use of John Smith.

1r of land in the Furlong Field to use of Thomas Row 2a 3r of meadow to the use of Richard Morris of Marchington, yeoman.

Messuage and tenement and closes adjoining Jervas Yard, the Intake to the use of Richard Cope and his wife for lives then to use of Richard Morris. Dated 10 March 1656 (sic).

Feoffment by Humphrey Alden of Bridgeford, Staffs, yeoman, and Jane his wife to Richard Wooldridge of Whitgreve, yeoman in consideration of £306 of all their messuages or dwellinghouse in Marchington in the tenure of Richard Slanie, close on backside 3a, the Intake 3a, Asheley Leas 3a, Rowcliffe 4a, arable lands in the Millfield and Stotfield, Marchington 4a. Dated 7 November

Feoffment by Robert Amery of Marchington, Staffs, cordwainer and Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £35, of three roods of land or pasture in a close called the Middlemost intack of the three intacks formerly part of the Brookefield in Marchington and moiety of 6 roods adjoining. Dated 16 March 1658 (sic)

Counterpart of 890
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	Deed stating uses of a fine – reciting that John Alkin the elder and younger of Marchington, yeoman, Mary Alkin, spinster, have levied a fine to George Vernon of a messuage or tenement in Marchington where the Alkins live and lands etc belonging, 2 cottages, a little croft and ½ a of meadow in Marchington Great Meadow at a place called Moore Meadow – to follow uses:-

a) ½ a of arable in Milnhill Field, 2 parcels of land in a lately enclosed close called Rowcliffe 2a, Brookfield Close, 2a, Ashby Leys 5a, ½ a in the Common meadow at Waterfurlonge Leys, 1r in the same place, ½ a in the Moore Meadow 3r in the same place _ to the use of George Vernon

b) 2a of land in Brookefield close (late Richard Robotham of Bridgeford) – to use of George Vernon 

c) cottage called Nether House and ½ a of meadow in Marchington Common Meadow – to the use of Mary Alkin

d) South end of the house, bay of barn at east end moiety of garden and orchard, closes called Farther and Near Milmore, Nearer Twelve Acres and Farther Twelve Acres, 24a, 2a 1 r of arable in Stotfold and Beniamin Fields, 3r of land in Eyes Field – to use of John Alkin the elder for life, then John Alkin the younger for life, then his wife Ann for life in lieu of dower then to the use of their children

e) Other part of the house, orchard and garden, close called Hatchgate 3½ a, Overlow Field 8a, Netherlow Field, 9a, 1½ a of ploughland in Melnhill Field, 1a more on the Hill, 3 lands more at Weatreaws, 3r in Eyes Field, 3a 3r in Statfould Field, 1a 3r in Benjamin Field at Burned Oak, to the use of John Alkin the younger and Ann his wife for 99 years to raise £300 for the portions of any daughters of the marriage, then to the use of the right heirs of John Alkin the younger.

f) close called Jacke Acre 1a, Eyes Close 1a 3r 3a of land in Statfould Field (spec), 2a in Benjamin Field to use of John Alkin the younger and his heirs for ever.

Dated 10 July 21 Charles II.
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	Quitclaim by Thomas Vernon of Sudbury, gent, to William Botham of Mackworth yeoman, of properties as in 886. Dated 30 September 22 Charles I (1646)

Feoffment by Richard Aston of Marchington yeoman,

to Robert Amery of Marchington, conviser? in consideration of £11, of moiety of a close called the Furlong 3r by est. Marchington, with the proviso that if Aston shall assure to Amery 3 roods of meadow at the nether end of the Old Intacke in Brookefield, then this will be null and void. Dated 22 February 17 Charles I.

Deed of exchange (Gift) by Robert Morton of Marchington to Richard Aston of M., yeoman, of his close called the Furlonge in Marchington 1½ a by est – in exchange for two crofts, one lying nearer the mansion house of Robert Morton, the other called the Long Croft. Dated 10 January 17 Charles I.

Feoffment by Robert Deinell the younger of Marchington, tailor, to Richard Robotham the elder of Marchington, yeoman, in consideration of £10, of six selions of arable land in the Millfield of Marchington in a place called the Eyes. Dated 2 May.

Deed of exchange between Robert Devill of Marchington yeoman, and Henry Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., by which Devill has given to Vernon parcels of land now in one pasture called Devells Brooke Field Close or Pingle, 5 butts or selions of land in Brooke Field and one headland adjoining – in exchange for a parcel of land or pasture called the Farther Richie Lees in Houndhill. Dated 23 March 1657 (sic)
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	Lease by William Botham of Mackworth to Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt. and Henry Vernon his son and heir apparent, of Pipehay and other property as in 886 and 893 – for 67 years – at an annual rent of £40. Dated 1 October 22 Charles I

Feoffment by Humfrey Meacocke of Morton ph.Hanbury to William Biddulph of Marchington, yeoman in consideration of £16  10s, of an acre of meadow ground in the New Meadow an ________ of meadow in Moore Meadow. Dated 26 March 1652 (sic) (v.badly damaged – partly illegible).

Feoffment by Richard Wooldridge, of Whitgreve, yeoman, to Richard Robotham of Marchington, of all his messuge or dwellinghouse in tenure or occupation of Richard Slanie, close on backside 3a, parcel of land called the Intacke 3a, parcel of arable 1a in the Stotfold Field. Dated 14 May.

Quitclaim by Ursula Chapman of ?Cannon Staffs, spinster, to William Botham of Mackworth, yeoman, of Pipehay etc. as 886/893. Dated 1 October 1646

Feoffment by Robert Devill of Marchington, tailor to Richard Robotham of Marchington, yeoman, in consideration of £5, of three selions of land in the Statfould Field ½ a by estimation. Dated 12 July 18 Charles I.

Quitclaim by John Cherrington of Cherrinton, Salop, gent to William Botham of Mackworth, yeoman of Pipehay etc as 886/893/901 etc. Dated 1 October

Feoffment by Richard Aston of Marchington yeoman, to William Amery of Marchington, yeoman, and Elizabeth his wife, in consideration of £11, of moiety of close called the Furlong, 3r, by est – with proviso that if Aston or his heir convey to Amery moiety of 3r of meadow lying nether end of the old Intacke in Brookefield, then null and void. Dated 22 February 17 Charles I (see 19.894)
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	Counterpart of 19.894

Family settlement between Richard Aston of Marchington, yeoman, and John Morton son of Robert Morton of Marchington, yeoman, and Thomas

Scot son of James Scot of Marchington – in consideration of a marriage between Richard and Jane his wife and a competent jointure – Aston has enfeoffed to John Morton and Thomas Scot all that messuage or tenement with appurtenances in Marchington, close called the Furlong, close enclosed out of the Brookfield 3r, ½ a of meadow lying in the furlong, moiety of a cottage in Marchington where Anne Aston lives, moiety of orchard and backside – moiety of mess lands etc belonging, moiety of cottage and ½ a of meadow in the Furlong to use of Richard and Jane for lives then to use of Edward Aston his son and his heirs – other moiety of messuage and lands etc. belonging to the use of Richard Aston son of Richard Aston and all other children of R.A the father at the time of decease until the sum of £80 is raised from the rents for their preferment – once paid by Edward Aston – then to the use of him and his heirs. Dated 11 November.

Feoffment by Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman, son and heir apparent of Richard Aston ym. dec’d to Ralph Bothome, son of John Bothome of Quicksell, Staffs, in consideration of £200, of all his messuage or tenement in Marchington with all bgs., lands etc belonging, closes the Furlong, close enclosed out of the Brookfield near the Dove land of Edward Aston in 3 Intacks in the Brookfield, 3r of land in a close of Richard Robotham’s lately enclosed out of the Brookfield, ½ a of meadow lying in the Furlong, the moiety of a cottage in Marchington, moiety of backside. Dated 18 January 1658 (sic).

Quitclaim by Robert Maxfield of Mere, Staffs, gent, Edward Maxfield and Michael Maxfield the younger of Mere to William Botham of Mackworth, yeoman, Pipehay etc. Dated 1 October.

See 886/893 etc. etc.
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	Assignment of mortgage by way of demise for 80 years for £500 of Pipehay, Blackyearth etc (as 886, 893, 908 etc) – by Giles Chapman of Aston Cliffe, Staffs, gent, John Willett of Thorney Lane, Staffs yeoman, executor of the will of Robert Chapman of Agardsley Lodge and Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt., to William Botham of Mackworth, yeoman. Dated 29 September.

Counterpart of 904

Settlement between Richard Aston of Marchington, yeoman, John Morton son of Robert Morton of Marchington yeoman and Thomas Scott son of James Scott 

Counterpart of 906.

Marriage settlement. Feoffment by John Alkinn the elder – for a marriage portion of £240 and for the great love he bears to Ann Woodroffe daughter of William Woodroffe the intended wife of his son and heir John Allkinn – to Thomas Budworth of Marchington yeoman, and Robert Woodroffe of Marchington Woodland yeoman, all that messuage or tenement in which he lives in Marchington with all bgs, lands etc (excepting a cottage, little croft and ½ a of meadow in Marchington Great Meadow at Moore Meadow – to hold one moiety to the use of John Allkinn the younger and Ann for lives then to the use of heirs male, then to right heirs of John Allkinn the younger in default of issue: other moiety to use of john Allkinn the elder for life, then to use of John Allkin the younger and his male issue, in default to use of right heirs of John Allkin the younger. Dated 1 September.

Lease by Richard Aston of Marchington Staffs to Humfrey Clarke citizen and dyer of London, fee farmer of the manor of Marchington, of a selion of land 1r 08p in a close called Hobholme – for 100 years – peppercorn rent – with proviso that if H.C shall hold a parcel of pasture or meadow 0a 1r 07p in the Common Earls Meadow during the minority of Richard Bothby and that Bothby at age of 21 shall convey it to Clarke, then null and void. Dated 5 November 15 Charles I.

Feoffment by Richard Wooldridge of Whitgreve, Staffs yeoman, and Walter Bagotte of Bagotte Park, yeoman, to Robert Robotham of Marchington yeoman, in consideration of 5s, of all his messuage or dwelling house in Marchington, close on backside 3a, the intack 3a, land in Stotfoldfield 1a. Dated 14 May 1651

(v.odd no larger consideration)

Deed stating that feoffment by Ralph Bothom to Edward Aston of his messuage and tenement and moiety of a cottage in Marchington of same date – was in trust only until Aston shall make a sufficient jointure for Mary Bothom who he is to marry. Dated 18 January 1658 (sic)

Feoffment by Henry Porter of Marchington, yeoman to Richard Robotham the elder, yeoman, of three selions of arable land in the Millfield in a certain place called the Eyes – in exchange for a certain meadow ground in Marchington Great Meadow. Dated 29 April 1654 (deed of exchange)

Feoffment by Robert Porter, William Porter, son and heir apparent, William Amery, all of Marchington to Richard Robotham the elder of Marchington, yeoman, of 2 selions and 1 pike of arable land in Millfield between the Greenbalt Way leading from Marchington to the mill and the land of Richard Robotham, 1½ r. dated 20 May

Feoffment by John Warde of Marchington, husbandman, and Elizabeth Warde his wife (widow of William Amery late of Marchington) in consideration of £11, of a moiety of a close called Furlong 3r by est., to Robert Amery of Marchington, shoemaker. Dated 20 April

Quitclaim by William Botham of Mackworth, gent, to Henry Vernon of Haslington, Cheshire, in consideration of £515, of Pipehay, Blackyearth etc as in 886/893 etc. Dated 20 July 1653
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	Feoffment by John Gilbert of Marchington gent, to Henry Vernon of Houndhill, esq., in consideration of £40, of a close of pasture or meadow called Brooke End Close 1½ a in Marchington. Dated 13 March 1656 (sic)

Further quitclaim of Pipehay etc. 1 October 1646 William Shaw of Mere, Staffs tailor, Michael Maxfield the elder of Mere and Ursula Maxfield of Mere, spinster to William Botham of Mackworth, yeoman.

Feoffment by Robert Morton and John Morton of Marchington, yeomen, to John Gilbert the elder of Marchington, yeoman, of close called Ankershome Knowle 4½ a by estimation. Dated 24 February (sic.1654)

Feoffment by Richard Aston of Marchington, yeoman, to Humphrey Clarke citizen and dyer of London in consideration of £12 and in consideration of a bargain and sale by Clarke to Aston on 14 Oct 1639 of a mess or tenement called Reeves Thing in Marchington and closes and field land belonging, of closes in Marchington of Dowcetts Hyron 3a, Common Edes Meadow 4a – with all woods etc belonging. Dated 19 October

Quitclaim by Ellen Chapman of Mere, spinster, to William Botham of Mackworth yeoman, of Pipehay etc as 886/893 etc. Dated 1 October.

Lease by William Botham of Mackworth, yeoman, to Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury, kt., of Pipehay, Blackyearth, Rowley, Buck Riddinge – as before – for 67 years - £40 per annum. Dated 1 October

end of Marchington bundle

end of Box 19

Box 20

Draycott bundle

Deed to lead to fine and recovery between John Foster of Draycott in the Clay, yeoman, Rachel his wife, Wyld Robinson of Draycott, yeoman, and Alice his wife and Henry Vernon of Haslington Cheshire Esq., reciting that Vernon has undertaken to pay the legacies in the will of John Foster, yeoman, dec’d (£177) and also to discharge the debts of John Foster, yeoman (£441 14s 8d), and in consideration of £54, by which Foster etc. agree to levy to Vernon a fine, of a messuage or tenement called Fosters Tenement in Draycott in the Clay, house called the New House, tenement called the Birch House all lands etc. belonging to make Vernon a tenant to the freehold so that a recovery may be had: to several uses. Schedule of debts of John Foster attached. Dated 16 December.

Feoffment by John Foster of Draycott in the Clay, yeoman, Rachel his wife, Wilde Robinson of Draycott in the Clay, yeoman, and Alice his wife to Henry Vernon of Haslington, Cheshire, Esq., of Fosters Tenement, the New House and the Birch House as 926. Dated 29 August

Deed of covenant with 926 that properties conveyed are free of all former encumbrances. Dated 16 December 

Final concord between George Vernon esq., pf and Robert Sutton, gent, and Mary his wife and William Sutton, gent and Joan his wife deforc. of one messuage, 10a of land, 10a of meadow, 16a of pasture and common of pasture for all cattle with app. in Draycott in the Clay and Needwood: consideration £60. dated Easter in 15 days 19 Charles II

Deed to levy a fine between George Alcocke of Draycott in the Clay, gent, and Elizabeth his wife and Henry Vernon of Haslington Cheshire., esq in consideration of £458 by which Alcocke agrees to levy to Vernon within  a year a fine of the manor of Draycott in the Clay with all rts, members and appurtenances and all lands etc. belonging under the description of the manor of Draycott, one messuage, 6 cottages, 40a of land 30a of meadow, 30a of pasture, 40a of furze and heath £6 rent with app. in Draycott to various stated uses – messuages in occupation of George Alcocke, two crofts called Barcley Croft, and Waye Croft, pasture called the Pingles. 7a of arable in the common fields of Draycott, to the use of George Alcocke for life, then to use of Elizabeth his wife for life for jointure, then to use of the right heirs of George Alcocke: two closes called the Old Leasowe and Longlane 2a, meadow called Tweenebrookes and Ingermeadow and 5½  a in Densey Meadow, 2a of meadow called Flashacres in common meadow called Tweenbrookes, 2 little parcels of meadow in Densey and Tweenebrookes, 2a of meadow called the Boundaries in Dovefield to the use of George Alcocke his heirs and assigns. Dated 26 March.

Feoffment by George Alcocke of Bromley Parke, Staffs, gent, to Henry Vernon of Haslington, in consideration of £45, close of meadow called Longe Lane in Draycott in the Clay. Dated 28 October

Feoffment by Raph Adderley of Cotton, Staffs, esq., and Mary his wife to Henry Vernon of Haslington esq., in consideration of £500, of all his messuage, or tenement and water corn mill called Draycott Mill, parcel of ground called the Milne Holme with all app., and parcels of ground called Clayteholme 2a on both sides of a place called Draycott Fleame. Dated 13 March 1650 (sic)

Marriage settlement feoffment by Joan Noone of Aston, widow (Aston, Derbys) and Charles Greene of Foston, yeoman, to Nicholas Picke of Foston yeoman, and George Trigg of Scropton mercer – in consideration of a marriage between Charles Greene and Margaret Streetey, of the Cote Close in Draycott in the Clay 3a – to uses – to the use of Joan Noone until the marriage, then to use of Charles Green and Margaret Streetey for their lives, then to the use and behoof of the heirs of the body of MS by Charles then to use of heirs of the body of MS, in default to use of assigns and heirs of Charles Greene. Dated 29 March.

Feoffment by Dorothy Allcocke of Draycott, widow, to Thomas Allcocke of Draycott son of Dorothy, of parcel of inclosed ground being part of Pipe Park 3a by estimation – in Draycott. Dated 10 April

Deed that recovery of “this Michaelmas Term” of one messuage, 12a of land, 22a of meadow, 22a of pasture in Draycott Daniel Watson demandant, Thomas Villiers tenant, George Alcocke vouchee – shall be to the use of George Alcocke of Draycott yeoman. Dated 26 November.

Feoffment by Richard Cope of Draycott in the Clay, yeoman to Robert Sutton of Draycott, yeoman moiety (or third part!) of a certain ground called Ladiehare in Draycott. Dated 27 November.
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	Lease by John Foster of Draycott under Needwood, yeoman to Richard Foster of Draycott his natural brother, in consideration of “one Twynter coult” of two parcels of pasture called Chapel Flate or Chapel Yeards lying on both sides of Hanbury Church Way, 2d per annum 

2 Jul

Mortgage by way of lease by Henry Vernon of Haslington to Edward Littleton of Pillington [Pillaton], Staffs esq, in consideration of £500, of all that site, messuage or tenement with appurtenances in the manor of Draycott, a lane called Mill Lane, Meadow called Densie Meadow, 6a close called Lemonsholme 8a (al Slauche close) 1 parcel of ground 2a between Lemonsholme and the way from Sudbury to Draycott, little parcel of land called Millstones, within Millstones Field, parcel of meadow called Five Roads 1½ a by est in Densie Meadow, close called Handley Swan, acre of land in Dovefield, close called Dovefield 24a by estimation, close of pasture 1a in Dovefield, close or croft called Millstones Croft 1a, parcel of meadow or pasture called Roundacre 1½ a acre of arable land in the Dovefield – all in Draycot for 99 years

20 Apr.

Final concord between Henry Vernon pf and George Alcock gent and Elizabeth his wife def of the manor of Draycott in the Clay, one messuage, 6 cottages, 40a of land, 30a of meadow, 30a of pasture, 40a of furze and heather and £6 rent, with appurtenances in Draycott in the Clay: consideration of £40. Easter 15 days 160 (see 930).

Gift by William Boyer of Morton p Hanbury, yeoman, to Nicholas Boyer of Coton and Elizabeth his wife in consideration £129, of all that messuage or tenement where Thomas Bacon lives in Draycott with all lands etc belonging

25 Mar

Feoffment by Thomas Allen of Draycott yeoman and Joyce Allen his wife to William Bartram of Draycott, husbandman, in consideration of £3  5s, of a piece of meadow in Littlemeadow in Draycott 1r

6 Mar 1653

Feoffment by Dorothy Allcocke to her son Samuel Allcocke, of a messuage, house, cottage ortenement lately erected in a piece of ground called Bulls Park, Draycott and the parcel of ground as measured out 18a

20 Dec

Lease by George Alcocke of Draycott in the Clay yeoman to Dorothy Alcocke his mother, widow, in consideration of £60, of all that messuage or tenement in Draycott with barn, garden, orchard and croft, 3 selions of land in Bufstonefield ½ a, 4 selions of land in Spelgreave Field ½ a, for 21 years: peppercorn rent

10 Dec 1657

Feoffment by Edward Iremonger of Marchington, yeoman, to George Baggaley the elder of the Motthouse, Marchington, yeoman in consideration of £17, piece or parcel of meadow called halfacre in Draycott Meadow

10 Apr 1657

Feoffment by Thomas Allen of Draycott, yeoman, and Joyce his wife to William Mallaber, husbandman, in consideration of £2 13s, piece or parcel of arable ground in Hall Flatt Field Draycott, 

0  0  30p

23 May

Quitclaim by Edward Iremonger of Marchington Woodland, yeoman, to George Baggley, as 944

24 Mar 1657

Assignment by Thomas Allen of Draycott yeoman and John Foster of Draycott, yeoman and Alice Robinson mother of John Foster, to William Bartram of Draycott husbandman, in consideration of £6, of two parcels of meadow in Little Meadow Draycott, one parcel ½ a, the other 3r for 21 years: peppercorn rent

6 Mar 1653

(Marriage) settlement between John Foster of Draycott, yeoman, William Ferne of Mackley yeoman, George Foster of Draycott, yeoman and Mary Foster wife of John Foster, in consideration of the marriage of John and Mary Foster and for settling of a jointure, Foster has enfeoffed to Ferne and Foster, all that messuage or tenement in Draycott, close called the Poole Croft, the Ridding, the Little Field, Chapellyards.

Numbers not used

Feoffment by William Malliber of Draycott in the Clay, yeoman, to Richard Harding of Fould, [Fauld] yeoman, in consideration of £19  3s  8d, of all that close of meadow ground commonly called Inge Lease, 1a by est. in Draycott and Marchington

31 Oct

Feoffment by Richard Cope and Robert Cope, father of said Richard, yeoman, to George Baggaley of the Motthouse near Draycott Mill, yeoman in consideration of £41 of all those several selions of arable land 2a in the manor of Draycott viz 3 selions in Spelgreave Field, 3 selions in the Overfield (described in detail)

9 May

Feoffment by Richard Knightley of Fansley Esq and Edward Littleton of Pillington [Pillaton] Staffs, to Henry Vernon of Haslington, Esq., Thomas Holbrook of Marchington gent, and William Hill of Morton, gent, in consideration of £500, of all their site, messuage or tenement in Draycott, with barns, orchard etc, all that meadow adj called Densie Meadow 6a by est, Lemonsholme 8a

Unnamed close 3½ a, little parcel of land called Millstones, parcel of meadow called Five Roads 1 ½ a in Densie Meadow, 1a of land in the Dovefield purchased by Sir Edward Littleton of Thomas Moore, ½ a of land in the Dovefield purchased by Sir E Littleton of John Forster dec’d, close called Dovefield 24a, 1a of land in Dovefield – purchased of Ralph Flyer and Elizabeth his wife – parcel of meadow.
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	Feoffment by Richard Cope of Draycott, yeoman and Richard Morris of Draycott, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq, in consideration of £140 of all that messuage, farm or tenement in Draycott with all buildings, lands etc in Draycott, Morton and Agardsley

24 Oct 14  Charles II

Gift by William Malliber the elder of Draycott to William Malliber, son and heir apparent, all his messuage, house, cottage or tenement in Draycott with all buildings, lands etc, belonging and all household and husbandry goods (except for bay mare, bed chair and coffer) – paying 10s per annum to his father for life 

9 Feb 1660

Feoffment by George Alcocke of Bromley Park Abbots Bromley, yeoman to George Vernon of Sudbury, esq, in consideration of £51, of all that his acre of land, meadow or pasture in Draycott commonly called Marlepitt, acre of arable land containing 13 selions or ridges in Draycott Overfield, 3a by estimation together

23 Mar 15 Charles II

Feoffment by Matthew Roe of Stubby Lane p. Hanbury yeoman and Mary his wife and Christopher Roe his son and heir apparent to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq, in consideration of £34 of two acres of meadow and close of land, meadow or pasture, 3a together, in Draycott

now or late in the tenure of Walter Meacock

10 Apr 14 Charles II

Marriage settlement between William Malliber the younger of Draycott, yeoman, and Thomas Pegg of Newland, Staffs, yeoman and John Allcock of Draycott, husbandman, by which in consideration of marriage between William Malliber and Elizabeth Pegg, Malliber has enfeoffed to Pegg and Alcocke all his messuage in Draycott (except for “convenient room” for his father) and land belonging namely Corne Croft, Little Croft adjoining on the south and close called Poole Croft: to the use of William and Elizabeth for life, then to the use of the heirs of William by Elizabeth, in default to the use of the right heirs of William

18 Feb 13 Charles II

Mortgage in fee by Robert Sutton of Draycott in the Clay, gent and Mary his wife, to Thomas Villiers of Hanbury gent, and George Alcocke of Bromley Park, Staffs, gent for £200, of all his capital messuage in Draycott in the Clay with backside, three orchards, one parcel of arable land called the Leas, Croft called Lee Croft, hall orchard commonly called the Cowpasture, two closes called the Greate Riddinge and the Little Longe Riddinge, parcel of ground called the Hall Flat, parcel of ground called Lady Haye, meadow called Densey Meadoe, one acre of ground in Spelgreave, one half acre lying at the head of Densey

12 Feb

Gift by Edward Morton of Draycott, gent to William Malliber the younger, yeoman, of all that selion of arable land in Hall Flatt in Draycott

1 Jan 13 Charles II
	1662

1660/1

1663

1662

1661

1662/3

1662


	D410M/Box20/964

D410M/Box20/965

D410M/Box20/966

D410M/Box20/967

D410M/Box20/968

D410M/Box20/969

D410M/Box20/970

D410M/Box20/971

D410M/Box20/972

D410M/Box20/973

D410M/Box20/974

D410M/Box20/975

D410M/Box20/976

D410M/Box20/977

D410M/Box20/978

D410M/Box20/979

D410M/Box20/980

D410M/Box20/981

D410M/Box20/

982/983

D410M/Box20/984

D410M/Box20/985

D410M/Box20/986

D410M/Box20/987

D410M/Box20/988

D410M/Box 20/989

D410M/Box20/990

D410M/Box20/991

D410M/Box20/992

D410M/Box20/993

D410M/Box20/994

D410M/Box20/995

D410M/Box20/996

D410M/Box20/997

D410M/Box20/998

D410M/Box20/999

D410M/Box20/1000

D410M/Box20/1001

D410M/Box20/1002

D410M/Box20/1003

D410M/Box20/1004

D410M/Box20/1005


	Feoffment by William Mallaber of Draycott yeoman and William Mallaber the younger and Elizabeth his wife to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq in consideration of £95, of all that messuage or tenement with appurtenances situated in Draycott where the Mallabers dwell, all buildings etc belonging, close called Corne Croft, Little Croft adjoining, part of the old orchard, croft called Poole Croft parcels of land formerly of the waste of Draycott called Whitepoole and the Butyard, five roods of meadow in a meadow called Morton Meadow, 3 roods of land meadow or pasture in a place called Clefa, 2 selions or butts ½ a in a field called Hall Flatt, all in the manor of Draycott

6 Sept 14 Charles II

Mortgage in fee [counterpart of 962]

Quitclaim by Sir Edward Littleton of Pillaton Staffs Bt to Henry Vernon of Haslington of a messuage or tenement in Mill Lane, Draycott, a mortgage debt of £1500 having been paid 

19 Jun

Feoffment by Richard Morris of Marchington yeoman to John Morton the elder of Marchington, all his messuages, barns, orchards, lands etc in Marchington and Draycott to the use of John Morris his son and his lawful heirs, in default to use of his daughter Jane her heir and assignes

18 Dec

Quitclaim by Wilde Robinson of Draycott in the Clay yeoman and Alice his wife to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq in consideration of £30, closes in Draycott called Almonds Hill and Large Croft 

21 Mar 14 Charles II

Feoffment by Nicholas Bowyer of Coton p. Hanbury, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq, in consideration of £140, of a messuage in Draycott in the Clay, closes called Hempe Butt, Long Croft, Little Croft, the nether end of Butlie Ridding , a moiety of the upper and of Butlie Ridding, ½ a of meadow in Little Meadow, ½ a of meadow in Densey Meadow, 3 selions of land in a place called Buffon, 1 rood, 2 selions of land and a headland, 1½ r, at a place called Hodworth all in Draycott

3 Oct 14 Charles II

Quitclaim by Thomas Allcock of Draycott, husbandman, to George Allcock of Bromley Great Park, yeoman, his brother, in consideration of £60, of the cottage, house and buildings in Bulls Park otherwise Pipes Park p. Draycott

16 Mar 1652

Lease for possession by Wilde Robinson of Draycott, yeoman, and Alice his wife to George Vernon of Sudbury, of two closes of land called Almonds Hill, in Draycott

20 Mar 14 Charles II

Release by William Robotham of Yoxall Woodhouse yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury in consideration of £229 10s, of two closes called Milstons abutting on the River Dove, all his land in Cokehole, all his land in the head of Dovefield, 2 pingles below Draycott Mill and all his land lying in a close called Little Meadow.

5 Apr

Assignment by Benjamin Edbury of Sudbury to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq, in consideration of £65, of all that messuage or tenement in Draycott where George Smith formerly lived 

2 Apr

Feoffment by George Smith of Draycott shoemaker and Dorothy his wife to Benjamin Edbury of Sudbury, gent, in consideration of £65, of all that messuage dwelling house or tenement in Draycott where George Smith lives, with all buildings etc

30 March

Grant by George Alcock of Bromley Park, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, esq, in consideration of £5, of all those several pieces of land commonly known as Bulls Park in Draycott-in-the-Clay

30 December

Gift by John Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury,, esq, of all those 5 lands, ends, or selions in Brooke Field, Marchington, l a more or less, in exchange for croft called Fawford Croft in the Benjamin Field of Marchington

20 April

Lease by Robert Sutton of Bromley Park, Staffs, gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury, esq; of all that messuage, dwelling house or tenement at Draycott with backside, 3 orchards, parcel of arable land called the Leas, croft called Ree Croft, close called the Hall Orchard, closes called the Great Ridding and the Little Long Ridding Piece, parcel of ground called the Hall Flatt, parcel of land called Ladyhay, meadow called Densey Meadow, l a of land in Spelgreave, ½ a of ground at the head of Densey: for 60 years: £18 per annum

1 April

Release by George Alcock of Bromley Park and Thomas Alcock and Samuel Alcock his brothers to George Vernon of Sudbury, in consideration of £300, of all that messuage or tenement and all those several parcels of land, meadow and pasture called Bulls Park, in Draycott, by the chase of Needwood

2 February 1658

Feoffment by William Sutton the younger of Draycott in the Clay to George Vernon of Sudbury, in consideration of £16, of selions of arable land in Draycott, 1a more or less on Salt Brook

19 December

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury, esq; to Robert Sutton of Bromley Park, Staffs, gent, of all that messuage, dwellinghouse or tenement with appurtenances at Draycott with backside, 3 orchards and a piece or parcel of arable called the Leas Croft, Ree Croft, Hall Orchard, Great Ridding, Little Long Ridding, Hall Flatt, Lady Hay and 1½ a in Densey Meadow: for 60 years: peppercorn rent

1 April 19 Charles II

Feoffment by William Hill of Morton, p.Hanbury, gent, and Anthony Hill his son to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq, in consideration of £64, of all that close or meadow called Coatehole 2a more or less, parcel of land or meadow called Hollowes Acres 2a more or less, in Draycott

1 Jan

16 Charles II

Settlement by which George Baggaley the elder of the Motthouse, yeoman, for the love and affection he bears towards William Sutton of Draycott, gent, and Jone his daughter now his (son’s) wife, has enfeoffed to George Baggaley of the Mothouse his son and heir and William Hill the elder of Morton, 9 selions of arable in Spelgreave Field, 3 selions with a headland in the Ordfield and a parcel of meadow called Half Acre in Draycott Meadow (3a) – all in Draycott: to uses of William Sutton and Jone his wife, for their lives, then to the heirs of William on body of Jone.

31 Dec

15 Charles II

Lease (part of a settlement) by William Sutton of Draycott, gent, to Robert Sutton of Draycott, father of William Sutton, of all that close of ground, meadow, or pasture in Draycott called Lady Hay now or late in the tenure of Richard Forster: for 99 years: peppercorn rent: if William Sutton pays to Robert Sutton and Mary his wife £6 per annum then null and void.

10 Sep

Feoffment by John Robotham of Hanbury, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq, in consideration of £18, of a piece or parcel of ground called the Ash Piece 1a, in Draycott

12 May

15 Charles II

Deed to levy a fine between Robert Sutton of Draycott gent, and William Sutton his son and heir apparent, and Mary his (Robert’s) wife, and Thomas Villiers and George Alcocke, by which the Suttons agree to pay a fine to Villiers and Alcocke of the property in a deed of 12 Feb last, namely a capital messuage in Draycott, 2 closes called Great Ridding and Little Long Ridding, Hall Flatt, Lady Hay, Densey meadow, 1a of ground in Spelgreave and ½ a at the head of Densey.

6 May

Feoffment by Matthew Rowe of Stubby Lane, p. Hanbury, Yeoman and Mary his wife and Christopher Rowe his son and heir apparent and Dorothy his wife to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq in consideration of £20, of all that piece or parcel of arable land (6 selions) with appurtenances in Draycott Upper Field, 1a 

27 Apr

Release by Sir Thomas Dacers of Cheshunt, Herts Kt, and William Priestley of Essendon, Herts, Esq, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq, in consideration of £1030, of the Manor of Draycott

7 Feb [see also/1001]

Release by Henry Vernon of Haslington, Cheshire to William Wyld of the Inner Temple, in consideration of £1000, of the manor of Draycott and messuage or tenement and water corn mill called Draycott Mill, 5 tenements or cottages in the occupations of Francis Smith, John Greene, John Evans, William Goodall and Henry Warren, closes called Green Plecke, the Long Lane, the Shore Lane and the Crosse Lane, all that parcel

of ground called Chequer Leas and Banholme 6a, 2a and a rood of meadow in a ground called Dovefield Head, 2a of meadow in Coatehole, close of pasture called Pipehay 120a in Draycott.

21 July (part of a mortgage transaction) (see 1001 and 1005)

Exchange between William Morton of Morton and William Bennet of Morley, clerk, by which Morton has granted to Bennet two lands of arable in Clela, p. Hanbury, in exchange for one land in Morton field.

13 April 8 Charles I

Grant by Thomas Allcock of Draycott yeoman and John Allcock his brother to William Robotham of Yoxall, yeoman in consideration of £30, of a close called Milnstons 1½ a by est in Draycott

26 April

Recovery Samuel Astry against Henry Vernon esq. of 4 messuages, 8 gardens, 40a of land, 80a of meadow, 80a of pasture, 5a of wood, 20a of furze and heath 12s rent and common of pasture in the forest of Needwood, Draycott in the Clay, Morton, Coton Fauld, Hanbury and Marchington. 28 May

Draycott rental: half year’s rent due Lady Day 1647, mainly tenant and rent amount

Article of agreement between Richard Cope of Draycott, yeoman, and George Vernon of Sudbury, by which Vernon agrees to buy all that messuage called Copes House in Draycott for £40. 17 October

Lease by George Vernon of Horleston Staffs Kt., to Thomas Vernon of Houndhill, Esq, Elen his wife, and Walter Vernon his son and heir, in consideration of £20, all his pasture called Pipehay in Draycott, from the feast of the Annunciation 1556 for the lives of Thomas, Elen and Walter Vernon: 20s annual rent.

20 August 1/2 Philip and Mary 

Deed to declare uses of a fine by which Thomas Holbrook of Marchington Woodland, gent; George Baggaley of the Motthouse, yeoman, Humphrey Meacock of Houndhill, yeoman, and Walter Meacock his son stand seized of a close called Sherwins Close in the manor of Uttoxeter, 3 acres of arable land in Stubby Lane, in a field called Hironfield, 2½ acres of arable land in the overfield of Draycott, 1½ a of arable in the Spellgrave Field of Draycott, close of meadow or pasture in Marchington 5a, 5 sections of arable 1a 1 r, 3 selions in Spellgrave Field, 2 selions in Furlong Field, 1½ a or meadow in Marchington in Ingge Meadow and 2a of meadow in Marchington Meadow at a place called Wardhurst – to various uses: Sherwins Close to use of Thomas Hollbrooke: 3a of arable at Stubby Lane to use of William Walker of Stubby Lane, yeoman: 2½ a of arable to the use of George Baggaley, and 1½ a close 5a to use of Francis Gilbert: residue to the use of the Meacocks. 1 July.

Mortgage by Henry Vernon of Houndhill Esq to Thomas Villiers of Lyons Inn P. of St Clements Dane gent, by demise for £300, of close called Pipehay 120a by est., Draycott. 3 November.

Counterpart of 997

Feoffment by George Alcocke of Draycott-in-the-Clay, yeoman, to Henry Vernon of Haslington, Cheshire, Esq., in consideration of £320, of all those closes, crofts or grounds called Greene Plecke, Longe Lane, Short Lane and Crosse Lane otherwise Myres in Draycott, and parcel of ground called Chequer Leas and Banholme in Draycott, 6a by est; and 2a 1r of meadow ground in a ground called Dovefield Head, 2a by est in a parcel of meadow called Coat Hole – all in Draycott. 31 December.

Feoffment by Walter Mynors of Uttoxeter, Esq., and Richard Greene of Uttoxeter, yeoman to Anthony Cope of Morton p. Hanbury, yeoman in consideration of £260, of all that messuage, lands tenements and hereditaments in Morton, Draycott, Stubby Lane and Hanbury viz all that messuage, house, barns, stables, buildings, orchard, garden, ‘hemplace’ and ground adj., 8a by est. lying on a lane called Calsa Lane, meadow called Longe Acres 1a by est, 1a of meadow in the Holmes, 4a of meadow in Morton Meadow, croft or inclosed meadow called Meadow Plex, ½ a of meadow in, Little Meadow, little enclosure called the Farthing, one land in a close late of Robert Carter’s, 6 lands and a pike in a close called Ree Croft, 1½ a by est, land in a close by the mill, 10 lands 2a by est in a close called Handle Swaine, 2a in a close called Hall Paddacke, 3 lands 3a by est in Dames Flatts, 1a of arable in Hodworth, 2 long lands in Spelgreave ½ a by est, all that flat in a field called Bufton, 2 lands in Bufton Field next Paddocke Hedge, 2 more lands in Bufton Field, 5 more lands in Bufton Field, 18 lands in Bufton Field 3a by est., 5 lands and a pike in Bufton Field, one odd land in Bufton Field, 4 lands in a field called Clelowe 1a by est and other open field lands. 20 March, 8

James I

Assignment of mortgage for £1000 by William Wylde of the Inner Temple Esq., and Henry Vernon of Haslington, Cheshire Esq., to Thomas Dacres of Cheshunt, Herts kt., and William Priestley of Essendon, Herts, Esq. 27 January 1655 [see also/988]

Feoffment by Thomas Alcocke of Draycott, yeoman and Dorothy his wife to Sir Edward Littleton of Pillaton Hall, kt., in consideration of £60, of a close called the Milnestones and a “nooke” of land adj 1a 1r, and the Rayles Close 1 acre lying upon the R. Dove and reported to be in Handley Greene: annual rent of 6d. 13 May 15 James I

Lease of possession  by Sir Thomas Dacres and William Priestley to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq of properties as in 989 and 1001 (following death of Henry Vernon). 1 February 1659

Bundle of case papers:

a)  Duchy, of Lancaster re parcel of land near   Draycott Mill called Greane Plecke 4a by est, land in Draycott open fields etc re wrongful intrusion in 1596

b)  Robert Challenor’s rejoinder n.d. [c1596]

c)  Answer of the defendants to above 1596

d)  Petition to the Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster. 

e)  Examinations taken at Westminster May 7 James I on behalf of Robert Challenor gent, against John Cowper and others, pfs – re Draycott quit rents (Sir Edward Stanley then lord of the manor)

f)  Depositions taken at Morton 27 April 7 James 1 – [as e] – Cowper v Challenor 1609 re Draycott quit rents.

g)  Replication of John Brograve Esq Attorney General of Duchy of Lancaster 1596.

h)  Answers of Edward Stanley to the information of John Brograve 1596

i)  as a) above  

j)  Chief rents in the manor of Draycott names, some brief descriptions of property and rent 1596

k)  Re wrongful intrusion into Greane Plecke 1596

2 related cases – re chief rents and wrongful intrusion – Manor of Draycott

“Mortgage part” of 989. Deed of covenant that if Vernon pays to Wyld £1060, then he will reconvey premises. 21 July
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	Lease by Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt. and Margaret Vernon his wife to William Robothome of Sudbury, cordwainer, of a messuage, farm or tenement in Sudbury and Aston late in the holding of Thomas Lea dec’d, reserving timber: for 21 years: 13s  4d rent. dated 28 March

Lease by Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt. and Dame Margaret his wife to John Greatraxe of Sudbury husbandman, of a messuage, farm or tenement with all lands etc belonging in Sudbury now in the holding or occupation of Thomas and John Bothome, reserving timber: for the lives of Thomas Bothome, Thomas Bothome the younger and John Bothome the younger: annual rent 19s. Dated 24 March

Judgment – case in Chancery – half missing – prob. Walter Vernon and Richard Browne re lands in Draycott

Assignment of lease: Gretraxe to the Bothomes: as 1007. Dated 5 April

Lease by Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt. and Dame Margaret his wife to Thomas Bothome of Sudbury, husbandman, Mary his wife and Thomas Bothome son of Thomas and Mary, in consideration of £20, of all that cottage, farm or tenement in Sudbury: for their lives: rent of 10s 8d per an. Dated 3 July

Final concord between Edward Littleton, bart., John ……….. (illeg) Esq. and George Harpur, gent., pfs, and Edward Vernon kt. and Margaret his wife def. of the manors of Sudbury and Aston and of 40 messuages, 20 cottages, a watermill, a windmill, a dovecote, 50 gardens, 30 orchards, 700a of land, 200a of meadow, 400a of pasture, 300a of wood, 300a of furze and heath in Sudbury, Aston, Mackley, Obes, Hill Somersal, Potter Somersal, Marston Montgomery and Woodhouse. Dated day after St Trinity 16 Charles I in consideration £1600

(Faded) final concord between William Allen, John Harestaffe pfs ---------------------------------------

Edward Vernon and Thomas Vernon, gents, def. of the manor of Sudbury 30 messuages, 20 ?cottages, a watermill, a windmill, a dovecote, 30 gardens, ----------500a of pasture, 400a of wood and 60s rent in Sudbury etc. Dated St Trinity in 7 days ? James I (regnal year illeg)

Lease by Sir Edward Vernon kt. and Dame Margaret his wife to John Gretrax al. Alsop of Sudbury, husbandman, in consideration of £40, of all that messuage in Sudbury late in the tenure of Ann Sleigh – except for 2 closes belonging between the Crosfield and the Holywellfield now in occupation of William Allen, gent, and one parcel of ground lying in Hanley Swanne heretofore belonging to said messuage: also lets to Greatrax a close called Mackley Yate Close – for life – an. rent of 50s. Dated 2 February 1 Charles I.

Counterpart of 1013

Case paper Port v Vernon (John Port v Henry Vernon) ? 6 Elizabeth – re the manors of Sudbury, Cubley and Aston and 100 messuages 40 tofts 2 watermills, 500a of meadow, 2000 a of pasture, 3000 a of land 500a of wood, 3000a of furze and heath in Sudbury, Aston, Mackley, Okeshill, Somersal, Cubley, Church Somersal. Easter term.

Case paper notes – Henry Vernon pf. Edward Vernon and others dfts.   1651

Lease by Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt and Dame Margaret his wife to William Allen of Sudbury gent, and Alice, his wife, in consideration of “many years faithful service”, of 2 closes lately belonging to John Greatrax’s al. Alsop’s tenement, 3 lands lying in a croft adj. Allen’s house, close called Hill Close, 3 leas on the Milnestones, 1 land lying in Sudbury Hillfield, one little copy called Fairebrother’s Copye, one pingle adj. the Hillfield, and all the field land lying in the Crosfield lately belonging to a tenement in the Oakes now in the occupation of Humfrey Palmer, and 4½ a of meadow in a meadow called Modismore (in Staffs): for lives: 12d rent. Dated 23 April.

Covenant between Henry Skipworth of Kingsthorpe, Leics, and Walter Vernon of Burton on Trent Esq., by which it is agreed that a rentcharge of £13 6s 8d charged on land’s in Sudbury should be paid to Skipworth until he shall have received the sum of £60, if Mary Vernon wife of Walter lives for 6 years beyond the date of this deed. Dated 17 February 14 Charles I

Lease by Sir Edward Vernon and Dame Margaret his wife to William Allen gent., and Alice Allen, in consideration of faithful service ----- counterpart of 1017. Dated 23 April

end of bundle
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D410M/Box21/1042

D410M/Box21/1043

D410M/Box21/1044

D410M/Box21/1045

D410M/Box21/1046-1062 numbers not used
	Tuesday next after Michaelmas 11 Richard II – court roll

Friday next after the feast of St Michael 12 Henry VII

Bundle of court rolls 12,14,18,19,25,28,32,34,36,37 Henry VIII

Great court of John Gifforth 9 November 12 Henry VIII

Court roll 29 April 28 Henry VIII

Court roll 27 October 29 Henry VIII

Great court of Henry Vernon Thursday 22 November 1/2 Philip and Mary

List of fines: date as 1024

Great court of Henry Vernon 29 May 2/3 Philip and Mary

Great court of Henry Vernon 7 November 2/3 Philip and Mary

List of fines: date as 1027

Great Court of Henry Vernon 3 December 3/4 Philip and Mary

List of fines: date as 1029

Great Court of Henry Vernon 27 April 3 Edward VI

Court roll 7 October 2 Elizabeth

Bundle of court rolls – 2,3,7,8,,9,10,11,15 Elizabeth 

Court roll 14 November 7 Elizabeth

Oddments probably 7 Elizabeth

As 1035

n.d ? Sudbury

List of fines 1576

List of fines 22 October 19 Elizabeth

List of fines 21 Elizabeth

List of fines 20 October 1580

Great court of William Atkinson 9 December 45 Elizabeth

List of fines 28 November 3 James I

“Pains laid” 15 January 7 James I

As 1043 2 May 1620

Jury only 7 November 1659 (George Vernon)
	1576

1580

1620

1659
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D410M/Box21/1064

D410M/Box21/1065


	Mr Maynard’s brief – Vernon v Vernon: Sir Edward Vernon pf. Henry Vernon dft: re marriage settlement

The further assurance of Robert Cudworth one of the defendants to the bill of complaint of Henry Vernon esq and Meriell his wife complainants

Draft articles concluded and agreed upon 20 September 1635 between Sir George Vernon of Haslington Kt, one of his majesties justices of the Ct. of Common Pleas, and Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt. and Dame Margaret his wife – re marriage between Henry Vernon son and heir of Sir Edward and Dame Margaret and Meriell the only daughter and heir of Sir George Vernon – to settle manors of Sudbury Aston, Hilton, Essington and Houndhill
	c.1649

1640

1635
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	Quitclaim by Alice late wife of Henry Bercar[ius] of Broutton to John de Aldena of Draycote of an acre of arable land in the fields of Draycote in Blackwalefurlong between the land of William Jarpunull on one part and the Ulnwaye on the other part.

Witnesses: William son of a clerk, William Molot, William le S[er]iantt, Richard Keys, Hamon le Bronne, Richard le Bronne and others 

n.d ? late 13c

Gift by Henry son of William de Draykote to Robert his brother and Agnes his wife of a messuage and an acre of land with app. in the vill. of Draykote, and the said messuage lies between the highway on the one part and the land of the said Henry on the other and half an acre lies at le Rodicecke between the land of Letisse Choppekoc on one part and the land of said Henry on the other, and a rood lies in Spelgreve between the land of William  de Jargunile on one part and the land of Henry on the other, and a rood lies in le Littlemedue between the land of the said William on one part and the land of said Henry on the other: annual rent of 4d

Witnesses: Mag. Henry le Keu, Henry de Howenul, William de Chandois, William de Jargunile, William clerk and others 

Wednesday the feast of Simon and Jude 

32 Edward I

Gift by William le Cok of Draycote to William de Munewonye and Cecilie his wife of a half acre of land with app. in Draycote near Nedwode lying in Spelgreve between the land of Robert de Pipe on the one part and Alice de Jarpenull on the other and extends from on (Super) Denzeye.

Witnesses: William clerk of Draycote, Richard Keys of the same place, William Molot of the same place, Roger Faber of the same place, Stephen Normon of Morton and others

Wednesday ft. of St James the Apostle 1319

Gift by Thomas de Pype Kt to William Whyting of Munneworth and Cecilie his wife of all that messuage, ten acres of arable land and half an acre of meadow with appurtenances, which Robert Cosp once held in Draycote under Nedwode: annual rent of 10s 6d for all services except forinsec service: if William dies without lawful issue reversion and remainder to Thomas and Robert his son.

Witnesses: John de Myners, Henry de Hambur[y], Henry de Hounhull, William de Jarpennile, Stephen le Corsun, William Morel, Hugh de Aston and others. Dated Sunday next after the feast of St Valentine a Edward II

Gift by Henry son of William de Draicote to Robert son of William de Draicote of a half acre of arable land with app. in the territory of Draycote and the said halfacre lies between the land of William Jarpunill on the one part and le Holnweye on the other: annual rent of 1d.

Witnesses: Harmon le Bronne, Henry de Cam[er]a, William son of Olricus, Roger Faber, Richard le Bronne and others

Monday next after the ft. of St Trinity 9 Edward II

Counterpart of 1070

Gift by John le Wympler of Draycote and Guna his wife to Gilliane Outtlanue of an acre of arable land with app. in the territory of Draycote as lies between the land of Richard Keys on one part and the land of Lord William de Staff[ord] on the other

Witnesses: William Jarpunill, William Morel, Hamon le Bronne, William Molot, William s[er]iantt, William son of clericus and others

Monday next aft ft of purif. B V M 10 Edward II

Quitclaim by Henry son of William son of Roger de Draycote to William le Keu of Draycote and his heirs of an acre of land with app. in Draycote luxta Nedwode which William le Keu held by gift of Robert his brother [Henry’s brother]

Witnesses: William le Jarpennile, Henry de Howenhull, William le clerc, Roger Faber, William Molot and others

Sunday next before the ft. of nat. St Mary 10 Ed II

Gift by John de Aldena to Walter de Draycote of a messuage with curtilage adjacent 5a 1½ r of land and 2a. of meadow in Draycote which said messuage is situated between the land of Robert le Claundeys and the way which leads towards the mill of Draycott and 3 acres of land lying next to le Rotisiche between the land of John le Wempler and the land of Henry de Falde on the other and half a rood lies near the Rostingstok between the land of Roger, son of Olrici on the one part, and the land of William le Mareschal on the other, and one rood of land which lies between the land of William del Mor and the land of William le Mareschal on the other part  and an acre of land lies between the land of John le Reve on one part and the land of Roger son of Olrici on the other, and half an acre of land lies between le Holeweye on the one part and the land of William Sparr on the other, and half an acre of land lies at Foxhul between the land of Robert le Chaundes on one part and the land of Thomas le Lucy and one acre of meadow lies in the Littelmedwe between the meadow of William del Mor on the one part and the meadow of Thomas in le Hurne on the other, and three roods of meadow lying at le Stomforde between the meadow of Alice de Jarpennile on the one part and the meadow of William Sparr on the other part, and a rood of meadow lies between the meadows of John Oky on the one part and the meadow of John son of Thomas on the other part.

Witnesses: Robert de Pype of Draycote, William de Mineworth of the same place, William Molot, junior, William le Maresehal de Draycote, Richard atte Yate de Draycote and others.

Wednesday next after the feast of St John ante portam latinam 13 Edward III 

Lease by Robert son of Thomas de Pipe kt. to William son of Walter le Marchal and Alice daughter of Henry de Cruce his wife of a messuage and half a bovate of land with app. in Draycote for the life of Robert, at an annual rent of 3 shillings. Witnesses: Henry de Hambur and John le Corcon kts, William de Muneworth, Walter clerico, of Draycote Richard del Yate, William Molote junior Roger son of Ol[er]ici and others

Monday nxt after the feast of St Peter and vincular 17 Edward III

Gift by William de Pipe of Draycote to Walter de Draycote, clerk, of a parcel of arable land in Gonnecroft in “descending heredity” after the death of William son and heir of John Jaspennille his (William's) kinsman lying in width (latitudinem) between Gonnecroft on the one part and the land of the heirs of Lady Margaret late wife of Lord Philip de Som[er]ville on the other: annual rent of 3d. for the life of said Walter, and after the death of Walter his heirs and assigns to pay a rent of 4d per annum.

Witnesses: Henry de Hambur, Lord of Howenhull, John le Curson, Lord of Fald, John Curteys of Hambur, William de Stenton of Hambur, John de Cam[er]a and Robert le Marescale of Draycote and many others.

Sunday next after the feast of Epiphany 25 Edward III

Gift by Elonora late wife of Walter de Draycote to Richard son of Thomas le Drapour of Draycote under Nedewode of a cottage and buildings, curtilage and orchard which lies between the tenement of Robert Woderuf on one part and Gybberuddyng on the other part in Draycote: rent of a red rose on the feast of St John the Baptist.

Witnesses; Thomas de Botheby, William Ubey, John Miners, Robert Drapour, Richard Payntour and others.

Sunday next after the feast of Corpus Christi 1 Henry IV

Gift by Elionora late wife of Walter de Draycote, clerk, widow, to Walter son of Richard le Walker of Marchynton under Nedewode of all her lands and tenements, meadows, pastures and pasturage with app. in Draycote which she holds by gift and feoffment of Lord Thomas de Neuton, Lord John Page and Lord John le Decen.

Witnesses: Thomas de Botheby, “Receptor” of Tuttebur, Richard le Walker, Robert le Drapour, John Miners, William Aubey and others.

Sunday next aft.ft. of pur B V M 3 Henry IV

Power of attorney by Richard de Apur late of Draycot under Nedewode to Henry Shinglere of Hanbury to deliver seisin to John Fenton his heirs and assigns of a cottage with curtilage and orchard adjacent in the vill of Draycot under Nedewode between the tenement late of Robert Wodrowe and Giberydyng on the other part. Dated 9 March 35 Henry VI

Gift by Richard Drapure late of Draycot to John Fanton of a cottage ------------ as 1079

Witnesses: Richard None of Draycot, John Russele and Henry Bochere of the same place and many others.

Dated 9 March 35 Henry VI

Gift by Walter Walker and Alice his wife to Ralph their son of a messuage with app. in Draycote: if Ralph dies without lawful issue then to the use of Alice, wife of Robert Carter of Draycote and the heirs of body: in default to the use of the heirs and assigns of Robert Hill.

Witnesses: William Walker, Walter Verney, Thomas Waren, John Bayly, Thomas Fenton and others.

Monday nxt aft ft. of St Michael Archangel 16 Henry VI

Quitclaim by Walter Carter son and heir of Robert Carter and Alice his wife to Robert Hill of a messuage and 20 acres of land and meadow in the fee of Draycote with all app. which he formerly held by gift and feoffment of Robert Carter.

Witnesses: William Morton, Richard None and Thomas Morton

Dated 1 August 38 Henry VI

Gift by John Fenton to Robert Hill of a messuage in Draycote with app. which he held by gift and feoffment of Robert Drapur. Witnesses: William Coton, Thomas Morton, and William Morton and others.

Ft. of St James the Apostle 38 Henry VI

Counterpart of 1083

Lease by Robert Hill to Robert Carter of a messuage with app. in the fee of Draycott which he formerly held by gift and feoffment of Robert Carter: for 12 years: annual rent of 3s  4d.

Dated ft. of St James the Ap. 38 Henry VI

Gift by William Davy and Alice his wife daughter and heir of Robert Morton of Draycott under Nedewood to Henry Vernon esq of a messuage with curtilage and croft with all appurtenances in the fee of Draycote and 3 selions of arable land in the territory of Morton in the fee of Marchington.

Witnesses: John Ferrers, kt., Robert Hill of Hownhill, Roger Aleyn of Draycote and many others

Saturday next after the feast of St Thomas the martyr

22 Edward IV

Gift by Robert Carter to William Morton of a toft containing an acre and a half in Stubbylone and 1½ a of arable land in Draycote, which said toft lies between the land or Robert Gudefyld on the one part and the land formerly in the tenure of Robert Carter on the other part, and which acre of land lies in the field called Turnerryddyng between the land of John Ayley on one part and the land of John Benet on the other, and extending from Faldyngeslowne as far as Saltebroke and the said halfacre of land lies between the land of the said John Ayley on each part.

Witnesses: Robert Hill, Thomas Morton and William Waren.

20 January 9 Edward IV

Final concord between Henry Vernon Esq pft. and Ralph Adderley Esq and Mary his wife def. of a messuage, a watermill, 2a of land 4a of meadow, 2a of pasture and an acre of “water land” in Draycott in the Clay: consideration £60. Dated Easter in 15 days 1651 (see 1103 for counterpart)

Final concord between Henry Vernon pf. and Edward Littleton def. of one toft, 30a of land, 20a of meadow, 20a of pasture in Draycott in the Clay and Hanbury: consideration £100. Dated the morrow of Holy Trinity 1657.

Final concord between William Gilbert, gent, and Christopher Smith, gent, pfs., and Richard Cope and Elizabeth his wife, Anthony Carter and Margery his wife, Richard Morris, John Smith the elder, John Smith the younger, Edward Ironmonger, George Alcocke, and Walter Meacock defts. of one messuage, one cottage, 20a of land, 6a of meadow, 20a of pasture and common of pasture in Draycott, Stubby Lane, Hanbury, Morton and Marchington: £60 consideration. Dated Easter Day in fifteen days

1657.

Final concord between Henry Vernon Esq. pf and George Alcock, gent, and Elizabeth his wife. def. of the manor of Draycott in the Clay with app. and one messuage, 6 cottages, 40a of land, 30a of meadow, 30a of pasture, 40a of furze and heath, £6 rent in Draycott in the Clay: £40 consideration. Dated Easter in 15 days 1650

Final concord between Henry Vernon pf. and Edward Littleton -------counterpart of 1089

Final concord between George Vernon Esq. pf. and Christopher Roe and Dorothy his wife, George Alcocke and Elizabeth his wife, John Robotham, Matthew Roe and Mary his wife, Edward Aston and Mary his wife, Ralph Botham, Richard Morris and Jane his wife, William Dutton, Richard Robotham and Humphrey Clarke and Elizabeth his wife, deforcient of 2 messuages, 2 gardens, 2 orchards, 11 acres of land, 22a of meadow, 30a of pasture, 30a of furze and heath and common of pasture in Draycott, Marchington, Stubby Lane and Hanbury: consideration £100 Dated day after pur B M 17 Charles II

Final concord between George Vernon Esq. pf. and Charles Greene and Margaret his wife def. of 4 acres of land, 4a of meadow and 4a of pasture with app. in Draycott in the Clay: consideration £60. Dated Michaelmas in one month 25 Charles II

Counterpart of 1094

Final concord between Edward Littleton Bast.pf. and Ralph Flyer Esq and Elizabeth his wife and Charles Adderley Esq and Anne his wife def. of 20a of land, 8a of pasture in Draycott: £60 consideration. Dated Easter Days in 15 days  14 Charles I

Final concord between Henry Chamberlyn pf. and Robert Dutton and Mary his wife def. of one messuage, one barn, one garden, 2 orchards, 3a of land, 13a of meadow and 20a of pasture in Draycott, Coton and Hanbury: consideration £100. Dated Michaelmas in 3 weeks 17 Charles I

Final concord between Edward Littleton kt.pf. and Thomas Moore and Dorothy his wife, Thomas Alcocke and Dorothy his wife def. of one messuage, one toft, one garden, one orchard, 20a of meadow, 20a of pasture and common of pasture in Draycott and Hanbury: consideration £100. Dated Michaelmas 15 James I (see 1104 for counterpart)

Final concord between Thomas Alcocke pf. and Richard Barbour, gent, Richard Hunt, gent, and John Everard gent, def. of the manor of Draycott and 4 cottages, one watermill, 4 gardens, 4 orchards, 1 acre of land, 8 acres of meadow, 100 a of pasture 73s  6d rent with app. in Draycott Morton, Coton and Hanbury: £120 consideration dated day after St Trinity 14 James I (for counterpart see 1107)

Final concord between George Alcocke and Anthony Cope pf. and Robert Cope and Katherine his wife, Richard Cope and Elizabeth his wife, Robert Walker and Ellen his wife, Oliver Mallaver and Margaret his wife, William Whitlocke and Anne his wife, Richard Clarke and Jane his wife, Alice Lea widow and Richard Austin and Mary his wife def. of 4 messuages, 2 cottages, 7 orchards, 30a of land, 10a of meadow, 30a of pasture, 10a of furze and heath and common of pasture in Draycott, Stubby Lane and Yoxall: consideration £100. Dated Michaelmas in 3 weeks 1649

Final concord between Richard Barbour and Richard Hunt pfs and Robert Challenor and Dorothy his wife def. of the manor of Draycott with app. and 2 messuages, 2 cottages, one dovecote, four gardens, four orchards, 100a of land, 50a of meadow, 100 a. of pasture, 30s rent and common of pasture in Draycott, Coton and Morton, and 30a of meadow and 30a of pasture in Draycott, Moreton and Scropton Holme. Consideration £300. Dated in 8 days of Michaelmas 9 James I

Final concord between Henry Vernon Esq.pf. and Ralph Adderley Esq and Mary his wife ------------------counterpart of 1088

Final concord between Edward Littleton kt pf and Thomas Moore --------- counterpart of 1099

Final concord and counterpart between Thomas Sutton pf and John Everard gent, and Richard Barbour, gent and Richard Hunt def. of 2 messuages, one garden, 2 orchards, 30a of land 30a of meadow, 60a of pasture and common of pasture in Draycott, Hanbury and Coton: consideration £100. Dated Easter in 15 days 14 James I

Counterpart of 1100

Final concord between William Bennett clerk pf. and William Wathow and Anne his wife and Christopher Ryley def. of 6a of land, 4a of meadow and 14 a of pasture and a moiety of a messuage with app. in Draycott, Hanbury and Needwood: consideration £60. Dated Michaelmas in a month 6 Charles I

Final concord between John Alcocke pf. and John Carter and Margaret his wife def. of a messuage, one barn, one garden, one orchard, two acres of land, 3a of meadow and 3a of pasture with app. in Draycott: consideration £41. Dated Easter in a month 1649

Final concord between Robert Challenor pf. and Edward Stanley kt. William Withins kt and James Stanley def. of the manor of Draycott with app. and of two messuages, two cottages, one dovecote, four gardens, four orchards, 100a of land, 50a of meadow, 100a of pasture, 30s rent in Draycott, Coton and Moreton: consideration £280. Dated Easter in 15 days 6 James I.

Final concord between John Graunger pf. and Edward Stanley Esq. def. of one messuage, one garden, one orchard, 10a of land, 4a of meadow and 10a of pasture with app. in Hanbury, Coton and Draycott: consideration £41. Dated in 8 days of Michaelmas 41 Elizabeth

Final concord between Nicholas Browne gent pf. and George Vernon kt. and Matilda his wife def. of one messuage, one watermill, 40a of land, 40a of meadow 100 a of pasture, 10a of wood, 100a of furze and heath called Milne Holme Meadowe and Pypehay in Draycott: consideration …………… Dated Easter in 15 days 4 and 5  Philip and Mary

Final concord between William Mylward Esq pf. and Nicholas Browne Esq. def. of one messuage, one watermill and 2 acres of meadow with app. in Draycott. Dated the day after? animarum 24 Elizabeth

end of bundle

Feoffment by Richard Cooper of Bentley, Staffs, yeoman, son and heir of John Cooper dec’d heir at law of Anthony Cooper of Bloxwich dec’d, brother and heir of Mary Cooper of Shenstone dec’d to John Dolphin of the Moss, Shenstone, Esq., in consideration of £9, all that cottage or tenement lying near Lynn Brooke in the parish of Shenstone.  Dated 6 April

Final concord between George Vernon Esq. pf. and Matthew Roe and Mary his wife, Christopher Roe and Dorothy his wife, Edward Aston and Mary his wife, William Malhver, junior and Elizabeth his wife, Thomas Budworth junior, John Mason and Elizabeth his wife and Anne Madeley def. of a messuage, 1 garden, 1 orchard, 6a of land, 6a of meadow, 6a of pasture and common of pasture in Stubbylane, Moreton, Draycott and Marchington 

Consideration £60. Dated Michaelmas in 3 weeks 14 Charles II

Feoffment by Mathewe Roe of Stubby Lane, ph. Hanbury, yeoman, and Christopher Roe of Stubby Lane, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury , Esq., in consideration of £135 of all that messuage or tenement with app. at Stubby Lane where Matthew Roe lives, and closes called Tanners Croft, The Great Meadow, the Oatecroft, the little meadow adjoining, the Hyron Field and Parkers Field, dated 30 September in Stubby Lane and Draycott

Deed to levy a fine by which Mathew Roe of Stubbylane, yeoman, and Mary his wife agree to levy to Thomas Bowyer of Moreton, yeoman a fine of all that messuage, house or tenement in Stubbylane in the occupation of Mathew Roe and lands belonging, under the name of 1 messuage 10a of land, 6a of meadow, 10a of pasture in Stubbylane, Moreton, Draycott and Marchington: to uses, viz 1a 1r in Morton Over Meadow to the use of Thomas Bowyer: 1a 1 r in Inge Meadow in Marchington and in Little Meadow in Morton to the use of Walter Meacock: close called Little Chappell Flatt to the use of John Smith: parcel of land enclosed from Draycott Overfield to the use of James Blore: east end of messuage, moiety of fold yard and a bay and an half of barning, sufficient of the beast house to hold six beasts, moiety of six 

beast commons belonging to the messuage, Great Meadow, Chamberlin’s Field and Parkers Field to the use of Thomas Allsopp for 21 years: residue to the use of Matthew Roe and Mary his wife. Dated 10 May.

Lease by Homfrey Swyn[e]ton of Hilton esq to John Wryght of Shareshull, yeoman, of all that his messuage or tenement in Shareshull with all lands etc belonging – for 60 years – annual rent of 20s. Dated 22 September 3/4 Philip and Mary

Marriage settlement of the marriage of Christopher Roe and Dorothy Baily, daughter of Thomas Baily of Uttoxeter Woodland, by which Mathewe Roe of Stubbylane ph. Hanbury yeoman; in consideration of a marriage portion of £55 paid by Thomas Baily, has enfeoffed to Edward Holbrooke of Marchington Woodland, all that messuage or tenement in which he lives in Stubbylane, with all land etc belonging in Stubbylane and Draycott (except for a close of pasture called the Ould Lee, and a parcel of meadow taken out of Stubbylane meadow for 21 years after the decease of Margaret Roe, widow, for the raising of portions for Mathewe Roe’s younger children) – one moiety the use of Christopher and Dorothy for life, then to the use of the heirs of the body of CR on the body of DO, in default to the use of the right heirs of CR:

the other moiety to the use of Mathewe Roe and Mary his wife for life, then to the use of Christopher Roe and his heirs by the body of DB: in default to the use of the right heirs of CR. Dated 11 August 1659

Lease for lives (in Norman French) by Thomas son of Thomas de Marchington to John son of Geoffrey de Bircov[er]e of a messuage, three tofts and four bovates of land with app. in Great Rowsley and Stanton – ann. rent of 27s 8d – for life of said John. dated Tuesday next before the ft. of St Luke the Ev. – Richard II (hole at regnal year)

Lease by Mathewe Roe of Stubbylane, yeoman and Mary his wife to Thomas Allsopp of Church Broughton, yeoman, in consideration of £100, of part of the messuage in Stubbylane where Christopher Roe his late father lived, also moiety of the entry and foldyard, stable, and part of the beasthouse, moiety of six beast, commons, close called Great Meadow, close called Chamberlains Field, close called Parkers Field – for 21 years – peppercorn rent. Dated 10 April 1654.

Mortgage in fee by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq. to the Hon Alexander Stanhope of ph. St Martins in the Field, Middlesex, for £600, of all that messuage in Stubbylane formerly inhabited by Mathewe and Christopher Roe, with outbuildings and closes called Tanners Croft, the Great Meadow, The Oate Croft and the Little Meadow, messuage in Draycott, with closes called the Leas, Ree Croft, Hall Orchard, Cow Pasture, Great Ridding, Little Long Ridding, Hill Flatt, Lady Hay, Densey Meadow, 1a of ground in Spelgreave, ½ a of ground at the head of Densey (purchased of Richard Sutton of Bromley); parcel of land meadow or pasture in Marchington called Hankers Holme, ½ a  of arable land in Milne Hill, 2 parcels of land 2a enclosed in a close called Rowcliffe, Brookefield Close 2a, close called Abbey Leyes 6a., ½ a of land in Marchington meadow at a 

place called Watfurlong Leyes, 3a of land near the same place, ½ a in Moore Meadow, 3r near the same place (late of John Alkyn the elder of Marchington) 2a in Marchington Meadow called Stocking Acres, 1a in Marchington Meadow called New Meadow Acre, 2 roods and a balk in Marchington Meadow 1a, one acre and a baulk in Marchington Meadow (late inheritance of Thomas Wooodrofe) dated 13 April

Deed to levy a fine by which Richard Best the elder of Perry Hall, Staffs, Esq and Richard Best the younger son and heir apparent, agreed to levy a fine to John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert Esq and Philip Forster Smyth of Beamehurst, gent., of all that messuage, cottage or tenement now or late in the tenure of Robert Brooke, moiety of a meadow called Mott Meadow, and of all that messuage, cottage or tenement, barnes, stables, buildings, gardens, orchards and all lands etc., belonging, in the tenure or occupation of Robert White and William Fletcher in Hadsworth, al. Handsworth in Staffordshire, and all that messuage, with barns, lands etc also in Handsworth, also five days work of arable land in Bondmanfield in Handsworth; also all that messuage cottage or tenement with barns etc., two little crofts and two acres or days work of land in Handsworth; all that messuage, cottage or tenement in the tenure of John James in Hansworth, croft called Berridge Croft, cottage, tenement or barn in the tenure of John Free – to uses – various members of the Best family. Dated 12 August  16 Charles II

Agreement between George Vernon of Netherhaddon Esq and Henry Vernon of Hassilbache, esq., in settlement of diverse debates and strifes between the parties, by which George Vernon has paid to Henry Vernon £180, in return for which Henry Vernon has quitclaimed to George all debts, demands etc. against him and the use of certain goods in the house of Harlaston. Dated 15 November 37 Henry VIII.

Gift by Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott, yeoman to Thomas Moore of Cotton, yeoman, in consideration of £14, of a parcel of meadow ground called Five Roodes 1½ acres, in the great common meadow called Densie in ph. Hanbury, butting west on Draycott Milne Lane. dated 26 March. 10 James I

Quitclaim by Sir Edward Littleton of Pillington Hall, Staffs, Bt., to Richard Knightley of Fawley Northants, and Edward Littleton his son and heir, of all those closes meadows, leasows, pastures, parcels of land etc in the parish of Hanbury.

Dated 20 October 1656

Feoffment by Thomas Morton of Penkridge Staffs, yeoman, to Christopher Roe of Stubbylane ph.Hanbury, yeoman, in consideration of £18, of all that close of arable land or pasture called the Ould Lee 2a. by estimation in a field called the Lawfield – parcel of the tenement in Morton of Thomas Morton. Dated 20 March a James I

Feoffment by Richard Robotham of Bridgeford, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £200, of a parcel of ground called the Intake, 3a., and parcels of land called Pokers Grasse piece and Wilsons Grasse piece – now together called Boyers Croft, 3 selions of land in Statfouldfield ½ a, 6 selions of land in the Milnefield at a place called the Eyes, now enclosed in a close called Headsons Close 1a by est. Dated 15 March 1653 (sic)

Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury Kt to William Wood of Uttoxeter, gent, in consideration of £800, of all that messuage or tenement in the parish of Hanbury in the occupation of Jone Barton widow and parcels of ground meadow and pasture called Yatefields, ph. Hanbury. Dated 9 May 1634

Declaration by Roger Coningesby – reciting that whereas William Smith of ph. of St Brides London has purchased of Edward Vernon all his interest in Hanbury and Tutbury Parks and whereas William Smith has paid to Coningesby £2365 in discharge of a mortgage by Vernon to Coningesby – that if his agent has received the rents for the parks, that he shall pay this money to William Smith.

Dated 27 April 1687 

Acknowledgment to Mr Lathbury of safe arrival of leases.  1 July? 1816

Letter from H A Broughton to Mr Lathbury re repairs to property which Lady Vernon enjoys for life. Dated 24 March

Estimate for repairs to be carried out at farms in Hanbury Parks 7 May

Account of timber wanted for repairs to farms at Hanbury Park, January 1820

Estimate of timber and bricks wanted for repairs at Hanbury Park on Hunt’s and Foster’s farms – November 1808

Estimate of bricks and timber waiting for Hunt’s and Foster’s farms 8 November 1808

Memo of repairs necessary to be done at Hunts and Foster’s farms Hanbury Park, Lady Day 1808 

Memo respecting the Hanbury Parks lease 28 September 1822

Memo of an agreement between the Rt Hon Lord Vernon and William Fearn being conditions on which his lordship proposes to let Kings Standing Farm, 28 November 1809

Account of timber wanted for repairs at Tutbury Castle, 12 September

Duchy Chamber of Lancaster – brief on behalf of the Rt Hon Lord Vernon respecting the renewal of the lease of Hanbury and Tutbury Parks n.d. late 18th c.

Copy minutes of Duchy Court re parks lease 8 March

Copy minutes on Lord Vernon’s memorial 5 February 

Letter from F Russell at the Duchy Office to Lord Vernon regarding the parks lease, and Mr Lee’s threat to exhibit a bill against Vernon in the Duchy 

Court. Dated 8 January

Letter form Michael Robinson to Lord Vernon – five bays of barn has blown down at Hanbury Park. Dated 18 May 

Memo re Hanbury Parks lease

Lease by _____________to George Roboth[a]m of Stubbylane of a cottage or tenement at Stubbyland – for lives – annual rent of 4s. Elizabethan _________ half illegible due to damp. Dated 26 March  _______Elizabeth.

Final concord between George Venables Vernon Esq pf. and Thomas Taylor and Anne his wife William Hall and Joan his wife def. of 1 messuage, 1 barn, 30a of land, 10a of meadow, 40a of pasture and common of pasture in Hanbury and Waterfall: consideration £100: 8 days of St Hilary 20 George II

Legal bill – Duchy Court – Lee v Lord Vernon 1771-1776 – Hanbury Park lease.

Assignment by Edward Vernon Esq to Edward Byrche of Leacroft, Staffs for a competent sum, of all that park called Hanbury Park parcel of the Duchy of Lancaster held by lease of 3 April 27 Henry VIII – for 21 years – annual rent of £4. Dated 24 March

Lease by Robert Astley one of the sons of Walter Astley, gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., 2 closes called the Millstones all the lands in Cote Hole late the lands of William Robotham, all his land at the head of Dove Field also late William Robotham, all the land late WR in a close called Little Meadow – purchased by George Vernon from John Robotham – for 59 years 11 months and 20 days – annual rent of £6.

Dated 7 March

Copy bill – Duchy Court – Richard Lee v Lord Vernon 5 January 1771 – reciting leases to Vernons of Hanbury and Tutbury Parks

Brief on behalf of Lord Vernon – renewal of lease of Hanbury and Tutbury Parks

As 1154

Mortgage by demise by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Robert Astley one of the sons of Walter Astley late of Tamhorn, Staffs, dec’d, for £60, of closes called the Millstones and other properties as in 1152: for 60 years. Dated 6 March 1689/1690.

(see 1152)

Duchy lease of Hanbury and Tutbury Parks – badly faded – King (Charles II) to Edward Vernon, one of H.M’s Privy Council – 6 January 13 Charles II

Bundle of Draycott Manor Ct. rolls:-

1 June 5 James – 8 Oct 1646 (intermittent)

5 April 1647 - - 2 April 1653 (intermittent)

12 March 1656

12 April 1656

16 March 1657

24 September 1657

14 March 1658

20 September 1658

11 February 1659

6 November 1660

   April 1661

10 April 1674

14 October 1699

Appointment of George Venables Vernon as a Deputy Lieutenant of Staffordshire. Dated 26 February.

Grant by John Porte of Etwall, Esq., to John Vernon Esq one of the sons of Henry Vernon kt. dec’d, of the custody, ward and marriage of Eleyn one of the daughters and heirs of Sir John Montgomery kt. with all such manors, lands etc which belong to the said John Porte by reason of the kings letters patent of the same custody, ward and marriage: Vernon to pay £553 for the “great paynes, labourse and costs” that Porte has had for the defence and recovery of her inheritance. Dated 9 August 10 Henry VIII.

Will of Richard Meynell of Weston, gent. Dated 21 January 1684 – administration granted to George Vernon in the minority of Katherine Meynell his sole executrix.

Arbitrators’ award – George Earl of Shrewsbury Lord Steward of the Kings Household, Sir Thomas Lovell, kt., Treasurer of the King’s Household, and Robert Brudenell one of the kings justices – reciting that there are diverse controversies between William Montyoye kt., Lord Montyoye, guardian of the body and lands of Anne Montgomery the youngest daughter and one of the heirs of Sir John Montgomery late of Cubley and John Porte solicitor to the king guardian of the body and lands of Elyn Montgomery the second daughter and another of the heirs of Sir John Montgomery, and Sir John Gifford kt. guardian of the body and the lands of Dorothy Montgomery the eldest daughter and another of the heirs of John Montgomery and Elizabeth his wife, concerning manors and lands in Derbyshire and Staffordshire which Sir John Gifford and Elizabeth his wife (late wife of Sir John Montgomery) claim part of by right of dower: award that said Sir John and Elizabeth shall hold lands and tenements to the value of £123 6s 8d for her lifetime. Dated 19th February 8 Henry VIII.

Number not used

Bargain and sale by Catherine Vernon of Sudbury, widow, administrator of the goods of Thomas Pigott late of Stafford which left unadministered by Mary Pigott al.Venables widow dec’d, to Walter Pigott son and heir of Thomas Pigott, in consideration of £140, of all that messuage, farm and tenement in the parish of High Acrall, Shropshire, called Tearne Farm, for the residue of the term of a lease granted to Thomas Pigott. Dated 3 March 2 Anne (part Pigott settlement)

Grant of wardship by the Crown to Henry Townshend Esq, Dorothy his wife and Walter Heveningham Esq; - custody, wardship and marriage of Margaret Vernon daughter and next heir of Henry Vernon dec’d, with an annuity of 33s 4d – with extent – parcel of land called Darley Hurst in Essington, a manor in Essington, croft of land called Caldecroft, meadow called Madgemore, 10a, in Hilton, messuage and 20a of land, meadow and pasture in Hilton, the manor of Hilton, a messuage called Blackleys and 30a of land, meadow and pasture, 2 tenements in Shareshull, a tenement in Walshall, moiety of one messuage, 10a of land and 2a of meadow in Fodley, and the moiety of 6a of land and a piece of meadow 3a in Hopwas. Dated 18 June 39 Elizabeth.

Damaged assignment of manor etc to William Atkinson as security for debts – John Vernon of Sudbury Esq (in prison for his debts) to William Atkinson of the Inner Temple gent, with 4 schedules of debts: 18 July 1592 (damaged)

Will of John Harestaffe of Sudbury, yeoman Dated 29 April: administration granted to Sir Edward Vernon and Thomas Vernon 26 December 1646

“An account of all grants made since his majesty’s accession to the crowne (which are not already laid before the house) of lands and other things in England” – list of all royal grants 1689-1699 (case papers)

As 11 66 – confirmation of conveyances to Atkinson of all his manors, lands, tenements etc. in the hope that John Vernon’s release from prison may more easily be procured – between John Vernon and William Atkinson – Vernon owes £1934 to Atkinson (As 1166 except “18th” not filled in). Dated July 1592

Case paper 3 August 1592 – complaint by William Atkinson against John Vernon – Atkinson having paid Vernon the money to settle his debts – to the Rt Hon Sir John ?Suderinge Lord Keeper of the Great Seal.

Answer of John Vernon Esq., dft. to the bill of complaint of William Atkinson August 1592

Appointment of George and Edward Vernon as 

Deputy Lieutenants of Derbyshire 15 August 1662

Special pardon granted to Henry Vernon of Haslington 1 June 20 Charles I

Award of commission to enquire into the value of “ladyes lands” in Staffordshire and Derbyshire – case between Henry Vernon pf. and Edward Vernon and Dame Margaret his wife def – differing much” between the value of the “ladyes lands” in Staffordshire and of their tenants in Sudbury Aston and Somersal, and of the values of the woods (Hilton and Essington in Staffs)

Dated 12 March 1650 (sic)

Declaration by George Vernon of Sudbury regarding the portions of his daughters (Margaret, Meriall, Katherine, Mary and Henrietta) Dated 18 October.

Deed of confirmation between Sir Edward Stanley of Tonge Castle, Salop, kt, Sir William Withins of Eltham, Kent kt, and James Stanley of London, scrivenor, and George Robotham of Draycott, yeoman – re bargain and sale to Robotham of the same date. Dated 25 June  5 James I

As 1176: except conveyance to Robert Allen of Draycott, yeoman. Dated 25 June

Agreement between Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt., Thomas Vernon his brother and William Allen, and Thomas Bamford of Cheadle, Staffs gent, Thomas Cartwright of Covin Staffs, and Thomas Dayntrey of Meyford, Staffs, gent regarding the wardship of John Torton of Sudbuy. Dated 1 October 9 Charles I

Appointment of George Venables Vernon as a Deputy Lieutenant for Derbyshire. Dated 22 December

Part of a ?Judgment regarding a case in chancery between Walter Vernon pf and Robert Willimott def. regarding a bond for £100. 5 June 8 Charles I

Appointment of George Vernon as a Deputy Lieutenant for Derbyshire. Dated 28 October

Grant by John Vernon of Sudbury Esq. to Nicholas Hare of the Inner Temple Esq., and Hugh Hare of the Inner Temple, gent, of an annuity of £50 issuing from the lands tenements and hereditaments of John Vernon for the life of Lucy Hare, wife of John Hare their brother. Dated 31 January 19 Elizabeth

Will of Mary Vernon of Sudbury, late wife of John Vernon dec’d. Dated 1 December

Will of John Torton of Sudbury, yeoman. Dated 2 April (See 1178)

Will of Katherine Vernon of Sudbury 18 October 1710: letters of administration granted to Henry Vernon

Grant by Francis Curson and John Curson his son and heir apparent of Kedleston to John Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., of an annuity of £50 issuing out of the lands of F and J Curson. Dated 4 February 19 Elizabeth

Agreement between Edward Bankes of Finchley and William Blunt, Thomas Wheeler and Robert Jackson, gent, regarding a statute staple by which John Vernon is bound to Elizabeth Lowe of London, widow, in £400. Dated 31 July 34 Eliz.

Agreement between Raffe Hare of the Inner Temple and John Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and Henry Vernon of Stokeshaye, Salop Esq: if John Vernon abides by the covenants in an indenture of 30 January 19 Elizabeth, then a bond in £500 will be null and void. Dated 1 Feb 19 Elizabeth

Counterpart of 1188

Appointment of George Vernon (and others) as Deputy Lieutenant for Derbyshire 21 September 12 Charles II: with copy of the Earl of Devonshire’s appointment as Lord Lieutenant.

Quietus roll of John Vernon as Sheriff of Derbyshire 27 Elizabeth

Appointment of Henry Vernon of Sudbury as a Deputy Lieutenant for Needwood Forest. Dated 17 May

The account of Mary Vernon, widow, administrator of the goods, chattels and debts of John Vernon late of Upton, Essex: 5 February 1602 (sic) (Prerogative Court of Canterbury)

Will of John Foster of Draycott (in-the-Clay) Dated 22 December 

Appointment of George Vernon as captain of a troop of militia horse. Dated 20 April 

Agreement between Godfrey Meynell of Bradley and Margaret his wife (executors of the goods of Margaret Onely), George Vernon of Sudbury and Meriall Boothby and Katherine Meynell both of Derby, widows, regarding the administration of legacies bequeathed by Margaret Onely to her grandchildren, Margaret, now wife of Godfrey Meynell, Meriall Boothby and Katherine Meynell, Mary and Henrietta Vernon (both minors), all children of George Vernon and granddaughters of Margaret Onely. Dated 9 September

Appointment of George Vernon as a Deputy Lieutenant for Derbyshire. Dated 29 May

Appointment of Henry Vernon to be colonel of the regiment of trainband foot soldiers and captain of a company of the same. Dated 28 December

Covenant between Thomas Marchington and (Norman French) William de Wythiforde of Salop and Peronell his wife regarding the marriage of Thomas son and heir of Thomas M and Peronell  who was daughter of Philip de Draycote the word of William de W. Dated Wednesday nxt aft. St Simon and Jude 16 Ric II.

Appointment of George Vernon as a deputy Lieutenant of Derbyshire. Dated 18 August

Copy grant of arms to Sir Thomas Venables Baron of Kynderton. Dated 30 October

End of Box 22

Final concord between Joseph Wakefield and George Baggaley pfs and Thomas Chaplin and Anne his wife and Edward Ironmonger and Mary his wife of 2a of meadow and the moiety of 4a of land and 4a of pasture with app. in Tutbury, Draycott and Marchington: consideration £60. Dated morrow of St Martin 1658

Feoffment by John Manners of Haddon Esq to Sir Harvey Bagott of Field Staffs Bt., in consideration of £460, of all that close or pasture called Maridgeholme ph. Uttoxeter. Dated 20 January 11 Chas. I

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to Richard Moumford of Uttoxeter Woodlands, husbandman, of one messuage house purchased of Mary Taylor in the parish of Uttoxeter: for 90 years if Richard and Katherine Moumford and John their son live as long: annual rent of £2  15s. Dated 25 March

Gift by William de Fer[rers} Earl of Derby to William de Tappeleg and his heirs of eighteen acres of his assart in his wood of Uttokesar, namely 7a between Holegrif and Timbirwere, 6½ a next to the assart of Edwin de Tappel[eg] and 4½ a near Sidenhaleiate, also 2a of meadow on the moor of Uttokesal (sic) near Marestall and a rood of arable land near to the aforementioned land in Holegrif: annual rent of 4s 10d.

Witnesses: Ralph son of Nicholas then seneschal, Geoffrey Selneiy, Robert de Bentey de Edinlou[er]e, John de Tatinhul, chaplain, John de Hertindon, Adam de Derl[ey] clerk and others.

Gift by William atte Echelus to Roger Levesone of three acres of land with app. in the fee of Wednesfeld in a place called Doduscroft.

Witnesses: John de Prestewode, John Levesone, de Willenhale, John le Harper of the same place, Clement de ?Bilston, John le Taylor and others. Wednesday the eve of St Barnabas 29 Edward III

Grant by Elizabeth Bailly widow late wife of Nicholas Bailly, gent, to John Davyes, yeoman, for a certain sum of money, of a yearly rent of 6s 8d, paid to her in full recompense of dower, arising from her husband’s lands in Walsall. Dated 2 April 21 Henry VIII.

Lease by Homfrey Swenn[er]ton Esq to John Baxester of Wolverhampton, carpenter, and Margarete his wife of all his lands, tenements etc in Wolverhampton, for their lives and the life of John their son: annual rent of 6s. Dated 2 March 38 Henry VIII.

Final concord between John ? Noell pf. and Christopher Oneley and Ellen his wife, William Hollys and Alice his wife and William Towers and Elizabeth his wife def. of 3 messuages, 3 tofts, 3 gardens, 3 orchards, 3a of land, 1a of meadow and common of pasture for all cattle in Yoxall: consideration £80. Dated 8 days of Michaelmas 18 James I.

Bargain and sale by Mary Vernon, widow,. Wife of Walter Vernon of Houndhill Esq dec’d and Edward Vernon, son and heir of Mary and Walter, and Margaret his wife to Francis Motteram of Willeslocke, Staffs, husbandman, in consideration of £200, of all that meadow in the manor of Uttoxeter, a messuage called Brabsons now in the tenure of John Scotte and three pastures belonging. Dated 4 April 7 James I.

Final concord between John Grateley and Elizabeth Tayler pfs. and Thomas Blackburne gent, and Frances his wife, John Hinton, Esq., and Grace his wife def. of 2 messuages, one cottage, 2 barns, 3 gardens, 6a of land, 2a of meadow and 6a of pasture with app. in Uttoxeter, Uttoxeter Woodlands and Penkridge: consideration £41. Dated St Trinity in 15 days 1650

Copy 1206

Lease by the king to Lord Gower, Lord Viscount Kilmury, Lord Charles Cavendish, Thomas Abney, Robert Coke, Crew Offley, Francis Elde, Esq., Edward Vernon D.D, Samuel Saunders, Thomas Parker, Isaac Hawkins, Brown, John Vernon, John Jervois, John Turton, William Cotton, Henry Cavendish, John Kinnersley, Clement Kinnersley, Thomas Taylor, Stanford Wolferston, Richard Miners, John Lawton, Charles Sudell Esq., John Power, John Power the younger and Roger Hurt the younger, gent of the moiety of the ward called Uttoxeter Ward, settled upon Charles I by metes and bounds – followed by description, for 31 years in trust for the poor of the town and constablewick of Uttoxeter. Dated 8 February 8 George II.

Sudbury Manor Court

a)
court rolls


3 June 3/4 Philip and Mary (1556)


19 October 5/6 Philip and Mary (1557)


27 November 21 Elizabeth


20 October 22 Elizabeth


26 September 23 Elizabeth


27 April 40 Elizabeth


24 May 44 Elizabeth


3 June 21 James I


1629


1630


1631


9 July 1632


3 September 1633


29 September 1634


13 October 1635 (2)


29 September 1636


29 September 1637


6 October 1638


20 October 1640


29 September 1642


13 October 1699

b)
ancillary papers:-


Pains and ordinances 20 October 22 Eliz.


Pains 1582


Pains 27 April 40 Elizabeth 


Pains 9 December 45 Elizabeth


Pains 8 April 1613


Pains 25 January 1618


Pains 4 June 1622


Pains 4 July 1625


Pain 18 June 1628


Pains 25 June 1630


Pains 14 July 1631 (2)


Pains 9 July 1632


Pains 9 October 1632


Pains 3 August 1633

                      1634 (various fragments)


Pains 29 September 1634



1635


Pains 29 September 1636 (2)



1637 (various fragments)


Verdict 6 October 1638


Verdict 7 October 1639 (2)


Pains ft. of St Thomas 1647


Estreats 26 November 1655

* combine with 1020-1045

Declaration of William Atkinson for the disposition of certain lands conveyed to him by John Vernon and of the issues and profits of the same lands remaining in his hands and of his “full mynde” how they shall be disposed of after the death of John Vernon, in consideration of £1373 paid by Vernon to Atkinson at the rate of £250 per annum 3 July 1600

Receipts for Sudbury tithe rentcharge 

Assignment by John Everard of Peckleton, gent, to John Layton, citizen and merchant taylor of London, of a close in Sudbury called Harrison’s Coppie, in consideration of £89 and £50. Dated 18 May 13 James

Agreement between Mrs Mary Vernon and John Waterhouse, parson of Sudbury, and Richard Blundell, curate, regarding Sudbury tithes. Dated 26 June

Copy deed of exchange between Nicholas Bradshawe [parson of Sudbury] and Henry Vernon by which the parsonage and glebe is exchanged for a messuage in which Hugh None lives, a parcel of pasture called the Barne Croft, a parcel of pasture in Mackley called Wyndyfeld, parcel of pasture called Cow Close,  a pasture called the Oxclose and another pasture called Netherfold 

20 August 5 Edward VI

Feoffment by Robert Bate of West Broughton, gent, to John Fitzherbert of Somersall Herbert, in consideration of £200 of all his messuage or tenement at Oaks Green now or late in the possession of Thomas Statham, and land belonging 6 acres, and all his close in Sudbury called Henry Upton’s. Further Close 5a. by estimation, and 6a of meadow lying dispersedly in the Eyes Meadow, West Broughton, and 2 leys lying in a meadow in Sudbury called Gooseford. Dated 1 January 20 Charles II

A note of leases made of tenements within the lordships of Sudbury and Aston by William Atkinson, Esq., Sir Edward Vernon and Dame Margaret his wife., Edward Bankes and Peter Broughton, gents., Mary Vernon, Edward and Margaret Vernon – Oaks Green, Potter Somersal, Hill Somersal, Hopwas, Penkridge, Stubby Lane, Essington, Mackley

Lease for possession and feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq. to John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert Esq., of closes in Sudbury called the Broad Close, the Calf Close, the Stack Close, the Marlepitt Close, the Banck Close, Statham’s Rough Close, the leys in Gooseford and a messuage and 2 crofts where ______ (blank) Statham now dwells

Dated 26/27 April 22 Charles II

Faculty for erecting a monument in Sudbury church and for increasing George Vernon’s burying place in the church (16ft x 4ft in the north part of the Chancel). Dated 3 February 1675 (sic)

Letters patent to Nicholas Bradshawe to grant Sudbury parsonage to Henry Vernon (see 1219). Dated 20 August 6 Edward VI

Assignment by Thomas Braddock of Oaks Green, husbandman to Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £120, of a messuage at Oaks Green where Francis Buckley formerly lived with several parcels of land belonging. 

Dated 25 March 7 Anne (damaged)

Undated case papers – largely depositions – regarding housebote and fyrebote in Sudbury woods – the rector claiming that he should have sufficient “howsbote and fyrebote” to occupy and burne in and about the parsonage” – mid 16th century – no doubt associated with 1219/1224

Royal grant to Edward Vernon of Sudbury Esq. of free warren in Sudbury Aston, Hilton and Essington, in consideration of 20s

Dated 22 March 16 James I

Assignment by Edward Vernon of North Aston, Oxfordshire, to Edward Byrche of Leacroft, Staffs, serjeant-at-law, of Tutbury Park, for the residue of a term granted by Charles II to Edward Vernon.

Dated 29 March

Assignment by the Earl of Ormond, Lord Lieutenant General of Ireland, to Edward Vernon of Northaston, Oxfordshire, of all that castle and site of the castle at Tutbury, all that garden called the Kings Garden, for the residue of a 99 year term granted 8 July 30 Charles II. Dated 8 August

Duchy of Lancaster order regarding payment of land tax on Duchy estates in the Honour of Tutbury – with schedule of rents in the collection of the Receiver of the Honour of Tutbury: 8 March 1768.

Fees due for the lease of the castle and rolls of Tutbury – May 1766 – to Lord Vernon

16th century “Duchy of Lancaster manual” containing:-

a)
the names of the villages and hamlets within the Honour of Tutbury, High Peak and Castle Donington in Staffs, Derbys, Notts, Leics, Warwicks. 4 February 2 Henry VIII

b)
notes on the office of Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster

c)
notes on the Receivers office for the Honour of Tutbury and of Donington

d)
notes on the Auditor of the Honour of Tutbury and Donington

e)
notes on the Surveyor of the Chase of Needwood

f)
notes on the Woodmaster of Needwood and Duffield Frith, and the Forest of High Peak

g)
notes on the Understeward

h)
notes on the Feodary of the Honour of Tutbury

i)
liberties and customs of villages in the Honour of Tutbury

j)
liberties and customs of Needwood and Duffield Frith

k)
the keeper’s office of Needwood

l)
the collectors of the wards in Needwood and Duffield Frith

m)
the office of “bayles of the franchese”

n)
the office of the “bayles and river” (pres.bailiffs and reeves).

o)
the offices of constables of the castles of Tutbury, Melbourne, Donington and the High Peak

Assignment (preliminary to the marriage of Henrietta Francea Vernon and Alexander Poole) by Thomas Boothby of Tooley Park, Leics, George Faunt of Foston Leics, William Whalley of Norton-by-Calby, Leics and Samuel Cotton of Dodlington, Leics, Esq., with the consent of George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and his daughter Henrietta Francea, to Thomas Vernon of London, merchant, and Sir Henry Johnson of Friston Hall, Suffolk, of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley (described in detail), for a term of 100 years after the death of George Vernon, and further Vernon has bargained and sold to Vernon and Johnson the said manors for a term of 99 years for securing the sum of £2000. Dated 7 September.

Settlement on the marriage of Capt. Benjamin Poole and Henrietta Francea Vernon, between George Vernon and Henrietta Francea Vernon, Benjamin Poole of London, Esq, Thomas Vernon of London, merchant, Alexander Rigby of London, merchant, Henry Johnson of Friston Hall, Suffolk – reciting settlement on the marriage of George Vernon and Margaret Oneley by which certain manors were charged with £10000 for the portions of the daughters of George Vernon by Margaret Oneley – by which it is agreed that the sum of £2000 shall be paid to the survivor of Benjamin Poole and Henrietta Vernon, also if Benjamin dies first his executors to pay Henrietta £1750, and the further sum of £250 if Katherine Meynell dies in Poole’s lifetime – in lieu of all right of dower. Dated September (Many other smaller provisions)

Articles of agreement between George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and James Chetham of Turton, Lancs, Esq., by which Vernon agrees to convey to Chetham before Michaelmas, the manor of Sutton on the Hill and all those land and grounds in the parish of Barton commonly called Wadlands – consideration £4120. Dated 18 August.

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq. to Richard Parker of Yoxall, glazier, of all that dwellinghouse where Joseph Robinson lives with part of outbuildings: for 3 years: annual rent of £4. Dated 7 December (with counterpart) (Sudbury).

Lease for possession by John Richardson and Samuel Richardson of Smalley, gents, and Charles Watson of Shernow Hall in the parish of Sutton on the Hill and Hannah his wife (late wife of Thomas Folkingham rector of Trusley – the Richardsons and Hannah Watson trustees) to Henry Vernon the younger of Hilton, Staffs Esq., and Henry Gilbert the elder of Lock, Esq., of all that capital messuage and tenement called Shernow Hall, Sutton on the Hill, and closes called Ouldfield, Barneflatt al. Barleycroft, Bakehouse Pingle, the Lees al.Cowclose, the nearest Highfield, in Osleston and Thurvaston ph. Sutton on the Hill. Dated 8 August.

Quitclaim by Thomas Rathbone of Potter Somersall, Sudbury, Ym. to Henry Vernon of Sudbury Esq., of a parcel of enclosed ground approx.6a. on Sudbury Wood and all common rights upon it. Dated 7 February.

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Thomas Scot of Doveridge yeoman, of all that messuage, farm or tenement with appurtenances at Hill Somersall ph. Sudbury commonly called Witterings Tenement, with all buildings lands etc belonging: for 99 years or for the lives of ----------

(tears),William Godwin and Mary Chalnor: for 40s a year plus the best beast of any person dying seised of the premises: also schedule of average duties and services to be performed – a load of coals to the manor house or 5s yearly, four days work ploughing, two days reaping, 2 capons or 3s, one woodhen or 6d, one nutbeen or flaxbeen or 4d. Dated 26 August.

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq to James Alkin of Sutton on the Hill, yeoman, in consideration of £100, of all that tenement in Sutton called Alkins Tenement, and also all that part of Gregory Ayre’s tenement; for 21 years; annual rent of £10. Dated 25 March

Lease for possession by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and Thomas Wandell of London, draper, to James Chetham of Turton, Lancs, of the manor of Sutton on the Hill  and the Wadlands in the ph. of Barton Blount. Dated 21 August 28 Charles II (see 1236)

Lease by George Vernon to John Greatorex of Sudbury, barber, in consideration of £25, and 1 guinea to Katherine wife of George V, of a messuage in Sudbury with fold yard etc. belonging: for 99 years or the lives of Greatorex, Mary wife of John Billington and Dorothy Billington, their daughter: annual rent of 5s. also 5s. on the death of Greatorex or any other person with an interest in the messuage: to grind their corn at George Vernon’s mill at Draycott. Dated 19 October.

Lease by George Venables Vernon of Sudbury, Esq, to John Braband of the same place, gent, in consideration of Braband spending a considerable sum of money on rebuilding the messuage late in the holding of William Smith, glover, of the said messuage in Sudbury opposite the Boars Head, known as _______________ (torn); for 99 years or the lives of Braband and Ann his wife: rent of 6d. Dated 19 January 11 George II (damaged)

Draft lease by George Venables Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Thomas Chawner of Sudbury Wood, gent, of all that messuage, farm or tenement at Sudbury Wood where Chawner lives and closes called Pains Hook, Coatton Wood Close, the Gravel Pit, the Carr, the Churchgreen, the Comanpiece, the Burtree Piece, the Carr, Burrows Close, the Hind Rough, the Barley Close, Spring Meadow, the Long Close, the Mutchilfields, the Witefall, the Moor, the Long Leys the Share Meadow, and three pieces of enclosed ground enclosed out of Sudbury Park, Churchgreen, the Ferny Hill and the Brickiln Leys: for 99 years on the lives of Chawner and Henry his son for an annual rent of one hundred and _____. Not dated

Release by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., John Dyxe al. Ramsey of Wickmore, Norfolk, to James Chetham of Turton Lancs Esq., in consideration of £1480, of the manor of Sutton on the Hill, and Wadlands ph. Barton Blount. Dated 29 September

Quitclaim by George Vernon of Sudbury., Esq, and Thomas Wandell citizen and draper of London, to James Chetham of Turton Lancs, Esq. in consideration of £5650, of the manor of Sutton and Wadlands. Dated 22 August (see 1242) 

Counterpart of 1234. Dated 7 September

Feoffment by Richard Bate of West Broughton, gent, to Charles Agard of Croxall, gent and John Ballerhouse of Hopton, gent, of all that capital messuage in West Broughton late in the holding of Richard Bate, and a messuage or dwelling house in Derby in the occupation of Richard Haughton, and a messuage in the manor of Hill Somersal in the occupation of James Platts. Dated 16 August. (according to endorsement, part of a settlement) (see 1258)

Feoffment by Francis Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert to Francis Robinson of Somersal Heath of four parcels of enclosed land or pasture near Broughton Field in the territory of Somersal Herbert, two of which were formerly part of the messuage or tenement of Henry Moseley, one of which was formerly part of the tenement of William Wootton and the other parcel extends as far as the house of John Wootton situated on Somersal Heath; also an acre of meadow more or less in the Broad Meadow in West Broughton extending as far as the Little Breeches on the east, also 3 roods of meadow in the Broad Meadow abutting on the Weate Doles, also an ace of meadow at the west end of Broad Meadow abutting on Longdale Siche. Dated 20 March 8 Charles I (1632/3)

Quitclaim by William Porter of Marston Montgomery, yeoman, and Francis Robinson of West Broughton to Francis Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert of 13a of meadow and the aftergrass in Broad Meadow West Broughton in the parish of Doveridge. Dated 18 April

Gift by the Crown in consideration of £1049 11s  2d to William, Earl of Essex, and others of a farm and messuage called Ferme Place in the occupation of Robert Savage at West Broughton, formerly part of the lands of the Prior of Tutbury also all that capital messuage and farm in West Broughton in the occupation of John Palmer, also part of the lands of the Prior of Tutbury, and all lands etc belonging. Dated 30 June 36 Henry VIII (copy)

Brief – Kings Bench – John Needham pf. v Edward Vernon and William Allen def. – regarding possession of land in the parish of Sudbury attached to farm in West Broughton demised by Nathaniel Bate to Needham. Dated 24/25 July.

Quitclaim by Edmond Whiterence of Ov[er]tayne (pres.Over Tean) Staffs, Yeoman, to John Fitzherbert of Somersall, gent, of all manner of actions against him. Dated 16 May 21 Elizabeth.

Quitclaim by Henry Merry of Barton Park, Esq., to Francis Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, gent of 13 acres of meadow and the aftergrass, in Broad Meadow, West Broughton in the ph. of Doveridge. Dated 7 April 16 James I (with 1251)

Gift by Sir Henry Merry of Barton Blunt kt and Henry Mesry his son to Charles Chapman of Agardsely Park ph. Hanbury, gent, in consideration of £200, of an annuity of £16, issuing out of a close called Palmer Moor in West Broughton. Dated 1 March 10 Charles I

Bargain and sale by John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert to John Bladen of Hill Somersal, yeoman, in consideration of  £100. of a rentcharge of £12 per annum arising from Palmers Moor in West Broughton. Dated 10 March (sic)

Family settlement by which Richard Bate of West Broughton, gent, has enfeoffed to Charles Agard of Croxall, gent, and John Ballechouse of Hopton, gent, all that capital messuage situate in West Broughton and all other his messuages etc. in West Broughton, and a messuage or dwellinghouse in the occupation of Richard Haughton, and another messuage or tenement in the manor of Hill Somersal in the tenure of John Platts, together with a small parcel of meadow in Doveridge in a meadow called Crowe Foote: to various uses: the kitchen, the room above the kitchen and the men’s chamber with free access to all the other rooms at the capital messuage at West Broughton, a third part of the fold yard, garden etc and 3 messuages at West Broughton in the occupations of Henry Upton, Edward Woodward and James Platts, to the use of Richard Bate for life, then to the use of his wife Ann for life in lieu of dower, then to the use of his heirs by Ann, in default to the use of his heirs and assigns: the messuage in Derby and a parcel of land in West Broughton called the Pingle to the use of Richard Bate and his heirs for ever: residue to the use of Richard Bate for life and then to the uses directed by his will: if no such direction then the trustees to raise £400 from the rents and profits for the use of the younger children. Dated 16 August (see 1249).

Gift by Walter Dixon of Bagotts Park, Staffs, to John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, Esq., in consideration of £5, of a rentcharge of 5s arising from a messuage or tenement with app. in West Broughton in the tenure of Susan Prince, widow, and the Cow Closes, 13a by estimation, and a close called Jellyes Cliffe 3a, and closes called the Cliffe and Paradise 7a, all in the occupation of Susan Prince. Dated 9 April

Copy will of Edward Madeley of West Broughton. Dated 17 November 

Feoffment by John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, Esq., to Philip Madeley of West Broughton, husbandman, in consideration of £45, of all that messuage or tenement in the manors of Doveridge and West Broughton where Philip Madeley now dwells and 2 little crofts or backsides adjoining 2 acre of meadow in Broad Meadow, one acre lying in the West Doles, and the other abutts upon the Old Yate place leading into a pasture ground called the Starte: annual rent of 6d. Dated 16 March.

Lease for possession by Henry Merry of Sutton on the Hill, Esq., Sir Edward Cooke of Longford Bt, Sir Samuel Sleigh of Ash, Kt., Edward Gage of Hengrave Suffolk, Esq., Ralph Sulliard of Hawley and John Coell of Depden, Suffolk Esqs, to William Alestrye of Derby, Esq., of the manors or lordships of Sutton on the Hill and West Broughton, formerly the inheritance of Sir Henry Merry, and all that capital messuage, farm or tenement commonly called Leeds Hall, within the territory of Mackley and parish of Church Broughton Dated 7 April.

Feoffment by John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, Esq., to John Bladen of Hill Somersal, yeoman, in consideration of £340, of all that messuage or tenement in West Broughton where Richard Smith lives with barns, gardens etc (except for a cottage on the “contrary” side of the street), a croft of pasture 3 acres, close of meadow called the little Carre 1 acre, 5a of meadow or pasture lying dispersedly in Broughton Eyes, 2a of meadow in Broad Meadow close called the Cliffe 3a, close called Newgate 2a., also closes called Gorsty Closes 9a in the occupation of Philip Madeley. Dated 2 March.

Interrogatories to be ministered to the witnesses produced on the part and behalf of Mary Vernon, widow, and Edward Vernon Esq def. against Nathaniel Bate gent – and deposition by George Clarke of Scropton, yeoman mid17th cent (c.1620)

Copy release by Penelope Merry widow of Henry Mesry of Sutton on the Hill, Esq. John Merry of Barton Park Esq., son and heir of Henry Mesry Thomas German of Risbrook, Suffolk, Esq., and Mary his wife one of the daughters of Henry Merry, John Dix of Wickmoor, Norfolk, Esq, and Frances his wife another of the daughters of Henry Merry Elizabeth Mesry of Hengrave, spinster, another daughter, Edward Gage of Hengrave, Suffolk, and John Coell of Depden, Suffolk, Esq., to John Madeley and Edward Madeley of Somersall Heath, yeoman, in consideration of £230, of all that messuage or tenement in West Broughton where John Madeley lives and closes called Wellcroft Gorstey Close, 2a by est., Little Gorstey Close Battingsleys, 6a by est. Little Beack, 4a and a parcel of land in Broughton Eyes 3a. Dated 7 November.

Lease (for lives) by Henry Merry of Barton Park,. Esq., to Francis Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, gent, of all those 13 acres of meadow lying in a meadow called Broademeadow, West Broughton ph. Doveridge for 99 years or the lives of Frances Ann his wife and Elizabeth his daughter, annual rent of a peppercorn. Dated 17 January 13 James I.

Family settlement by which Henry Merry of Sutton on the Hill, Esq., Sir Edward Coke of Longford, Bt., Sir Samuel Sleigh of Ash, Kt., Edward Gaye of Hargrave, Suffolk, Esq., Raphe Sulliard of Hawley, Suffolk Esq., and John Coell of Depden, Suffolk, Esq., have released to William Allestrye of Derby, Esq., and Roger Allestrye of Derby, gent, of the manors of Sutton on the Hill and West Broughton, and the capital messuage called Lees Hall in Mackley and Church Broughton: to the use of Mesry for life, then to the use of Penelope his wife for 7 years, then to the use of Gage, Sulliard and Coell for 130 years upon trust for the use of John Mesry eldest son of Henry Merry and his male issue and in default to the use of the other sons of Henry Mesry and their successive lawful male issue, provided that if Penelope Mesry is still alive at the end of the 7 year term William and Roger Allestry stand seised of the manors to raise an annuity of £220 in lieu of dowers. Dated 10 April.

Mortgage by way of lease for 99 years by John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, gent to John Merry of Barton Park Esq., for securing the sum of £1351, of messuages and lands in West Broughton in the occupations of Edward Allsop, Philip Madeley and Richard Smith, and closes called Palmers Moores and Flaggy Moore, 50a, close called Bleaton, 6a., closes called the Houghs, two parcels of meadow in West Broughton Eyes, 2a.. Dated 29 November.

Case paper – petition to Thomas Lord Ellesmere Lord Chancellor of England 6 June 1611 – dispute between Nathaniel Bate and Edward Vernon regarding closes called Little Wassage and Byflattes in West Broughton

As 1269. Rejoinder of Mary and Edward Vernon to the replication of Nathaniel Bate

As 1269-1270: the replication of Nathaniel Bate, complainant, to the several answers of Mary Vernon and Edward Vernon, defendants.

As 1269-1271: the demurer of Mary Vernon widow one of the defendants to the bill of complaint of Nathaniel Bate

End of Box 23 

Bond by William Fenwicke of Stanton, Northumberland esq. and Edmund Fenwicke his son and heir to Francis Nevell of Cheete, Yorkshire., esq, in £1000. Dated 30 August
Letter from Robert Peplow of Morton Say (Moreton Say, Shropshire) to Mr Vernon, containing transcript of al the Vernon entries in the parish registers up to 1685, and inscriptions on monuments: also local news (sickness “cold and pains in the head and bones” – widespread). Dated 9 February 

Final concord between Thomas Vernon, Esq., and Richard Vernon, gent, pf., and Henry Vernon Esq., and Anne his wife def. of the manor of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay with appurtenances and 20 messuages, 10 cottages, 2 tofts, 4 watermills, 30 gardens, 200a of land 100 acres of meadow, 700a of pasture, 150a of wood, 100a of furze and heath and common of pasture for all cattle in Houndhill, Draycott in the Clay, Marchington, Marchington Woodlands, Stubby Lane, Newlands Morton, Coton, Hanbury, Fauld, Sudbury and the forest or chase of Needwood. Dated 8 days of pur BM 11 Anne. Consideration £1200.

Counterpart of 1275

Bond by Philip Eyton of Eyton on the Willings Shropshire Esq. to Mary Eyton of Eyton in £200. Dated 4 March 21 Charles II (1668/9) Deed of same date

Deference of statute staple between Penelope Ward of Northampton, widow, and Thomas Pigott of Chetwind Esq – reciting that Pigott is bound by statue staple to Penelope Ward in £3400 – if sums repaid at certain specified dates then null and void. Dated 7 December

Assignment by Roger Wilbraham to Richard Vernon of debt of £3400 owed by Thomas Piggott to Penelope Ward, 29 Oct

Assignment by William Fleetewood and his wife Mary to Thomas Fletewood of debt (Property in Northampton) 29 Oct

Bond: William Amerie of Marchington yeoman to John Gilbert of Doveridge, yeoman, in £300 Dated 9 January 7 James I. Deed of same date

Bond: William Sutton of Draycott to George Vernon of Sudbury in £1000. Dated 1 April. Deed of same date.

Bond: Robert Hope of Hanley to Samuel Stevenson of over Cobridge Gate ph. Burslem in £140. Dated 7 August . Deed of same date

Bond: Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in £125. Dated 22 October. Deed of same date.

Bond: Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott, yeoman, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in £20. Dated 26 October. 10 James I. Deed of same date re a selion of land in Spelgreave and an acre of meadow in Densey.

Bond: William Fenwick of Stanton, Northumberland, Esq., to William Fenwick of Meldon, kt., in £400. Dated 19 April.

Bond: Thomas Allen of Draycott, yeoman, and William Allen his son and heir apparent to John Foster of Draycott musician, in 40 marks. Dated 14 June. Feoffment of 6 selions of arable called Longrydding at Draycott of same day.

Bond: William Bartram of Stubby Lane, Yeoman to Henry Vernon of Houndhil, Esq., in £12. Dated 30 April. Indenture of same date.

Bond: Richard Cope of Draycott, yeoman, to Richard Morris of Marchington yeoman, in £200. Dated 10 October. Indenture of same date.

Bond: Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in £20. Dated 15 October 11 James I. Indenture of same date re 4 selions of land in Spelgreave.

Bond: Matthew Roe of Stubby Lane, yeoman, and Christopher Roe of Stubby Lane yeoman, to Roger Clyffe of Draycott in £24. Indenture of same date. Dated 29 November 

Bond: Robert Cope of Draycott, yeoman to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in £12. Dated 24 October. Indenture of same date re parcel of arable land at Chapel Yard.

Bond: Thomas Allen of Draycott, yeoman, and Joyce Allen to William Mallaber, husbandman, in £4. Dated 23 May 1653. Indenture of same date.

Bond: Richard Cope of Draycott, yeoman, to Robert Sutton of Draycott yeoman, in £100. Dated 27 November indenture of same date

Bond: George Alcocke of Bromley Parke Staffs to Henry Vernon in £90: 28 October. Indenture of same date relating to close called Longe Lane, Draycott.

Bond: John Pattrick of Draycott husbandman to Thomas Alcocke of Draycott, yeoman, in £40   Dated 16 January. Indenture relating to 2 acres of land or pasture in Dovefield, Draycott

Bond: Thomas and Joyce Allen of Draycott to William Bartram, in £7  15s: 6 March 1653 (sic)

Indenture of same date

Estate account book:

(i)
Thomas Mason’s charge for the manors of Hilton and Essington, including arrears of rent, chief rents, livestock in Hilton Park, sale of corn

(ii)
Mr Bowyer’s charge for the manors of Houndhill and Draycott and lands in Marchington, Stubby Lane etc. in Staffs, rents of Houndhill demesne, rents of Draycott demesne, sale of plaster.

iii)
William Harrison’s charges for the manors of Sudbury, Aston, Somersall Rodsley and Marston Montgomery, and lands in oaks Green, Mackley, Eaton Sedsall, Hollington and elsewhere: grazing of livestock in Sudbury Park, Sudbury and Aston, demesne rents, rentals for residue of estate, general estate account.

iv)
Thomas Palin’s charge for the manors of Church and Monks Copenhall: rental including account of capons and hens paid, general estate account.

v)
William Lindoppe’s charge for the manor of Walkerston and lands in Hatherton, Sterington, Brieler, Staple and Grestie, general estate account

vi)
John Wilkinson’s charge for the manor of Haslington and lands in Winterley, Moss Side etc: Haslington rental, list of cattle unsold, heriots in arrears, Haslington demesne and chief rents, hides, timber and bark sold, wool, cattle and hay sold capers and hens sold.

Estate account book:

(i)
The charge of Thomas Palin, bailiff to Henry Vernon of the manors of Church and Monks Cappenhall: arrears of rent, rental, heriots capons and hens received.

(ii)
The charge of William Lyndop bailiff of the manor of Walkerton and the townships of Hatherton Sherington, Bircher, Staple and Gresty: arrears of rents, capons etc, rental.

(iii)
John Wilkinson’s charge for the manor of Haslington: demesne rents, profits of Wynteley mill, moss rents, general account

(iv)
The charges of Humphrey Macocke bailiff for the manors of Draycott and Houndhill: arrears of rent, demesne rents, plaster sold, chief rents, general account.

(v)
Mr Mason’s charges for the manors of Hilton and Essington, Sharsall, Pankridge and Wolverhampton: demesne rents, chief rents, seed sown, general account.

Note in the back of the ancient rent of Houndhill and Pipehay 1635

“Moss book” – presumably for the manor of Haslington – appraisers Robert Corke, Thomas Hodgkinson, John Wilkinson, Thomas Malbon

William Lindop’s accounts – Hatherton and Walkerton rental,  general account, paper making account

Quietus roll – relates solely to Francis Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert, recusant – 17 James I – 24 Charles I

Feoffment by Humphrey Clarke of London, gent, to Thomas Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, in consideration of 16s, of 1½ roods of arable or pasture land in Poolefield in the manor of Marchington, to be held of the king as of his manor of Enfield, Middlesex. Dated 26 April

Lease (part of family settlement) by Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman, to Francis Whittrence of Marchington yeoman, and William Whittrence of Hamstead Hall, Staffs, yeoman, of the moiety of a messuage where Edward Aston lives, with moiety of barns, stables etc adjoining, a close called the Furlong in Marchington, for 60 years if Jane Morris of Marchington, his mothers lives as long (in place of the jointure granted to her by her first husband Richard Aston – subsequently married Richard Morris) Dated 20 October

Lease by John Moreton of Marchington yeoman and Francis Whitterence of Marchington, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., (with the consent of Jane Morrice, wife of Richard Morrice of Marchington), of a close lately inclosed out of Brookfield lying near the Dove commonly called New Piece, parcel of land in a close called the Neither Intake in Brookfield, end of a headland adjoining Neither Intake, 8a by est., for 40 years: peppercorn rent for the first 4 years, then £5 per annum. Dated 1 October

Deed of exchange between Thomas Budworth and John Budworth, son and heir of Thomas, and George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., by which the Budworths have granted to Vernon the ends of four selions of arable land in Brookfield, Marchington, in exchange for part of another selion of land in the Brookfield. Dated 14 February 1661 (sic)

Feoffment by Thomas Budworth the younger of Marchington, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £22, of a parcel of land, meadow or pasture in the Poolefield, Marchington 2a by est. Dated 15 October. Bond accompanying.

Receipt for £12: John Budworth from George Vernon for the purchase of an acre of arable land in the Brookfield. Dated 30 March

Feoffment by Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman to George Vernon of Sudbury, yeoman, in consideration of £62  16s, of all the land of Edward Aston in a close called the Nether Intake in the Brookfield Marchington, and the end of a headland adjoining, 3a together. Dated 22 October

Revocation of uses by John Gilbert the elder of Marchington, gent, and John Gilbert the younger of Marchington, and Richard Sherratt of Nobott, Staffs., yeoman in a settlement of 20 November 1671 concerning a messuage at Marchington inhabited by John, Barbara and Margaret Gilbert and closes called Hall Orchard, Walker Leys, Fisher Stile Close the New Piece, Poole Bridge Pingle, Pitcher Holme, Great Riddinges, Little Riddinges, Over Riddinges, Nearer Riddinges, Backside Coate, Ould Orchard, Ankerholme, Watt Furlong, 6½ a dispersed in Marchington Meadow, parcel of meadow called Little Furlong parcel of meadow called Byrch Cross Meadow, and all the arable land of John Gilbert, senior, in Milnefield, Stotfould Field, Benjamin’s Field and Brookefield, Marchington. Dated 4 November.

Feoffment by Edward Aston of Marchington yeoman, and May his wife to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £102, of a piece or parcel of ground called the New Piece lately enclosed out of the Brookfield lying near the River Dove 6a. by est., in Marchington. Dated 10 April 15 Chas II

Grant by Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman, to Francis Witterence, yeoman and William Witterance of Hamstead Hall, yeoman of a rentcharge of £4 issuing out of a close called the Furlong for three years if Jane Morris wife of Richard Morris lives as long. Dated 25 March 14 Chas II

Feoffment by John Mason of Newborough ph. Hanbury, tanner, and Elizabeth his wife, and Ann Madeley of Mackley ph. Sudbury, spinster, to Thomas Budworth the younger of Marchington, yeoman, in consideration of £40 of a parcel of land in the Poolefield, 2a by estimation. Dated 13 March 13 Charles II

Quitclaim by Richard Morris of Marchington, yeoman and Jane his wife, John Morton and Francis Whitterance of Marchington, yeoman to Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman of the messuage in Marchington where Edward Aston lives and land belonging, following performance of trusts in family settlement. Dated 25 March.

Feoffment by Edward Aston to George Vernon, with bond in consideration of £61  4s, of a parcel of ground lately enclosed out of the Brookfield called the New Piece, and a parcel of land called the Hemplake. Dated 15 April

Mortgage (damaged) by Edward Aston to George Vernon for £50 4s (Date in a hole)

Lease by Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman, to Roger Fletcher of Doveridge, gent, in consideration of £23, of a close in Marchington called the Furlong 10 acres by estimation, for 31 years, peppercorn rent. Dated 2 April 14 Chas II.

Feoffment by Edward Aston of Marchington yeoman, and Ralph Bothom son of John Botham of Quicksell, Staffs, yeoman to George Vernon in consideration of £42, of messuage or tenement in Marchington where Edward Aston dwells, close called the Furlong, 3 roods in a close in the Brookfield and ½ a of meadow. Dated 20 November 16 Chas II

End of Box 24

Release by Robert Hurte of Marchington, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £26, of a parcel of meadow and a parcel of land lying in the Brookfield, 1a by estimation. Dated 10 February 1669 (sic)

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to William Biddle the younger of Marchington blacksmith, in consideration of £22 10s, of all his cottage or tenement in Marchington, an acre of ploughland in Millfield, one acre of ploughland in Statfould Field, ½ a of ground in Benjamins Field, one land of meadow in Marchington Common Meadow, and a close called Headsons Piece (excepting a piece of ground called Pingle on the Green) and a parcel of ground lying in the Brookfield, ½ a): for 21 years: annual rent of £3  4s. Dated 1 March

Mortgage by demise for 1000 years for £30 by Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman, to John Gilbert of Marchington, gent, of the messuage in which Aston lives with all outbuildings etc belonging. Dated 28 March

Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to John Gilbert the younger of Marchington, gent, in consideration of £278, of messuage or tenement in Marchington in the possession of Edward Aston, close called the Furlong with two acres adjoining. Dated 5 November.

Feoffment by William Porter of Marchington, yeoman, and Margaret Porter of Marchington, widow, to John Gilbert of Marchington, gent, in consideration of £74, of all that meadow or pasture ground called Ancker Holme in Marchington. Dated 2 April.

Feoffment by Thomas Woodroffe of Marchington Woodland, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £45, of two acres in Marchington Meadow called Stocking Acres, an acre in Marchington Meadow called New Meadow Avenue, two roods and a balk in Marchington Meadow. Dated 27 June

Release (quitclaim) by Richard Morris of Marchington, yeoman, and Jane his wife, John Moreton and Francis Whitterance of Marchington, yeoman to Edward Aston of the messuage or tenement in which Aston lives. Dated 25 March.

Feoffment by Thomas Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £15, of a croft or close called Fairford Croft in the Benjamin Field of Marchington. Dated 25 March

Feoffment (as a collateral security) by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to John Gilbert the younger of Marchington, gent, of a parcel of ground called the Brookfield Close in Marchington (collateral security for a close called the Pingle at the Green which Vernon has sold to Gilbert). Dated 6 November

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to William Robotham of Bagots Bromley husbandman, of a piece or parcel of ground in Marchington Woodland called the Chesheir Field lately bought of Richard Robotham and a parcel of meadow in Marchington Meadow, ½ a by estimation: for 80 years or the lives of Emott Robotham wife of said William, Margaret their daughter, and William their son: annual rent of 20s. Dated 10 January.

Feoffment by Edward Aston of Marchington, yeoman to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £62  16s, of all his land in a close called the Nether Intake in Brookefield, Marchington, adjoining Draycott Millstream. Dated 22 October

Feoffment by Ann Madeley, spinster, one of the daughters of Edward Madeley of Mackley, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury., Esq, in consideration of £18, of a moiety of a close called Poole Bridge Close in the manor of Marchington. Dated 19 December.

Feoffment by Humphrey Clarke of London, gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £210 of Two Earles Meadow, Marchington, 7 acres by estimation, and parcel of ground called Dowcetts Hiron in the possession of James Stubbs the elder in Marchingotn, 4 acres by estimation. Dated 10 July.

Feoffment by Humphrey Clarke of London, gent, to William Harnson of Aston ph.Sudbury, yeoman, in consideration of  £65, of all that messuage or tenement with appurtenances, commonly called a “rieves thing” inhabited, by Henry Ford, with croft or backside 1½ acres in Marchington, closes called Chesheirefield 8a by estimation, two little closes at the end of Bag Lane 3a, two little closes Upper Boakestate and the Nether Boakestate, 5a., 3 a of land in the Brookfield in the Eyes there, 3a more in the Brookfield in a close adjoining the lane from Marchington to the Dove, 1a 3r of meadow ground lying in Marchington Great Meadow, one acre of meadow ground lying in the Church Furlong, one selion of land in the Brookfield in a new enclosure called Fishers stile, 7a 1r of arable land in the Brookfield, Millfield, Stotfoldfield and Beniamas (sic) field, and 1½ a of pasture land lying in the Intacks in the Brookfield: fee farm rent of £1  6s per annum. Dated 11 June.

Feoffment by Raphe Alkyn of Marchinton, yeoman, and John Alkyn, son and heir, to Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury kt., in consideration of £36, of a close called Dovefield 4a. by estimation in Marchington. Dated 1 June.

Marriage settlement (copy) on the marriage of John Gilbert the younger to Elizabeth, daughter of Francis Sherratt of Nubott (Nobolt?) – by which in consideration of marriage and £400 John Gilbert the elder of Marchington gent, and Barbara his wife have conveyed to Robert Gilbert, Thomas Stubbinge, Richard Sherratt and John Wall, of messuage or tenement where John Gilbert the elder lives and closes called Hall Orchard, Walker Leys, Fisher Style Close, New Piece, Poole Bridge Pingle, Petcher Holme, Great Riddings, Little Riddings, Over Riddings, Nearer Riddings, Backside Coat, Old Orchard with croft adjoining, the Ankerholme, Watfurlong, 6½ acres of meadow in Marchington Meadow, parcel of meadow called Little Furlong parcel of meadow called Byrch Crosse meadow and the arable land in the 4 fields: to uses Dated 20 November.

All part of disintegrated bundle “Marchington V”

“Marchington VI”

Release by John Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, son and heir of John Budworth late of Marchington, yeoman, to Thomas Newton the younger of Marchington, farmer, and Elizabeth his wife, daughter of John Budworth dec’d and sister of John Budworth, jr, in consideration of £176 (part of marriage portion of Elizabeth), of two closes in Marchington called Lowfields and the Bothams, 4a by est., and a flatt or parcel of arable land in Mill Hill Field 1½ a and another flatt of arable land called Crooked Acre in Foul Fore Field, 1a. Dated 28 March 

Lease and release by John Budworth of Marchington, yeoman, and Anne Challinor mother of John Budworth surviving executrix of John Budworth dec’d, to George Venables Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., in consideration of £175  10s, of a parcel of ground in Marchington called the Nooks or Crookes, parcel of land called Half an Acre adjoining the Flesfhield. Dated 1/2 April

Assignment of closes in 1334/1335 by persons with residual interests in the two closes to The Rev. John Addenbrooke, Dean of Lichfield, in trust for G V Vernon: consideration £124. Dated 2 April

Deed of exchange between George Vernon of Sudbury and William Burden of Marchington, yeoman, by which Vernon grants to Burden all his land in the middle of a close called Dockey Butts, 1 rood by estimation, and all his land in the middle of a close called the Manlyes, 1 rood by estimation, and another parcel of land in a close called Brooke Field Close Oa 1r 10p, purchased from Henry Merry – all in Marchington – in exchange for the nether end of the close called Dockey Butts. Dated 15 April

Mortgage in fee by Jane Taylor of Coton Staffs, widow, and Joseph Taylor of Coton, plumber and glazier, younger son of Thomas Taylor dec’d to Thomas Adie of Lichfield, mercer, in consideration of £200, of a close called the Dovehead, Dovesetts Hiron or Dove Setts Hirne, 20a by estimation in Marchington, and Pingle at the Mill, 1 ½ a, and close called the Ashacres 11½ a by estimation at Draycott Dated 2 May

Deed of exchange between George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and Nicholas Gallimore of Church Somersall, yeoman, by which Vernon grants to Gallimore a close called Headsons Marchington, in exchange for a close called the Pingles in Marchington. Dated 28 March

Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Jane Baxter of Houndhill, widow, in consideration of £20, of a close called Wardest Close, 2a 1r, in Marchington, purchased of Richard Smith. Dated 5 November.

Release by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to William Morton of Burton on Trent, mercer, and William Cotton of Horninglow, yeoman in consideration of £30, of a close called Rye Furlong 1½ a by estimation in Marchington. Dated 1 December.

Quitclaim by William Harrison of Aston, ph.Sudbury, yeoman, grandson of William Harrison late of Aston, yeoman, to George Vernon of Sudbury of messuage or tenement called a “reeves thing” in Marchington inhabited by Henry Ford and closes belonging. Dated 1 April (see 1330)

Deed of exchange between George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., and Thomas Maskery of Marchington, Whitetanner, by which in consideration of £23, Vernon grants to Maskery, a messuage or tenement in the tenure or occupation of John Hough (purchased from William Robotham), in exchange for a close of pasture in Marchington called the Gullett, 3 acres. Dated 26 March.

Lease by Robert Astley one of the sons of Walter Astley late of Tamhorn, Staffs, gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., of a close in Marchington called Townsend Croft, and a close in Marchington called upper Bottstakes and another close called Nether Bottstakes (purchased by George Vernon from William Robotham, and demised to Robert Astley 12 July 1686 for 60 years): for 59 years: annual rent of £6. Dated 13 July

(form of mortgage) [see 1351-2]

Mortgage by way of demise for 1000 years for £250 by George Vernon of Sudbury to Patrick Gilmore of Stafford, gent. of closes in Marchington called Ankerholme and Powbridge Pingle, late the inheritance of John Gilbert the elder and younger. Dated 23 July.

Assignment of mortgage: Patrick Gilmore to Joanna Anson one of the daughters of William Anson of Shugborough Manor: as 1345. Dated 23 July.

Lease for possession by Rt. Hon John Lord Viscount Chetwynd and the Hon. William Richard Chetwynd, son and heir, to George Venables Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., of 5a in Poole Field at Heane Shut, 1a of land in the Milne Field, 1a 1r in Marchington Great Meadow, parcel of land 2a lying in Ankersholme, ½ a in a close called Swans Nest – all copyhold in the manor of Marchington. Dated 14 March.

Marchington Manor Court: admittance of G V Vernon to lands in 1347 on the death of Henry Vernon. Dated 13 April.

Deed of enfranchisement of lands as in 1347: Viscount Chetwynd and son to G V Vernon. Dated 14/15 March.

Deed of exchange between George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., and John Morton of Marchington, yeoman, and John Morton the younger son and heir, by which Vernon has granted to the Mortons, a close lately enclosed out of the Brookefield, 1 a 3r, in exchange for a piece of land in Anchors Holme. Dated 7 February

Counterpart of 1344

Lease, Vernon to Astley, recited in 1344: consideration £60: peppercorn rent for 60 years. Dated 12 July

Lease (mortgage by way of lease for 99 years for £200) by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Benjamin Edbury of Wilne of a moiety of six roods or selions of ground in Marchington and all the land late of Edward Aston in a close called the Nether Intack in Brookfield, and one end of a headland lying in a close adjoining to the Nether Intack 3a, piece of ground called the New Piece, 6a enclosed out of the Brookfield in Marchington, and several closes purchased of John Alkin, 11a, Brookfield Closes, Milne Hill Close, Ashley Leys, Furlong Leys, Moore Meadow, Rowcliff and Marchington Common Meadow, and several parcels of land, meadow and pasture in Marchington Meadow, 2a 2r, and a balk, purchased of Thomas Woodroffe. Dated 8 November.

Feoffment by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to John Keelinge of Uttoxeter, mercer in consideration of £210, of two closes called Pokers Grass Piece and Wilsons Grass Piece, 3a 3r by estimation, and closes called Upper and Nether Boatstake (see 1344), all in Marchington: fee farm rent of 26s. Dated 22 April

End of Marchington Bundle VI

Needwood Forest Bundle (NI)

Sketch (plan) of Needwood Forest and proposal for a division of it (Duchy of Lancaster). Dated 3 June

Treasurer’s account for Derbyshire – Easter sessions 1796 – Easter Sessions 1797

Draft lease by Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton, of Kinderton, to Philip Oakden of Bentley Hall, Derbyshire, of a parcel of land in the forest of Needwood, staked out by the Commissioners for enclosing the forest, 290a, called Great Nettlebed, and another parcel 45a called the Little Nettlebed: for 41 years: peppercorn rent for the first two years of the term, £240 for the next 29 years, £365 10s for the last ten years.

Dated 23 January

Articles of agreement between commoners in the forest of Needwood for the “legal and just defence” of their rights of common of pasture, estovers and other rights and privileges – signed by many of the commoners. Dated 29 January

Bargain and sale by Robert John Harper, esq., Surveyor of Woods, Axbower and Woodward within the honour of Tutbury and Thomas Lack, receiver of his majesty’s rents and revenues in the Honour, to George Venables, Lord Vernon, in consideration of £1764  2s, of five oak trees above 6 inches square growing on part of Flint Hill in Marchington Ward, 196 oak trees above 6 inches square growing on part of Great Nettlebed and Cross Plain in Tutbury Ward, 111 oak trees above 6 inches square in Little Nettlebed in Tutbury Ward, 52 oak trees about 6 inches square on land enclosed by Lord Vernon in Tutbury Ward, 3 ash trees in Little Nettlebed. Dated 19 April.

Needwood Forest enclosure: abstract of the exchanges made between Lord Vernon in his own right, and the trustees of his settled estate and others, and also between the trustees and others.

Key and plan to Lord Vernon’s exchanges under the Needwood Forest inclosure act (with 1360) – West Broughton, Marchington, Houndhill, Stubby Lane, Moreton, Draycott, Tutbury Ward (in 2 sections)

Letter from Henry Readell, New Hall, in Thornney Lane, to George Vernon, St James St., 25 December re parliamentary affairs (Vernon, M.P) and the management of Needwood 

Small page of legal notes – of no apparent relevance to Needwood (but probably is!)

Letter from W. Devonshire (Duke of Devonshire), Little Salisbury House, to George Vernon – re money associated with deputy lieutenants (of the forest). Dated 16 May

Letter from W. Abell to George Vernon – re purchase of his (Abell’s) lodge. Dated 1 November

Letter from Ber Whalley, London, to George Vernon at Sudbury re Whalley’s lodge on the forest. Dated 3 November 

Letter from Philip Turner to George Vernon at St James Street – “Mr Lambert Baggat hath sent a warrant to the keeper of Brickley Lodge and demands his fee doe (due) as Depputy Liftenant

of the forest within the Ranggers hand to it”. Dated 19 December

Letter from Walter Aston George, Vernon’s cousin, to George Vernon at Sudbury re Foxes Lodge, Needwood. Dated 21 October.

Letter from Joseph Hayne, Uttoxeter, to George Vernon, M.P – re value of timber. Dated 24 December

Letter from Henry Readell to George Vernon at St James Street – Joseph Haynes and John Griffin of Hanbury Lane have bought all the “bragin” in Mr Lane’s part in Needwood --- prove a great many groves of it and great deal more of “leges” of timber for saving ….. Dated 4 February

A short account of those methods that have from time to time been used to deter persons from trespasses in Needwood-by Chancellor of the Duchy, William Duke of Devonshire (Chief Ranger), the Deputy Ranger and Deputy Lieutenants of his majesty’s chase, 1747-1755 (document a bit later).

Extracts from depositions by Benjamin Cox and William Woodings re alleged offences of killing deer in Needwood: 9 September

Letter from Henry Readell to George Vernon at St James Street re prices of timber in Needwood. Dated 2 December.

Order by E Vernon, lieutenant, to the keepers and underkeepers of Needwood re killing of deer. Dated 26 June

Letter from W[illiam] Devonshire to ?George Vernon re Yoxall Lodge Dated 15 October

Deposition of Jeremiah Hodgkins, servant to Thomas Turner of Shirrall Lodge, Needwood, before George Lord Vernon and Sir Walter Wagstaff Bagot, J.P’s also evidence of William Somnes and John Smith: again re shooting a deer. Dated 14 November

Legal notes on above case

Further legal notes similar to 1363 – for George Vernon M.P re Needwood

Letter from Robert Smith to George Vernon at St James St., prices of fallen timber in Needwood: canvassing on behalf of the Rev. James Ibbotson who wishes to be vicar of Brailsford. Dated 10 December.

Letter from Walter Aston to George Vernon at Sudbury – re 1374 – and the need for royal authority “in what we do”. Dated, at Tixall, 14 September

Copy appointment of William Cotton as surveyor of woods, Axbearer and Woodward in the Honour of Tutbury. Dated 6 October 10 William

Col. Vernon’s directions for killing deer in Needwood (see 1380, 1374).

Copy – “At the Committee of Lords and Commons for the Advancement of Mony etc” 3 March 1646. “Ordered that Mr Vernon paying in one hundred pounds in fourteen days his assessment of five hundred pounds be discharged for that it appeareth to this Committee he hath done good service to the Parliament at the regaining of Tutbury for the Parliament and other good services performed by him for the kingdom since his delinquency”.

Copied 25 July 1651.

Order addressed to the keeper or underkeeper of Barton Ward, Needwood – not to kill any deer or sign any warrants other than those signed by the king himself. Dated 8 June

Letter from Phillip Turnor to ?George Vernon regarding the cutting of timber “left” in the walk”. Dated 14 December

Letter from Joseph Turton Alrewas to George Vernon M.P – Vernon has assisted Turton in obtaining an order for being heard against the petition preferred by Rupert Browne. Dated 1 April

Letter from William Smith, Brompton Park, to George Vernon at Sudbury regarding “a percell of Pyramid yews” he has sent him for planting. Dated 26 August

Letter from Walter Aston at Tixall to George Vernon at Sudbury, re Sir Edward Bagot killing a “lying deer” in Needwood and two warrants (presumably concerning the incident). Dated 8 September

Needwood Cottage rental: Eland Lodge, Holly Bush, Agardsley, Machington Cliff, Stubby Lane, Woodhedge, Havishrion, Draycott, The Groves, Hanbury Woodside, Tutbury Ward Blackbrooke, Tutbury Gate, Anslow Gate, Brakenhurst, Yoxall Lodge, Thatchmore, Yoxall Woodside, Hoar Cross Barton Ward, Dunstall Gate (presumably encroachments)

Account by Alexander Robotham of Draycott regarding the sale “of his majesty’s timber within this six years” in Needwood. Dated 11 May

Extract from the proceedings of the forest court regarding the use of timber without licence to build a pinfold at Draycott (n.d but Alexander Robotham involved)

Agreement between Robert John Harper, Esq., at the direction of the Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster, and Lord Vernon, by which Harper is to convey to Vernon 2 parcels of land 198a 2r 23p parcels 190 and 192 in the Needwood enclosure award of 1805 – for £6386. Dated 28 April

Copies:-

a) Tutbury 5 February 1 Elizabeth – liberties and customs of the villages in the Honour of Tutbury: also every tenant and inhabitant under Needwood and Duffield Frith shall have common in the king’s forests or chases at all times of the year for all manner of beasts of their own rearing except beasts not commonable as goats sheep and beasts of merchandise …

b) extract from survey of Duchy of Lancaster property in Staffs, Leics, Derbys and Warwicks relating to the rights of common of the burgesses of Newborough on Needwood – n.d. early 18th century copy (poss. late 17th).

Further abstract relating to the liberties and customs within Needwood and Duffield Frith:

There is both copyholders and custom holders and they are both tenants at will after the custom of the manor where the lands lyeth. The customary tenants are most commonly of the bond hold which hold their meyses land and tenements under the following form – “every man that hath a meyse and a yarde land and meadowe thereto belonginge, or a meyse and a halfe yarde land and meadow thereto belonginge that is of the custome hold called bond hold they shall come into the court afore the same steward and take the same to have to him and to his heirs or to him or to his wife and to his sons and to the heirs of one of them after the custom or to him that he will set it to, and the surrender to be made in the open court and the fine thereine seised, the fine is for a reeves holdinge the value of the lands for one year over all charges, rents and services or else 13s 4d, and if it be copie land that is noe reeves thinge, then the fyne is as the taker can agree with the steward…” (customs relating to tenancies continue)

Copies of documents relating to Agardsley Park, Newborough: 

(a) Survey of Agardsley Park, February 1649 (descriptive)

b) Lease of pannage and barbage of Agardsley by Queen Elizabeth to Thomas Hunyngs 8 May 24 Elizabeth, and subsequent legal notes up to its lease to Sir Edward Vernon 5 January 10 Charles I

(late 17th cent. copy)

Appointment of Sir Brian Broughton as surveyor of the woods, Woodward and Axbearer in the Honour of Tutbury, 15 May 14 Charles II

Letter from James Vernon, Whitehall, to George Vernon – the lords justices intend to hear the matters in question between “My Lord Steward” and “My Lord Stamford”, as soon as they are both in town … Lord Stamford has appointed a new axbearer. Dated 20 October

Letter – Isaac Hawkins to George Vernon – accompanying an enclosure. Dated 2 May.

Letter John Wentworth to George Vernon enclosing surveyor’s report on rebuilding Houndhill Hall:

“In obedience to your lordship’s commands immediately after your lordship’s warrant came to my hands I sent my Deputy to Draycott and also a carpenter (who is well skilled in building) to assist him who went to the place where the manor house of Draycott lately stood, commonly called or known by the name of Houndhill, belonging to George Vernon Esq., and carefully surveyed the premises and returned me this account that upon their view, it appears by the old timber that they saw there and by the great quantity of old shingle lying on the ground that the said manor house (whilst standing) was a timber house that the greater part of the old timber is already used in the rebuilding of the said manor house, and according to the best information they could get and by the best observation they could make, they find that the new building is erected upon the same ground where the said old  manor house stood and is no larger, and should they conceive to perfect and finish the said building (with what is already used) will take above double the quantity of new timber mentioned in your lordship’s warrant directed to Henry Cavendish Esq., Axbearer of their highnesses’ forest or chase of Needwood besides all the old timber which was in the said manor house” --- John Shallcross.

Surveyor’s report dated 10 July 1693: Letter dated 9 September.

Letter from Isaac Hawkins to George Vernon at Sudbury about the “Needwood Affayre” in chancery. Dated 5 December

Order to the keeper of Barton Ward to deliver one brace of bucks “fairly killed” to the Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster (signed Willoughby). Dated 5 July

Letter from Isaac Hawkins to George Vernon about forest matters – “my Lord Duke is very angry”. Dated 27 April

Copy letters patent appointing Henry Vernon and Edward Tompson to the keepership of Agardsley Park and Marchington Ward. Dated 14 March 10 Charles I

Order by the Chancellor of the Duchy ordering the Ranger and Deputy Ranger of the Forest and the keeper and underkeeper of the ward of Tutbury prohibiting the killing of any buck, doe or fawn in Tutbury Ward until 20 July 1776 because of the depletion of the stock. Dated 28 June

Order by the Duchy Court that Messrs Hutchinson and Vaux purchasers of timber from Needwood, should only remove the timber in winter in times of hard frost when the roads will receive least injury. Dated 24 May

A copy of the instructions sent Mr Butler respecting the timber at Needwood Forest – nature, age, quantities, fitness for navy purposes etc. Dated 27 March

Letter from the Duke of Devonshire to George Vernon – re detecting and punishing of offenders in Needwood Forest. Dated 22 July

Letter from [Lord] Acton, Standen to George Vernon in London: refreshing their memories of the “forest business”; Acton’s father was lieutenant of the forest until he left Staffordshire (Tixall) Dated 15 November.

Letter from the Earl of Chesterfield to George Vernon: regarding an agreement with Vernon re Needwood Forest mentions that some people “designe the disafforesting of the Forrest”. Dated 20 August.

Letter from [the Duke of] Devonshire to George Vernon: concerning Vernon’s “proposal concerning the forest of Needwood. I lament extremely the ruine which perhaps the finest place in England for sports is like to sustain for want of a power to suppress the waste and the abuses committed there, and if ever I should act there as Ranger, I should with many acknowledgements embrace the  favour you offer me of your assistance, but as the case stands I am advised not to meddle in it till Browne’s pretensions be taken off …” Dated 26 November

Letter from [the Duke of] Devonshire, Chatsworth, to George Vernon: “I am sorry to find by yours that the disputes in the forrest still continue which I am sensible may be a preindice to his Majesty’s interest there, and the good of the forest. I perceive it began upon a very slight occasion, whither a fee buck was warrantable or no, and tho it were not I believe shooting another in Yoxall was not iustifiable without the consent of the keeper of the walk”… I am firmly resolved to spend some time in the forest next year, to see if it be possible to reconcile matters there, and that way to be serviceable to Gentlemen I have a respect for, and to that end shall be oblig’d to take the Lodge into my own hands” … Dated 16 September [probably 1691]

Abstract of lease by the King to Edward Vernon, merchant, of diverse cottages in Needwood for 31 years: annual rent of 16s 10d. Dated 26 July.

Letter from Edward Bagot to George Vernon at Sudbury: concerning the “preservation of our forest”. Dated 30 October

Letter from J[ames] Vernon to George Vernon: has begged a petty couple of young hounds for GV from his father …. Lord Stamford has bought Salts Lodge. Dated 29 October

Letter from Sir Brian Broughton, Broughton House, to George Vernon: just acknowledging letter (mid late 17th c).

Letter from the Earl of Chesterfield, Bretby, to George Vernon: Chesterfield parting with the command of Needwood: also wants a brace of “black bald dear”. Dated 29 November 

The account of Thomas Ilseley deputy axebearer of the forest or chase of Needwood and the parks belonging of such wood as hath been set out therein within the space of 12 years last past (1672-1684) given to Mr Herbord, Surveyor General: list of trees set out (i.e. for felling) and the purpose for which they were used. Dated 5 May.

Sundry notes on forest – repairs needed, rents, leases etc. n.d.

Copy petition by the gentlemen, freeholders and other inhabitants who have the right of estovers and common in the forest of Needwood to Parliament regarding the actions of Thomas Earl of Stamford, Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster, who has make orders invading the rights and liberties of the petitioners without reference to the Crown or the Council of the Duchy of Lancaster. n.d. late 17th cent.

Letter from [the Duke of] Devonshire to George Vernon: pleased with Vernon’s account of forest affairs. “I believe my Lord Stamford’s hunting in the forest by his own authority (as he calls it) gives him no more a right to do so, than his axbearer by having been a woodseater can claim an authority to steal on “ ------“ All this considered I doubt I must be forc’t to come upon the place in my way to London, that (if I am not able to reform these disorders), at least I may give the king an account of them. I am convinct by what you say that too many deputy lieutenants are rather a burthen to the forrest than otherwise, and am very willing to send you such a deputation as may supersede theirs”. Dated 14 September.

Copy petition by William Duke of Devonshire to the King (Devonshire having been appointed Steward of the Honour of Tutbury and Lieutenant of the forest of Needwood) regarding the conduct of the Earl of Stamford, chancellor of the Duchy, in relation to the forest: has hunted, killed and disposed of several deer contrary to Devonshire’s orders; has appointed a scandalous and unfit person John Matthews as axbearer instead of Mr Justice Turton; has appointed a “supernumerary and needlesse” officer in the north parts of the Duchy called “Surveyor of the Woods”; has assumed arbitrary power in making and publishing orders. n.d.

Copy appointment of John Matthews as axbearer and Woodward in the Honour of Tutbury. Dated 21 July 10 William III

(Damaged) assignment of leases by Crown to Edward Vernon of North Aston, Oxfordshire, of Hanbury and Tutbury Parks to Roger Coningsbye of London, Esq. Dated 18 December.

End of Box 25

Marchington Manor Court – view of frankpledge and court baron of Charles Egerton, esq., 15 April. Surrender by William Burden of a piece or parcel of land by estimation 2 acres more or less in a close called Ankersholme and a piece or parcel of land ½ acre by estimation lying in a close called Swans Nest: admittance of George Vernon: fine 50s.

Marchington Manor Court 11 July 2 Elizabeth Admittance of Nicholas Browne to a tenement with buildings called Newlande near Stubbylane with certain lands, meadows and pastures adjacent 40a by estimation and also 13a of arable land lying near Stubbylane, and a marsh and meadow called Rowlye 20a more or less in Marchington.

Extract from an extent of the manor of Marchington stating that Walter Vernon holds a copyhold marsh called Rowley 25a by estimation. Dated 20 February 1578 (sic)

Memo of admittance of Nicholas Browne of Houndhill to a parcel of land called Blackyerthe parcel of the land of the king called Rowley 10a by estimation: rent of 6s  8d per annum. 

Late 16th cent n.d.

Marchington Manor Court – small court of the king 12 May 8 James.

Surrender by William Porter of a selion of arable containing one rood lying in a field called Poolfield: admittance of John Aston: fine 2s

Surrender by Walter Vernon son and heir of Thomas Vernon of a close called the Hill Field in Marchington Woodland: admittance of William Aston: annual rent of 13s 4d. Dated 5 April 38 Elizabeth.

Extract from extent of the manor of Marchington: John Harper holds a close of land called Blackyerthe formerly part of the marsh called Rowley 6a by est. Dated 20 February 1578 (sic) (as 1426)

Admittance of Walter Vernon of a cottage and croft and another cottage and 2 acres of land and 2 other acres of land in Stubbylane, 6a 1r of land and meadow in Wardhurst, 10a of land in Rowley, 6a of land in Hyllfelde, a pasture called Cospes, 3 acres of meadow in Buckeryddyng in Marchington. Dated 25 October 4 and 5 Philip and Mary

Surrender by Nicholas Browne Esq., of a marsh and meadow called Rowley 20a by estimation in the fee of Marchington: admittance of Walter Vernon: fine 6s 8d Gt.ct. of the Queen 4 May 21 Elizabeth.

Surrender by Thomas Aston of 3 roods of land lying in the Brookefield in the Intakes and a further three roods lying in the Intakes: admittance of Onley Vernon son and heir of George Vernon fine 20s. Dated 12 April

Surrender by Thomas Robotham of 2 selions of land ½ acre by estimation in Brookefield in a close of John Aston’s, and 2 selions of land ½ a by est. in the lower part of Brookefield: admittance of Richard Robotham: fine 3s 4d. Dated 5 November 22 James I.

Surrender by Robert Porter of 2½ a of arable land in the Mylnefield in a close at the Eyes next to a close of Ralph Poker’s called the Botstake: to the use of Richard Robotham: fine 10s. Dated 15 June 12 James I

Further extract from extent of the manor of Marchington relating to Rowley – 25a of meadow in Rowley leased to Robert Hill. Dated 20 February 1578 (sic)

Surrender by Ralph Poker and Helen his wife and John Aston, of a close called Botstake 3a by estimation in the lower part of the Mylnefield. Fine 12d. Marchington Manor Court: small court of the king: 2 April 15 James I

Surrender by Richard Robotham of a messuage or tenement commonly called a Reeves thing, inhabited by Robert Deivell, with all outbuildings and lands belonging: admittance of his son Richard Robotham: fine £40: M.M.Ct., small court of Humphrey Clarke Jr., 1 February 

Surrender by Ralph Poker and Helen his wife of a close in the Mylnefield at a place called Grasseplace 3a by estimation: annual rent of 12d to the king: admittance of Richard Robotham. Dated 12 June 15 James I.

Admittance of Thomas Robotham to a cottage or tenement in Marchington in le Baglane, with barn, garden, orchard and croft 2a by est., one acre of arable land in Benjamins Field, ½ a of meadow in Marchington Meadow on Wetfurlong Leys and ½ a of meadow in Moore meadow next to the stream there called le Fleame. Dated 8 February 16 James I.

Surrender by John Aston of a half part of a bondhold messuage with all lands etc. belonging, and a half part of a cottage, both in Marchington: admittance of Margerie his wife: fine 6s 8d. Dated 9 April 30 Elizabeth

Admittance of George Vernon son and heir of Humphrey Vernon of a cottage and croft formerly of Thomas Merston, one cottage two acres of land late of Ralph Aleyn in Draycott, 2 acres of land in Stubbylane late of Robert Robotham, 6a 1r of land and meadow in Wardhurst, 10a of land in Rowley, 6a of land in Hilfeld, 3 pastures called le Coppes containing 16a of land, and 3a of meadow in Bugriddyng in Marchington, of which said Humphrey died seised. Dated 2 April 35 Henry VIII.

Power of attorney by George Vernon, Esq., son and heir of Humphrey Vernon to Humphrey Turner and William Morton to surrender all his copyhold lands in the parish of Hanbury at Marchington Manor Court. Dated 1 July 35 Henry VIII.

Surrender by George Vernon of lands etc as in 1442. Dated 2 April 35 Henry VIII: admittance of Thomas Vernon his brother.

As 1442

Admittance of Nicholas Browne to a “built tenement” called Newlande near Stubbylane with 40a of land meadow and pasture belonging and 13 acres of arable land near Stubbylane and a marsh and meadow called Rowley 20a, and a close called Blackyerth at Rowlye 5a by est. Dated 11 July 2 Elizabeth (as 1425)

Inquisition on the death of William Aston: admittance of John Aston to his messuage and lands in Marchington. Dated 28 March 23 Elizabeth.

Surrender by Thomas Aston, Thomas Holmes and Ann his wife of a moiety of a cottage or tenement inhabited by Thomas Holmes, a moiety of the buildings and a moiety of close called Swanstons Pingle, to the use of Jane wife of Richard Morris, Marchington Manor Court: gt.ct. baron of John Ramsey, 22 April.

Surrender by Richard Aston of 3 selions of land 3 roods by est. in the Brookefield in a close called Dockierbutts to the use of Richard Robotham in exchange: admittance of Richard Robotham. Dated 15 October

Surrender by Thomas Robotham and Elizabeth his wife of a close called the Cheshirefield with a small meadow adj. containing 6 acres: admittance of Richard Robotham junior annual rent of 3s 4d. Dated 30 July 7 James I.

Admittance of Richard Robotham to a close or pasture called Botstake 3a by estimation lying in the lower part of the Milnefield next to the Dove in Marchington: fine 13s 4d. Dated 8 October 20 James I.

Surrender by Thomas Swanston of a close of meadow 1a commonly called Brookfield Acre: admittance of John Aston: fine 10s. Dated 2 March 15 James I.

Surrender by Thomas Coke of a selion of arable land in Benjamins Field on Ryfurlonge, ½ rood: admittance of John Aston. Dated 2 March 15 James I.

Presentment of the death of Onely Vernon and the admittance of Margaret Meynell, wife of Godfrey Meynell, his sister and heir to his copyhold property in Marchington viz. 5a of land in the Poolefield at a place called Heane Shutt 1a of land in the Millfield in the Eyes, 1a 1r of meadow in Marchington Great Meadow on the Wett Furlonge Leas: fine £6. Dated 8 October. V. of f and et. baron of John Cornelius Bridgwater, Viscount Bradley.

Surrender by Godfrey Meynell and Margaret his wife of lands as in 1454: admittance of George Vernon: fine £4. Dated 16 October. V. of f. and et. Baron of Charles Egerton Esq.

Surrender by Anne Holmes, widow, of 6 roods of land in the Brookfield in the Intakes to the use of Onely Vernon son and heir apparent of George Vernon. Dated 27 June

Admittance of John Aston to a parcel of land containing 4 “virgas” (yards) in width and ----------

 (blank) “virgas” in length lying next to the mansion house (domum mansionalem) of John Aston in the fee of Marchington: fine 4d. Dated 16 May 5 James I
Surrender by Thomas Robotham of a selion of arable land (formerly the land of Thomas Swanston) one rood by estimation in the Brodifield: admittance of John Aston: fine 2s. Dated 8 February 16 James I.

Surrender by William Clarke and Dorothy his wife of a parcel of inclosed land in Brodefield, 3r. by estimation, adjoining Wettfurlong Lane: admittance of Thomas Robotham son of Richard Robotham: fine 4s. Dated 26 November.

Surrender by Ralph Poker and Helen his wife of half an acre of meadow in Marchington Meadow on Wetfurlong Leys, admittance of John Aston: fine 4d. Dated 2 March 15 James I.

Surrender by John Aston of a messuage or tenement called a Reeves thing in Marchington where John Aston lives, with barns, buildings lands etc. belonging viz the New Inclosure abutting on the Dove 3a, the Intakes abutting on Milne Fleame 6a., Claytiholme butting on the Dove 2a, The Slade adj. The Milnefiled 1½ acre, 1a 1r of meadow in Mooremeadow, 1a 1r of meadow in Wettfordlong Leas and 6 acres of arable land in the Stotfold Field, Milnefield and Brookfield: to the use of John Aston for life, then to the use of Richard his third son. Dated 4 August 8 Charles I.

Admittance of William Aston to one messuage, one cottage and lands etc in Marchington in which John Aston his father died seised: fine 6s 8d. Dated 29 September 15 Elizabeth.

Surrender by Richard Budworth of all his copyhold land in the Poolefield in a close called Heane Shutt. 1a of land in the Millfield, in the Eyes, 1a 1r of meadow land in Marchington Great Meadow on Wetfurlong Leas: to the use of Richard Budworth for life then to the use of Thomas Budworth the younger his heirs and assigns. Dated 9 April. Ct. of John Ramsey (see lands of Onely Vernon, 1454 etc).

Admittance of Richard Robotham of a close in the Milnefield at Grasse place, 2a 3r by estimation: fine 10s. Dated 13 April 16 James I.

Surrender by Thomas Robotham of three selions of meadow, ½ a in the Intake late parcel of the Brookfield: fine 4d. Dated 18 April 14 James I

Inquisition on the death of Nicholas Browne late of Snelston who held a house or tenement formerly on the waste lying in Stubbylane and a triangular parcel of land also formerly waste lying between Cospes within the fee of Marchington: admittance of William Browne son and heir: fine 6d. Dated 5 September 31 Elizabeth.

Surrender by Ralph Poker and Helen his wife of an acre of land in Benjamins Field and ½ a of land in the Mylnefield, ½ a of land in the Poolfield, one selion of land in the Poolfield, and another selion of land in the Poolfield. Dated 6 January 8 James I.

Surrender by Richard Robotham of a cottage in which William Aston lives and a small croft containing 1 rood: admittance of Thomas Melborne: fine 13s 4d. Dated 2 May 9 Charles I.

Surrender by Thomas Lathbury, Henry Porter and Dorothy his wife of all their lands in the Poolefield at a place called Heane Shutt, 5a by estimation and 1a of land in the Millfield adj. the stream called the Fleame: admittance of Richard Budworth: fine £6 10s . Dated 20 January (see 1454, 1463 etc)

Surrender by William Amery, jr., of a croft called Churchpingle 1a in Marchington: admittance of John Aston: annual rent of 4d. Dated 1 July 4 Charles I

Surrender by Thomas Budworth of 5a of land in the Poolefield in a place called Heane Shutt, 1a in the Millfield in the Eyes, 1a 1r of meadow in Marchington Great Meadow on Wett Furlonge Leas: admittance of Oneley Vernon: fine £8. Dated 30 April (see 1454, 1463, 1469 etc)

Surrender by William Bothbey of an acre of land lying in a close of Richard Aston’s called the Furlong and ½ a lying in the Churchfurlong, admittance of Jane wife of Richard Aston: fine 12d: fine 23s 4d. Dated 2 February 11 Charles I

Surrender by John Aston of a close of meadow commonly called Brookfield Acre 1a by est, 1a 1 r of meadow at a place called the Intake, and a cottage situated in Marchington near the Green with a garden, orchard and croft adjacent ½ acre: admittance of Richard and Thomas Aston brothers of John: annual rent of 12d: fine 20s. Dated 24 June 17 James I.

Surrender by Thomas Bothbye of two parcels of land called Cleytiholmes, 2a by estimation: admittance of Thomas Milward: in fact copyhold mortgage for £25. Dated 29 October 1 Charles

Surrender by William Aston (brother and heir of John Aston, son of John Aston dec’d) of a messuage or tenement commonly called a Reeves thing inhabited by the said Richard, to the use of Richard Aston his brother (no admittance). Dated 15 October.

Surrender by Walter Vernon formerly of Houndhill of a close called Warde Hurse now or late in the tenure of Thomas Rossington: admittance of Thomas Rossington: fine 10s. Dated 28 September 17 Elizabeth.

Surrender by Robert Aston of a bondhold cottage and half of a tenure of bondland formerly in the tenure of John Golborn, 10½ a of land 5a of which lie on Church Furlong, 3a in the Brookfield, 2a in Dowcett Hiren and ½ a in the Milnfield – all in Marchington: to the use of Robert his wife Isabel and their lawful issue: admittance: fine 3s 4d. Dated 23 November 9 Henry VIII.

Admittance of John Aston to 3 selions of meadow late of Thomas Robotham containing ½a at a place called the Intack, and 3 of meadow by est. late of Robert Bothbye lying in the Intacke, and ½ a of meadow late of Ralph Poker lying in Marchington Meadow on Wetfurlong Lays in the fee of Marchington: fine 16s. Dated 24 June 17 James I.

Admittance of John Aston son and heir of Robert Aston to property as in 1477: fine 5s. Dated 16 January 26 Henry VIII

Surrender by Richard Robotham of a messuage or tenement commonly called a Reeves thing in which Henry Ford now lives in Marchington with all lands etc. belonging viz. 1a 1r of arable, in Beniamas Field, 1a of arable in the Brookefield, 1½ a of land in Millfield, 2a of arable in Stotfould Field near Dimblerhead, 1½ a of arable dispersed in the same field, a selion of arable in the Brookefield in a close called Fishers Stile, a close called Chesheire Field by est 8 acres, a croft in two parts near the end of Baglane 3a by estimation, two closes of meadow or pasture called the Upper and Nether Boatstake 5a by estimation, 3a of arable or pasture in the Millfield at a certain place called the Eyes, 3a of pasture in the Brookefield in a certain close called Brookefield Close an acre of meadow in a close next to the Churchyard (called Churchfurlong) 1a 3r of meadow in Marchington Great Meadow – together containing 35 acres by estimation: admittance of George Vernon: fine 12d. Dated 17 June.

Surrender by Richard Aston of 3 selions of meadow 1a by estimation, and 1r of land in Marchington Meadow on Wettfurlong Leas: admittance of Richard Budworth: fine 36s. Dated 22 November

Surrender by ?Henry Meke of 10½ acres of land as in 1477, admittance of Robert Aston: fine 5d. Dated Wednesday next after the feast of the invention of St Crux 6 Edward IV

Surrender by Richard Bothbye, haberdasher, of London of a bondhold messuage or tenement called a Reeves thing in which Alice Boulton widow, now lives, one house called a backhouse in which Alice Gowyn now lives, a barn, a cottage in which Emota Melbourne, widow now lives, with their appurtenances, a parcel of land called the foldyard and a croft containing 1½ acres, 1a of meadow in Churchfulong, an acre of meadow in Marchington Meadow in two separate places on Wetfurlong Layes, ½ a of meadow on Ashbylayes and ½ a of meadow on Moore meadow and 14a of arable in Marchington fields: admittance of Richard Robotham: fine 33s. Dated 20 April 10 James I.

Surrender by Thomas Robotham of a parcel of ground ½ a in a close of Richard Robotham’s called Brookefield Close adj. Wettfurlong Lane; admittance of Richard Robotham. Dated 4 October

End of Marchington Manor Court bundle

Case papers – the joint and several answers of Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury, kt., Mathew Cradocke of Caverswall, Esq., and William Owley of the parish of Hanbury, Staffs, yeoman defendants to the information of Sir Edward Moseley kt., Attorney General of his highness’s Duchy of Lancaster – re lease of messuage and lands in Newland and Rowley in the manor of Marchington n.d. 17th cent.

Case paper- information of Edward Moseley and John Wright – as 1485. Dated 28 November.

Case paper – examination of William Amery of Marchington, yeoman – as 1485/6

Case paper – Nicholas Browne against Henry Cropwell and others re a close in manor of Marchington called Blackyearth als. Rowley n.d.

Depositions on behalf of Nicholas Browne as above – re Rowley and Blackyearth – Summary

Feoffment by William Am[er]ie of Marchington, yeoman, to John Gilbert of Doveridge, yeoman of all that close or parcel of meadow called Fishers Style in Marchington late in the occupation of Thomas Amerie, William’s father. Dated 18 January

Receipt for £45 of George Vernon by William Burden for land lying in Ankersholme. Dated 15 April

Feoffment by William Amerye of Marchington, yeoman, and Mary his wife to John Gilbert of Doveridge in consideration of £153 6s 8d of closes in Marchington called Ankersholme and Fishers Style. Dated 18 January 7 James I

Part of a deed (right hand half missing) between Robert Jackson of Enfield, Middlesex, William Atkinson and Sir Edward Stanley of Tonge Castle kt. relating to closes in Marchington. Date missing

Feoffment by Mary Vernon, widow, late wife of John Vernon of Sudbury and Edward Vernon son and heir of Walter Vernon late of Houndhill dec’d, to Richard Baxter of Marchington, yeoman in consideration of £65, of a close of pasture 6a in Marchington Woodland (not named but endorsed as “Cospes”). Dated 7 October 6 James I.

Feoffment by Mary Vernon widow of John Vernon and Edward Vernon son and heir of Walter Vernon to Thomas Robothome of Marchington, cordwainer, in consideration of £65, of a close in Marchington Woodland 6a (not named). Dated 6 October 6 James I

Decree of the Duchy of Lancaster regarding the payment of a rent of 58s 6d arising out of lands and tenements in Draycott, late the inheritance of Sir Edward Stanley, payable to the King in right of his manor of Marchington. Dated 25 November 7 James I.

Feoffment by Walter Mynors of Uttoxeter Esq and Richard Queene of Uttoxeter, yeoman to Thomas Moore of Coton, in consideration of £246 15s, of closes in Draycott namely Lemond Holme 8a, parcel of land 2a between Lemond Holme and the road leading from Sudbury to Draycott, Mylnestones, 3½ acres, parcel of land adjoining the east end of the Mylnestones, two lands or ridges of meadow 1a in a meadow called Cothole, 2 parcels of meadow, a rood each, in Draycott Little Meadow, 2 arable lands in the Long Ridding, 5 lands in Draycott in the Overfield 16 lands and “pytt” adjoining in Hall Flatt, 3 lands in Spelgreave, Dated 20 March 8 James I.

Feoffment by Walter Mynors of Uttoxeter, Esq., and Richard Queene of Uttoxeter, yeoman, to Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott, yeoman, in consideration of £124, of a toft where a house formerly stood a croft, 3a together, commonly called Garry’s yard, all that cottage and croft in Draycott 1½ a, toft and croft called Blunts Yard ½ a, half of a toft and croft called Broke Yard, 1a, the Ryddyng, 3a., a third part of a meadow called Ladie Hay 3a (the whole), a dole of meadow 1a in Densey, another dole ½ a in Densey, another dole 1a in Densey, one dole ½ a in the Little Meadow, ½ a of meadow in Cote Hole, a dole of meadow 1a in a meadow called the Long Acre, a dole of Meadow 1a lying between the Brookes, an acre of land consisting of six lands in a little close recently enclosed out of the Dovefield, and ½ a of land consisting of three lands also enclosed out of the Dovefield, also 6 lands 1a by est. on Chupple Flatt al. Chapple Yarde, 5 lands ½ a by est. on Chapple Yarde in the Overfield, all that odd land in the same field called Stone land, 1½ a on Dovehouse Flatt in the same field, ½ a 3 lands shooting on Cowpe Croft, 1a in a flatt called the Longe lands, 2a 11 lands in a field called the Furlong, 1a 4 lands in Spelgreave; ½ a 3 lands in Spelgreave, 1a 7 lands in Spelgreave, 1a 1 r 5 lands in various places in Spelgreave, odd land  ½ a in Spelgreave. Dated 20 March 8 James I.

Mortgage by Sir Edward Stanley of Tonge Castle Salop, kt., Sir William Wythens of Eltham, Kent, kt, and James Stanley of London to Robert Challenor of Stone, Staffs, innholder, in consideration of £874 6s 8d, of the manor of Draycott and capital messuage in Draycott in the occupation of Gregory Bold, another messuage in Draycott, two cottages in Draycott in the occupation of Richard Cowper and Alice Ford, widow, forge or smithyhouse at Draycott in the occupation of Matthew Rowe. Dated 1 November.

Mortgage by Thomas Moore of Draycott, gent to John Chetwynd of Ridge, Staffs and Thomas Lathrop of Leigh gent, in consideration of £200, of a parcel of land in Draycott 8a called Lemond Holme, a parcel of land lying between Lemond Holme and the road leading from Draycott to Sudbury 2a., close called Milnestones 3½a and a parcel of land at the east end of the Milnestones, 2 lands of meadow in Cotehole, 1a of meadow between the Brookes, 2 parcels of meadow in the Little Meadow 1r each, 7 lands in Long Ridding, 5 lands in the Overfield, 16 lands in Hall Flatt, 3 lands in Spelgreave 1a. Dated 26 December 10 James I.

Lease by Thomas Alcocke of Draycott, yeoman, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, of two selions of arable land containing 1r in a field called Spelgreave, and one rood of meadow in Densey: for 1000 years: red rose rent. Dated 22 October 8 James I

a) Feoffment by William Mallaber of Draycott husbandman to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of 39s of a selion of arable land ½ rood in the Dovefield. Dated 23 June 8 James I.

b) Bargain and sale by William Mallaber of Draycott, husbandman to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of £10, of 7 selions of arable land in the Dovefield of Draycott. Dated 8 February 7 James I

c) Bond – William Mallaber to John Foster in £4; 23 June 8 James I (with a)

d) Bond – William Mallaber to John Foster in £20: 8 February 7 James I (with b)

e) Feoffment by William Wathawe of Stretton ph. Burton, wheelwright to John Foster of Draycott musician in consideration of £5, of 11 selions of arable 1a by est in the Dovefield,  Draycott. Dated 28 June 9 James I.

Feoffment by Robert Carter of Draycott, yeoman to John Foster of Draycott musician, in consideration of £9, of 1a 1r of land and meadow in Draycott viz. 3 selions of arable ½ a lying in a certain field calledBuffton, 3 selions of arable ½ in a field called Spelgrave a parcel of meadow 1r in Densey. Dated 7 October 8 James I.

Feoffment by Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott, yeoman, to John Foster of Draycott, musician in consideration of £13 8s 8d, of four selions of arable 1a. in Spelgrave. Dated 15 October

Marriage settlement on the marriage of William Wathaw of Draycott, wheelwright, to Anne Walton by which Wathaw has granted to Henry Boylson of Hanbury, yeoman, and John Dixon of Hanbury Woodend, glover, his messuage in Draycott in which Humphrey Budworth lives with all buildings and lands belonging to the use of William and Anne for life, then to the use of their lawful issue after the decease of such issue to the use of the right heirs of William Wathaw. Dated 5 May.

Counterpart of 1 November [1499]

Feoffment by Ellen Carter of Draycott, widow, and Robert Carter son of Ellen and Robert Carter, in consideration of £26 13s 4d of a croft called the Milnestones Croft, 1a, in Draycott. Dated 3 May 5 James I

Lease by Mary Vernon widow of John Vernon and Edward Vernon son and heir of Mary to John Foster of Draycott, husbandman in consideration of £30, of a messuage or tenement in Draycott in the occupation of John Foster: for 120 years or the lives of John Foster or Edward Foster eldest son of John, or Richard second son of John Foster: annual rent of 10s. Dated 28 February (see 1516)

Bargain and sale by Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott, yeoman, to Robert Page of Coton, of all that piece or parcel of arable land 1a in the field called Chappellyeard. Dated 4 June 9 James I

Quitclaim by Helen Carter of Draycott, widow, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, of six selions of arable land 1a. and a piece of meadow 1r – off which 3 selions (as 1503). Dated 6 October 8 James I.

Feoffment by George Robotham of Draycott, yeoman, to John Everard of Draycott gent, in consideration of £12, of an acre of arable in Dovefield, with all deeds. Dated 13 April 10 James I.

Feoffment by Walter Mynors of Uttoxeter and Richard Queene of Uttoxeter, yeoman to Thomas More of Coton, yeoman, in consideration of £8, of two lands in the Dovefield ½ a, and 2 other lands in the Dovefield ½ a. Dated 20 March 10 James I.

Quitclaim by Walter Mynors and Richard Queene to John Foster of Draycott, yeoman, of 13 lands in Long Riddinge Draycott, 2 acres. Dated 18 December (see 1517).

Feoffment by Robert Carter of Draycott, husbandman to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of £16 10s, of an acre of arable land lying in a field called Hodworth. Dated 25 October 9 James I.

Bargain and sale by William Cannyng of London, ironmonger, and Thomas Hakeley of London, haberdasher to Thomas Crompton of Stone Esq., and Thomas Bankes of Mackley, gent, in consideration of £150 of their interest in a meese or capital messuage in Draycott in the occupation of Gregory Bold and a cottage in Draycott in the occupation of Richard Hatherley. Dated 18 April 9 James I.

Counterpart of 1508

Feoffment by Walter Mynors of Uttoxeter and Richard Queene of Uttoxeter, to John Foster of Draycott, of 2a of land, 13 selions, in Long Riddinge. Dated 5 July (see 1513)

Feoffment by Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott, to John Everard of Draycott, gent in consideration of £5 5s, of three selions of land ½ a., in the Dovefield, Dated 16 December 10 James I

Bargain and sale by John Robotham of Draycott, husbandman, to Elizabeth Rowbotham, his mother, of all that acre of arable land in Draycott in Longrydding, and a rood of meadow in Little Meadow. Dated 15 October 11 James I.

Lease by Robert Carter of Draycott, husbandman, to John Foster of Draycott, musician of 3 acres of meadow in Overmeadow at a place called Longacres: for 1000 years: peppercorn rent: if Foster peaceably occupies arable and meadow bargained and sold to him by Carter on 6 October 8 James I then null and void. Dated 2 October 9 James I.

Feoffment by Thomas Alcocke of Draycott, yeoman, and Matthew Roe of Draycott, blacksmith, to John Foster of Draycott musician, in consideration of £15, of an acre of meadow in Draycott lately enclosed. Dated 9 December 12 James I.

Lease by Robert Challener of Stone, gent, to Richard Heatherley of Draycott mason, of all that cottage, mansion house or tenement in Draycott in which William Meacock lives, parcel of meadow in Densey ½ a, parcel of meadow ½ a in Little Meadow, 4 selions and 2 headlands of arable ½ a in Overfield, one selion in Spelgreave: for 80 years or the lives of Joan wife of Richard and Robert his son: annual rent 10s. Dated 24 January 8 James I.

Quitclaim by Sir Edward Stanley of Tong Castle, Salop, kt. Sir William Wythens of Eltham, Kent, kt., and James Stanley of London, scrivenor, to Robert Challenor of Stone, innholder, pursuant to earlier deeds of the manor of Draycott, capital messuage etc. Dated 2 February 5 James I.

Feoffment by Walter Mynors and Richard Queene to John Foster of Draycott, yeoman, in consideration of £25 11s, of 13 lands 2a in Long Riddinge. Dated 5 July 9 James I (see 1513, 1517)

end of Draycott bundle

small deed box

Gift by William son and heir of Robert de Pipa to Ralph le Walker “subter Nedwode” and Godithe his wife of 2½ acres of arable with app. in the fee of Marchington lying near the Pelbrugge Hurne between the stream called Draycote Strem on one part and the land of John del Chircheyerd on the other: annual rent of 2s. Witnesses; Lord Henry de Hampbury, kt., Robert le Chaumberleyn John atte Chircheyerd of Marchington William de Munneworthe of Draycott, William le Marchal of the same place and others. Sunday next after the feast of the Blessed Nicholas the Bishop 19 Edward III (11 December 1345)

As 1525

Gift by Edmund (son of Henry III) to Lord Andrew de Jarpenull and Simon his brother, kts., of an acre of land and a quarter part of a rood of land lying in the territory of Marchington ad (?near to) a certain stream of water (habendum) of the River Dove (per) through his mill of Draycott (?close to the mill stream of Draycott mill flowing from the Dove): witnesses: Thomas de Dray, William de Menhil, Roger de Mertington, Ralph de Montgoie kts., William Camerarius, William de Hesseby, Henry Coco and others. Friday next after the feast of St Gregory 1281

Gift by John de Whitaer “cissor” to Henry de Hambur[y] of a messuage and four acres of arable land in Honnhull in a place called Lympecrofte in the territory of Marchington as it is enclosed and an acre of meadow in the meadow of Honnhull with appurtenances with hedge and ditch adjacent, extending in width between the meadow of William de Camera, clerk, on one part, and the land which Robert le Wasteneys once held on the other, and extending in length from Wetforlond as far as the Wallebuttes

Witnesses: John de Migns (tear) then seneschal of Tutbury, Robert de Pipe, Lord of Draycott, Stephen de Curton, Lord of Fauld, William Morel, Adam Coygne, Robert de Cimiterio, ?Roger de Hambur[y] and others.

Dated Sunday next after the feast of St Peter in cathedra 13 Edward III (28 February 1338/9)

Gift by Thomas Archer of Mouselegh to Henry de Hambur[y] of the homage and service of Richard Hert of Draycote Wodehouses and his heirs and eight shillings per annum arising from a messuage, 11 acres of land and meadow which he (Henry) held of him in Draycott Woodhouses in the manor of Marchington under Needwood.

Witnesses: Philip de Bari[n]gton, kt., John de Migus then seneschal of Tutbury, Henry de Hoghenhull, Stephen de Curzon, William de Ridware, Robert de Bromlegh and others. Dated Monday next after the feast of the translation of the blessed Thomas the Martyr 15 Edward II (13 July 1321)

Quitclaim by Dionisia late wife of Thomas de Witham to Robert de Pipe kt. and his heirs of all her claim by reason of dower in a messuage, 9½ acres of land and ½ a of meadow with appurtenances in the vill of Marchington under Needwood, in return for which Robert has quitclaim to her a messuage and croft, 2 selions and half an acre of meadow in Coton, at an annual rent of 8d (to Robert): Witnesses: Stephen de Corsonn, Henry de Honnelle, William Jaspounnille, Thomas le Chaumberlein, Henry de Hamber:, Robert Gilian and others. Day after Michaelmas 1301.

Gift by John Wele of Sudbury to William de Mineworth and Cicelie his wife of 3 acres of land with appurtenances in the territory of Marchington lying in the Dovefield of which three selions lie between the land of John, son of Thomas de Draycott and the land of Alice de Jarpenoule, and three selions lying between the land of Richard son of (fil.) Walker and the land of Richard Normon, and three selions lying between the land of John son of ?P[re]pota de Draycott, and the land of William de Blound, and two selions lying next to the land of the said William de Blound and the land of Roger, clerk, of Draycott and three selions lie between the land of William de Soudon and the land called Cavamduraker, and a selion lies between the land of Robert de Ulnesmor and the land of John son of P[re]pota de Draycott and a selion lies between the land of John son of P[re]pota and the land of Alice de Jarpenoule, and a gore lies between the land of Richard Normon and the land of Stephen Normon.

Witnesses: Ld Henry de Hambury, Robert de Pipe de Draycote, John de Hambury, William Curteys, Reginald de Hambury and others.

Sunday next before the feast of St Paul 4 Edward III (7 January 1330/1).

Gift by Thomas Campion of Marchington to Robert de Pype, kt and Matilda his wife, of a parcel of land with appurtenances in the vill and territory of Marchington lying in  a certain place called the Pol next to the river Dove 2½ acres.

Witnesses; Henry de Howenhull, William Engelon, John Owayn John and Quercu[m] William de Chaundeys and Thomas de Cam[er]a and William de Neuton and Adam de Ruggel clerk and others n.d. Ed I/II.

Gift by John Campion chaplain son of Thomas le Campion of Marchington ….

as 1532

End of medieval deed box// Sudbury bundle

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to William Locker of Mackley, husbandman, of a messuage or tenement in Mackley and land etc. belonging in the possession of William Locker (except for a parcel of 

ground called Peans Hookes and three closes formerly called Wood closes adjoining Sudbury park), and Great Greene Close 6a 1r 25p also in Mackley: reserving timber: for lives of William Locker and Jean his mother: annual rent of 26s 8d. Dated 6 March

Feoffment by Robert Bate of Sudbury gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £266, of a messuage or tenement in Sudbury late in the tenure of James Platts close called Somersal Close. Dated 28 March 19 Charles II

Sudbury charity distribution lists


Bargain and sale by John Grettrix of Aston cordwainer, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £60, of a piece of land lying between the lane leading to Scropton and the piece of ground called Mr Thomas’ Piece at Millstones Ford. Dated 10 April

Lease by Samuel Sturges rector of Sudbury, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £3, of all that part of the tenement belonging to the parsonage in Sudbury in the occupation of Joseph Presbury for 99 years annual rent of 5s. Dated 25 July

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Katherine Vernon of Sudbury, spinster, a tenement in Sudbury in possession of Katherine and all lands etc. belonging for the lives of Katherine and William son of Thomas Madeley of Morrey, Staffs: annual rent of £1 10s. Dated 1 April

Articles of agreement between Henry Vernon, John Fitzherbert, Richard Stubbings, John Bladon, Thomas Scott, Richard Robinson, Thomas Chawner, Walter Pixley, Thomas Braddocke, William Harrison, Edward Madeley, John Gretrix and William Twigg for the enclosure of a meadow called Broughton Eyes in the parishes of Sudbury and Doveridge. Dated 20 April.

Lease for possession by John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert Esq., to John Greatricks of Aston, cordwainer of a parcel of meadow or pasture 5½ acres in Holywell Field al. Windmill Field. Dated  19 June 18 Charles II (see 1564)

“A book of subsidies” (4 subsidies to the king) – Appletree Hundred – names value and assessment – no occupations.

Articles of agreement between Robert Bates of West Broughton and George Vernon of Sudbury – Bates to sell to Vernon all his estate in West Broughton and two tenements in the occupation of Thomas Statham and Henry Upton for £1520. Dated 1 March 1669/70.

Yeldersley Manor Court 10 September 37 Henry VIII Gt.court of Thomas Gyfford, Lady Helen Vernon widow, and John Browne Esq.,

Declaration by Benjamin Edbury of Sudbury that in an assignment of a messuage or tenement in Sudbury of 24 June 1670 he was acting only as 

a trustee for George Vernon: also surrender of all interest in the property. Dated 19 April

Lease (part cut off) by George Vernon to John Nowne of Sudbury in consideration of £13, of a messuage or cottage in Sudbury for lives of John his wife and son Henry: annual rent of £ 1 4s. Dated 13 October.

Grant by Thomas Trigge of Scropton chandler to George Vernon of Sudbury of all that messuage and cottage with app. in Sudbury: consideration £23 10s . Dated 29 September.

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury, Esq., to Henry Upton, junior, of Somersal Heath, in consideration of £10. of all that messuage or tenement called Upton with Close in Sudbury, closes called Little Close, Bigger Close close at the Further Side of the Lane (purchased of Richard Bate): for 99 years or lives of Henry, Frances his wife and William Smith son of Thomas Smith: annual rent of £6 2s. Dated 2 August

Memo of lands to be assigned to Kitty Meynell relict of Richard Meynell: brief descriptions and rents: manors of Draycott and Houndhill, closes in Sudbury n.d. late 17th cent (Katherine one of daughters of GV married Richard Meynell)

An account of the estate of George Vernon Esq., upon the marriage of Mrs Margaret Onley and charged with the payment of £10,000 to their issue female – brief descriptions, rentals – Houndhill Hall manors of Draycott, Houndhill and Sudbury.

Further recital of estates as 1550

Part of calculations as 1550/1551 “Remains for securing £2000 for Henrietta Francia” “various lands in Sudbury Aston etc. close names, rent.

Letter S. Degge to George Vernon – re George Vernon’s daughters jointure – has been discussing it with Mr Sargeant Leeke. Dated 24 September n.d.

Bond by James Platts of Hill Somersal in the parish of Sudbury and John Platts of Potter Somersall, yeoman to George Godrich of Doveridge in £40: to pay £20 with interest. Dated 14 April 

A particular of lands assigned for Misses Merrial and Katherine daughters of George Vernon for securing their portions : manor of Sudbury – close names, tenants, rental.

Agreement between George Vernon of Sudbury and Benjamin Pole of London prior to the marriage of Henrietta Francia one of Vernon’s daughters to Benjamin Pole: July 1693.

Agreement between George Vernon and Robert Bates of Sudbury: Bates to convey to Vernon before 25 March next, all that messuage or tenement in Sudbury in the possession of James Platts in consideration of £200. Dated 27 February.

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to Garthred Allen of Sudbury, spinster, in consideration of £5 10s of parcels of land in Sudbury, namely two closes lately belonging to John Grettrix’ tenement and three lands lying within a croft belonging to widow Hill’s house, croft on the backside of the house 1a, three leas lying in the Milstones, one land in Sudbury Hill Field, and lands in the Crosse Field – 2 butts in the Crosse Flatt, 3 butts in the Whitefield, one butt lately belonging to Botham’s tenement and two lands in the Hill Field lately belonging to Botham’s tenement: for life: annual rent of 7s. Dated 20 March 1666 (sic)

Final concord between John Fitzherbert Esq. pf., and Richard Bate, gent, and Anne his wife def. of 3 acres of land, 3a of meadow and common of pasture for all cattle in Sudbury, Aston, West Broughton and Doveridge: consideration £60. Dated the day after “aia” 14 Charles II.

Counterpart of 1559

Lease by Richard Bate of West Broughton, gent, to George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., in consideration of £42, of his part of the farm at West Broughton, with lands etc belonging: for the life of Bate: annual rent of £26. Dated 27 March (part of purchase transaction)

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to Henry Upton of the Lane ph. Sudbury husbandman in consideration of £20, of all that cottage or tenement lying at the Lane Side near Somersal Heath with all lands etc. belonging: for the lives of Henry, James and Joan, his son and daughter: 20s rent. Dated 23 September 1654 (updated to 1670)

Appointment by George Vernon of £1100 to Richard Meynell for his wife’s (G.V’s daughter Katherine) portion. Dated 10 December.

Feoffment by John Fitzherbert of Somersal Herbert Esq. to John Greatrickes of Aston, cordwainer, in consideration of £16, of a flatt or parcel of meadow or pasture, 5 acres by estimation called Cunningers Flatt lying near to the ford called Millstones Ford. Dated 20 June 18 Charles II (see 1541).

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury to William Locker of Mackley, senior, and John Harpur of Cubley Lodge, of his free warren called Sudbury Wood with wood belonging and piece of ground called Bound Piece. Dated 27 January.

Lease by Samuel Sturges rector of Sudbury, to George Vernon of Sudbury, in consideration of £5, of a tenement in Sudbury in the occupation of John Banister for 99 years or the life of Sturges: annual rent of 13s 4d. Dated 25 July.

Part of marriage settlement on marriage of Katherine Vernon to Richard Meynell of Weston upon Trent, gent – being a lease by George Vernon to Meynell of closes called ----(illeg) Swann and Aston Cow Pasture for the term of 99 years after the marriage; as a security for an annual payment of £50 during Vernon’s lifetime. Dated 10 December.

Feoffment by Robert Bate and John Fitzherbert to George Vernon, of two closes in Sudbury called the Dovecloses al. the Wassadge and the Hough. Dated 29 March, 19 Charles II.

End of bundle

Exemplification of a decree of Chancery enabling George Vernon to exchange glebe lands in Sudbury for land of his own with Samuel Sturges the rector, on the condition that Vernon builds in a new parsonage house on the lands exchanged: all previous exchanges ratified. Dated 5 September 3 James II.

Lease (damaged) by George Vernon of Sudbury to Robert Astley of closes in Marchington, Townesend Croft, Upper End, Nether Bottstakes: for 60 years: peppercorn rent. Date missing.

Lease (to secure a rentcharge) by George Vernon of Sudbury to William Greatrix of Hill Somersal, yeoman, and William Hill of Uttoxeter, gent in consideration of the surrender of a lease, of a messuage in Sudbury in the occupation of Dorothy and Mary Greatorex, new enclosure in the Cross Field, close called Alsopps Close, Little Hand Riddings, 3 acres: for the lives of William and Dorothy Greatrix; annual rent of £5  10s. Dated 22 April.

Lease by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq. to John Fox of Sudbury husbandman, in consideration of ________ (pt. missing), of messuage barns etc. and close called Corn Close, Hovill Close, the Close before the Door, the Well Close: for 21 years: 20s per annum (all in Sudbury). Dated 10 October.

Agreement between George Vernon, patron of Sudbury parish church and Samuel Sturges, rector of Sudbury, reciting that the rectory is ancient and ruinous and likely to fall down, exchanging a parcel of land 1 acre and a meadow 4½ acres adjoining the dove for the site of the parsonage house with gardens etc. 3a 2r 36p, and part of Hollywell Close 1a 2r 25p: Vernon to build before 25 March 1688 a substantial brick dwelling house of 4 bays, each bay 6 yards square at least: 2½ bays to be cellared under and tiled and floored (on the piece of ground 1 acre), also to build a barn out of the timber from the old parsonage house, to be thatched and the walls filled up with brick and lime, 5 bays, each bay to be 18ft square. Dated 26 April.

Petition and faculty for repairs and alterations at Sudbury church: several robberies made of the leads, bells, and other things, because of the ease of access from the roof of the porch: the chancel is too big and the body of the church too small for the congregation: ask for licence to pull down the porch, to make a new pulpit, to make a new screen to the chancel, to pave the floor, and wainscott and whiten the walls. Dated 10 April.

Lease for possession by George Vernon of Sudbury Esq., to Thomas Vernon of London merchant and George Vernon of Farnham, Surrey, Esq., brother of Thomas of the manor of Haslington and numerous properties in Sudbury Marchington and Draycott (recited in full, much of the estate). Dated 26 April

Declaration by George Vernon to pay to Alexander Stanhope of St Martins in the Field, Middlesex, certain stated sums reciting a mortgage for £600 by Vernon to Stanhope 13 April 1672, of a messuage in Stubby Lane in the occupation of Matthew Roe and other properties in Draycott and Marchington. Dated 6 November.

Marriage settlement on the marriage (already had) of George Vernon of Sudbury and Katherine daughter of Sir Thomas Vernon of London, kt., between George Vernon and Katherine his wife, Sir Thomas Vernon, Sir George Vernon of Farnham, kt, George Vernon, son and heir apparent of Sir George Vernon and William Falkener of London, merchant, the Hon. Alexander Stanhope of the parish of St Clement Danes, Esq., and Robert Yard of the City of Westminster, John Weston of Ockham, Surrey Esq., John Turton of Alrewas and Anthony Balam of London, merchant, by which in consideration of the marriage and £3000, it is agreed that the Vernons shall levy to Stanhope and Yard  a fine of the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley the advowson of Sudbury church, a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery, and the manors of Houndhill and Draycott with capital messuage called Houndhill Hall: estate recited in full to various uses. Dated 10 March.

Assignment of mortgage by Sir William Boothby of Ashbourne Hall and Meriall Boothby, widow of James Boothby, and one of the daughters of George Vernon by Margaret his first wife, and George Vernon, to Alexander Stanhope of St Martins in the Field, Middlesex, Esq., in consideration of £2500, of Sudbury Hall, the New Park 300a . by est. and closes recently laid to the park called Lockers Closes, Fentons Closes, the Motts, the Mews, Lovetts Close, Two Harriddings, Paddock Close, Pear Tree Close, Buxton’s Croft, Alsops Two Crofts, Morten Close, Plimers Close, Wolley’s tenement, two crofts, Hill Field Coate, Long Close, Bothams Broomy Close, messuage called Brabants Farm, Hurds Closes and deer cotes, messuage or farm called Sudbury Inn with other closes: for the residue of a 99 year term granted in an indenture of 13 March 1 James II between George Vernon, James Boothby and others. Dated 11 April (with bond).

End of bundle – end of Box 26

Box 27 A

Draycott manor court rolls

Monday next after ft of St Martin the bishop 3 Edward III – Thursday nxt bef ft of St Valentine 5 Edward III

11 – 12 Edward III

Wednesday feast of St Edmund 16 Edward III – Saturday the eve of St Margaret Edward III 

Saturday next after the feast of St Martin 32 Edward III – Monday feast of St Margaret 34 

Edward III

36, 37 Edward III 

Saturday next after the feast of Ascension 36 Edward III – Saturday in 8 days of St Martin 42 Edward III 

Tuesday next after Easter Day 43 Edward III – Wednesday the day after the feast of Dionysius 43 Edward III 

Saturday next after the feast of St Mark the Ev. 45 Edward III – Thursday nxt after the feast of St Luke 45 Edward III 

Tuesday ft of St Simon and St Jude 6 Richard II – Thursday next aft.ft of St Katina 7 Richard II

Day after Michaelmas 10 Richard II – bailiff’s account

Feast of St Luke 1 Richard III [*should go in after 1605]

2 Henry VI

Day after Michaelmas 12 Henry VI – 13 Henry VI

Gt. Court of William Vernon and Margaret his wife

Thursday next aft. the ft. of pur BVM 27 Henry VI

Saturday next af. ft of assumption of BVM 16 Henry VI

- Tuesday next bef. ft of St Nicholas 17 Henry VII

Ct. of Richard Vernon Tuesday next after the feast of St Mark the bishop 22 Henry VI: 31 May 21 Henry VI

Eve of St Anne 24 Henry VI

Account 27/28 Henry VI

As 1593

Account 32-34 Henry VI

Account 35 Henry VI

Account 36 Henry VI

Account 36-37 Henry VI

Account 38 Henry VI

Account 39 Henry VI

Account 4 Edward IV

Account 7/8 Edward IV

Account 11 Edward IV

Account 17 Edward IV

10 October 18 Edward IV – Saturday next after ft of St George 19 Edward IV

Ct of Sir Henry Vernon feast of St Matthew 4 Henry VIII

16 June 4 Edward VI

Account 1 May

end of Draycott Manor Court Rolls

Feoffment by Raphe Flyer of Hintlin, Staffs and Elizabeth his wife and Charles Adderley of Hams Warwickshire, to Sir Edward Littleton of Pillington Hall, Bt. Edward Smyth and Steven Nock, servants to Sir Edward Littleton in consideration of £330, of a close called Dovefields, 24a, in Draycott. Dated 7 March 13 Charles I

Deed of exchange between William Sale of Barrow on Trent, Derbyshire, gent, and Robert Sutton of Draycott, yeoman, by which Sale has conveyed to Sutton of 3 selions of land 1½ acres in Draycott in the Lonridding in exchange for 6 selions of land on Hallflatt in Draycott. Dated 3 May.

Deed of exchange between James Blower of Draycott, yeoman and John Foster of Draycott yeoman, by which Blower has conveyed to Foster one piece of land in Draycott in a close of Foster’s called Longridding, 8 yards x 4 yards in exchange for a piece of land in Draycott at the backside of John Foster’s house 12 yards x 1 yard. Dated 8 June.

Grant by Robert Sutton of Draycott, gent, to James Blower of Draycott, yeoman of a parcel of land in a close of John Foster’s called Hoghis Yate 8 yds x 4yds. Dated 7 May.

Deed of exchange between John Foster of Draycott, yeoman, and James Blower of Draycott, yeoman, by which Foster has granted to Blower a piece of land in Draycott on the backside of his (Foster’s house), in exchange for a piece of land of Blower’s in a close of Foster’s called Longridding. Dated 8 June (see 1611, 1610). 

Demise by Thomas Alcock of Draycott, yeoman to William Heatherley of Hanbury labourer, in consideration of £3 6s 8d, of a cottage, garden and hempleck in the south west part of a close called the Birches forever: annual rent of 10s (fee farm demise). Dated 25 March.

Feoffment by William Mallaber senior of Draycott, yeoman, to William and Simon Mallaber his sons, in consideration of £60, of a messuage or tenement in Draycott in which William Malaber lives, and a moiety of all lands etc belonging. Dated 25 October.

Feoffment by William Bennet of Morley, clerk, to William and Simon Mallaber of Draycott, yeoman, of a moiety of a messuage in Draycott late in the tenure of Humfrey Budworth and all lands etc belonging. Dated 4 June (see 1621)

Feoffment by John Foster of Draycott, musician to Sir Edward Littleton of Pillaton Hall, Staffs Kt, in consideration of £5 10s of half an acre of land being part of John Foster’s tenement in the Dovefield. Dated 2 February.

Deed of exchange between John Foster of Draycott, yeoman and Humphrey Hill of Draycott, yeoman, by which Foster has granted to Hill of ½ a of a meadow in Little Meadow, Draycott, in exchange for lands in Spelgreave and 13s 4d. Dated 14 December 9 Charles I

Feoffment by William and Thomas Milward of Eaton, Derbyshire, to Ralph Adderley of Cotton, Staffs. In consideration of £380, of a water mill called Draycott Mill in Draycott with all ponds, streams etc. Dated 11 April.

Feoffment by William Robotham of Yoxall woods house yeoman to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of £14, of an acre of meadow in Densey Meadow, Draycott, a lane called Mill Lane on the West. Dated 20 March.

Counterpart of 1616 

Deed of exchange between Humfrey Hill of Draycott yeoman, and William Robotham of Yoxall Woodhouses, yeoman by which Hill has granted to Robotham, parcels of land and meadow in Draycott viz. Carle Marlepitt 1a in the Overfield, one selion cont. 1 rood in Dame Lay Syde, 3 selions ½ a below the way in the furlong, 7 selions by est. 1a in Spelgreave one croft 1 a 1 r near Draycott mill, one little parcel of meadow ¼ rood in little Meadow, and 1a of meadow in Densey, in exchange for 5 acres of land called Ales Lee in the Overfield abutting upon Saltbroke and 1a 1r of meadow in Little Meadow and one rood of meadow in Densey. Dated 3 November.

Marriage settlement on the marriage of John Foster of Draycott, yeoman to Ellen daughter of John Heath late of Coton dec’d, by which Foster, has granted to George Heath of Coton tailor, and Walter Heath of Coton husbandman of a cottage in a close called Little Birches in Draycott and two closes adjoining called Great Birches and Long Ridding: to the use of John Foster for life then to the use of Ellen for life then to the use of such persons as John Foster shall nominate by deeds and in default of such nominations to the use of the right heirs of Richard Foster son of John Foster. Dated 6 March.

Agreement between John Foster of Draycott, musician, and Ralph Adderley of Mickleover gent, and Edward Villiers the younger of Hanbury gent by which (as pt. of family settlement) Foster agrees to convey to Adderley and villiers all his messuages, cottages, land etc in Draycott and elsewhere: to the use John Foster for life then to the use of his executors until they have raised sufficient to pay his debts and perform the provisions of his will, then to the use of his son Edward and his successive lawful male issue; in default to the use of the natural children of Richard Foster his son lawfully begotten, until such eldest son should reach the age of 24, then to the use of John Foster his grandchild son of Richard Foster and his lawful male issue; in default to the use of Thomas Foster second d son of Richard Foster and his lawful male issue, in default to the successive sons of Richard Foster and their lawful male issue: in default of issue to the use of the successive heirs of his daughters Margerie Braddock (eldest) and Agnes Boylston. Dated 10 March 11 Charles I.

Recovery by Richard Adderley Esq., against Ralph Adderley, gent, of a water mill and 2 acres of meadow in Draycott. Dated 18 May 5 Charles I (see 1619) (see1648)

Mortgage in fee for £10 by William Malliber the younger of Draycott yeoman, and William Malliber the elder also of Draycott to George Heath al. Cooke of Sudbury, yeoman, of a close in Morton Meadow, and 2 selions of arable lying in a field called Claylowe, 1 selion of arable in Hallflatt, a selion of land in the same field – cont. together 2 acres by est. Dated 8 April 14 Charles II

Deed to levy a fine between John Benskin the younger of Hartshorne and Mary his wife and Thomas Alcocke of Draycott yeoman, and Dorothy his wife, by which they agree to levy a fine to William Aston of Kingston, Staffs, gent, and Callingwood Sanders of Cauldwell, gent, of a close in Draycott called Banholme and of all the lands, tenements etc in Anslow late the inheritance of George Bull, and all the closes and parcels of ground in Draycott which George bull purchased of John Robotham and Ann Boe widow: Banholme to the use of Thomas Alcocke and Dorothy his wife: residue to the use of John Benskin and Mary his wife. Dated 24 September
Feoffment by Humphrey Clarke, citizen and dyer of London to Thomas Alcocke of Draycott yeoman in consideration of £140, of closes called the Greeneplecke, Longlane, Shortlane, Crosselane in Draycott. Dated 25 July 12 Charles I.

Lease by George Alcocke of Draycott yeoman, to Henry Vernon of Haslington Esq., in consideration of £100, of closes in Draycott called Longlane, Shortlane, Crosselane and Coate Hole and a close 2a in the Dovefield, and Banholme and Checker Layes: for 1000 years: peppercorn rent. Dated 22 August, 24 Charles I (no proviso although it would seem to be a mortgage).

Feoffment by Thomas Alcock of Draycott, yeoman, to John Roe of Draycott, in consideration of £7, of a cottage and garden now in the occupation of Jane Strickland widow in Draycott: fee farm rent of 5s. Dated 10 March.

Bargain and sale by Robert Page late of Coton, husbandman, to John Foster of Draycott, musician of all that piece or parcel of arable land 1 acre by estimation in Chappellyarde, containing 8 selions. Dated 24 October.

Feoffment by William Benet of Morley to William and Symon Mallaber, yeoman, in consideration of £108, of a moiety of a messuage or tenement in Draycott late in the tenure of Humphrey Budworth and all the lands etc belonging. Dated 4 June 14 Charles I [see 1616, 1621,1632,1638]

Feoffment by George Alcock of Draycott yeoman, to Robert Heatherley of Draycott mason, in consideration of £5, of a cottage with orchard, garden and hempbutt: 1s per annum fee farm rent. Dated 4 January.

Release by Henry Vernon of Haslington Esq., to George Alcocke of Draycott yeoman, in consideration of £80, of closes called Longlane and Shortlane (apart from a parcel of Longlane Butting on Draycott Fleame). Dated 25 January.

Assignment by William Botham of Mackworth yeoman, to Thomas Vernon of Sudbury, gent of all his interest in a messuage or tenement in Stubby Lane now or late in the possession of William Wolley and a messuage or tenement in Draycott in the possession of Mary Hill. Dated 1 October 22 Charles I.

Feoffment by William Wathewe of Stafford wheelwright, and Anne his wife and Christopher Ryley of Stafford husbandman, to William Bennett of Morley clerk, in consideration of £50, of a moiety of a messuage or tenement in Draycott in which Humphrey Budworth lived and all buildings etc belonging. Dated 22 June

Bargain and sale by George Alcock of Draycott, yeoman, to Henry Vernon of Haslington, Esq., in consideration of £115, of the manor of Draycott with all courts etc., fee farm rent of 10s issuing from a cottage in Draycott in the occupation of William Hetherley, fee farm rent 10s issuing from a cottage in the occupation of John Meacocke, fee farm rent of 5s issuing from a cottage in the occupation of John Roe, rent of 20s payable out of the freehold ground called Pipehay, the inheritance of Sir Edward Vernon, rent of £1 7s 8d payable out of Draycott Mills. Dated 22 January 22 Charles I.

Counterpart of 1632. [see 1616, 1621, 1632]

Feoffment by Robert Cope of Draycott yeoman, and Catherine his wife to Richard Cope of Draycott yeoman, son and heir of Robert and Catherine, of a messuage or tenement in Draycott in the occupation of Robert Cope: annual rent of £13 6s 8d: reserving to Robert and Catherine the parlour and chamber over it, and moiety of garden and orchard. Dated 25 July.

Feoffment by Robert Cope of Draycott yeoman, and Katherine his wife, to Ralph Adderley of Mickleover, Esq., in consideration of £25, of four selions of land containing by estimation 1 acre in Milneholme close to Draycott Mill. Dated 24 June 15 Charles I.

Copy of 1624 Dated 10 March

Feoffment by Humphrey Clarke citizen and dyer, to Thomas Alcocke of Draycott, yeoman, of closes called Greeneplecke, Longlane, Shortlane and Crosselane in Draycott. Dated 25 July

Demise by Thomas Alcock of Draycott, yeoman, to John Meacock of Draycott husbandman, of a cottage in Draycott inhabited by Abraham Cowp and Richard Turner: for ever: fee farm rent of 10s. Dated 18 May.

Feoffment by Thomas Alcock of Draycott yeoman, to John Smith of Doveridge, miller, of a garden 12yds x 6yds adjoining the house of John Smith: annual rent of 4d. Dated 22 January

Feoffment by John Foster of Draycott, musician, to Ralph Adderley of Mickleover, gent, and Edward Villiers, junior, of Hanbury, gent, of all his messuages, cottages, lands, meadows, pastures etc in Draycott. Dated 7 May.

Quitclaim by William Hodgkinson of Sudbury, yeoman, to Robert Cope of Draycott yeoman, in consideration of £10, of one messuage, one cottage, 2 gardens, 2 orchards, 8a of land, 4a of meadow and 10a of pasture in Draycott. Dated 28 November.

Family settlement between Richard Cope of Draycott yeoman, and George Alcocke of Draycott yeoman, and Ralph Wright of Yoxall – by which for settling a jointure for his wife Elizabeth, Cope has conveyed to Alcocke and Wright, messuage or tenement in his occupation and all lands etc belonging in Draycott: moiety to the use of Richard Cope: other moiety to the use of Richard Cope for life, then to the use of Elizabeth for life then to the lawful issue of Richard by Elizabeth: in default to the use of the right heirs of Richard Cope. Dated 29 September.

Deed stating uses of a recovery: between Thomas Millward, son of William Millward of Eaton esq, and Ralph Adderley of Coton ph. Hanbury, gent and Mary his wife, reciting recovery of water mill at Draycott (see 1625): to the use of Ralph Adderley and Mary his wife for life, then to the use of their lawful issue, in default to the use of the right heirs of Thomas Millward. Dated 3 July.

Feoffment by Thomas Robotham of the Woodend ph of Hanbury, husbandman to Robert Sutton of Draycott gent, in consideration of £20, of Longridding Close or Pingle, 1½ a in Draycott. Dated 18 November 13 Charles I.

End of Draycott bundle

Feoffment by Robert Orme of Whittington, gent, William Browne of Marston Montgomery, gent, John Bentley of Ashes Staffs, gent, and James Baylie of Weston Jones Staffs gent, executors of the will of Thomas Sutton of Draycott to Elizabeth Adderley of Alrewas, Staffs, widow in consideration of £300, of a close in Draycott called Dovefield lying along between the mill and the mill fleame of Draycott. Dated 17 July 16 James I.

Family settlement – by which Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott, yeoman, to provide for his wife Maude and Katherine (wife of Anthony Cope), has conveyed to Ralph Adderley of Cotton (Coton) gent, and Anthony Cope the younger of Morton, yeoman, all his property in Draycott viz one toft where a house formerly stood and croft adjoining 3a called Garvis Yard, close called the Ridding 3a, third part of meadow in Draycott called Lady Hay 3a, all that dole of meadow ½ a in Densey, a dole of meadow 1a in a meadow called Long Acre, dole of meadow 1a in a meadow called between the brooks, ½ a of arable in Chappellfield, 1½ a in the same field, 1a in the same field on a flatt called Longlands,1½ a  (6 ridges) dispersed in a field called Furlong, ½ a (3 ridges) dispersed in Spelgreave, 1a (6 lands) in the same field, 1a 1r (5 lands) in the same field: to the use of Richard and Maude for their lives, then to the use of Katherine for life, then to the use of Katherine’s successive lawful male issue: Maude has no rights in the property if Richard pre-deceases her and she remarries. Dated 9 June 15 James I.

Feoffment by John Everard of Draycott, gent to Thomas Sutton of Draycott yeoman of an acre of land (5 selions) in a close in Draycott called Milne close, and the pike land adjacent – enclosed out of the Dovefield, and a selion of arable ½ a in a field called Longe Riddinge. Dated 1 March.

Feoffment by Humphrey Budworth of Draycott to William Wathaw of Ripley, Derbys, Wheelwright, of a parcel of land commonly called the Whyte Poole 1 rood, abutting on the common street and Jervis ‘Yard’, and a parcel of land commonly called Butyerd, 1 rood. Dated 21 September

Feoffment by Richard Barboure of Stone, Staffs, Richard Hunte of Shrewsbury, draper, and John Everard of Marston Montgomery, gent, to Thomas Sutton of Marston Montgomery, yeoman, in consideration of £1050, of two messuages in Draycott in the tenures of Gregory Bold and George Bold, and all lands etc belonging, an acre of arable in the Dovefield purchased of George Robotham, ½ a. of land in the same field, and all that flatt of ploughland in Long Ridding in Coton which was used with the farm in Coton called Grangers Farm (reserving parcels of land called the Hodgkins and the Byrches, all the cottages, pasture called Pitford Oule, an acre of meadow sold to Thomas Alcocke and a meadow called Fleshmore, pasture called Pipehay and Draycott Mills. Dated 10 April 13 James I (effectively the manor of Draycott – see earlier).

Feoffment by Thomas Alcock of Draycott yeoman to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of £146, of a parcel of meadow called Fleshmoore, and parcels of land in Draycott called the Birches. Dated 13 January 13 James I

Feoffment by Edward Vernon of Sudbury, kt., to John Foster of Draycott of a messuage tenement and mansion house in Draycott with all buildings etc which John Foster holds by demise of Mary Vernon, his mother, for 120 years. Dated 29 December

Feoffment by Thomas Alcocke to Humphrey Budworth of Draycott, husbandman, of a parcel of manorial waste commonly called Whyte Poole, 1r by est., and another parcel of manorial waste commonly called Butyard, 1r. Dated 24 May

Feoffment by Robert Orme etc (as 1650) to Elizabeth Adderley of Alrewas, in consideration of £8 10s, of an acre of arable land in the Dovefield of Draycott. Dated 12 August 16 James I.

Feoffment accompanying 1654. Dated 10 April

Quitclaim by Francisca (Frances) Sutton of Draycott, widow, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, of two selions of land containing by est. ½ acre with hades and balks in a field called Long Ridding. Dated 21 December.

Feoffment by Thomas Alcock of Draycott, yeoman, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, of a piece of land 20 yards x 6 yards lying in the common street next to the mansion house of John Foster. Dated 22 December.

Feoffment by Thomas Allen of Draycott, yeoman, to John Foster of Draycott musician, in consideration of 20 marks, of 6 selions of arable land containing one acre in a certain field called Longridding. Dated 14 June

Feoffment by Robert Sutton of Draycott yeoman, to John Foster of Draycott musician, of 2 selions of land ½ a by est. in Longridding, Draycott: consideration £5. Dated 21 December.

Deed of exchange between Thomas Alcock of Draycott and Robert Sutton of Draycott, yeoman, and Frances Sutton of Draycott, widow, by which Alcock has granted to the Suttons 7 selions of land, 3a by est, in a close of Sutton’s in Longridding, a parcel of land enclosed in Priest Croft, and all other parcels of waste or incroachments lying inclosed about the Suttons’ mansion house in Draycott, in exchange for 1 acre of arable in Longridding, 2 half acres of land in Buffon, 2 selions of land and a headland in Spelgreave and ½ a of meadow in Densey. Dated 9 December 19 James I.

Feoffment by John Robotham of Draycott, husbandman, to John Foster of Draycott, in consideration of £11, of all that acre of arable land in Draycott in a field called the Overfield adjoining Almondshill Brook on the east and a selion of arable in the Overfield, adjoining Almondshill Brook on the south and a footway to the north. Dated 15 September.

Feoffment by William Wathawe of Powke Field, Derbyshire, Wheelwright, to William Bennett of Morley, clerk, in consideration of £44, of a moiety of a messuage or tenement in Draycott now or late in the tenure of Humphrey Budworth with all lands etc., and Whyte Poole, 1 rood, and parcel of land Bulyard, 1r . Dated 4 May (see earlier)

Feoffment by William Wathawe of Rippley, wheelwright, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of 46s, of 5 selions of land, ½ acre, in the Overfield. Dated 23 March

Feoffment by John Pattricke of Draycott, husbandman, to Thomas Alcock of Draycott yeoman, in consideration of £20, of 2 acres of land or pasture by est in the upper part of the Dovefield. Dated 16 January.

Feoffment by George Bull [in fact a marriage settlement] of Draycott to Thomas Alcock of Draycott, yeoman, in consideration of a marriage between Thomas Alcock and Dorothy Bull daughter of George Bull, of a messuage or tenement in Draycott with lands etc, where George Bull lives (excepting a messuage in Ansley a close in the Over End of Dovefield, and a close adjoining Banholme): to the use of Thomas, Dorothy and their lawful issue: in default to the use of the heirs of the body of Dorothy: in default to the use of Mary Bull (younger daughter) and the heirs of her body. Dated 2 May.

Bargain and sale by William Wathew of Ripley, wheelwright, to Luke Whittington of Derby, baker in consideration of £23, of his interest in a messuage or tenement in Draycott late in the tenure of Humphrey Budworth. Dated 28 September.

Counterpart of 1651. Hodgkinson family settlement. 9 June

Feoffment by Thomas Sutton of Marston Montgomery, gent, to Mathew Roe of Draycott, blacksmith, in consideration of £60, of all that messuage or dwellinghouse where George Bould lately lived with a parcel of land on the backside, 2 acres by estimation. Dated 27 April.

Deed of exchange between Robert Sutton of Draycott, yeoman, and Frances Sutton widow, and Richard Hodgkinson of Draycott yeoman, and Mawde his wife, and Robert Cope son in law of Richard Hodgkinson and Katherine his wife, by which the Suttons have leased to Hodgkinson etc a meadow called Lady Meadow, in exchange for a lease of a third part of a meadow called Lady Haye. Dated 29 January.

Feoffment by Robert Sutton of Draycott, yeoman, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of £69, of a close called Calfowe al. Cawfoe 7 acres,. Dated 10 January

Feoffment by Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury, kt, to John Foster of Draycott, musician, in consideration of £100, of all that messuage, tenement and dwelling house where John Foster now lives, with all lands etc belonging. Dated 29 December.

Counterpart of 1674. Dated 10 January

Feoffment by Thomas Moore of Coton, yeoman, and John Chetwynd of Rudge, Staffs Esq., to Sir Edward Littleton of Pillington Hall, kt., in consideration of £500, of a messuage in Draycott in the occupation of Thomas Moore and closes called Lemonds Holme parcel of land 2a adj. to Lemonds Holme, Milnstones 3½ a and parcel of land adjoining parcel of meadow called Five Rodes 1½ a, Handley Swanne, and an acre of land in the Dovefield. Dated 7 April.

Bundle on Ware, Herts

Gift by Alfred Hanthe to Alice his daughter of a messuage in the vill. of Wares which Robert Tirpol once held and three acres and one rood of arable with hedges, ditches and all other appurtenances which lies in a croft next to the said messuage of which one head lies towards the messuage and the other extends as far as the land which was of Robert son of Godfrey: annual rent of 2s 3d.

Witnesses: Robert de Witeberwe, Robert de Bertram, Peter de Vaubadny, John de Chaldane, Walter de Furtis, William son of Mag. Salomon de Wares, Michael le Tailur, John le Tailur de Hadham, William de Standoy, clerk, and others. n.d. [Edward I].

Gift by Mariota widow of Philip le Fissere of Ware widow, to Stephen le Blake of Ware of a fifth part of a messuage, 11 acres of land and 2 acres of meadow with appurtenances which descended to her after the death of William de Chiltren, her father and Joan Jannes her mother, in the vill of Ware.

Witnesses: Roger de Godesfeld, William Scot, John atte Watere, William le Barber, Richard Smelt, John Smelt and Nicholas atte Halvehyde and others.

Monday next after the ft of St Lucia the virgin 18 Edward II.

Gift by Robert le Maisteressone to John le Blake senior and Joan his wife of a croft called Lytlesunthescroft in the vill. of Ware lying between the land of the said John on one part and the croft called Moresunthesfeld on the other part, along with a hedge growing between the said crofts and all other hedges and ditches and all other appurtenances.

Witnesses: Richard Smelt, John ate Water[e], John le Baker, William Vyel, John le Taylour, William le Botyler, William Godyn and others. Sunday next after the feast of St Michael the Arch. 11 Edward III.

Gift by Richard de Ware to Richard son of William le Muleward of Ware for a certain sum of money of two parcels of arable land called la Lyeyze and le Hull of which the larger piece called la Lyeyze lies in the parish of Ware between the way which leads from the house of Robert le Meister to the house of Henry atte Bergh on the north part and the land of Aldythe Vyeles de Wydeford on the south part, and one head abutts on the land of Henry atte Bergh on the east part and the other head on the land of John Godyn and Roger Godepage on the west part, and the smaller piece called le Hull lying in the same parish between the land of William le Muleward on the south part and the said parcel called le lyeye on the north part, and one head abutts on the land of Aldythe Vyeles on the east part and the other head on the stream of water called la Bourne on the west.

Witnesses: Lord Geoffrey de Stokes, kt, Nicholas le Blake, John le Blake, John atte Watere, Richard Smelt, Richard le Buteler, Robert le Meister and many others. Dated 1 March 1321/2 (15 Edward II)

Gift by Peter son of Ralph de Saxmundesham to John le Blake of Ware, senior, of all his land in Ware lying in Parkerescroft with all appurtenances.

Witnesses: John atte Watere, John le Baker, Robert le Maisteresone, William le Boaler, John le Cailom and others

Dated Friday next after St Augustine 7 Edward III

Gift by Thomas son of Robert le Maister of Ware to Joan and Isabel daughters of Joan, late daughter of Simon le Shepherd of Ware of one messuage and 4 acres of land with appurtenances in Ware along with hedges, ditches and gardens which messuage lies between the highway which leads from Robert le Maistres towards Stanndon on the one part, and the tenement of the said Robert on the other part, which messuage and land he held by gift and feoffment of the said Joan daughter of Simon le Shepherd.

Witnesses: Nicholas Blake, Joan Blake, John Taillour de Godeford, Robert le Maister and Edmund Snellynge and others.

Dated Tuesday next after the feast of St Mathias 24 Edward III.

Gift by William le Meleward to John Sawarde of Chorleye and John att Grave de Staundon of a messuage with curtilage, 23 acres of land, 1a 3 r of meadow and ½ a of pasture with hedges and ditches and all appurtenances in the parish of Ware between the Kings Way which leads from Standon towards Wydeford on one part and the land of John Wat[er]man on the other, and 18 acres of land lying in the parish of Ware in the field called Leye between the path called ?Berewelane (on a fold) on the one part and his (William’s) land and John W_________’s (on a fold) on the other and 4a of land lying in the same parish in a field called Swatfeld between the land of William Botiler and his (William’s) land on the other and one acre of land in the parish of Ware in the field called Godunffeld between his land on each part, and one acre of meadow lying in the same parish between the meadow of John Wat[er]man on one part and the meadow of John Pack on the other, and extending on one hand on the kings way which leads form Ware towards Storteford and the other head on the stream of Wydeford and three roods of meadow called le Holeys lying in the parish of Wydeford between the meadow of John le Blake senior and the meadow formerly of Richard Edelet on the other and extends from one head as far as the stream/river of Wydeford and the other head on the meadow of John Askyl and William Norman, and ½ a of pasture called Pizstel in the parish of Wydeford between the king’s way which leads from Ware towards Storteford on one part and the meadow of John le Hert on the other.

Witnesses: John le Blake, senior, John le Bakere, Robert le Mayster de Ware, John le Taylour, William Botiler, John _________ (illeg), William Ballard of Wydeford and others.

Dated Palm Sunday 18 Edward III

Gift by John Niger of Ware to Stephen his son for homage and service of a virgate of land with appurtenances which William Alb once held in Ware which is called Fordierde: annual rent of 50s.

Witnesses: Richard de Ware, Adam de Wyteberewe, John de la Halvehyde, Robert de Aqua, William de Aqua, John de Aqua his son, Philip son of William son of Mag.Philip Cupio, William de Bredon of Honesdon, Peter Coco, John de Cotenham of Stanstede and others n.d. (Edward I)

Gift by Alice late wife of William le Melleward of Ware to John le Blake senior and Joan his wife of a croft of land called le Bedingg with appurtenance in Ware which lies between the land of the said John on the one part and the land late of Thomas le Writhe. Witnesses: William Viel, William le Boteler John Le Taylour, Robert le Maistresson, William Godin and others. Sunday next after the feast of St Andrew  14 Edward III 
Gift by Cristina Elote to John Blake, senior, and Joan his wife, of a fourth the part of a messuage and three roods of land with appurtenances in Ware which formerly was of Thomas le Wrytze.

Witnesses: John atte Watre, Thomas de Godisfeld, John le Taylour, William Godyn, William le Boteler, Robert le Maist[er]ssone and others.

Sunday next before feast of the annuc.B.M17 Edward III

Gift by Hugh M. te of Ware Robert Trotte of Stanstede, abbot and John Myrable of Ware to Richard Patlyslee, Richard Pentys vintner of London, Thomas Conewell of Ware and Nicholas Blake of the same place of all their lands and tenements etc which they held by gift and feoffment of Walter Locke of Ware in the vill. and parish of Ware, Amwell and Sabrythforth.

Witnesses: Richard Braghyng, William atte Wate[re], Alexander Halfhyd, Thomas Osttiler, Walter Coupe, Roger Marchal, Egidius Draper and others.

Monday next after the feast of St Barnabas the Apostle 8 Richard II.

Power of attorney by William Weler of Ware, mercer, to John Cooke of the parish of Amurelle to deliver to John Hert of Ware and William Leffyng of Amurelle a toft “built on” in the parish of ware and two parcels of meadow, three crofts with an acre of land in a field called Schortelye, an acre of land in the field of Wydford and an acre of land in Wydfurde in a field called Southfeld. Dated 29 May 12 Henry VI.

Demise by Richard Bragbyng of Ware to Reynold Mylse of Ware of a place called Godpage with four pyhtyls of arable land containing 4½ acres: for life: rent of 3s and 2 capons at Michaelmas

Dated Thursday in 7 days of Easter 3 Richard II

Gift by Joan late wife of John Pistor of Ware to Boisie her son of 5 acres of land with appurtenances in Ware of which three acres lie in the field called Helcroft and 2 acres lie in the field called Haddamcroft.

Witnesses: Richard de Ware, Stephen le Neir, William ad Aquam, John ad Aquam, Nicholas le Cupe, Alexander de Spalding and others. Sunday next after the feast of St Martin ep.14 Edward II

Gift by John Romeney citizen and potter of London to Walter Mice of Ware of two messuages with appurtenances in Ware of which one messuage is built between the curtilage late of Philip Wacheler on the one part, and the curtilage late of Laurence, clerk, on the other, and one head abutts on the kings way called le Eldestrete and the other head on the land of the said Laurence, and the other messuage is built between the messuage late of the said Philip on one part, and the curtilage late of the said Laurence on the other, and one head abutts on the kings way called Eldestrete and the other on the land of the said Laurence.

Witnesses: William de Hoo, Simon Penge, Thomas de Godeffeld, John Bakere, Adam Syw…d, Walter Ferour, John Cosyn and others.

Tuesday next after the feast of St Agnes the V. 20 Edward III.

Gift by Adam Cuparius son of Nicholas Cuparius of Ware to Roger de Godeffeld of Ware of two crofts of enclosed land in the vill. of Ware called Coupurers Croftes of which one croft “extends on the other” (extendit se super alterum), and lies between the land of Robert, son of Philip le Mayste[re]ssone on the one part and a certain street which leads from the door/gate of Robert son of Philip le Mayst[er]sone as far as le Wynteresgrene, and one head abutts on the land of the said Robert, and the other croft lies between the land of the said Robert on one part and the croft of Matilda la Berohere on the other, and abutts at one head on the field of Stephen le Blake which is called Wydernererfeld. 

Witnesses: Stephen le Blake, Richard de Ware, William atte Watere, Peter atte Halfhyde, Thomas de Wyteberewe, William Scot, Richard de Clobenhale, Hugh de P[rae]oratu, Richard Sivelt and others.

Thursday next after the feast of St Nicholas 

8 Edward II.

Gift by Hugh Coupe de Honesdon and Peter Feltrel to Richard Gadyn and Beatrice his wife of all their lands and tenements which they held by gift and feoffment of the said Robert in the vills. of Wideford and Ware and which formerly were of William Gadyn.

Witnesses: William Bokerborw, Richard Hoyle Alexander Halffhyde, ?Nicholas Smyth of Wydeforde, Edmund Snellyng and others

Monday next aft. feast nat. St John the Bapt.36 Edward III

Demise by Ralph le Bedere of Ware to John Godin and Asselmam his wife of a holm of meadow called Godardesmade as lies in length and breadth in Ware and abutts one head le Roumade and the other head on Levesende Som[er]lase: from the feast of the pur BVM 14 Edward II for 7 years. 

Witnesses: William ad Aquam, Nicholas le Coupe, Richard le Boteler, Robert le Maysterissone, William le Monner

Friday next after ft pur BVM 14 Edward II

Gift by Nicholas Blake of Ware senior, to William son of Robert atte Water of the same of an annual rent of 12d arising from all the lands and tenements with appurtenances which he holds in the vill. and parish of Ware.

Witnesses: Richard Bragh, Thomas Tonewell, John Rugenyn, Nicholas Blake, junior, Alexander Halfhyd, Hugh Myce, Roger Syward and others.

Friday the feast ad vincula St Peter 50 Edward III

Lease by Nicholas son and heir of John le Blake, senior, of Ware to Alexander son of Nicholas ate Halvehyde of one garden, one acre, of arable land and an acre of meadow with all appurtenances lying in the vill and parish of Ware which garden lies in the vill of Ware between the messuage of John Storsteforde on the one part and the said acre of land on the other and abutts at one head on the garden fomerly of Thomas Godifeld and the other head on the Way called Dedelane, and the said acre of land lies in the field called Estfeld between the land formerly of Thomas de Godifeld on one part and the croft formerly of Robert Grymbant on the other part, and abutting at one head on the said garden and the other head abutts on the garden which Thomas Tenewell once held of ? Lady Wake and the said meadow lies in a meadow called the Estmade beyond the Were between the meadow late of Richard le Smelt on the one part, and the meadow of William de Ware on the other, and abutts at one head on the stream called le Leye: for life: annual rent of a “certa” of roses at the feast of St John the Baptist.

Witnesses: Roger Granitt, William de Hoo, John Lucas, Thomas Tonewell, John Neel, Roger Syward and others

Sunday the feast of St Barnabas 37 Edward III.

Quitclaim by Agnes widow of Arnulph Reyn of Ware to Stephen le Blake of ware of all the lands with their appurtenances which the said Stephen, Philip le Coupe and Cecilia, widow of the said Philip purchased of the said Arnulph and Agnes.

Witnesses; Robert and Aquam, Adam de Wyteberwe, John and Aquam, Richard de Ware Thomas Wyteverwe, Thomas le Seneschal, John de Tywe, clerk and others.

Day after St Lawrence the Martyr 20 Edward I.

Gift by Peter, son of Ralph de Saxmu[n]deach[a]m of Wydeford to John le Blake senior of Ware, of two acres of land with hedges and ditches, common of pasture and all other appurtenances in the vill of Ware in a certain croft called Wyterescroft between his (Peter’s) land on one part and a way called Sortelyelane. Witnesses: John atte Water, Richard le Hetiler, Nicholas le Blake John le Bakere, Robert le Maysteresone, John Godyn Richard son of William Miller and others

Sunday the day after pur BVM 18 Edward II
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	Quitclaim by Richard Braghynge, Thomas Braghynge, William atte Water to Hugh Deen, rector of the church of Coeff (Corfe) Castell, Dorset, of a tenement lying in the vill of Ware, all that land lying in a field called Netherdancroft, all that land lying in a field called Merrefeld and in 11 acres of land lying in the fields of Ware which tenement lies between the tenement of John Atte Chambre on the east, and the tenement of the said Richard Thomas and William and the messuage of Alice Storteford and the messuage of John Cok on the west and one head abutts on the kings way towards the south, and the other on the land of John atte Chambre towards the north, and of the said eleven acres, three acres lie near Spelthornbush between the land of John Radeswelle on each part one acre with a certain well lies in Westfeld between the land of the said John Radeswelle on the east, and the land of John Garlek on the west, 4 acres near Wolkechen between the land of the said John Radeswelle on the north, and the land of John Bonnde on the south,  2½ acres lie on Ferthyngplot between the land of Andrew Colman on the west and the land of John Barbur on the east.

Witnesses: John Ware, Nicholas Blake, Walter Myce, William atte Belle, Roger Marchal and others.

Saturday next after the feast of St Matthew the Ap. 5 Henry IV

Gift by Roisia, daughter of John Pistoris of Ware, to John le Blake, senior, and Joan his wife, of 5 acres of land with app. in Ware of which 3 acres lies in a certain croft Holecroft and two acres of land lie in a croft called Hadhomcroft.

Witnesses: Roger de Godefeld, Richard Smelt, Nicholas le Blake, John le Blake, junior and Robert le Maisteresone, Richard le Melleware and others. Sunday the day after the translation of the blessed Thomas the Martyr, 4 Edward III.
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	Gift by Nicholas son of Robert de Heyle of Eppyngg Essex, to Robert son of William Atte Wate[re] of Ware Hertfordshire, of all the lands, tenements, rents and services which he holds in the vills. of Alswyk and Leyston, Aspoden and Hormed Magna Hertfordshire: to hold for life of Robert, his heirs and assigns up to a year after the death of Robert: if Robert dies within 12 years of the date of this charter, then his heirs, executors or assigns may hold them for the remainder of the twelve years.

Witnesses: Nicholas le Blak, John Blak, Thomas de Godefeld of Ware, John Gernoun, John Chapman of Stanndon, Walter Bryan and Walter le Hayward of Buntyngford and others. 

Tuesday next after the feast of the translation of St Thomas the Martyr 2 Edward III

Gift by John Adam de Chestesunte and Katherine his wife, daughter of Geoffrey atte Hylle of the same vill, to William atte Milne of Wydeforde and Isabel his wife and their heirs and assigns of a place called Mylne Leytton with houses built there, which place lies in the parish of Wydeforde between the mill of the said William on the east and the land of Richard Hoyle on the west and abutting on the kings way which leads to Ware towards the south and abutts on Rywer towards the north.

Witnesses: Richard Ambersleye of Ware, Robert Godyn of the same, John Smyth of Wydeforde, Richard Parker, John Crips and others. Sunday next after the feast of All Saints 43 Edward III.

Gift by Richard Braghyng of Ware to William atte Melle of Wodeford of an annual rent of 6d in the vill of Honysdon arising annually thus: of Laurence Lewte of Honysdon 3d and of John Attefeld of the same place 3d.

Witnesses: Thomas Tonewell of Ware, Nicholas Blake, junior, William atte Water[re] de Ware, Thomas Wynselow, John Smyth of Honysdon and others.

Wednesday the feast of St Bartholomew the apostle 8 Richard II
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	Lease by William Blakwell of Hertford and Joan his wife to John atte Mille and Joan his wife and two lawful heirs of their bodies of a croft called Coneyscroft and two other crofts called Monnkyscroftes and 6 acres of land in Buryfeld Hertfordshire: for lives: annual rent of 8s: to build a barn and cowhouse.

Witnesses: John Smyth, John Parker, John Symond and others.

Michaelmas 1 Henry IV

Testimonial of legitimacy of Agnes Haygrene, wife of Richard Haygrene and daughter of John Regewyn of Ware: by John Kyrkby of Stondon, Herts, Thomas Master of the same town, John Domyell the elder Richard Grave, Thomas Kent, John See, John Browche of Meltly, John Cossyn, William Feld the elder, John Foster, Richard Gilloo, John Browche of Lawtforthe and John?Linyett the younger. Dated 1 April 10 Henry VIII

Certificate by Thomas Wheler, William atte Mylle, John atte Mylle the elder and John atte Mylle the younger, regarding the sealing by John atte Mylle of a deed on his deathbed regarding two acres of arable land lying in Wideford in a piece called Monkescroft, with an acre of meadow in Brood Mede, to the use of William atte Mylle now dead, contrary to the will of John atte Mylle the elder (John atte Mylle signing the deed was father of John atte Mylle the elder). Dated 12 April 7 Edward IV (in English)

Quitclaim by Richard Whytte citizen and burgess of Hertford to Thomas Tonewell of Ware and William Lymesy of Dinwell of all his lands, tenements etc which the said Thomas and William formerly held by gift and feoffment of John Gannyl of le Resstyn of the parish of All Saints Hertford, which once was of Roger Godyfeld in the parish of Amwell.

Witnesses: Richard Wyndesore, then bailiff of Hertford, Richard Ikylford, Roger Bokyngham, Thurstan Wygeyn, Walter Bowyer and others. Monday next after the feast of the Conversion of St Paul 49 Edward III
	1467
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	Receipt – Richard Braghyng, Thomas Braghyng, William atte Water and John Cok for £13 6s 8d of Hugh Dean, rector of the church of Corff Castel, Robert Scarclyff, John Myles and Robert Rus in part payment for £40 owed for the lands and tenements with Hugh, Robert, John and Robert hold by gift and feoffment in the vill of Ware.

Dated Saturday the eve of the nat. of St John the Bapt. 4 Henry IV

Receipt – John son of Thomas Tunwell of Ware, prior of the monastery of St Crux of Waltham for £6 13s 4d of Hugh Deen, rector of the church of Corff Castle (Castell), Dorset (paid to him in the name of Richard Braghyng, Thomas Bragyhyng and William atte Water), again being part payment for £40 for the lands and tenements which Hugh and others hold by gift and feoffment of Richard, Thomas and William.

Dated 3 Februay 5 Henry IV

End of Ware bundle

Copy lease by Samuel Stevenson of Sneyd Green, ph. Burslem, nailer, to Henry Steane of Burslem, carpenter, of a piece of land at the side of the lane near the Cobbridge Gate in the parish of Burslem: for 99 years; annual rent of 3s 4d. Dated 8 October 28 Charles II (copy made 1726)

Copy recovery by Joseph Wainwright against William Robinson, gent, of 3 messuages, 6 gardens, 30a of land, 25a of meadow, 30a of pasture and common of pasture in Cheadle: 28 November 4 George I.

Copy appointment by William Adderley of Caverswall, Staffs regarding parcels of ground called Bourne Meadow ph. Burslem, closes called Great Sneydale, Little Sneydale and the Sneydale Meadow in Sneyd, ph. Burslem, the Harwood Meadow and Partley Mires ph. Cheadle, messuage in Cheadle where Jane Chell widow lived, parcel of meadow in Cheadle called Chells meadow, two butts in Conny Greyfield, Cheade, closes called the Riddings in Cheadle, messuage or tenement in Cheadle called Beeches Tenement, and a moiety of a meadow in Cheadle called Lower Part of the Mill Meadow: after the decease of Samuel Adderley his nephew and failure of his issue male and after his own decease and failure of issue male to the use 

of his cousin John Adderley of Derby for life, then to the use of Charles Adderley son of John and his male issue in default to use of John his second son and his male issue, in default to use of his cousin Ralph Adderley of Chesterfield and his male issue: in default to the use of his right heirs. Dated 29 May

Gift by Thomas de Cootes and Eleanor his wife to John de Herlaston, parson of the church of Yeaveley, Roger de Longedon and Richard Stanage chaplain, of all their lands and tenements with appurtenances in Chebbesey called the ?Heymeld (tear) near Norton, Staffs and an annual rent of 5 marks arising from the manor of Ercalowe Magna, Shropshire.

Witnesses: John Honande Thomas Alaseley, William at Lee, William Wyke, John Pet … (missing)

Dated Thursday next after the feast of the Nat. St John the Baptist 4 Richard II

Quitclaim by Thomas Hole, chaplain, to William Venables of Copenhall, of all lands, tenements, rents he holds by gift and feoffment of Petronilla late lord of Cav[er]eswall in the parishes of Cav[er]eswall, Dulv[er]ne, Legh and elsewhere in Staffs. Dated Wednesday next aft. conversion of St Paul 32 Henry VI

Lease for possession by John Marsh the younger of great Chell ph.Woolstanton, yeoman, to William Forde of Church Lawton, Cheshire, gent, and Samuel Steevenson of Corbridgyate ph.Burslem, potter, of a moiety that messuage and tenement in Burslem and closes called Greenfield, Great Sneydale, Little Sneydale and Sneydale Meadow. Dated 3 May

Assignment by Robert Chapman of Agardsley, Staffs, Esq., to John Foster of Draycott, musician, of a lease of 12 acres of meadow in Densy Meadow and 5 doles in New Meadow, in the manor of Cotton (Coton), Staffs: for residue of 21 years term granted by William Burton 26 February 13 James: annual rent of 5s. Dated 21 December 17 James I

Lease by William Burton to Robert Chapman mentioned in 1717. Dated 26 February

Feoffment by Henry Vernon of the Inner Temple, Esq., to Thomas Key of Tamworth, Warwicks, gent, in consideration of £135, of two flatts of arable in Hopwayes (Hopwas) in the manor of Comberford and Wigginton, Staffs, in a field called Berry Field, and 2 selions in Long Leafield, 8 lands in the Mill Field, 8 lands in the Hill Field, 3 lands near Birdinge Bush, 2 lands abutting on Stockwell meadow, 2 selions in the Spittle Field, and a parcel of meadow in a common meadow called Carford Meadow near the way from Hopwas to Tamworth. Dated 20 April.

Wormesley, Hereford Bundle

Assignment by Richard Okeley of Middle Temple, Esq., Charles Whichcot, citizen and grocer of London and Thomas Rawlyn, citizen and haberdasher of London, to Walter Vernon of the Inner Temple, Esq., reciting mortgage by lease by Walter Vernon 21 June 2 Charles I of the site, circuit and precinct of the dissolved priory of Wormesley, Herefordshire, and all the messuages and lands belonging, for £750, of part of the property in the above lease for the residue of the term of 100 years, that is the part of the property lying outside of the circuit fence or hedge. Dated 2 November.
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	Lease by Walter Vernon of Burton on Trent, Esq., to James Eckley of Wormesley, Herefordshire, yeoman, in consideration of ?£38 (unit missing) of all that parcel of hallett or coppice in Wormesley commonly called the South Cocks Park 5a 1r and all that close or pasture in Wormesley called Cocks Parks land 3 acres 3r 18p, and another parcel of hallett or coppice called North Cocks Park, for 110 years, annual rent of 6d. Dated 26 April.

Feoffment by Walter Vernon of Burton on Trent Esq., to John Scyce of Wormseley, Herefordshire husbandman in consideration of 30s, of a close in Wormesley called Little Medlands, 1a 1r 25p, with a parcel of ground to the south called the Rough Grove and two butts or ridges in the Northfield of Wormersley, 0a 1r 04p. Dated 27 January 7 Charles I.

Feoffment by Walter Vernon of Burton to James Eckley of Wormesely, yeoman, in consideration of £30, of all his tenement in Wormesley in the occupation of Widow Hantall with the croft or close wherein the same tenement stands 1a, and close lying against the tenement called Ems Acre, with croft abutting on the churchyard, with two lands or butts in the Armesgrove Field ¼ a, and two little lands or butts in the North Field, 0a 0r 26p: chief rent of 6d. Dated 30 January 7 Charles I.

Bargain and sale by Charles I to Silvan Skory (son of the late Sir John Skory) of Wormesley, Hereford, Esq., in consideration of £400, formerly a royal ward, of his own marriage and an annuity of £3 6s 8d arising out of certain manors, messuages etc in Herefordshire: extent attached – dissolved priory of Wormesley, two windmills in Wormesley called Overshott Mills and other messuages etc. in Wormesley. Dated 24 May.
	1632
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	Mortgage by Walter Vernon of Mackley, Esq., to Rowland Ecley of Wormesley, yeoman, in consideration of £100 of all tithes in the parish of Wormesley for 90 years, annual rent of 12d. Dated 15 October 

Feoffment by Walter Vernon of the Inner Temple Esq., to William Crowther, citizen and haberdasher of London, in consideration of £1600, of the site, circuit and precinct of the dissolved priory of Wormesley, Herefordshire, the meadow by the house 7a 3r Hallow al. Callow Meadow 3a 2r Addersmore Meadow 12a, Patchmeadow 11a 3r, Horseplack 8a 2r, Nether Oxehill 41a 2r, Upper Oxehill 52a, Sheep Pasture 50a, Frenchfield 14a 3r, Hawkesnest 24a, Cow Leasow 23a 2r, New Leasow 14a 1r, Hopyard 1a 2r, Close and the Read Barre 12a 2r ?Stovindge 32a, Millfield and Calves Leasow 13a, Marlepits 20a, Teene Acres 25a, Upper Bond Field 16a 3r, Nether Bond Field 27a 2r, Broomy Leasow 11a 2r Barnefield, 30a, Grange Gobbett 22a, Gawdy Green 24a 1r Little Bondfield 10a 1r, Sharnells 16a 2r, Read Barrs Pallett 13a 3r, Little Pallett by the Hallow meadow 1a and all tithes. Dated 30 October.

Deed by which Silvanus Skory of Wormesley Esq., brother of Walter Vernon’s wife Mary, agrees to be seised of and in the site, circuit and precinct of the dissolved priory of Wormesley. Dated 15 May 22 James I.

Lease by Walter Vernon of Burton, Esq., to John Scyce of Wormesley, husbandman, in consideration of £3, of all those several parcels of arable ground in the town fields of Wormesley viz 4 lands in the North Field, 4 lands in the …..grove field, 2 lands in the Mountayne Field extending towards Custards Bush and 2 more lands in the same field: for 41 years: annual rent of 2d. Dated 30 October 7 Charles I

Mortgage by Walter Vernon of Mackley Esq., to Rowland Ecley of Wormesley, yeoman, in consideration of £70, of messuage or tenement with orchard and barn, late the inheritance of Silvanus Skory and 2 acres of arable in the North Field of Wormesley: by lease for 90 years. Dated 28  October.

End of bundle/end of Box 27
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	Letters to Lord Vernon dated 3 March and 24 March
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	Box 28 (A)

Quietus roll of John Dolphin, esquire as Sheriff of Staffordshire, for 1759-1760. 23 June

Lawyer’s formulary and memorandum book in Latin, French and English 

Duchy of Lancaster lease for 31 years to George Venables, Lord Vernon of the hundred of Appletree in the honour of Tutbury with all court rents and the liberty called the Implement with all the manors, profits etc belonging to the Duchy of Lancaster, excepting heriots, fines, trees, mines, quarries etc. Annual rent of £13 14s. Also includes a lease for 31 years of a parcel of land (7a) allotted to The Crown on Hatton Moor. Annual rent of £6 6s. 2 Jun

Assignment of a mortgage for the Duchy of Lancaster leases of Hanbury Park and Tutbury Park by Edward Vernon, esquire of Northaston, Co.Oxon and his trustees Thomas Winford, gentlemen of Clement’s Inn Middlesex and Henry Winford, esquire of Inner Temple, London. The mortgage is transferred from Dame Margaret Frowde, widow of London and William Mogan esquire of Gray’s Inn, London to Roger Coningesby, esquire of London and his trustee, John Coningesby gentleman of London. The mortgage secures £1260 26 Jul 

Endorsed T.I.4

Quitclaim by Edward Vernon, esquire, one of the gentlemen of his Majesty’s Privy Chamber to Charnell Woolley, gentleman of the City of London, of Hanbury Park and Tutbury Park or the Little Park under the castle of Tutbury, sold to Woolley by Jane Adderley widow and administratrix of Richard Addderley, esquire of Cotton, co.Staffs, for whom Vernon was a trustee in a deed of 23 Jun 1684. 6 May Endorsed T.I.5.
	1761
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	Assignment of a mortgage by Sir Edward Smith, baronet of Hill Hall, Essex (son and heir of the late Sir Edward Smith of Hill Hall) and Dame Jane Smith, widow and co-executor of Sir Edward Smith in consideration of £100 to Samuel Hill, esquire of Inner Temple London, of the Castle grounds and garden of Tutbury.

Faded 25 Jul

Endorsed T.I.7

Bargain and sale by Margery Crowther, widow of Hill Topp, p.St. Michael [Lichfield], co.Staffs, sole daughter and heir of William Dutton, gentleman of Wall, co.Staffs and widow of William Crowther, gentleman of Hill Topp to Henry Jackson, gentleman of Wall, co.Staffs in consideration of £505. The property is a messuage in Wall; 3 rick meadows (7a), 6a in Shawfield; 2a in Little Field; 2a in Street Field; 1a on Long Shoot abutting on Watling Street; ½ a in the Butts, all in Wall and the Orchard Furlongs and three Watlages in Shenston, co.Staffs. 20 Oct

Endorsed 91 and 121, crossed through

Enclosing 1737-1738

Letter from Willingham Bourne, Lichfield to Richard Whilby, attorney at law, Derby about a proposed sale of part of the property as at 1736. 5 Oct

Letter from William Mott, Sudbury to Mr Calvert returning a deed. 14 Oct.

Assignment of mortgage as at 1735 by Samuel Hill, esquire of Shenston Park, co. Staffs to John Vernon, esquire of Thorny Woods, co. Notts in consideration of £100.  6 Apr

Endorsed T.I.8

Assignment of mortgage as at 1735 by John Vernon, esquire of Cloutarf Castle, Dublin, Ireland administrator of the late Edward Vernon, esquire of Northaston, Oxon to George Venables Vernon esquire of Sudbury in consideration of £160. Faded 30 May 

Endorsed T.I.9

Assignment of the residue of a term of 63 years in the Duchy of Lancaster lease of Hanbury and Tutbury Parks granted to Edward Vernon in 1713 by Richard Lee, esquire of Clytha, Co.Monmouth to Rt.Hon George Venables Lord Vernon, in consideration of £500. 31 May

Endorsed T.I.12

Duchy of Lancaster grant of a term of 14 years 9 months 21 days (remainder of a term devised to the late George Venables Lord Vernon, 4 Jun 1776) to George Venables, Lord Vernon, eldest son of the late Lord Vernon in consideration of £710, of Hanbury and Tutbury Parks. Total rent of £150.25 Mar. Endorsed T.I.14 

1743 attached

Receipt for £769. 8s. 6d paid by Lord Vernon to the Duchy of Lancaster.  13 Apr

Release by George Sedley, late of Stoke Cliff near Dartmouth, Devon but now of Halifax, Nova Scotia, eldest son of the Hon. Henry Venables Sedley (formerly Henry Venables Vernon), the second son of the late George Venables Vernon, Lord Vernon, to George Venables  Lord Vernon of Kinderton, co.Ches. 16 Jul.

Endorsed T.I.15

Paper containing “My Sister’s Hair”

Bundle: “Exchange deeds by and from the Trustees of the late Lord Vernon “[for the inclosure of Needwood Forest]

Endorsement on bundle wrapping mentions a plan sent for copying to Messrs. Hoper and Broughton, 1815


	1715

1719

1761

1796

1734

1750

1776

1791

1791

1809

[19th cent]


	D410M/Box28A/

1746-7

D410M/Box28A/

1748-1749

D410M/Box28A/

1750-1751

D410M/Box28A/

1752-1753


	Deed of exchange in the form of a lease and release. Joseph Dicken, gentleman of ?Highline Park, co. Staffs receives 28a in the Tutbury Ward and 7a 1r 18p near Lint Brook in Tutbury in exchange for Dove Close (16a 31p) in Moreton, p.Hanbury, granted to George Anson, esquire, colonel of the 16th Regiment of Light Dragoons and George Venables Vernon, esquire, student at Christ Church College, Oxford, trustees of the marriage settlement of George Venables, Lord Vernon. 30 Sep – 1 Oct.

Deed of exchange in form of lease and release. Hugh Bailye, vicar of Hanbury co. Staffs receives 6a 2r in Marchington Ward, Hanbury in exchange for 2a in Four Acre Meadow or Kings meadow in Houndhill and Marchington p.Hanbury granted to George Anson and George Venables Vernon as at 1746-1747. 30 Sep – 1 Oct.

Deed of exchange in form of lease and release. John Wetton, gentleman formerly of Houndhill, p.Hanbury but now of Uttoxeter Moor and his trustee Thomas Mousley gentleman of Agardsley Park, p. Hanbury receive 13a 1r in Marchington Ward in exchange for 4a 3r 33p in Toad Hole Meadows, Houndhill and Marchington, granted to George Anson and George Venables Vernon as at 1746-1747.

30 Sep – 1 Oct.

Deed of exchange in form of lease and release. Ann Woolley spinster of Moreton p. Hanbury receives 12a 33p in Marchington Ward, p. Hanbury in exchange for Houndhill Meadow (4a 21p) in Houndhill granted to George Anson and George Venables Vernon as at 1746-1747

30 Sep – 1 Oct.
	1808

1808

1808

1808


	D410M/Box28A/

1754-1755

D410M/Box28A/

1756-1757

D410M/Box28A/

1758-1759

D410M/Box28A/

1760

D410M/Box28A/

1761-1763

D410M/Box28A/

1764

D410M/Box28A/

1765

D410M/Box28A/

1766


	Deed of exchange in form of lease and release Revd. Spencer Madan, junior, clerk, treasurer and residentiary canon of Lichfield Cathedral, surviving trustee of the marriage settlement of William and Ellen Jane Robinson, and William Robinson, clerk of Swinnerton, co. Staffs receive in exchange for 2a 15p in Houndhill Meadow, Houndhill, granted to George Anson and George Venables Vernon as at 1746-1747. 30 Sep – 1 Oct.

Deed of exchange in form of lease and release, William Towers Minors, gentleman of Knipersley, p.Hanbury, co. Staffs receives 5a 2r 10p in Long Soley, Marchington Ward in exchange for 2a 19p in Houndhill Meadow, Houndhill, granted to George Anson and George Venables Vernon as at 1746-1747. 30 Sep – 1 Oct.

Deed of exchange in form of lease and release. Francis Calvert, gentleman of Houndhill, p. Hanbury receives 3a 2r 27p in Marchington Ward in exchange for the Wardhurst (2a 1r 8p) in Houndhill or Marchington granted to George Anson and George Venables Vernon as at 1746-1747. 30 Sep – 1 Oct

Appointment by William Blurton, senior, gentleman of Woodford Uttoxeter of the Lower Mill Holme and an allotment of 5a in Marchington Ward to his eldest

Son, John Blurton, subject to his own life interest and with the exception of 1 rood in Lower Mill Holme for the use of his children as tenants in common. 1 Oct

Deed of exchange with two leases for possession. George Venables, Lord Vernon conveys West Broughton Manor and property in West Broughton, Doveridge and Marchington, p. Hanbury to George Anson and George Venables Vernon and they together convey a messuage in Draycott, p. Hanbury and adjacent property to Revd Frederick Anson, clerk of Sudbury in trust for George Venables, Lord Vernon, under the settlement of 2 June 1757. 3 -4 Oct.

Assignment by Henry Venables Sedley esquire of Nuthall Temple, Co. Notts and his son George Sedley, of Halifax, Nova Scotia of Hanbury Park and Tutbury Park for the residue of a term of 14 yrs 9 months 21 days to George Venables, Lord Vernon. 3 Nov. 

With 1765

Copy power of attorney from George Sedley to Messrs Moses Hoper, esquire of Great Marlborough Street, London and Robert Charles Greaves, esquire of Ingleby. 18 Aug

Bargain and sale by George Venables, Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton, co. Cheshire to the Rt. Hon. William, Lord Bagot, Baron Bagot of Blithfield, Staffs in consideration of £30, of an annual rent of 30s from Lord Bagot’s property in Leigh, co. Staffs.

6 Oct
End of bundle

End of Box 28


	1808

1808

1808

1808

1808

1808

1808

1808


	D410M/Box29A/

1767

D410M/Box29A/

1768

D410M/Box29A/

1769

D410M/Box29A/

1770

D410M/Box29A/

1771

D410M/Box29A/

1772

D410M/Box29A/

1773

D410M/Box29A/

1774

D410M/Box29A/

1775

D410M/Box29A/

1776

D410M/Box29A/

1777

D410M/Box29A/ 1778

D410M/Box29A/

1779

D410M/Box29A/

1780

D410M/Box29A/

1781-1783

D410M/Box29A/

1781-1782

D419M/Box29A/

1783


	Box 29A

Copy settlement by release by John Budworth, yeoman of Marchington co. Staffs, son and heir of the late John Budworth, yeoman of Marchington to Thomas Newton, junior, farmer of Marchington and his wife Elizabeth, sister of John Budworth in consideration of £167 of the Low Fields and the Bothams (4a. a parcel in Mill Hill Field (1½ a); Crooked Acre (1a) all in Marchington, to the use of Thomas Newton his wife any children and the heirs of Elizabeth Newton.

28 Mar

Appointment by Henry Lord Vernon of Revd. John Sedley Venables Vernon as a domestic chaplain. 12 Nov. Endorsed 169

Notice to the inhabitants of Hammerwich, co. Staffs about window tax assessments 25 Apr

(previously sewn up)

Draft settlement for the marriage of George Vernon, esquire of Sudbury and Katherine Vernon, daughter of Thomas Vernon, citizen and merchant of London. The bride’s marriage portion from her father will be £3500 and George Vernon settles the manor of Haslington on her subject to a charge of £300 for educating the daughters of his previous marriage. George Vernon promises to secure property of the annual value of £350 p.a. for her use. She is receive an annuity of £300 after his death. 18 Mar 

(see also 1779)

Account from balance of the final account of Earl Harcourt, Gentleman and Master of the Robes, 1807-1809.   26 Jul

Endorsed 166

Account of Hon. Henry Sedley, Gentleman and Master of the Robes, for the year to 5 Jan 1811. 1 Feb 

Endorsed 167

Account of Hon. Henry Sedley as at 1772, to 18 Feb 1812. 18 Nov.

Endorsed 168

Duchy of Lancaster lease for 9½ years to George Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury, in consideration of £200 of Hanbury Park and Tutbury Park. Total rent of £86  5s  9d, from 1776 when previous lease to Edward Vernon expires. 12 May 

Endorsed T.I.10

Duchy of Lancaster lease for 31 years to George Venables, Lord Vernon, in consideration of £30 of the castle and gardens of Tutbury, rent  £2 p.a. and the market and fair tolls, 5s p.a. 20 Feb 

Endorsed T.I.11

Duchy of Lancaster lease for 31 years to George Venables, Lord Vernon in consideration of £1040 of Hanbury Park and Tutbury Park. 1st years’ rent of £47  14s  8d p.a., next 9 years rent of £86  15s  9d p.a. and for 21 years, rent of £100 p.a., with an agreement to spend £200 on the repair of the Great Lodge, Hanbury Park. 4 Jan

Endorsed T.I.13

Duchy of Lancaster lease for 31 years to Rt Hon. Baron Vernon of Kinderton, Cheshire, in consideration of £110 of the castle and grounds of Tutbury for a rent of £2 p.a. for 6 years and £7 p.a. for the remainder of the term. The tolls of the markets and fairs are also leased for 31 years at a rent of 5s for 6 years, then £1 p.a.  10 Aug 

Endorsed T.I.16.

Marriage settlement in the form of a bargain and sale by Elizabeth Budworth, spinster of Marchington, with the consent of Thomas Newton, junior, farmer of Marchington to whom she is to be married, to John Wheeldon, farmer of Houndhill and Francis Wheeldon farmer of Houndhill of her interest in a legacy of £300 from the will of the late John Budworth arising from Rooks or Crooks, Lowfields and Bothams in Marchington; 2a in Marchington Meadow; 1a 3r in Fowford Field and ½ a in Stratford field to be held in trust for her children

14 Dec.

Draft marriage settlement of George Vernon of Sudbury and Katherine, daughter of Thomas Vernon, merchant of London. The property includes the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley; advowson of Sudbury and property in Hill Somersall: Potter Somersall; Marston Montgomery (including a moiety of the manor); Hollington; West Broughton; Eaton Sedsall and Rodsley; the manors of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay; Houndhill Hall; 4 water mills in Draycott; and other property in Marchington, Stubby Lane Morton Coton, Hanbury, Aston, Sudbury etc. 

Refers to 1770       10 Mar

Decree in the case of George Vernon and his wife Katherine of Sudbury, plaintiffs against Godfrey Meynell and his wife Merriall Vernon; Richard Meynell and his wife Katherine; Mary Vernon and Henrietta Francia Vernon, daughters of George Vernon by his first wife and all trustees of George Vernon’s first marriage settlement. The sum of £1000, in addition to £1500, is paid to Godfrey Meynell to make up a quarter share of £10,000 settled on George Vernon’s eldest daughter (also Godfrey Meynell’s wife). £400 p.a. settled on Katherine, wife of George Vernon from his Derbyshire and Staffordshire estates and an additional £3500 for any daughters of the marriage. The Cheshire estates are to be free from these charges. George Vernon agrees not to make any further settlement for his daughters by his other wives and will charge his Derbyshire and Staffordshire estates with a term of 100 years under the terms of his latest marriage settlement.

14 Apr.

Bundle, Long Ridding, Hanbury

Appointment and release in fee by John Braband, gentleman, late of Kinderton co. Ches now of Middlewich, only son, heir at law and devisee of Edward Braband, gentleman of Kinderton to Rt. Hon George Venables, Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton and his passive trustees, John Lowe gentleman of Middle Temple, London and Samuel Lowe, gentleman of Whitchurch co Salop. of Long Ridding (4a 1r 23p) in Hanbury.

27-28 Mar.

Abstract of the title of John Braband esquire to Long Ridding, Hanbury.

End of bundle

End of Box 29
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1823

1785

1680/1

1811

1812

1812

1755

1766

1776

1816

1743

1684/5

1685

1806

c.1806


	D410M/Box 30

1784-1794

D410M/Box30/1784

D410M/Box30/1785

D410M/Box30/1786

D410M/Box30/1787

D410M/Box30/1788

D410M/Box30/1789

D410M/Box30/1790


	Box 30

Bundle containing

Memorandum concerning Mr Cholmondeley in whom a legal estate was vested which was to be conveyed as Lord Vernon directed and also concerning the heirs at law of Thomas Vernon, survivor of the Trustees under the deed of 18 Jun 1718

Bond of Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury to accompany a mortgage to William Wollaston, clerk of Charterhouse Yard, Middlesex of the manors of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay; Houndhill Hall and property in Houndhill Draycott in the Clay, Marchington, Newlands, Stubby Lane, Morton Coton Faw?e and Hanbury, Staffs to secure £725.   17 Feb

Bond of Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury, in respect of £5000 lent to Will by William Wollaston, clerk of Charterhouse Yard Middlesex. 16 Feb

Bond of Henry Vernon as at 1785 to secure £899 from William Wollaston. 18 Feb

Bond of Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury and Richard Vernon, gentleman of Middlewich, co. Ches to Dorothy Wynne widow of St Margaret’s parish, Westminster in £513.15s. 24 Feb.

Letter from Vernon, Park Place to Thomas Whalley Partington, Brook Street with a list of deeds sent up by Mr Newton. 19 Feb.

Bond of Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury to William Wollaston as at 1786 in o£1000. 14 Apr
	[18th cent]
1713/4
1710/11
1717/18

1707/8
1781
1708


	D410M/Box30/1791

D410M/Box30/1792

D410M/Box30/1793

D410M/Box30/1794

D410M/Box30/1795

D410M/Box30/1796

D410M/Box30/

1796 contd.

D410M/Box30/

1797-1798


	Receipts (sewn together) for payments on behalf of George Venables Vernon mainly for interest payments, apparently exhibited in a Chancery case.

Bond of Henry Vernon and Richard Vernon to John Mead, goldsmith of London for £1000. 28 June

Receipts (sewn together) for repayments of loans and interest, c.1727-1735 and a copy court order, Charlton Wollaston vs. George Venables Vernon, on a question of debt, 1727

Bond of Henry Vernon and Richard Vernon to Neville Ridley, gentleman of St Ann’s parish, Soho, London and Benjamin Pyne, goldsmith of London for £500. 27 Sep

Probate copy of the will of Martha Vernon, spinster of the parish of St Mary le Bone, Middlesex (31 Mar 1760) with codicils (20 Jan 1762 and 6 Apr 1762). Proved 7 Dec (Another copy, see 1815)

Assignment of a term of 1000 years in trust to attend the inheritance by Martha, Dowager Lady Vernon and widow of George, Lord Vernon; Rt. Hon George Venables Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton and eldest son and heir at law of the late Lord Vernon. Revd. Edward Venables Vernon Bishop of Carlisle and the Hon. Martha Vernon and Ann Vernon, spinster of the parish of St George, Hanover Square, London (being the three younger children of Lord Vernon); Phillis Frampton, widow of Arlington Street, Piccadilly and her eldest son by her first marriage, Charlton Byam Wollaston, esquire of Lincoln’s Inn, London and Godschall Johnson esquire of Albemarle Street, Piccadilly to the Hon. Richard Ryder, barrister at law of Lincoln’s Inn.

Recites George Lord Vernon’s settlement on his children, 25-26 Oct 1761

Property in West Broughton:- messuage and croft (2r 31p); Nearer Cliffe (4a. 3r 1p); the Battingsley (11a 12p); messuage, two Breaches, the Horse Meadow the big green piece (35a 35p).

In Doveridge and Sudbury:- Steers Owles, the Barrels, Cheach Holme (29a 3r 2p)

moiety of a messuage in West Broughton and the milling bank, corn close, corn pasture, big meadow, long turn ditch, little turn ditch, big turn ditch, Hough, Hough Pingle, Nether Little Eyes and Rushy Eyes? Bushy Eyes, New Moor Season, Long Lees, far green, near green, the Cliffe and the paradise (108a 5p)

Moiety of the Stonery, the Stonery by Flatts and the Intacks, all near Stonery Gate (22a 3r 15p) 

15 May

Lease and release by George Venables Vernon, Baron of Kinderton to Godschall Johnson, esquire of Albermarle Street, Piccadilly with the assent of Phillis Frampton and Charlton Byam Ubuaston as at 1796. Recites the will of Samuel Byam of Antigua in which he left his estates in Antigua to his sister Phillis Frampton. Byam died in debt so the estates were to be sold and the residue used to purchase land in England.

Property at 1796 and Bells Farm: messuage (1r 15p); The Croft (2r 13p); the Intack by the Common (1r 33p); Nearer Croft (2a 17p); Middle Croft (3a 2r 22p); Big Croft (4a 1r 25p); ? Duces Ground (7a 2r 12p and 3a 3r 6p); the large common piece (10a 2r 16p); Flatt common piece (2a 1r 15p); piece below halfway house (1a 2r 11p) and close (1a 29p).

Seyhill Farm: site of ancient messuage (2a 16p); croft before barn (10a 20p); common piece adjacent (3a 2r 2p); next common piece (3a 1r 1p); a close (1a 3p); another close (1a 1r 1p); Upper Broad Meadow (8a 14p); Middle Broad Meadow (6a 1r 20p); Lowest Broad Meadow (7a 2r 34p) and other closes (2a 3r 19p); the halfway house and croft (4a); a newly built house; messuage and Great Gorsey Close(4a 2p); Well croft (2a 1r 18p): Little Gorsey Close (1a 2r 26p); the Meadow (1a 20p); the New Piece (4a 3r 6p); Lowest Common Close (8a 2r); the Eyes Piece and the Goose Ford (7a); the Great Cliffe, the Paradise and pingles (8a 2r 6p) and Dove Piece (7a 34p)

14 – 15 May
	1729-1736

1707

1727-1735

1707

1762

1792

1792

1792


	D410M/Box30/1799

D410M/Box30/1800

D410M/Box30/

1801-1803

D410M/Box30/1804


	Exemplification of common recovery, Edward Boodle, gentleman, demandant; Thomas Vernon, tenant and Charlton Byam Wollaston, vouchee Manor of West Broughton etc.  21 May

Appointment by Henry, Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton and Hon. George Charles Vernon, his eldest son and heir apparent of Francis Calvert esquire of Houndhill, Sudbury as receiver of their estates in Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire to collect rents from property in Marston, Doveridge, Somersall and Boyleston and from Nuthall manor co. Notts to pay interest on a mortgage of £15,721 10s 11d to James Frampton and Charlton Byam Wollaston.

2 Dec.

Agreements for the deposit of title deeds by Henry Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton and Hon. George Charles Vernon, esquire of Nuthall Temple, his eldest son and heir apparent relating to estates in Derbyshire, Staffordshire and Cheshire which have been mortgaged (See 1810-1814)

22 Jan

Covenants to produce the title deeds between Robert Holden, esquire of Darley Abbey and Hon. George Charles Vernon esquire of Nuthall Temple concerning the sale of the manor and advowson of Nuthall and Nuthall Temple to Robert Holden for £41,688.  14 Sep 

(see also 1827)
	1792

1817

1818

1820


	D410M/Box30/1805

D410M/Box30/1806

D410M/Box301807

D410M/Box30/

1808-1809


	Final concord between Frederick Anson, clerk and Francis Calvert, esquire, plaintiffs and Henry Lord Vernon and his wife Alice, deforciants of the manors of Houndhill and Draycott in the Clay and property in Marchington, Marchington Woodland, Stubby Lane, ?New Lane Moreton, Cotton, Hansbury, Aston, Sudbury and ?Fawl

15 days of St Matius day (10 Nov)

Attested copy of the marriage settlement of Louisa Barbara Mansel and George Venables Vernon, junior, concerning property in Derbyshire and Staffordshire and the manor of Kinderton, co. Ches.

2 Jul

Attested copy of the deed of appointment of George Lord Vernon in settlement for the marriage of his daughter Mary Vernon and George Adams, esquire of Shugborough, co.Staffs. The property concerned includes the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley; also land in Hill and Potter Somersall; Marston Montgomery; Rodsley; Hollington; Eaton Sedsall; West Broughton; Doveridge; a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery; Houndshill Hill; four watercorn mills, Draycott in the Clay; Marchington; Stubby Lane; Newlands; Morton; Cotton; Handbury; Fawd; Aston and Sudbury and the manors of Kinderton, Sprowston and Bradwell, co. Ches and the park of Kinderton.

4 Jan

Two copies of the marriage settlement of Elizabeth Rebecca Ann Sedley, spinster of Nuthall Temple (only daughter and devisee of Sir Charles Sedley, baronet of Nuthall Temple) and Henry Venables Vernon, eldest son of George Lord Vernon. William Greaves, esquire of Derby and Thomas Mills, esquire of Barlaston, co.Staffs are trustees for property in Nether Hempshall and Bulwell, co. Notts; Bath and Great Dalby and Kirkby Bellars co. Leics.

Lord Vernon settles £5000 on the bride

29 Jan 1779


	1817

1757

1763

[18th c.]


	D410M/Box30/

1810-1814 

D410M/Box30/1810

D410M/Box30/1811

D410M/Box30/1812

D410M/Box30/

1813-1814

D410M/Box30/1815

D410M/Box30/1816


	Bundle (See also 1801-1803)

Counterpart mortgage in fee of property in Sudbury by Revd. Frederick Anson, clerk of Sudbury and Francis Calvert, esquire of Houndshill, co. Staffs and Henry Lord Vernon and George Charles Vernon of Nuthall Temple, his eldest son to Mary Finch, spinster of York Street, Middlesex to secure £7000.

20 Jan

Counterpart mortgage in fee of property in Sudbury by the parties at 1810 to Charlotte Finch, spinster of York Street, Middlesex to secure £7000.

20 Jan

Counterpart mortgage in fee of property in Sudbury by the parties at 1810 to William Finch, esquire of York Street, Middlesex and George Cooke, esquire of Lincoln’s Inn, Middlesex, to secure £7469 8s

20 Jan

Appointments of William Martin Forster, gentleman of Lincoln’s Inn, Middlesex as receiver of rents from the properties mortgaged in 1810-1812

20 Jan

Probate copy of the will of Martha Vernon, 7 Dec (another copy, see 1795)

Common recovery between Edward Onely, esquire and George Bowyer, gentleman; and Richard Cumberland, gentleman and Thomas Lee, gentleman. Vouchees are George Vernon, esquire and George Hurnston. The property is the manors of Sudbury, Aston and Rodsley and land in Sudbury, Aston, Mackley, Hill Somersall, Potter Somersall, Marston Montgomery, Woodhouse, Rodsley, Hollington, Eaton Sedsall and Dovebridge; the advowson of Sudbury and a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery.

“S VII 5”  8 Feb
	1818

1818

1818

1818

1762

1659


	D410M/Box30/1817

D410M/Box30/1818

D410M/Box31B/

1819

D410M/Box31B/

1820

D410M/Box31B/

1820A

D410M/Box31B/

1821

D410M/Box31B/

1822

D410M/Box31B/

1823

D410M/Box31B/

1824


	Order of the Court of Chancery in the case of Henry Vernon, plaintiff and Sir Edward Vernon, knight; Dame Margaret, his wife; George Harpur, esquire and his wife Anne; Mary, Katherine, Edward, John, Margaret, Grace and Elizabeth Vernon; Sir Edward Littleton and Henry Townsend, defendants and various cross causes. Sir Edward is to pay Henry Vernon £1600 who will convey the keepership of Agarsley Park and Marchington Walk as Sir Edward appoints. Sir Edward is also to pay the further sums of £32 and £244 to Henry Vernon and is to have free warren for life in Sudbury Common and Wood and Locketts Close. Henry Vernon is to release an annuity of £200.

“S VII 1”.  12 Feb.

Order of the Court of Chancery to Nicholas Wilmott, esquire, Philip Geery, John Reeve and Richard Palfreyman to stop further proceedings at common law until the case of Henry Vernon, esquire, plaintiff vs. Nicholas Willmott etc has been decided.  12 Jun

End of Box 30

Box 31 (B)

Final concord between Frederick Anson, clerk and Francis Calvert, esquire, plaintiffs and Henry Lord Vernon, and his wife Alice Lucy, deforciants, concerning the manors of Sudbury, Aston Rodsley Somersall Herbert, West Broughton, Sudbury Park etc; a moiety of the manor of Marston Montgomery and the advowson of Sudbury.

15 days of St Martin’s day (10 Nov)

Will of Simon Jacson, clerk of Tarporley, 27 Apr 1799 with codicil, 1 Sep; 1806 and letters of administration annexed, 8 Nov.

Agreement for custody of deeds of mortgaged properties between Rt. Hon George Charles Venables Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton; the Hon George John Venables Vernon of Sudbury Hall, esquire and Robert Lawson, esquire of Brightholmstone, Sussex

17 Mar

Settlement for the marriage of Revd. Brooke Boothby, Rector of Kirkby, Notts and the Hon. Louisa Henrietta Vernon, one of the two daughters of Henry Venables, Lord Vernon. £7,500 is assigned in trust by Lord Vernon to Granville Venables Vernon, esquire of Great Russell Street, Bloomsbury, London and Revd. Frederick Anson, clerk of Sudbury who will pay the interest and an annuity of £300 to Revd. Boothby who is to take out a life insurance policy for £1000.

2 Nov.

Copy of marriage settlement at 1821 above

Receipt for £959 19s as one seventh of the trust fund received by H B Boothby on the death of his mother, Louisa Henrietta Boothby.

4 Jul

Settlement for the marriage of Rt. Hon and Revd. Edward Venables Vernon of Sudbury and Lady Ann Leveson Gower, spinster, daughter of Rt. Hon Granville Leveson, Earl Gower, President of the Privy Council. The bride’s portion is £10,000 and Revd. Vernon has £3,333 6s 8d himself and £1666 13s 4d from the will of George Lord Vernon. The trustees are Rt. Hon George Lord Viscount Trentham; Hon. Henry Sedley of Nuthall, Co. Notts (previously known as the Hon. Henry Vernon) and Earl Gower.

4 Feb
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	D410M/Box31B/

1825

D410M/Box31B/

1826

D410M/Box31B/

1827

D410M/Box31B/

1828-1834

D410M/Box31B/

1828

D410M/Box31B/

1829-1830

D410M/Box31B/

1831

D410M/Box31B/

1832

D410M/Box31B/

1833-1834

D410M/Box31B/

1835

D410M/Box31B/

1836

D410M/Box32/

(B and D)

D410M/Box32/

(B and D)

1837

D410M/Box32/

(B and D)

1838

D410M/Box32/

(B and D)

1839

D410M/Box32/

(B & D)

1840

D410M/Box32/

(B & D)

1841

D410M/Box32/

(B & D)

1842

D410M/Box32/

(B & D)

1843

D410M/Box32/

(B & D)

1844

D410M/Box32

(B & D)

1845

D410M/Box32

(B & D)

1846

D410M/Box32

(B & D)

1847

D410M/Box32D/

1848-1856

D410M/Box32D/

1848


	Release by Earl Gower and Henry Sedley, trustees as above at 1824 of George Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton in the sum of £5000.

25 Mar

Agreement for deposit of title deeds of properties of Henry Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton and George Charles Vernon esquire of Nuthall Temple, his eldest son with Moses Hoper and Henry Arthur Broughton, solicitors of Great Marlborough Street, Westminster and various mortgagees.

22 Jan

Agreement for production of title deeds between the Hon. George Charles Vernon (formerly George Charles Sedley), esquire of Churston Court, Devon and of Nuthall Temple and Robert Holden, esquire of Darley Abbey (See also 1804)

14 Sep

Bundle Somersall Herbert

Deed to lead to the uses of a fine to discharge an estate agreed to be exchanged from a jointure annuity of £50 and covenant not to charge the estate with younger children’s; portions. John Braband, esquire of Middlewich, co. Ches and his wife Fanny conveys land in Somersall Herbert to George Anson, esquire, colonel of the 16th Regiment of Light Dragoons and George Venables Vernon, esquire student of Christ Church College, Oxford as trustees of the marriage settlement of George Venables, now Lord Vernon and Louisa Barbara Mansel, in exchange for land in the same parish. The property is The Boggs (3a 9p); Banky Piece and Far Piece (4a 2r 36p and 2a 2r 17p); Goose Acre (1a 2r 32p): Bank Top (2a 2r 32p); Middle Bank Top (3r 4p); Upper Bank Top (3a 37p); Duckden flat (3a 1r 6p); Hill Piece (5a 1r 22p) and the north part of New Close (5a 3r 32p) which John Braband exchanges for Townsend Piece (2a 34p); Mow Piece (3a 11p); a messuage and land (bounds given, 7a 2p); Clover piece (1a 27p); Len Lowton (3a 3r 13p); Corner of Great Leys (2r 26p); the Meadow (3a 2r 29p) and Rice? Grass Close (2a)

(See also 1830.) 28 Nov.

Covenants of John Braband and George Venables Lord Vernon to produce title deeds for 1828. 

28 Nov

Assignment of a term of 1000 years to attend the uses of the settlement for the property released by John Braband at 1828. John Lowe, gentleman of Middle Temple, London: Samuel Lowe, gentleman of Whitchurch, co.Salop; John Braband; George Anson and George Venables Vernon as at 1828 and the Rt Hon George Venables Lord Vernon to Moses Hoper, gentleman of Great Marlborough Street, Westminster.

4 Dec

Assignment of a term of 500 years to attend the uses of the settlement for property released by John Braband which had previously been settled on the late Daniel Vawdrey. Mary Vawdrey widow of Daniel Vawdrey of Middlewich, co.Ches; Daniel Vawdrey son and heir of the late Daniel Vawdrey of Ravenscroft Hall, Middlewich; Revd Gilbert Vawdrey, clerk of Middlewich, Peter Vawdrey glass manufacturer of Warrington (all executors of Daniel Vawdrey's will); John Braband, George Anson, George Venables Vernon and George Venables Lord Vernon as at 1828 to Henry Arthur Broughton, gentleman of Great Marlborough St, Westminster

4 Dec

Two copies of the final concord between George Anson and George Venables Vernon, plaintiffs and John and Fanny Braband, deforciants for property in Somersall Herbert.

8 days of St Hilary’s (13 Jan).

Copy of will of George Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton, co.Ches. 15 Feb 1779, proved 20 Oct

Bargain and sale to make a tenant to the precipe to suffer recoveries for estates in Derbyshire and Staffordshire by Rt. Hon. Henry  Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton and the Hon George Charles Vernon, his eldest son and heir apparent to Henry Arthur Broughton of Great Marlborough Street, Westminster. 23 Apr

End of Box 31

Box 32 (B and D)

1837-1841 Bundle

Extract from the Prerogative Court of Canterbury, probate granted to Richard Bagot, esquire one of the sons of Sir Walter Wagstaffe Bagot, 

27 Feb 1768

Extract from the Prerogative Court of Canterbury, probate for the will of John Hinchcliffe, Bishop of Peterborough, granted to his son, Henry John Hinchcliffe, esquire. 22 Jan 1794

Burial certificate of Jervoice Clarke Jervoice at West Bromwich, 1808

Burial certificate of Hon Louisa Barbara Venables Vernon at Sudbury 1786

Certificate of Vernon burials, Newick, Sussex 1763-1773

Agreement between Rt Hon George Charles Venables Vernon, Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton; Rt Hon Frances Maria Warren, Lady Vernon and the Hon George John Venables Vernon, their only son, on the one part and William Clayton coal proprietor of Adlington, co.Ches on the other part, to end arbitration of the case between them concerning coal mines leased to Clayton. The parties agree to share costs.

25 Jan

Mortgage bond of George Charles Venables, Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton to Andrew Mortimer Drummond and Andrew Robert Drummond esquires of Charing Cross, Middlesex in £14,000

10 Nov.

Draft power of attorney by Rt Hon George Charles Venables Lord Vernon and Rt Hon Frances Maria Warren Lady Vernon to Francis George Randolph Vernon Harcourt, esquire of Grosvenor Square, Middlesex, captain in the Grenadier Guards

Certificate of the burial of Thomas, Earl of Effingham at Great Bookham, Surrey, 1763

Death certificate of Benjamin Cooper at Croydon, Endorsed “a pensioner of Lord Vernon’s”.

Agreement between Rt Hon Henry Venables Lord Vernon; his eldest son George Venables Vernon and Alice Lucy Lady Vernon to pay £7,000 to Revd. Frederick Anson, clerk of Sudbury and Francis Calvert, esquire of Houndhill, p. Hanbury in trust according to the wishes of Lady Vernon.

2 Nov

Bundle, marked “Box D”

Transfer of a mortgage for £2332 by Thomas Western, esquire of London and? Barill Hearne, esquire of London, a clerk of the Court of Chancery and trustee for Richard Slater, to Sir Nathan Wright, knight and sergeant at law of St Bridget’s parish, Fleet Street, London. The property is the manor and advowson of Nuthall with the capital messuage, belonging to Richard Slater, esquire of Nuthall. The sum of £2000 is paid to Thomas Western and £200 to Richard Slater.

3 Jan
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1849

D410M/Box32D/

1850

D410M/Box32D/

1851

D410M/Box32D/

1852/1-2

D410M/Box32D/

1853


	Bond of Richard Slater as above at 1848.

3 Jan

Extract from the will of James Ayscough, gentleman of the parish of St Laurence “Jury”, London, 16 Dec 1618 in which he leaves the manor of Nuthall to be sold for the benefit of his wife if she survives him. Will proved 22 Nov 1625

Grant by George Anson, esquire of Shughborough to Hon Henry Vernon of Sudbury for life and for the lives of George Anson’s sons, Thomas and George, of an annuity of £2 5s from Lincroft in the common field in St Chad’s parish, Lichfield (1a 1r 35p) consideration of £25.

18 Sep

Settlement for the marriage of Elizabeth Rebecca Ann Sedley, spinster, of Nuthall Temple and Hon. Henry Venables Vernon, eldest son of George Lord Vernon. William Greaves, esquire of Derby and Thomas Mills, esquire of Barlaston, co.Staffs. Elizabeth Sedley’s property comprising the manor and advowson of Nuthall and Nuthall Temple, a house in Bath and all of her other property left to her by her father and £5000 is settled in trust together with £5000 from George Lord Vernon (in the form of a lease and release)

28-29 Jan

Release by Hon Henry Venables Sedley of Nuthall Temple and his wife Elizabeth Rebecca Ann to Sir Abraham Isaac Elton, baronet of Bristol of the messuage, including furniture, stable etc in Bath for £1400.

20 Jul
	1698/9
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	D410M/Box32D/

1854

D410M/Box32D/

1855

D410M/Box32D/

1856

D410M/Box32D/

1857

D410M/Box32D/

1858-1860

D410M/Box32D/

1861

D410M/Box32D/

1862

D410M/Box32D/

1863-1864

D410M/Box33E/

1865-1866

D410M/Box33E/

1867-1868

D410M/Box33E/

1869


	Settlement for the marriage of George Venables, Lord Vernon, Baron Kinderton and Jane Georgiana Fauquier, spinster of the parish of St George, Hanover Square, Middlesex. The trustees are Jervoise Clarke Jarvoise, esquire of the parish of St George Hanover Square and Charlton Byam Wollaston, esquire of Lincoln’s Inn, London for a jointure of £800 for Jane, reduced to £600 on Lord Vernon’s death if Martha, Lady Dowager Vernon is still alive. The manors of Kinderton, Sprowston and Bradwell, co.Ches are conveyed in trust by Lord Vernon to Hon. Henry Sedley of Nuthall Temple and Revd. Edward Vernon, Canon of Christ Church, Oxford to provide any children’s’ portions and also to provide an annuity of £200 for Jane.

23 May

Agreement between Margaret Willoughby, widow of Aspley (devisee of the late Edward Willoughby of Aspley) and their daughter Frances Willoughby to release to Robert Willoughby, esquire of Wick, p.Busselton, Somerset (Margaret’s eldest son), property in Aspley and Radford and Bilborough, co.Notts (to be sold to Henry Lord Middleton) and property in Mapperley, Kirk Hallam and Ockbrook. Robert Willoughby has paid £2000 and will pay a further £2000, the property having been mortgaged to provide £4000 for Margaret Willoughby and her younger children.

22 Apr

Declaration of trust in a bond to provide an annuity for Margaret Willoughby and her younger children as above at 1855A. She releases her interest in property in Aspley, Mapperley, Kirk Hallam and Ockbrook and a rentcharge on property in Cossall, Trowell and Attenborough, co.Notts and Kingsbury, co Warwicks and receives £5000 from Robert Willoughby as above at 1855A and an annuity of £445. She also receives an annuity of  £295 from Hon. Henry Sedley, esquire of Nuthall Temple and Edward Miller Mundy, esquire of Shipley in a bond for £7500 to be paid to Robert Willoughby on her death. An annuity of £15 is payable to Cassandra Willoughby “while in retirement in a religious establishment” or £50 if not in such retirement.  22 Apr.

Settlement by Rt Hon Henry Lord Vernon of estates in Derbyshire and Staffordshire in trust to Francis Cunyngham, esquire of Cloucairs, Ayrshire and Henry Cranstown, esquire of Torrington St, Russell Square, London to pay £1000 p.a. to his wife, Alice Lucy, Lady Vernon for life. Lord Vernon also appoints William Henry Cavendish Scott, Duke of Portland and Edward Sneyd, esquire of Byrkley Lodge, co.Staffs to raise £10,000 on Lord Vernon’s death to provide £500 for Catherine Sedley; £500 for Louisa Harriet Sedley and £9,000 in trust for Henry Sedley Venables Vernon and John Sedley Venables Vernon.

26 Jun

Agreements for deposit of title deeds for estates in Derbyshire, Staffordshire and Cheshire of Rt Hon Lord Vernon and Hon George Charles Vernon in respect of various mortgages and settlements.

22 Jan

Agreement concerning title deeds concerning a mortgage of estates in Cheshire, Derbyshire and Staffordshire by Rt.Hon George Charles Venables Lord Vernon, Baron Kinderton to John Hastings Moir, esquire of ?Brighstone, Sussex, lieutenant colonel in the army, Robert Morley Arthington, esquire of Lancaster and Revd Hugh James Rose, vicar of Horsham, Sussex.

31 Jul

Assignment of the outstanding personal estate of the late Viscount Bulkeley by George Charles Venables, Lord Vernon and his wife Frances Maria Warren to Sir Richard Bulkeley Williams Bulkeley, baronet of Baron Hill, Anglesea. Lord Vernon’s costs as administrator are to be paid

11 Jan

Deed of charge and bond of George John Venables Vernon on 25 Wilton Crescent, parish of St George, Hanover Square, London to pay £1000 to Francis George Randolph Vernon Harcourt, esquire of Grosvenor Square, London, lieutenant colonel in the Grenadier Guards. Lord Vernon is to stand as collateral security, Endorsements: “Paid off 11 Feb 1837”

3 Dec.

End of Box 32

Box 33 (e)

Conveyance by James Frampton, esquire of Moreton, Dorset and Charlton Byam Wollaston, esquire of Lincoln’s Inn, London (devisees in the will of Rt Hon George Venables Lord Vernon) to the Rt Hon Henry Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton, of the manor of West Broughton and other property in West Broughton and Boylestone £15,721  10s  11d (In the form of a lease and release)

28 – 29 Nov.

Mortgage by Henry Lord Vernon to James Frampton and Charlton Byam Wollaston as above at 1865-1866 of that property to secure £15,721. 10s 11d in the form of a lease and release.

1 – 2 Dec

Endorsement: Transfer of mortgage to the Hon George Charles Vernon, eldest son and heir apparent of Henry Lord Vernon, of Chauton Court, Devon, 9 Feb 1822.

Assignment of mortgages (including 1867-1868) by Edward Archbishop of York (formerly Hon. Edward Venables Vernon); Ann Tomlinson, widow of Newhall and executrix of Thomas Tomlinson, skinner of Sudbury; Francis Calvert esquire of Houndhill, administrator of the will of John Sharratt of Holtwood, p.Doveridge, farmer; Augusta Kirkman, widow of Lambs Conduit Street, Middlesex, administrator of the will of Philip Bulkley, druggist of Fleet Street, London: Francis Calvert as administrator of the will of Simon Jackson clerk of Bebington, co.Ches; George Chawmer and his wife Catherine of Vernon’s Oak, Sudbury (Catherine being executrix of Henry Chawmer of Vernon’s Oak); James Frampton and Charlton Byam Wollaston as above at 1865-1866 and Henry Lord Vernon to Moses Hoper, gentleman of Great Marlborough Street, London and Richard Debary, gentleman of Lincoln’s Inn Fields, London.

Endorsement of 9 Feb 1822 as above at 1868.

2 Dec
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1870-1871

D410M/Box33E/

1872

1873-1874

D410M/Box34/

1875-1877


	Settlement in the form of a lease and release for the marriage of George Venables Vernon, esquire of Sudbury and Mary Howard, spinster, one of the daughters of Thomas, late Lord Howard of Effingham. Mary Howard is to receive a jointure from a moiety of her property in Kent, Middlesex and the City of London and the county of Meath, Ireland. £2,000 from the Derbyshire, Staffordshire and Cheshire estates is given by George Venables Vernon in trust to Sir Conyers Darcy and John Aislable, esquire of Studley, co.Yorks in trust for Francis, Earl of Effingham; Rt Hon John, Lord Monson and James Pelham, esquire of Crowhurst, Sussex (Mary Howard’s guardians) to give Mary Howard an annuity of £400.

19 – 20 June

Deed to lead to the uses of two recoveries for estates in Derbyshire and Staffordshire by George Venables Vernon, Senior, esquire of Sudbury and his eldest son, George Venables Vernon, junior to Henry Barns esquire of Bartlets Buildings, p. St Andrew, Holborn so that Hugh Hammersley, esquire of Lincoln’s Inn, London can effect a recovery.

13 May

Common recoveries, Derbyshire and Staffordshire. Easter 30 George II

End of Box 33

Box 34

Bundle


	1733

1757

1757
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1875


	Inquistion for the Court of Wards and liveries at Nottingham concerning the estate of the late James Ayscough in Notts, including the manor and advowson of Nuthall with provision for division into three parts:

1) north end of manor house (list of rooms); messuage, Milne close, Cinder Closeing and Moore closeing; messuage and croft adjacent; gyll yard; the Clay closes the Cunygree; the Moore close and Busky close; two cottages; Cynder close; one land in the Nether field enclosed – Kilne Croft, lesser grass orchard and little lane at its west end; great bryrie hills; Stowbrooke close; Broadoak sart; Moore close and Knowle park; assart woodland – great sart and horse sart; 22a of wood called the Great Park (bounds given).

2) middle part of the manor house; messuage in Nuthall, Brooke furlong; Clay Close; Conygree Closeing; Moore close; the Rowicks; one close in overfield; a messuage; messuge and croft adjoining; Clay Close, Moore closeing, Sheep Cribbe Close; two cottages; water mill, New Apple Orchard; Hall Hill adjacent to Mill dam; Stubble Orchard; Calf Croft, Park Field, Key Close and Sart Lane and the middle part of Great Park (bounds given)

3) South end of manor house; Great Cow Close; Little Cow Close, Lawn Springor, cynderhag; bigger grass orchard; hopyard, hall dale, land towards Nottingham with Smith’s shop and butt land; west end of great park messuage and croft with meadow; dry close; moore close, messuage and croft; over closing over meadow; Nether meadow; two Clay closes; conygree closing; messuage; five cottages; Milne closes; moore close and 7a in Nuthall fields.

12 Aug
	1628




	D410M/Box34/

1876

D410M/Box34/

1877

D410M/Box34/

1878

D410M/Box34/

1879

D410M/Box34/

1880

D410M/Box34/

1881


	Bargain and sale by Francis and Anthony Slater, executors of the will of James Ayscough to George Conyers, gentleman of London and Francis Lodge, merchant of London of the property at 1875 by order of the Court of Common Pleas to try the title.

27 Apr.

Bargain and sale by George Conyers and Francis Lodge as at 1876 to Anthony Slater, esquire of London of the property at 1875.

9 Dec

Articles of agreement between Revd Roger Jacson of Great Bebbington, co.Ches and Rt Hon George Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton for sale of the manor of Somersall Herbert and property in Marston Montgomery (687a) for £35,000.

22 May

Bargain and sale by Henry Savile, esquire of Bowling co.Yorks to William Dorrington and Basil Herne, gentlemen of London of the manor and advowson of Nuthall. Consideration of £1700.

20 Jan

Memorandum of declaration of trust that William Dorrington and Basil Hearne (see 1879) hold the manor of Nuthall in trust for Richard Slater, esquire of Nuthall.

20 Jul

Quitclaim by Richard of Creswall to Thomas le Cu de fotesbroc of 4a of King’s land and a messuage and building in fotesbroc (?Forsbook, co.Staffs) held previously from Ralph Bassett (Further details of property given). Rent of 2 silver shillings [Reign of Edward II]
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1634
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1663

1663
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	D410M/Box34/

1882

D410M/Box34/

1883

D410M/Box34/

1884

D410M/Box34/

1885-8

D410M/Box34/

1889


	Agreement between George Vernon, esquire of Sudbury and Henry Vernon his younger brother, co executors of the late Henry Vernon, esquire, whereby George Vernon agrees to discharge the legacies and debts within a year and will enjoy the late Henry Vernon’s personal estate.

10 Jan

Lease for lives by George Vernon, esquire of Sudbury to Christopher Rowe, husbandman of Stubby Lane, p.Hanbury of a messuage and Tanners Croft; the great meadow; the oat croft and little meadow adjoining the hiron field and Parker’s field for the lives of Christopher Rowe, his wife Dorothy and son John. Rent of £40s p.a. and 1 day’s ploughing or 3s p.a. Endorsement: Quitclaim by Christopher Rowe to George Vernon for £81, 20 Apr 1667

1 March

Will of Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury, 25 Sep 1658, codicil 8 Mar 1658/9 and probate 8 June

Bargain and sale by Henry Savile, esquire of Bowling, Yorks and his wife Anne to William Dorrington and Basil Hearne, gentlemen of London, of the manor and advowson of Nuthall. Consideration of £1700. Agreement to levy a fine

1 June with receipt for purchase money of even date and two final concords, Holy Trinity term, 1664

Mortgage by Richard Slater, esquire of Nuthall and Basil Hearne, gentleman of London to Richard Wynn, esquire of London of the manor and advowson of Nuthall to secure £1800 with a schedule of deeds

22 Sep
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	D410M/Box34/

1890-1892

D410M/Box34/

1893-1894

D410M/Box34/

1895-1896

D410M/Box34/

1897-1898

D410M/Box34/

1899-1900

D410M/Box34/

1901-1902

D410M/Box34/

1903

D410M/Box34/

1904


	Mortgage by Richard Slater, esquire of Nuthall and Basil Hearne, gentleman of London and Richard Wynn, esquire of Inner Temple, London, executors of Richard Wynn as at 1889 to Thomas Western, esquire of London of the manor and advowson of Nuthall. £1800 is paid to Richard Wynn and £200 to Richard Slater with a schedule of deeds

7 Oct

With the bonds of Richard Slater and Basil Hearne of even date.

Lease and release by Richard Slater and Basil Hearne to John Bludworth, merchant of London of the property at 1890 as trustee for Thomas Western (see 1890-1892)

6 – 7 Oct

Assignment of mortgage (lease and release) by Richard Slater at 1890 and Basil Hearne, Clerk of the Court of Chancery and son and heir of the late Basil Hearne; Thomas Western and John Bludworth, to Sir Nathan Wright, knight and serjeant at law of St Bridget’s parish, Fleet Street, London; George Ashby, esquire of Quenby, co.Leics and Shuckborough Ashby, gentleman of Rotherby, co.Leics.

2 – 3 Jan

Lease and release by Richard Slater to Patritius Chaworth, esquire of Annesley, co.Notts and James Farwell, esquire of Nottingham of the manor of Nuthall etc in trust to pay a debt of £2200 to Sir Nathan Wright after Slater’s death.

4 – 5 Jan

Discharge of the late Richard Slater’s mortgage to Sir Nathan Wright by Patritius Chaworth as at 1897-1898; his wife Elizabeth, granddaughter and coheir of Richard Slater and William Firth, gentleman of Nottingham and his wife Mary, other granddaughter and coheir of Richard Slater. The mortgage is transferred to Gavin Corbin, gentleman of Yelverton, Norfolk with a schedule of deeds

23 Jun

With bond of Patritius Chaworth and William Firth of even date.

Lease and release by parties as at 1899-1900; Sir Nathan Wright, George Ashby and Shuckborough Ashby as at 1895-1896 and James Farwell as at 1897-1898 to Gavin Corbin as at 1899-1900 and his trustees, Thomas Bagshaw, gentleman of Bakewell and Thomas Corbin, citizen and merchant of London of the manor of Nuthall etc.

22-23 Jun

Assignment of mortgage of Nuthall Manor etc by Sir Charles Sedley to Heynicke Althorpe, esquire of Nottingham and John Launder, gentleman of middle Temple, London in trust for Dame Mary Levinge, widow of  Dublin and John Levinge, esquire of London. £700 is paid to John Levinge and £300 to Sir Richard Levinge, baronet of Monelea, Ireland. Recites that Gavin Corbin (see 1899-1900) left his property to his daughter, the late Dame Mary Leving. Her executor Sir Richard Leving gave £700 to his son John which was due from a Nottinghamshire mortgage. The sum of £1000 owed to Felicia Raut was left, by her to the Earl of Macclesfield in trust for Mary Countess Ferrers and this sum is conveyed to her in the deed.

19 Apr

Declaration of trust in £1500 to be held by Hon Henry Sedley of Nuthall Temple and Edward Miller Mundy, esquire of Shipley in trust for Cassandra Willoughby at Dunkirk, France. She will be paid £15 p.a. while in the nunnery and £50 p.a. if she leaves the nunnery. On her death the money is to be paid to Robert Willoughby, esquire of Wick, Brislington, Somerset as part of an agreement with his mother, Margaret Willoughby.  22 Apr.
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1905

D410M/Box34/

1906

D410M/Box34/

1907

D410/Box 35/

1908

D410M/Box35/

1909-1910

D410M/Box35/

1911-1912

D410M/Box35/

1913

D410M/Box35/

1914-1915

D410M/Box35/

1916-1917


	Attested copy of deed of trust for £4000 conveyed by Margaret Willoughby, widow of Aspley and Robert Willoughby, esquire of Wick, Brislington, Somerset in trust to Hon Henry Sedley of Nuthall Temple; Edward Miller Mundy, esquire of Shipley; Thomas Webb Edge, esquire of Strelley and John Balguy, esquire of Duffield. 22 Apr 1793

Copy made 15 May

Attested copy of release by Robert Willoughby of Wick, Somerset and his son Robert Willoughby, jun; and Margaret Willoughby, widow of Aspley to Hickman Young, gentleman of Hatton Garden, London of property in Kingsbury, co.Warwicks and Cossall, co.Notts. Agreement for a common recovery.

8 May 1793

Copy made 25 May

Settlement for the marriage of Mary Vernon and George Adams, esquire of Shugborough, co. Staffs,. George, Lord Vernon appoints £5000 for George Adams and £5000 in trust to William Bagot, esquire of Tachbrooke, co.Warwicks and Thomas Mills, esquire of Barlaston, co.Staffs for George Vernon, then for the life of George Adams and any heir of George Adams. He is to raise the money by a mortgage of property in Derbyshire, Staffordshire and Cheshire to Thomas, Earl of Effingham and Sir Walter Wagstaff Bagot, baronet of Blythfield, co.Staffs.

4 Jan

Box 35

Transfer of mortgage by Sir Walter Wagstaff Bagot and the Earl of Effingham as at 1907, with the consent of George Lord Vernon and George Adams, to John Newton, esquire of Spetisbury, Dorset.

24 Mar

Two copies of the transfer of the mortgage at 1908 by John Newton to the Rt Hon Robert Craggs, Earl Nugent of Ireland.

26 Mar

Endorsed with transfer of the mortgage to John, Lord Bishop of Peterborough, 1 May 1787 and a further charge of £5000 by George Vernon; William Lord Bagot; Richard Howard (formerly Bagot), esquire of St George Hanover Square, London (heir of Sir Walter Wagstaff Bagot); George Anson (formerly Adams) and Thomas Mills to the Bishop of Peterborough, 26 May 1787

Two copies of the bond of Lord Vernon to Earl Nugent.

26 Mar

Settlement for the marriage of George Vernon and Jane Georgina Fauquier (See 1855)

23 May

Endorsement: grant by George Vernon of a jointure of £1000, 9 April 1787

Assignment of a mortgage of £10,000 by Henry John Hinchcliffe, formerly of Inner Temple, London and now of Jamaica (eldest son and executor of the late Bishop of Peterborough) to William Lygon, esquire of Madresfield, co.Worcs   23 May

With                  power of attorney to Henry John Hinchcliffe, 4 Nov 1800

Lease and release by George Vernon, Lord Vernon and his wife Jane Georgiana to Edward Braband, gentleman of Middlewich, co.Ches of the manor of Kinderton and all other property in Cheshire, to bar the jointure of Lady Jane Georgiana Vernon, another settlement having been made. Agreement for a common recovery

8 – 9 Apr
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1918

D410M/Box35/

1919

D410M/Box35/

1920

D410M/Box35/

1921

D410M/Box35/

1922

D410M/Box35/

1923


	Settlement for the marriage of Georgiana Vernon, daughter of Lord Vernon and Edward Harbord of Gunton Park, Norfolk, youngest son of the Rt Hon Harbord, Lord Suffield, Baron of Suffield, George Lord Vernon, conveys property to Sir George Chad, baronet of Thursford Norfolk; Robert Marsham, esquire of Stratton Strawless, Norfolk; Charlton Byam Wollaston, esquire of Lincoln’s Inn, London and George Granville Venables Vernon, esquire of Christ Church College, Oxford as trustees to raise £10,000. The interest on this sum is to be paid to Georgiana Vernon.

15 Sep

Settlement for the marriage at 1918 in which George Venables Lord Vernon provides an annuity of £400 for his daughter, Georgiana from property in Staffordshire, Derbyshire and Cheshire 

16 Sep

Settlement by Lord Vernon of two sums of £10,000 in trust to Francis Cunyngham, esquire of Gloucaird, Ayrshire and Henry Craustown, esquire of Torrington Street, Russell Square, London to better secure £1,000 p.a. for Alice Lucy, Lady Vernon if she survives Lord Vernon. After Lord Vernon’s death, sums of £500 each are to be paid to Catherine Sedley and Louisa Harriet Sedley and the remainder (£9,000) to Henry Sedley Venables Vernon and George Sedley Venables Vernon.

26 Jun

Endorsement: Revocation of the settlement – Lord Vernons’ children are to be paid the interest until his death. 2 Dec 1814.

Schedule of documents concerning a mortgage to the Archbishop of York

29 Jan

Attested copy of 1918   11 Jan

Attested copy of 1919   11 Jan

End of Box 35
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	Box 36

Bundle

Settlement for the marriage of George Sedley, lieutenant in HM Coldstream Regiment of Guards and Frances Maria Warren, spinster, daughter of Sir John Borlase Warren. £10,000 is settled in trust for Frances and her children, if any, and a further £10,000 from the bond of Viscount and Viscountess Bulkeley of Ireland on the death of the survivor of Sir John and Dame Caroline Borlase Warren. The property concerned is in Forringers, p. Buriton, Co. Hants and the trustees Francis, Earl of Moira of Ireland; Thomas Sutton, esquire of Molesey, Surrey and Thomas Anson, esquire of Shugborough, co.Staffs. If Henry Sedley of Nuthall comes into the Sudbury estate, he will forfeit his life interest in the property in this settlement and if George Sedley comes into the Sudbury estate as tenant in tail male, he will give Frances a jointure of £1000 and will charge the estate with £10,000 for daughters’ and younger sons’ portions.

20 Aug

Endorsements, 1813-1823

Three leases for possession and settlement for the marriage of George John Venables Vernon, son of the Hon. George Charles Venables Vernon who is eldest son and heir apparent of the Rt. Hon. Henry Vernon, Lord Vernon and Isabella Caroline Ellison, daughter of Cuthbert Ellison, esquire of Hebburn Hall, Durham. Cuthbert Ellison settles £11,000 in trust to Robert Ellison, lieutenant-colonel in HM 1st Regiment of Guards; George William Aylmer, esquire of Harley Street, London; Edward Stracey esquire of the Beech, co.Ches and Revd Brooke Boothby, Rector of Kirkby,  co.Notts, with £150 p.a. for Isabella. Schedule of charges on Derbyshire, Staffordshire and Cheshire estates and incomplete abstract.

22-23 Oct.
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	Lease and release (sewn together) by James Drury Chapman of Manchester and his wife Sarah to John Hunt, gentleman of Castle Hays co. Staffs of a messuage called Paradise in West Broughton with the Paradise and the Cliffs (12a); West Broughton Eyes (9a) and Broad Meadow (8a). Consideration of £910.

6 -7 Apr

Final concord for 1930

Bundle (label “Abstract No 7”)

Appointment and release of estates in Derbyshire by John Braband, esquire of Newton, Middlewich, co. Ches (who receives £5,973); his eldest son Edward Braband, gentleman of Manchester; Francis Calvert, gentleman of Houndhill, co. Staffs and William Lowe, gentleman of Inner Temple, London to Henry Lord Vernon and his trustee Moses Hoper. The property is in Church Somersall and Somersall Herbert, Doveridge and Sudbury. 21 – 22 Mar

Mortgage (lease and release) by Henry Lord Vernon and Moses Hoper, esquire of Great Marlborough Street, London of the property at 1932-1933 to John Braband to secure £6,000.

24 – 25 Mar

with a bond of even date of Lord Vernon

Assignment of terms in trust to John Braband and his trustee John Clarke, clerk of Rugeley, co.Staffs to secure £6,000 for Lord Vernon. Property in Somerall Herbert.

Assignors:

1) John Braband; Edward Braband; Philip Meacock, gentleman of Buxton and his wife Ann; Thomas Garnett, cheesefactor of Nantwich and his wife Harriet, Phoebe Braband spinster of Newton; William Vawdrey, clerk of Goostrey p.Sandback and his wife Frances and John Thomas Braband captain in Congleton Regiment of the Royal Cheshire Local Militia. 
	1761
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	(Ann, Harriet, Phoebe, Frances and John Thomas being children of John Braband).

2) Mary Vawdrey, widow of Middlewich, Daniel Vawdrey esquire of Ravenscroft Hall Middlewich, Gilbert Vawdrey, clerk of Wrenbury, co.Ches and Peter Vawdrey, gentleman of Warrington (executors of the late Daniel Vawdrey)

3) Francis Calvert (see 1932-1933)

    25 Mar

Endorsement: Transfer by Mary Manley Clarke, relict of John Clarke of Rugeley to Henry Arthur Broughton, gentleman of Great Marlborough Street, London. Recites that Lord Vernon had paid off £4000 and transfer of the mortgage from John Braband to Revd. Henry Napier of Ewelme, Oxford and Edward Stacey, esquire of Great George St, London. 24 Jun 1826

Bargain and sale to make a tenant to the precipe by Henry Lord Vernon and Hon.George Charles Vernon, his eldest son and heir apparent to Henry Arthur Broughton, gentleman of Great Marlborough Street, London of estates in Derbyshire and Staffordshire. 23 Apr with common recoveries. Easter 1817

End of Box 36

Box 37

Bundle:

Lease and release by John Batthew, butcher and farmer of Tutbury and his mortgagee Samuel Payne, gentleman, late of Tutbury, now of Somersall Herbert to Henry Venables, Lord Vernon, Baron of Kinderton of Upper Broad Meadow (8a 2r 3p) in Doveridge and Somersall Herbert with tithes. Payne is paid £761 5s and Batthew £201 5s.

21-22 Dec

Lease and release by Robert Moore, painter of Lichfield, co.Staffs and his mortgagee, John Hardy, farmer of Draycott in the Clay to Rt Hon Henry Lord Vernon, Baron Kinderton of a lately built cottage on a croft in Marchington Ward, Needwood Forest. Hardy receives £36 and Moore £2.           14 – 17 Jan

Lease and release by John Hunt, gentleman of Fauld Hall, co. Staffs to Revd Frederick Anson of Sudbury and Francis Calvert, esquire of Houndhill in trust for Henry, Lord Vernon and Hon George Charles Vernon, his eldest son. The property in West Broughton comprises Upper Start Meadow (3a 3r 19p); Lower Start Meadow (8a 11p); Upper Broad Meadow (8a 22p); Lower Broad Meadow (6a 1r 23p); the Common Piece (6a 26p); Lower ?Duties and croft (4a 20p); Far Marl piece (2a 33p) and 1 rood with the brook and its bed previously part of Ley Hill Barn piece. Little Somersall Heath piece (3r 1p) in Somersall is also conveyed

22 & 24 Oct 

Endorsement: lease and release by Revd. Frederick Anson of the trusteeship to Robert Ellison, lieutenant colonel in H. M. 1st Regiment of Grenadier Guards and Sir Edward Stracey baronet of the Beech, co.Ches.

20 – 21 Jan 1834

Bundle:

Appointment of £5000 for Louisa Henrietta Vernon who is to marry Revd Brooke Boothby. This is part of a sum of £10,000 from the marriage settlement of Henry Vernon and Elizabeth Rebecca Anne Sedley – the remaining £5000 is for Catherine Vernon.

31 Oct

Appointment by Lord Henry Vernon of Granville Venables Vernon, esquire of Great Russell Street, Bloomsbury, London and Revd Frederick Anson of Sudbury as trustees for the sums of £2,500 and £5,000.

1 Nov

Appointment by Hon Revd John Venables Vernon of Kirkby (who is to marry Frances Barbara Duncombe) of Thomas Slingsby Duncombe, esquire of Queen Street, Mayfair, London; the Hon Arthur Duncombe, commander in the Royal Navy of Bishopfield, co.Notts; the Hon.George John Venables Vernon of Wilton Crescent Middlesex and Francis George Randolph Venables Vernon captain in the arm of Grosvenor Square London as trustees for the sum of £2,500

20 Nov. See Aperture Cards - D2349 C/Z10

Bundle:

Settlement by George Charles Vernon and Lord Henry Vernon to trustees, Samuel Pechell, captain in the navy and Revd Frederick Anson of Sudbury in which George Charles Vernon charges his estates with £1,000 p.a for his wife Frances Maria if she survives him and £10,000 for portions of any younger children. Includes a rental and particular of properties in Derbyshire, Staffordshire and Cheshire

26 May

Revocation of the uses in 1952 with respect to certain

property in Somersall Herbert, Doveridge, Marston Montgomery and Sudbury.

5 Sep

Lease for possession by George Venables Vernon, senior, esquire of Sudbury and George Venables Vernon, junior, his eldest son and heir apparent to Francis Earl Guilford and Charles Montague, esquire of p.St George, Hanover Square, London of property in 

Derbyshire, Staffordshire and Cheshire

1 July

Two leases and release comprising an assignment of terms to George Anson and George Venables Vernon relating to property in Somersall Herbert, Church Somersall and Marston Montgomery under the uses of the will of the late Francis Fitzherbert.  £1000 is paid to Revd Roger Jacson, senior of Babington as executor and £2300 to Charles Hurt and Philip Gell, esquires of Wirksworth at the request of Revd. Jacson who also receives a further sum of £12,098. Charlton Byam Wollaston, esquire of Inner Temple, London is appointed trustee.

2 – 3 May

Copy notices of Lord Vernon’s applications for loans of £10,000 and £8,000 respectively from the Lands Improvement Co. for the Sudbury Hall Estate

2 May 1860 (2) and Oct 1861

End of Box 37

Box 38

Various legal case papers:

Copy of bargain and sale by John Vernon, esquire of Sudbury to William Atkinson, gentleman of Inner Temple, London of the manor and advowson of Sudbury and other property in Derbyshire and Staffordshire, 1 Jan 1591/2   (see also 1963)

Copy (incomplete) of interrogatory and depositions in the case of Vernon vs. Vernon and others concerning the marriage settlement of Henry Vernon and his wife Merriall. Pages 78-89

Copy of final concord between William Atkinson, gentleman and John Vernon esquire of the manor of Sudbury etc. 1592 (see 1961)

Incomplete draft of settlement by Edward Vernon, knight of Sudbury for a jointure for his wife, Dame Margaret and a settlement on their daughters. The trustees are Samuel Sleigh, knight of Ashbourne; William Allestrye, esquire of Derby; John [        ], gentleman of Stafford and Robert Sandine of Cannock, co.Staffs

Incomplete annotated copy of the answers of Henry Vernon, esquire and his wife Merriell, defendants to the bill of Edward Vernon, knight

Brief (filed 9 Mar 1645/6) in the case of Henry Vernon and his wife Meriell vs. Sir Edward Vernon, Dame Margaret and others, in Chancery.

Incomplete petition of Henry Vernon, son and heir apparent of Sir Edward Vernon of Sudbury

Incomplete copy of the answers of Francis Taverner, gentleman, executor of the will of Martha Mingay, defendant to the bill of Henry and Merriell Vernon, administrators of the goods and chattels of the late Sir George Vernon, knight. 17 May 1647

Annotated copy of lease for 120 years by Robert Jackson, gentleman of Enfield, Middlesex, at the request of William Atkinson, esquire of Inner Temple, London to Francis Bucke, gentleman son of Nicholas Bucke of Hill Somersall, of three messuages and a water mill in Hill Somersall and one messuage in Potter Somersall.

16 Nov 1601

Copy decree of the Court of Chancery in the case of William Atkinson gentleman of Inner Temple, London vs. John Vernon, esquire of Sudbury

12 Aug 1592

Incomplete copy of answers by Robert Challenor, defendant to the bill of John Cowper, John Rowbothom, John Patrick, George Rowbothom and others, plaintiffs.

Copy of depositions taken at Sudbury, 2 Feb 1684/5 by commissioners from the Court of Chancery in the case of George Vernon, esquire and his wife vs. Godfrey Meynell, esquire and his wife and others.

Annotated copy of a brief in the case of Thomas Lea and Randle Powell, plaintiffs vs. Henry Vernon, esquire and George Clowes, defendant.

List of ? royal grants made, Dec 1696-Dec 1697

Copy of the answer of Sir George Vernon and his son George Vernon; Sir William Inwood; William Fawkener and Anna Katherin Vernon (by her grandfather and guardian Thomas Vernon) and Thomas Vernon, six of the defendants to the bill of George Vernon, esquire and his wife Katherine, 28 Jan 1685/56.
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	Incomplete copy of the petition of Henry Vernon, esquire of Huslington co.Ches and his wife Merriall, administrators of the goods of the late Sir George Vernon, knight to Commissioners for the custody of the Great Seal, 7 May 1647

Copy of the answer of Thomas Kinnersley; Thomas Botheby; George Faunt; William Whalley and Samuel Cotton, defendants vs. George Vernon, esquire. Jan 1685/6

Pages 24, 25 of a copy petition vs Joan Stapleton, _____ Fenwick and his wife Katherine; Nicholas Browne junior ________Rea and his wife Ann and Francis Taverner Endorsed “ Vernon vs Stapleton and Fenwick etc”.

End of Box 38

Box 39

Bundle:

Bond of William Jackson, yeoman of Ilam, co. Staffs to Ralph Bowrynge in £200 concerning property in Boyleston and Somersall.

28 Jan

Bargain and sale by Robert Clarke, yeoman of Bromley Pagett co. Staffs to Edward Hickson of the same place, of a cottage in Bromley Pagett (bounds given) for £32

20 May

Feoffment by Ralph Bowringe, yeoman of Somerall (for the marriage of his son and heir apparent, John Bowringe to Ann Harrison daughter of William Harrison, yeoman formerly of Earl Sterndale) to Francis Eaton,, gentleman of Ashbourne; Anthony Greatrakes, yeoman of ?Callow; Edward Lane, yeoman of Brassington and William Harrison yeoman of Cronkston Grange, of all his property in Somersall and Boyleston.

10 Nov

Feoffment by Edward Hickson, clothworker of Bromley Pagett to Thomas Townsende, husbandman of Newstid, p. Trentham of the property at 1980 for £32.

30 Sep

Feoffment by John Bowringe yeoman of Somersall and his wife Anne to Thomas Braddocke, yeoman of Boylestone of a messuage in Boylestone, Casie Croft and Casie Meadow for £153.

10 May

Copy of the settlement for the marriage of John Bowering, son of John Bowering senior and his wife Anne of Somersall Herbert and Sarah Atkins, spinster of Uttoxeter. James Atkin, tanner of Uttoxeter pays £80 to John Bowering, senior who conveys to him and John Fitzherbert junior, esquire of Somersall Herbert as trustees, a messuage in Somersall Herbert with the Coal Closes; Square Close Hill piece adjoining, Bayliffe Walls piece; Long Flat; Holley’s Croft; 5½ acres in Somersall meadow; two intakes in Cunny grey field and croft adjacent to the house. There is provision for division of the property during and after John Bowering, senior’s and his wife’s lifetimes, 20 Oct 1686

Copy deed to lead to the use of a common recovery by John Bowering, junior, yeoman of Somersall Herbert and his wife Sarah to Edward Baldwyn, gentleman of Inner Temple, London and Everard Cater, gentleman of the City of London of half a messuage in Somersall Herbert, the intakes in Cunnygree Field; Bayliffe Walls piece; the croft adjoining the house weet dole acres in Somersall Meadow and ½a and a moiety of Coale closes.  27 Jun
Lease and release by John Bowering yeoman of Somersall Herbert and his mother, Ann Bowering, widow to John Watt gentleman of Somersall Herbert of a messuage in Somersall Herbert and croft adjoining (3a); Hollis Croft and Long Flat (4a); Square Close and Bayliff walls piece (7a) and two closes in Conygree Field (8a). consideration of £360.

11-12 Apr

Release by Francis Legh and Richard Legh of £200 from the sum of £800 left by Thomas Legh esquire of Ridge, co. Ches for his daughter Mary’s marriage with John Watt to John Watt and his wife Mary. They also release any interest in property in Somersall Herbert purchased by John and Mary Watt for £360.

28 May

Bundle:

Copy of will of Thomas Rathbone, yeoman of Potter Somersall, 29 Dec 1713

Lease and release by Henry Kirk, fustianmaker of Failsworth co. Lancs (legatee of Thomas Rathbone, see 1989) and his wife Ellen to Edward Smith, yeoman of Potter Somersall of a fifth part of a messuage in Potter Somersall for £120. 7 – 8 Sep

With an incomplete final concord, 1717/8.

Lease and release by William Smith, miner of Leek to Edward Smith, yeoman of Potter Somersall of a fifth part of the messuage in Potter Somersall as at 1990-1992. Consideration of £110.

28 – 29 Sep

Subbundle containing letter of Edward Smith to attorneys at the Court of Common Pleas, 1710; bonds of Edward Smith to Joseph Cooke, yeoman of Onecote, Leek 1715 and 1725, to Lawrence Cooke of the same place, 1716 and 1722 and to William Smith, currier of Leek, 1716. With a financial memorandum [18th c].

Mortgage by Edward Smith, yeoman of Potter Somersall to Lawrence Cooke, yeoman of Oncote, Leek of 2/5 of the property as at 1990-1992, to secure £140.

29 Oct
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2013-2015
	Lease and release by Rowland Smith yeoman of Potter Somersall to Edward Smith, yeoman of Potter Somersall of 1/5 of the property as at 1990-1992. Consideration of £42.

25 – 26 Mar 

Mortgage by Edward Smith, yeoman of Potter Somersall and his wife Alice to Lawrence Cooke, yeoman of Oncote Leek of 2/5 of the property as at 1990-1992 to secure £170

5 May

Lease and release by John Prince, yeoman of Sheen co.Staffs and his wife Alice to Edward Smith, yeoman of Potter Somersall of 1/5 of the property at 1990-1992

Consideration of £100

22 – 23 Mar

with final concord, Trinity 1720

Mortgage (in the form of a lease and release) by Edward Smith, yeoman of Potter Somersall, and his wife Alice to Joseph Cooke, yeoman of Thorneleigh of the messuage in Potter Somersall, in consideration of £396 already owed and a further charge of £249

4 – 5 May

Assignment of term of 500 years in trust at the direction of Joseph Cooke as at 2002-2003 to William Armitt gentleman of Thorneleigh of 4/5 of the property as at 1990-1992

5 May

with final concord, 1725

Lease and release (sewn together) by Edward Smith, yeoman, of Potter Somersall and his wife Alice to George Venables Vernon, esquire of Sudbury of a messuage in Potter Somersall; the Croft; the Fisley close; the rough; the two Pingles; the Cote close; the over hunts close; Plymmers close; the long meadow; Overmarls piece; Smithy croft; Pitt croft; barn croft; Morrice’s croft; orchard and garden and little Morrice Croft in Sudbury and Marston Montgomery.

Consideration of £670 (£658 of this sum paid to the mortgagees)

30 Jun – 1 Jul

Lease for 99 years by George Venables Vernon to Edward and Alice Smith (see 2005A) of the property at 2005A. Annual rent of £15

2 July

Sale particulars and conditions of sale for the Manor of Marchington

Account of probable receipts and payments for the estates at Sudbury and Kinderton during the absence of Lord Vernon and his family

Lease for possession by John Woolley, yeoman of Somersall Herbert to Edward Baldwyn gentleman of Inner Temple, London and Everard Cater gentleman of London of the Eyes Close (5a) and Jolley’s meadow (4a) in West Broughton

19 Feb

Two copies of release by Henry Vernon of Sudbury to Thomas Hanbury, esquire of Middle Temple, London and his trustee, Nehemiah Osland citizen and grocer of London to secure £2,500 on estates in Derbyshire and Staffordshire with the consent of John Fitzherbert, esquire of Somersall Herbert and John Beresford, esquire of Ashbourne

11 Dec

Assignment of mortgage of £250 by Edward Slaney, gentleman of Baxterley co.Warwicks with the assent of George Vernon esquire of Sudbury to Walter Horton, clerk of Walton on Trent. The property concerned is the Ankerholmes and Powbridge Pingle, Marchington, co. Staffs 

11 May

With bond of Edward Slaney of even date and letter about Horton’s mortgage, 1730
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	Discharge of a mortgage for £1000 by Thomas Vernon, esquire of Hanbury, co. Worcs to Robert Litchford, esquire, alias Rowland of Boothby Pannell [?Pagnell, Co. Lincs] and Joseph Rowland, gentleman of Chaddesden, administrators of the late John Litchford, alias Rowland, gentleman of Bootheby Pannell. Property in Derbyshire and Staffordshire 

11 Apr

Endorsement: Transfer of mortgage (now £1330 6s 8d) by Richard Vernon, gentleman of Webb House, co.Worcs, (surviving executor of Thomas Vernon) to George Vernon, in trust for George Venables Vernon, 20 May 1727

Deed of separation between Hon George Venables Vernon, esquire of Britton Ferry, co. Glam and his wife Louisa Barbara Vernon. George Venables Vernon conveys an annual rentcharge of £1000 in trust to John, Bishop of Peterborough and Richard Lockwood, esquire of D ________ Hall, Essex to provide £400 p.a. for his wife, from his properties in Glamorgan and Somerset.

8 Mar

With schedule of jewellery and household effects to be Louisa Vernon's share.

Further charge by Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury of £1000 to William Wollaston, clerk of Charterhouse Yard,  Middlesex, on the manor of Sudbury and other property in Derbyshire and Staffordshire 

14 Apr

Endorsement: Discharge of William Wollaston, 15 Feb 1710/11.

Lease for possession by Thomas Anson, esquire of Shugborough to Sir George Youge baronet of Escott, Devon and Philip Stephens, esquire of Spring Gardens p. St Martin in the Fields, London of property in Staffordshire

3 Jan

Marriage settlement of George Adams, esquire of Shugborough and the Hon Mary Vernon, spinster and only daughter of George Lord Vernon by his first wife, Hon. Mary Howard. The royalty and manor of Sanbrook, co. Salop and other property in Sanbrook are conveyed to William Bagot, esquire of Tattebroke, co. Warwicks and Thomas Mills, esquire of Barlaston, co.Staffs as trustees to hold the property for George Anson

4 Jan

Assignment of mortgage for £10,000 by Henry John Hinchcliffe, esquire, formerly of Inner Temple, London and now of Jamaica (eldest son and executor of the late John, Bishop of Peterborough), at the request of George Venables Lord Vernon to William Lygon, esquire of Madrasfield, co. Worcs (see 1909-1910)

23 May

End of Box 39

Box 40

“A. I.20” Lease for lives by George Vernon, esquire of Sudbury to Thomas Johnson, joiner of Sudbury for £300 of a messuage and appurtenances in Sudbury occupied by the late Edward Tompson, except for land in the Milstones and Crosse fields Intake and privilege of free warren and fishing. The lease is for the lives of Thomas Johnson, his wife Anne and daughter Elizabeth for an annual rent of 28s 8d. Margaret Tompson, widow of Astonis is to have one room in the house for life if Nathaniel Tompson and Margaret Duckesse live so long.

Schedule of services including the use of Vernon’s Mill at Draycott, attached.

25 Mar
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	Court roll, Draycott with associated papers attached

Incomplete copy of answer of John Palmer, gentleman, defendant to the bill of John Vernon, esquire, plaintiff

Incomplete copy of a deposition (possibly for a case involving George & Meriall Vernon)

Royal letters patent to Edward Care, knight, granting the manor of Colwinston, co.Glam (formerly belonging to the Prior of Dartford) and not including the property formerly belonging to the brothers of Newport, co. Monmouth. Annual rent of 42s 3d and 16d to the court of augmentations.

(portrait of Henry VIII, damaged seal)

24 Aug

Royal letters patent creating Charles Sedley of Southfleet, Kent, a baronet (Damaged and incomplete seal)

10 Jul

Royal letters patent appointing Henry Warner as steward of the manor of Shenston, co. Staffs

24 Feb

(seal broken and incomplete)

Charter of Robert de Ferrers, son and heir of Lord William de Ferrers, formerly Earl of Derby to Henry of Hounhull (Houndhill) of 20a of land with wood next to Henry’s land to the west. In width on one side, Wythnner and on the other, land extending from the fowling- glade of Lord Henry of Hunhill to the hills of Marchington and against [land of] Robert of ? Loxhal in length to be held for 2 years from 21 Dec 1261. Consideration of 13 silver marks, and 10 silver shillings p.a. Witnesses: William de Ferrar, my brother; Lord Richard de Herthul, knight; Henry de Ireton; Henry Wayn of Uttoxeter, Roger de Verneys; Walter, chamberlain of Marchington: William de Chandos; Roger de Do ------ and others.

Seal broken, but a good impression.

Settlement by Sir Edward Vernon, knight of Sudbury to provide a jointure for his wife Margaret and portions for their children, with the agreement of Henry Vernon, esquire of Haslington, co. Ches, their son and heir apparent. Sir Samuel Sleigh, knight of Ash; William Allestrye, esquire of Derby; John Birde, gentleman of Stafford and Robert Sandine, gentleman of Cannock, co. Staffs are trustees for the manor of Sudbury and land in Aston, Hill and Potter Somersall. Quotes a chancery decree of 17 Nov 1651)

1 Mar

Royal letters patent creating William Sedley of Aylesford, Kent a baronet (Portrait of James I and intact seal)

29 Jun

End of Box 40

Box 41

Mortgage to secure £1,000 by Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury, son and heir of George Vernon, esquire of Sudbury, deceased (with the assent of John Fitzherbert, esquire of Somersall Herbert and John Beresford, esquire of Ashbourne) to Thomas Hanbury, esquire of Middle Temple, London; Walter Bacon, esquire of Earleham, Norfolk and William Ives esquire of Braddon, co.Northants. £690 16s 11d is paid to William Brown clerk of Burton on Trent, executor of Isaac Hawkins of Burton on Trent who was sole executor of Philip Hawkins, citizen and fishmonger of London, and his sister, Jane Chester, widow of Upton, Essex and £309 3s 1d is paid to Henry Vernon. The property concerned is pasture called Churnard and Roughholme (?Sudbury).

21 Dec

Endorsement: transfer of mortgage by William Hanbury, esquire of Kelmarsh, co. Northants, son, heir and executor of Thomas Hanbury in satisfaction of £1,495 15s to Walter Plumer, esquire of Chediston, Suffolk who is to marry his sister Elizabeth Hanbury, as a part of her marriage portion. 24 July 1725.
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	Royal letters patent appointing George Venables Vernon, esquire of Sudbury as custodian of Sherholte in Needwood Forest (Portrait of George II, seal broken)

1 Dec

Agreement between Henry Vernon, esquire of Sudbury and Charles Cholmondeley, esquire of Vale Royal, co. Ches. and Richard Vernon, gentleman of Middlewich, co.Ches, to levy fines to bar and dispose of estates in Derbyshire etc with a declaration of uses in preparation for a possible mortgage

6 June

Transfer of a mortgage for £5000 by Rt Hon Thomas Earl of Effingham and Sir Walter Wagstaffe Bagot, baronet of Blythfield, co. Staffs to George Adams, esquire of Shugborough, co. Staffs. The property is the Derbyshire, Cheshire and Staffordshire estates of George, Lord Vernon Baron Kinderton.

24 Mar

Report of M Thurston to court for costs to be paid to the Countess of Dysart in the case of George Venables Vernon, esquire, infant vs. Thomas Vernon, esquire and others, defendants.

1 Apr

Letter from John Crewe of Crewe Hall to William Lygon requesting payment of £13,114.15s 1d annuities on behalf of Henry John Hinchcliffe under an agreement of 23 May 1801.

Sep

Incomplete annotated draft of transfer of mortgage, 2035

Agreement to produce title deeds, with schedule, between Sir Peter Leicester, baronet of Nether Tabley, co. Ches and George Venables Vernon, senior, esquire of Sudbury for property in Moston and elsewhere in Cheshire.

26 Jun

Settlement for marriage of George Adams, esquire of Shugborough and the Hon Mary Vernon, spinster to provide for her jointure (see 2021) Thomas Anson, esquire of Shugborough conveys the manors of Acton Trussell, Dunston, Bednall, Alrewas, Bentley and Knigletley and other property in Staffordshire to Sir George Youge, baronet of Escott, Devon and Philip Stephens, esquire of Spring Gardens, St Martin in the Fields, London in trust to provide an annuity of £1200 to Mary. Thomas Anson also agrees to convey other property in Staffordshire in trust for George Allison and any children of the marriage.

4 Jan

Bundle “conduit St House” …

Lease for 48 years by Huntley Bigg, scrivener of p. St Martin in the Fields, London and Robert Ensedale, clerk of the same parish, to Thomas Sams, joiner of p. St Clement Danes London, of a piece of land on what used to be Conduit Mead but on a street now to be called Conduit Street and the house now being built there by Sams (4th house east form Mill Street). Peppercorn rent for first two years, rent of £4 16s p.a for remaining period. Sams is to complete the building and the house is not to be used for certain trades. With plan
12 May

Lease for 48 years by Huntley Bigg and Robert Grisedale as above at 2041 to George Pearce, plumber of the same parish of a piece of land similarly as at 2041, the house to be the fifth house east from Mill Street. Peppercorn rent for the first two years and rent of £4 8s p.a for the remaining period. The same terms as 2041.
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	Mortgage to secure £500 by Thomas Sams, at 2041 to John Nash, scrivener of P. St Martin in the Fields, London 16 May

Endorsements: 

(1) Further charge of £200, 16 May 1820

(2) Discharge by James Davenant, esquire of p. St Martin in the Fields, administrator of Mary Davenant of the same parish, the actual mortgagee, to James Kendall, esquire of the same parish.

(3) Reassignment of the mortgage to John Meade, esquire of p.St Martin in the Fields, 17 Apr 1725

Assignment of lease at 2042 by George Pearce to Grantham Andrewes, esquire of Sunbury, Middlesex.

Consideration of £1160

25 Jun

Assignment of lease at 2041 by Thomas Sams to John Merrill, esquire of p.St James, Westminster. £500 is paid to Sams and £700 pays off the mortgage. With a declaration of trust by John Merrill for the sum of £500, in trust for the Rt. Hon Elizabeth, Viscountess Dunbar

17 Jul

Assignment of the lease at 2041 by John Merrill and the Hon Charles Fairfax, esquire of Ciling, co.Yorks (husband and administrator of the late Viscountess Dunbar) to James Kendall, esquire of p.St Martin in the Fields.£735 is paid to James Davenant (see 2043) and £145 to Charles Fairfax

17 Apr

Assignment of lease at 2042 by Grantham Andrews, esquire of Sunbury, Middlesex to Thomas Winnington, esquire of Brockett Hall, co.Herts (The house has now been built and there is also a recessary house under the adjoining house to the east)

Consideration of £1010.

31 May

With “Mr Sutton’s instructions about ?lease,” 20 May 1728 and a certificate from the Register Office that no deeds relating to the property have been registered, 23 May 1728.

Assignment of lease (2041) by James Kendall, esquire of p.St George, Hanover Square, London to the Hon. Thomas Winnington, esquire of Conduit Street, London. Consideration of £650.

23 Dec

Assignment of leases (2041 and 2042) by John Ingram, gentleman of Bewdley, co. Worcs, executors of Rt Hon Thomas Winnington and with the direction of Ann Wheeler, widow of Park Street, Grosvenor Square, London and the Hon. Samuel Masham and his wife Henrietta (the ladies being sisters of Thomas Winnington) to Robert Palmer, gentleman of p. St Andrew, Holborn in trust for the ladies.

21 Feb.

Assignment of lease of properties at 2041 and 2042 by Richard Palmer and the other parties at 2052; Revd Francis Ayscough, doctor in divinity of St Ann’s parish Westminster (mortgagee of Samuel and Henrietta Masham) and John Spencer, carpenter of p St. George, Hanover Square, London to George Venables Vernon, esquire of Sudbury. Recites mortgage to Revd Francis Ayscough for £1900 which has not been repaid (15 Dec 1755) and a new lease of the property by the Corporation of London to Ann Wheeler and Samuel and Henrietta Masham (11 May 1757) for an annual rent of 15- consideration of £1750.

5 Aug
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